
London Borough of Hammersmith & Fulham

Planning and Development 
Control Committee

Agenda
Monday 22 July 2019

7.00 pm
Small Hall - Hammersmith Town Hall

MEMBERSHIP

Administration: Opposition
Councillor Rachel Leighton (Chair)
Councillor Matt Uberoi (Vice-Chair)
Councillor Colin Aherne
Councillor Wesley Harcourt
Councillor Natalia Perez
Councillor Asif Siddique

Councillor Alex Karmel
Councillor Matt Thorley

CONTACT OFFICER: Charles Francis
Committee Co-ordinator
Governance and Scrutiny
Tel 020 8753 2062
E-mail: charles.francis@lbhf.gov.uk

Public Notice
Members of the press and public are welcome to attend this and all other Council 
meetings. Should exempt information need to be discussed the committee will pass 
a resolution requiring members of the press and public to leave.

For details on how to register to speak at the meeting, please see overleaf.
Deadline to register to speak is 4pm on Wednesday 17 July 2019

For queries concerning a specific application, please contact the relevant case 
officer.

The open part of this agenda is available for public inspection at the Town Hall and 
may be viewed on the Council’s website www.lbhf.gov.uk/committees

A loop system for hearing impairment is provided, along with disabled access to the 
building.

Rights of access to meetings are subject to the provisions of the Local Government 
Act 1972 and the Local Government (Access to Information) Act 1985.

Date Issued: 12/07/19

http://www.lbhf.gov.uk/committees


PUBLIC SPEAKING AT PLANNING AND DEVELOPMENT CONTROL COMMITTEE 
(PROTOCOL)

Members of the public are welcome to attend the Planning and Development Control 
Committee meeting.

Who can speak?
Only the applicant or their agent and people who have commented on the application as 
part of the planning department consultation process in support or against will be permitted 
to speak at the meeting.  They must have been registered to speak before addressing the 
committee.  Ward Councillors may sometimes wish to speak at meetings even though they 
are not part of the committee.  They can represent the views of their constituents.  The 
Chair will not normally allow comments to be made by other people attending the meeting 
or for substitutes to be made at the meeting.

Do I need to register to speak?
All speakers except Ward Councillor must register at least two working days before the 
meeting.  For example, if the committee is on Wednesday, requests to speak must be made 
by 4pm on the preceding Friday.  Requests received after this time will not be allowed.  
Registration will be by email only.  Requests are to be sent to 
speakingatplanning@lbhf.gov.uk with your name, address and telephone number and the 
application you wish to speak to as well as the capacity in which you are attending. 

How long is provided for speakers?
Those speaking in support or against an application will be allowed three minutes each.  
Where more than one person wishes to speak for or against an application, a total of five 
minutes will be allocated to those speaking for and those speaking against.  The speakers 
will need to decide whether to appoint a spokesperson or split the time between them.  The 
Chair will say when the speaking time is almost finished to allow time to round up.  The 
speakers cannot question councillors, officers or other speakers and must limit their 
comments to planning related issues.

At the Meeting - please arrive 15 minutes before the meeting starts and make yourself 
known to the Committee Co-ordinator who will explain the procedure.

What materials can be presented to committee?
To enable speakers to best use the time allocated to them in presenting the key issues they 
want the committee to consider, no new materials or letters or computer presentations will 
be permitted to be presented to the committee.  

What happens to my petition or deputation?
Written petitions made on a planning application are incorporated into the officer report to 
the Committee.  Petitioners, as members of the public, are welcome to attend meetings but 
are not permitted to speak unless registered as a supporter or objector to an application.  
Deputation requests are not accepted on applications for planning permission.

mailto:speakingatplanning@lbhf.gov.uk


London Borough of Hammersmith & Fulham

Planning and Development Control 
Committee

Agenda
22 July 2019

Item Pages

1.  MINUTES 5 - 23

To approve as an accurate record, and the Chair to sign, the minutes of 
the meetings of the Committee held on 10 June 2019 and 2 July 2019.

2.  APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE 

3.  DECLARATION OF INTERESTS 

If a Councillor has a disclosable pecuniary interest in a particular item, 
whether or not it is entered in the Authority’s register of interests, or any 
other significant interest which they consider should be declared in the 
public interest, they should declare the existence and, unless it is a 
sensitive interest as defined in the Member Code of Conduct, the nature 
of the interest at the commencement of the consideration of that item or 
as soon as it becomes apparent.

At meetings where members of the public are allowed to be in 
attendance and speak, any Councillor with a disclosable pecuniary 
interest or other significant interest may also make representations, give 
evidence or answer questions about the matter.  The Councillor must 
then withdraw immediately from the meeting before the matter is 
discussed and any vote taken. 

Where Members of the public are not allowed to be in attendance and 
speak, then the Councillor with a disclosable pecuniary interest should 
withdraw from the meeting whilst the matter is under consideration. 
Councillors who have declared other significant interests should also 
withdraw from the meeting if they consider their continued participation 
in the matter would not be reasonable in the circumstances and may 
give rise to a perception of a conflict of interest.

Councillors are not obliged to withdraw from the meeting where a 
dispensation to that effect has been obtained from the Audit, Pensions 
and Standards Committee.  

4.  4 CHALLONER CRESCENT, LONDON, W14 9LE, NORTH END, 
2018/01161/FUL 

24 - 65

5.  WATERFRONT, HAMMERSMITH EMBANKMENT, CHANCELLORS 
ROAD, LONDON,  W6 9RU, FULHAM REACH, 2018/04016/FUL 

66 - 101



6.  WILLOW BANK, JUNCTION WITH  PUTNEY BRIDGE APPROACH, 
LONDON, PALACE RIVERSIDE, 2019/00439/FR3 

102 - 108

7.  104 KING STREET,  LONDON, W6 0QW, HAMMERSMITH 
BROADWAY, 2019/01494/FUL 

109 - 154

8.  OLYMPIA EXHIBITION CENTRE, HAMMERSMITH ROAD, LONDON, 
W14 8UX, AVONMORE AND BROOK GREEN, 2019/01433/FUL 

155 - 211

9.  OLYMPIA EXHIBITION CENTRE,  HAMMERSMITH ROAD,  
LONDON,  W14 8UX, AVONMORE AND BROOK GREEN, 
2019/01434/LBC 

212 - 221



______________________________________________________________________________________________________
Minutes are subject to confirmation at the next meeting as a correct record of the proceedings and any amendments arising will be 
recorded in the minutes of that subsequent meeting.

`  London Borough of Hammersmith & Fulham
Planning and Development Control Committee

Minutes

Monday 10 June 2019

PRESENT

 
Committee members: Councillors Rachel Leighton, Matt Uberoi, Colin Aherne, Wesley 
Harcourt, Natalia Perez, Asif Siddique, Alex Karmel and Matt Thorley

Others:
Councillors Mercy Umeh, Mark Loveday and Jonathan Caleb-Landy

1. MINUTES

The minutes of the meeting of the Committee held on 2 April 2019 were agreed as an 
accurate record.

2. APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE
There were no apologies for absence.

3. DECLARATION OF INTERESTS 

There were no declarations of interest.

4. DECISION TO RE-ORDER THE AGENDA 

At the start of the meeting, the Chair confirmed that Waterfront Hammersmith 
Embankment, Chancellors Road, London W6 9RU had been withdrawn from the 
agenda by the Council and would be considered at a later meeting. 

In view of members of the public present for particular applications the Chair proposed 
that the agenda be re-ordered, with which the Committee agreed, and the minutes reflect 
the order of the meeting.

Due to the number of speakers on some items, the Chair used her discretion and those 
speaking for and against applications were permitted to speak for 6 minutes each in total, 
rather than the usual 5 minute maximum.

4i. Threshold and Union House – 2017/01898/FUL

Please see the Addendum attached to the minutes which made minor changes to 
the report.

Page 5

Agenda Item 1



______________________________________________________________________________________________________
Minutes are subject to confirmation at the next meeting as a correct record of the proceedings and any amendments arising will be 
recorded in the minutes of that subsequent meeting.

The Committee heard several representations from residents in objection to the 
application. A number of points were raised and included: the officer reports for the 
previous and current application were the same and contained a number of errors. 
With regards to landscaping and trees, the current proposal was vague in relation 
to the existing trees between the rear of the residential properties on Pennard 
Road. The new proposal was only 4.5 metres away from residents’ boundary 
fences at the nearest point and the proposal would result in the loss of sunlight and 
daylight, as well as overshadowing.

In relation to the comments which were read out from the Hammersmith Society, 
who were unable to atten`d the meeting, the proposed development would have a 
dominating impact, and the height and bulk of the new building would exceed the 
existing building. Further points included: that the proposal would retain the 
appearance of an office block, the area was densely populated with no parking, so 
the construction of a further hotel was a bad idea. Furthermore, the proposal would  
cause harm to the biodiversity and character of the area associated with the loss of 
some trees. 

The Committee heard a representation from the Applicants’ representative. A 
number of points were raised which included: the proposal would promote the 
vitality and viability of Shepherd's Bush Town Centre. The proposal would deliver 
numerous local events and conditions would ensure any noise and disturbance 
would be minimised to nearby occupiers. Further points included, that the proposal 
would create local employment opportunities and the design would incorporate  a 
confident civic frontage.

The Committee heard a representation  in objection to the application from 
Councillor Mercy Umeh, Ward Councillor for Shepherd’s Bush Green.

During the course of discussions, the Committee explored a number of issues 
including, the importance of due diligence and the use of an independent sunlight 
and daylight expert. The Committee considered the sunlight and daylight 
implications of the proposal at length and questioned the independent expert who 
attended the meeting.

Further topics included the design merits and setting of the proposal within the 
Shepherd’s Bush Conservation Area, and the footprint and proximity of the 
proposal to properties on Pennard Road. Additional topics included, the level of the 
s106 contributions, employment and training opportunities, as well as the 
landscaping and arboreal implications of the proposal.

The Committee voted on application 2017/01898/FUL and whether to agree the 
officer recommendations of approval. This was put to the vote and the result was 
as follows:

Officer Recommendation 1:

For: 
5
Against: 
3

Page 6



______________________________________________________________________________________________________
Minutes are subject to confirmation at the next meeting as a correct record of the proceedings and any amendments arising will be 
recorded in the minutes of that subsequent meeting.

Not Voting:
0

Officer Recommendation 2:

For:
8
Against:
0
Not Voting:
0

RESOLVED THAT:

Planning Application 2017/01898/FUL be approved, subject to:

1. To resolve that the Strategic Director, The Economy be authorised to 
determine the application and grant permission up on the completion of a 
satisfactory legal agreement and subject to the condition(s) listed below.

2. To authorise the Strategic Director, The Economy, after consultation with 
the Director of Law and the Chair of the Planning and Development Control 
Committee to make any minor changes to the proposed conditions or heads 
of terms of the legal agreement, any such changes shall be within their 
discretion.

14-16 Peterborough Road – 2018/03985/FUL

Please see the Addendum attached to the minutes which amended the report.

The Committee heard several representations from residents in objection to the 
application. A number of points were raised and included: the design and massing 
of the proposal was out of keeping with the existing pattern of development. The 
proposal would cause irreversible damage to heritage assets, including the listed 
terrace and pub facing New Kings Road and adjoining conservation area. 
Peterborough Mews was a residential street, rather than a commercial district and 
the proposal would have a negative impact on neighbours, including increased 
traffic, parking stress and no proposed parking. 

Further points included, that the technical reports for the proposal were 2 or 3 
years old which was unusual. The daylight and sunlight assessments were 
inadequate and an addendum on this topic had only just been submitted. 
Insufficient consideration had been given to the impact on neighbours in relation to 
overshadowing and loss of outlook due to the overbearing design (especially 1 
Broomhouse which incorporated a residential annex within the garden).

The Committee heard a representation from the Applicant. A number of points 
were raised which included: a new sunlight and daylight assessment had been 
submitted. A progressive number of setbacks had been used within the design  to 
improve and mitigate the outlook aspects of the design. Obscure glazing would be 

Page 7



______________________________________________________________________________________________________
Minutes are subject to confirmation at the next meeting as a correct record of the proceedings and any amendments arising will be 
recorded in the minutes of that subsequent meeting.

used  to address privacy concerns of local residents. There would no adverse 
impacts to the highway from the proposal. The proposal would make a valuable 
contribution to the local economy and also incorporate some affordable rent space.                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                   
It was noted that the current building would not be demolished and the design 
incorporated using the existing concrete frame.

The Committee heard a representation in objection to the application from 
Councillor Mark Loveday, Ward Councillor for Parsons Green and Walham.

During the course of discussions, the Committee explored a number of issues 
including, the impact on heritage assets, the level of the Section 106 contributions 
and the possible impacts on the residential annex at 1 Broom house. Further 
issues included, the reasons why the technical reports were 2 to 3 years old, as 
well as further clarification about the distances some dwellings were situated from 
the boundary of the proposal. 

The Committee also examined the current policies regarding B1 usage, the 
employment opportunities and the overall height of the proposal.

The Committee voted on application 2018/03985/FUL and whether to agree the 
officer recommendations of approval and changes set out in the addendum. This 
was put to the vote and the result was as follows:

Officer Recommendation 1:

For: 
5
Against: 
3
Not Voting:
0

Officer Recommendation 2:

For: 
8
Against: 
0
Not Voting:
0

RESOLVED THAT:

Planning Application 2018/03985/FUL be approved, subject to:

1. To resolve that the Strategic Director, The Economy be authorised to 
determine the application and grant permission up on the completion of a 
satisfactory legal agreement and subject to the condition(s) listed below.

2. To authorise the Strategic Director, The Economy, after consultation with 
the Director of Law and the Chair of the Planning and Development Control 

Page 8



______________________________________________________________________________________________________
Minutes are subject to confirmation at the next meeting as a correct record of the proceedings and any amendments arising will be 
recorded in the minutes of that subsequent meeting.

Committee to make any minor changes to the proposed conditions or heads 
of terms of the legal agreement, any such changes shall be within their 
discretion.

2 Hyde Mews - 2018/03985/FUL

Please see the Addendum attached to the minutes which amended the report.

The Committee heard several representations from residents in objection to the 
application. A number of points were raised and included: during the construction 
phase, the basement excavation would cause harm to trees in neighbouring 
gardens on Wingate Road (as suggested by the independent arboreal report). The 
construction phase would result in noise, dust and traffic disruption. Increased 
traffic movements would be a hazard to pedestrians and schoolchildren.

Three immediate neighbours would be affected by the construction of the 
swimming pool, including one neighbour who used a garden office. There was a 
possibility that without significant buttressing, there could be land slippage during 
the excavation phase. Further points included: that the development of a large 
swimming pool was undesirable and inappropriate in a residential community. The 
proposal would result in a loss of existing and potential accommodation, and could 
be used as a precedent by future developers.

The Committee heard a representation from the Applicant. A number of points 
were raised which included: in relation to the roots of trees in neighbouring 
gardens, the council's Arboricultural Officer had advised that, given the subject 
property's existing rear extension adjoining the party wall, it was unlikely that any 
trees close to the boundary would have significant roots underneath it. To mitigate 
these concerns, the Applicant stated that a condition could be applied which 
recommended hand excavation to a depth of 1.5 metres, so that any roots that 
were encountered could be cleanly severed, thus preventing damage to the trees.

Further points included: with regards to the construction phase, underpinning 
techniques would be used to ensure no land slippage occurred. The proposed 
lightwells were modest and would not be visible from the street and finally, the 
Council permitted this form of development as it was within the footprint of the 
existing dwelling. 

The Committee heard a representation in objection to the application from 
Councillor Jonathan Caleb-Landy, Ward Councillor for Ravenscourt Park.

During the course of discussions, the Committee explored a number of issues 
including, whether Council officers had seen the independent  arboricultural report, 
the duration of the planned works and the likely disruption caused by the 
excavation and construction phases. 

Councillor Alex Karmel proposed that condition 3 be amended to include the 
requirement that the Council’s arboricultural Officer inspect the roots at the early 
excavation /  hand digging stages to ensure the trees at Wingate Road properties 

Page 9



______________________________________________________________________________________________________
Minutes are subject to confirmation at the next meeting as a correct record of the proceedings and any amendments arising will be 
recorded in the minutes of that subsequent meeting.

were not affected by the excavation process. This was seconded by Councillor 
Matt Thorley.

The Committee voted on application 2018/03985/FUL and whether to agree the 
proposed amendment of condition 3 from Councillor Alex Karmel, officer 
recommendations of approval and changes set out in the addendum. This was put 
to the vote and the result was as follows:
 
The proposed amendment:

For:
8
Against:
0

Officer Recommendation 1:

For: 
7
Against: 
0
Not Voting:
1

Officer Recommendation 2:

For: 
7
Against: 
0
Not Voting:
1

RESOLVED THAT:

Planning Application 2018/03985/FUL be approved, subject to:

1. To resolve that the Strategic Director, The Economy be authorised to 
determine the application and grant permission subject to the condition(s) 
listed below.

2. To authorise the Strategic Director, The Economy, after consultation with 
the Director of Law and the Chair of the Planning and Development Control 
Committee to make any minor changes to the proposed conditions or heads 
of terms of the legal agreement, any such changes shall be within their 
discretion.

Page 10



______________________________________________________________________________________________________
Minutes are subject to confirmation at the next meeting as a correct record of the proceedings and any amendments arising will be 
recorded in the minutes of that subsequent meeting.

20 Fulham Broadway – 2018/00664/VAR

Please see the Addendum attached to the minutes which amended the report.

The Committee heard one representation in support from the Architect. A number 
of points were raised and included: The application only sought minor material 
amendments to the approved drawings of planning permission reference: 
2017/04094/FUL dated 15th May 2018 for the "Material amendment to planning 
permission reference: 2015/00670/FUL granted 13th October 2016. There would 
be no increase in height and the permission would only have a modest uplift on the 
design. 

The revisions would reduce the complexities of the form and the proposed 
development would be a high quality development which would make a positive 
contribution to the urban environment. In addition, the proposal would not harm the 
character or appearance of the conservation area.

During the course of discussions, the Committee explored a number of issues 
including the need for developers to avoid repetitious applications to attain 
planning permission and also the Section 106 contributions associated with the 
application.

The Committee voted on application 2018/00664/VAR and whether to agree the 
officer recommendations of approval. This was put to the vote and the result was 
as follows:

Officer Recommendation 1:

For: 
8
Against: 
0
Not Voting:
0

Officer Recommendation 2:

For:
8
Against:
0
Not Voting:
0

RESOLVED THAT:

Planning Application 2018/00664/VAR be approved, subject to:

1) To resolve that the Strategic Director, The Economy be authorised to 
determine the application and grant permission subject to the condition(s) 
listed below.

Page 11



______________________________________________________________________________________________________
Minutes are subject to confirmation at the next meeting as a correct record of the proceedings and any amendments arising will be 
recorded in the minutes of that subsequent meeting.

2) To authorise the Strategic Director, The Economy, after consultation with 
the Director of Law and the Chair of the Planning and Development Control 
Committee to make any minor changes to the proposed conditions which 
may include the variation addition or deletion of the conditions, any such 
changes shall be within their discretion.

Outside The Swan 46 Hammersmith Broadway London W6 0DZ – 
2019/00433/FR3

Please see the Addendum attached to the minutes which amended the report.

The Committee voted on application 2019/00433/FR3 and whether to agree the 
officer recommendations set out in the report and changes set out in the 
addendum. This was put to the vote and the result was as follows:

For: 
8
Against: 
0
Not Voting:
0

RESOLVED THAT:

Planning Application 2019/00433/FR3 be approved, subject to:

1) To resolve that the Strategic Director, the Economy, be authorised to 
determine the application and grant permission pursuant to Regulation 3 of 
the Town and Country Planning General Regulations 1992 subject to the 
condition(s) listed below:

2) To authorise the Strategic Director, The Economy, after consultation with 
the Director of Law and the Chair of the Planning and Development Control 
Committee to make any minor changes to the proposed conditions which 
may include the variation, addition or deletion of the conditions, any such 
changes shall be within their discretion.

Outside Ravenscourt Park King Street London W6 - 2019/00434/FR3

Please see the Addendum attached to the minutes which amended the report.

The Committee voted on application 2019/00434/FR3 and whether to agree the 
officer recommendations set out in the report and changes set out in the 
addendum. This was put to the vote and the result was as follows:

Page 12



______________________________________________________________________________________________________
Minutes are subject to confirmation at the next meeting as a correct record of the proceedings and any amendments arising will be 
recorded in the minutes of that subsequent meeting.

For: 
8
Against: 
0
Not Voting:
0

RESOLVED THAT:

Planning Application 2019/00434/FR3 be approved, subject to:

1) To resolve that the Strategic Director, the Economy, be authorised to 
determine the application and grant permission pursuant to Regulation 3 of 
the Town and Country Planning General Regulations 1992 subject to the 
condition(s) listed below:

2) To authorise the Strategic Director, The Economy, after consultation with 
the Director of Law and the Chair of the Planning and Development Control 
Committee to make any minor changes to the proposed conditions which 
may include the variation, addition or deletion of the conditions, any such 
changes shall be within their discretion.

Junction Of Sussex Place And Queen Caroline Street 
London W6 9QH - 2019/00436/FR3

Please see the Addendum attached to the minutes which amended the report.

The Committee voted on application 2019/00436/FR3 and whether to agree the 
officer recommendations set out in the report and changes set out in the 
addendum. This was put to the vote and the result was as follows:

For: 
8
Against: 
0
Not Voting:
0

RESOLVED THAT:

Planning Application 2019/00436/FR3 be approved, subject to:

1) To resolve that the Strategic Director, the Economy, be authorised to 
determine the application and grant permission pursuant to Regulation 3 of 

Page 13



______________________________________________________________________________________________________
Minutes are subject to confirmation at the next meeting as a correct record of the proceedings and any amendments arising will be 
recorded in the minutes of that subsequent meeting.

the Town and Country Planning General Regulations 1992 subject to the 
condition(s) listed below:

2) To authorise the Strategic Director, The Economy, after consultation with 
the Director of Law and the Chair of the Planning and Development Control 
Committee to make any minor changes to the proposed conditions which 
may include the variation, addition or deletion of the conditions, any such 
changes shall be within their discretion.

Meeting started:   7:00 pm
  10:30 pm

Chair

Contact officer: Charles Francis
Committee Co-ordinator
Governance and Scrutiny
Tel 020 8753 2062
E-mail: charles.francis@lbhf.gov.uk

Page 14



1

PLANNING AND DEVELOPMENT CONTROL COMMITTEE
Addendum 10.06.2019

REG REF.  ADDRESS WARD           PAGE

2017/01898/FUL     Threshold and Union House,             Shepherd’s Bush Green                          11
   65 Shepherd’s Bush Green

Page 12 Officer Recommendation 1st paragraph Delete “Growth and Place” insert “The Economy 
Department”

Page 12 Officer Recommendation 2nd paragraph Delete “Growth and Place” insert “The Economy 
Department”

Page 13                  Condition 3, line 9: Delete “Construction” insert “Demolition”

Page 13 Condition 4, line 14: Delete “and Construction Management Plan”

Page 61 Para 3.165 At end add “The other 4 windows relate to bedrooms within the Dorsett Hotel.”

Page 62 Add new paragraph 

3.166A     58 rooms would experience an alteration in No Sky Line of between 20.55 and 64.8%. 12 of these are 
bedrooms within the Dorsett Hotel, which experience the highest losses and the other rooms break down to:
22 bedrooms within residential properties; 7 either living rooms, kitchens or dining rooms; 15 rooms with an 
unknown use; and 2 studio apartments. 18 rooms experience losses between 20.5% and 29.9%, 13 between 
30% and 39.9%, and 15 between 40% and 48.5%.

Page 62 Para 3.170, line 6: Delete “very”

Page 63 Para 3.174, line 1 Delete “any view” replace with “views”

Page 63 Para 3.174, line 3 and 4: Delete “somewhat redundant, as in reality the new hotel building will 
not be visible from this position.” – Insert “less relevant.”

Page 69 Para 3.213, line 9 Delete “Provision of an apprenticeship/ training scheme in construction and 
hospitality, including a contribution of £76,450” and insert 

“A Jobs, Employment and Business Strategy (JEBS) to be produced and agreed with the Council prior to the 
commencement of the development, and a financial contribution of £118,375 towards supporting paid work 
experience and paid apprenticeships during the construction of the development.”

Page 71        Para 4.12   line 5  Delete “Regeneration, Planning and Housing Services” and insert “The 
Economy Department”

2018/03985/FUL      2 Hyde Mews, 163 Dalling Road          Ravenscourt Park                                   72   
Page 73 Officer Recommendation 1st paragraph Delete “Growth and Place” insert “The Economy 
Department”

Page 15



2

Page 73 Officer Recommendation 2nd paragraph Delete “Growth and Place” insert “The Economy 
Department”

Page 81        Para 2.1 , line 5:  Delete “17, 21B” 

2017/01837/FUL    14-16 Peterborough Road                    Parsons Green and Walham                    90
Page 91 Officer Recommendation 1st paragraph Delete “Growth and Place” insert “The Economy 
Department”

Page 91 Officer Recommendation 2nd paragraph Delete “Growth and Place” insert “The Economy 
Department”

Page 107 Paragraph 1.1, line 1, delete ‘part four, part five’, and replace with ‘part two, part 
three, part four and part five’.

Page 121 Add paragraph 3.76a: Daylight distribution 

Of the 102 rooms assessed, one room including habitable areas at 12 Peterborough 
Mews (ground floor) would receive direct daylight of less than 80% (75.1%) of its 
former values. Overall, this is considered to be a modest reduction in NSL to 12 
Peterborough Mews when considered against the wider benefits of the scheme is 
considered modest. Given that the BRE advises that their guidance be applied 
flexibly, the reduced distribution of daylight to 12 Peterborough Mews is acceptable 
within an urban setting.

Page 122 Add Paragraph 3.78a:
 

Sun Hours On the Ground:
The BRE guidelines also provide a methodology for assessing light to outdoor 
amenity spaces surrounding a development site. The 'Sun Hours on the Ground' 
(SHOG) test specifies that at least half of a garden or amenity space should receive at 
least 2 hours of sunlight on 21st March. If, as a result of new development, an existing 
amenity space does not meet the 50% minimum requirement and the area which 
receives two hours of sunlight on 21st March is less than 0.8 times its former value,
then loss of sunlight is likely to be noticeable for users.A BRE SHOG test for 19 
private gardens of the neighbouring properties in Parsons Gate Mews, Broomhouse 
Road and New Kings Road to the south, west and north of the application site 
respectively. The test concludes that all the spaces tested will experience no change. 
No objections would therefore be raised in terms of overshadowing.

2019/00664/VAR 20 Fulham Broadway      Fulham Broadway    128    
Page 129 Officer Recommendation 1st paragraph Delete “Growth and Place” insert “The Economy 
Department”

Page 129 Officer Recommendation 2nd paragraph Delete “Growth and Place” insert “The Economy 
Department”

Page 140 Condition 45, delete 

Page 142 Paragraph 1.2, line 5 remove “east” and replace with “west”

Page 143 Paragraph 3.1,  lines 2 and 3, delete ‘minor’

Page 146 Paragraph 5.19, line 6 remove `2018` and insert `2019`

Page 16



3

Page 149 Paragraph 5.37, delete paragraph

Page 149 Paragraph 5.38 remove “VSC” and replace with “NSL” 

2019/00433/FR3       O/S The Swan,         Hammersmith Broadway     188
46 Hammersmith Broadway      

Page 189 Officer Recommendation 1st paragraph Delete “Growth and Place” insert “The Economy 
Department”

Page 189 Officer Recommendation 2nd paragraph Delete “Growth and Place” insert “The Economy 
Department”

2019/00434/FR3     Outside Ravenscourt Park, King Street                Ravenscourt Park             195          
Page 196 Officer Recommendation 1st paragraph Delete “Growth and Place” insert “The Economy 
Department”

Page 196 Officer Recommendation 2nd paragraph Delete “Growth and Place” insert “The Economy 
Department”

2019/00436/FR3     Junction of Sussex Place Hammersmith Broadway   203
   and Queen Caroline Street

Page 204 Officer Recommendation 1st paragraph Delete “Growth and Place” insert “The Economy 
Department”

Page 204 Officer Recommendation 2nd paragraph Delete “Growth and Place” insert “The Economy 
Department”

Page 17



______________________________________________________________________________________________________
Minutes are subject to confirmation at the next meeting as a correct record of the proceedings and any amendments arising will be 
recorded in the minutes of that subsequent meeting.

`  London Borough of Hammersmith & Fulham
Planning and Development Control Committee

Minutes

Tuesday 2 July 2019

PRESENT

 
Committee members: Councillors Rachel Leighton, Colin Aherne, Natalia Perez, 
Asif Siddique, Alex Karmel and Matt Thorley.

1. APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE
Apologies for absence were provided by Councillors Matt Uberoi and Wesley Harcourt.

2. DECLARATION OF INTERESTS 

Councillor Natalia Perez declared a non-pecuniary interest in respect of Site of Former 
Cyclotron Building And Land Adjacent, as she sat on the Old Oak Development 
Corporation. She remained in the meeting and voted on the item.

Site Of Former Cyclotron Building And Land Adjacent, Hammersmith Hospital, Du 
Cane Road, London W12 0NN; Land At Linford Christie Stadium, Artillery Way, Du 
Cane Road, London W12 0DF; Land At Burlington Danes Academy, WoodLane, 
London, W12 0HR - 2018/03667/FUL

Please see the Addendum attached to the minutes which made minor changes to the 
report.

The Committee heard a representation from the Applicant. A number of points were 
raised which included: should the application be approved, it would provide a biomedical 
research centre including specialised laboratory and research space, associated offices 
and support spaces. The application would ensure the site was future proofed. Great 
efforts had been made by the applicant to speak to neighbours and stakeholders about 
the application to allay any concerns they might have. The proposal was supported by the 
Health Care Trust, as well as Imperial College. Should the application be approved, a 
number of Charities would benefit from the work being conducted on the site. 

During the course of discussions, the Committee explored a number of issues including, 
the GIA of the old Cyclotron building and the projected uplift. The types of bio-hazards on 
the site and the safeguards in place, as well as the re-location of the playing fields for 
Burlington Dane School. 

Noting the addendum, Councillor Alex Karmel proposed that condition 51 be amended to 
state that “when the tennis courts are reinstated, this is to a playable standard”. This was 
seconded by Councillor Matt Thorley.

Page 18



______________________________________________________________________________________________________
Minutes are subject to confirmation at the next meeting as a correct record of the proceedings and any amendments arising will be 
recorded in the minutes of that subsequent meeting.

The Committee voted on application 2018/03667/FUL and whether to agree, the 
amendment to condition 51 and the officer recommendations of approval. This was put to 
the vote and the result was as follows:

The proposed amendment:

For:
6
Against:
0

Officer Recommendation 1:

For: 
6
Against: 
0
Not Voting:
0

Officer Recommendation 2:

For:
6
Against:
0
Not Voting:
0

RESOLVED THAT:

Planning Application be approved, subject to:

1. There being no contrary direction from the Mayor for London; That the Committee 
resolve that the Strategic Director, The Economy, be authorised to
determine the application and grant permission subject to the condition(s) listed 
below:

2. To authorise the Strategic Director, The Economy, after consultation with the 
Director of Law and the Chair of the Planning and Development Control Committee 
to make any minor changes to the proposed conditions which may include the 
variation, addition or deletion of the conditions, any such changes shall be within 
their discretion.

Page 19



______________________________________________________________________________________________________
Minutes are subject to confirmation at the next meeting as a correct record of the proceedings and any amendments arising will be 
recorded in the minutes of that subsequent meeting.

The Queens Club, Palliser Road  - 2018/03263/FUL

Please see the Addendum attached to the minutes which amended the report.

Officers summarised the reasons why the application had been brought back to 
Committee. 

During the course of discussions, Councillor Alex Karmel proposed that condition 17 be 
amended as follows: “Neither music nor amplified voices emitted from the development 
hereby approved shall have an audible adverse impact to any residential / noise sensitive 
premises. To ensure that the amenity of occupiers of surrounding premise is not 
adversely affected by noise, in accordance with Policies CC11 and CC13 of the Local 
Plan (2018)”. This was seconded by Councillor Colin Aherne.

The Committee voted on application 2018/03263/FUL and whether to agree, the 
amendment to condition 17 and  the officer recommendations of approval. This was put to 
the vote and the result was as follows:

The proposed amendment:

For:
6
Against:
0

Officer Recommendation 1:

For: 
6
Against: 
0
Not Voting:
0

Officer Recommendation 2:

For: 
6
Against: 
0
Not Voting:
0

Page 20



______________________________________________________________________________________________________
Minutes are subject to confirmation at the next meeting as a correct record of the proceedings and any amendments arising will be 
recorded in the minutes of that subsequent meeting.

RESOLVED THAT:

Planning Application 2018/03263/FUL be approved, subject to:

1. That the Committee resolve that the Strategic Director, The Economy be 
authorised to determine the application and grant permission up on the completion 
of a satisfactory legal agreement and subject to the condition(s) listed below:

2. To authorise the Strategic Director, The Economy, after consultation with the 
Director of Law and the Chair of the Planning and Development Control Committee 
to make any minor changes to the proposed conditions or heads of terms of the 
legal agreement, any such changes shall be within their discretion.

Outside Ravenscourt Park Underground Station - 2019/00435/FR3

Please see the Addendum attached to the minutes which amended the report.

The Committee voted on application 2019/00435/FR3 and whether to agree the officer 
recommendations set out in the report and changes set out in the addendum. This was 
put to the vote and the result was as follows:

For: 
6
Against: 
0
Not Voting:
0

RESOLVED THAT:

Planning Application 2019/00435/FR3 be approved, subject to:

1) To resolve that the Strategic Director, the Economy, be authorised to determine 
the application and grant permission pursuant to Regulation 3 of the Town and

      Country Planning General Regulations 1992 subject to the condition(s) listed
      below:

2) To authorise the Strategic Director, The Economy, after consultation with the
       Director of Law and the Chair of the Planning and Development Control 
       Committee to make any minor changes to the proposed conditions which may 
       include the variation, addition or deletion of the conditions, any such changes shall
      be within their discretion.

Page 21



______________________________________________________________________________________________________
Minutes are subject to confirmation at the next meeting as a correct record of the proceedings and any amendments arising will be 
recorded in the minutes of that subsequent meeting.

Meeting started:   7:00 pm
  7:35 pm

Chair

Contact officer: Charles Francis
Committee Co-ordinator
Governance and Scrutiny
Tel 020 8753 2062
E-mail: charles.francis@lbhf.gov.uk

Page 22



PLANNING AND DEVELOPMENT CONTROL COMMITTEE
Addendum 02.07.2019

REG REF. ADDRESS WARD           PAGE

2018/03667/FUL Cyclotron Building, Hammersmith Hospital, Linford Christie College Park and Old Oak   6

Page 7 Drawing numbers:
Replace HMLMS1700-HBA-B1-ZZ-A-PL_140 Rev.PL3 with HMLMS1700-HBA-B1-ZZ-A-PL_140 Rev.PL4

Replace HMLMS1700-HBA-B1-ZZ-A-PL_141 Rev.PL2 with HMLMS1700-HBA-B1-ZZ-A-PL_141 Rev.PL3

Replace HMLMS1700-HBA-B1-00-A-PL_142 Rev.PL2 with HMLMS1700-HBA-B1-00-A-PL_142 Rev.PL3

Page 8 Condition 2:
Replace HMLMS1700-HBA-B1-ZZ-A-PL_140 Rev.PL3 with HMLMS1700-HBA-B1-ZZ-A-PL_140 Rev.PL4

Replace HMLMS1700-HBA-B1-ZZ-A-PL_141 Rev.PL2 with HMLMS1700-HBA-B1-ZZ-A-PL_141 Rev.PL3

Replace HMLMS1700-HBA-B1-00-A-PL_142 Rev.PL2 with HMLMS1700-HBA-B1-00-A-PL_142 Rev.PL3

Page 20          Condition 48, delete first sentence and replace with

‘Prior to occupation the development hereby permitted, details of tree planting along the northern edge of the 
hospital campus within the Linford Christie Stadium site shall have been submitted to, and approved in writing 
by, the Council.’

Page 20          Insert additional condition 51:
‘Within eighteen months of the removal of the construction zone within Linford Christie Stadium, the tennis courts 
temporarily lost during construction must be reinstated to at least the same quality as prior to the temporary loss.

To ensure the site is restored to a condition fit for purpose, in accordance with Local Plan (2018) policies CF1, 
CF3 and OS1.’

Page 47 Paragraph 3.112, last sentence, delete 'not'.

2018/03263/FUL The Queen’s Club, Palliser Road   North End               68

Page 67 Paragraph 2.1, delete ‘2 representations have been received’’ and replace with ‘2 properties have raised 
objections’

Page 68 Paragraph 4.2, delete first and second line and replace with 

The Planning Committee approved this application at its Meeting on 9 February 2019. At that Committee, officers 
reported that no objections were received. However, after the meeting officers became aware of a letter dated 18 
January 2019 which had not been considered and we received a complaint about lack of consultation. In 
response to this, a further round of consultation was carried out in March 2019 and the scheme is being re-
presented to update the Committee regarding the comments received. Officers have considered the objections 
and are satisfied that the concerns raised were addressed in the original Committee Report. 

Page 23



 

--------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------- 
Ward:  North End 
 

Site Address: 
4 Challoner Crescent  London  W14 9LE     
 

 

 
 

© Crown Copyright. All Rights Reserved. London Borough Hammersmith and Fulham LA100019223 (2013). 

For identification purposes only - do not scale. 
 

 
Reg. No: 
2018/01161/FUL 
 
Date Valid: 
04.05.2018 
 
Committee Date: 
22.07.2019 

Case Officer: 
Marina Lai 
 
Conservation Area: 
Constraint Name: Baron's Court Conservation Area 
- Number 27 

 

Page 24

Agenda Item 4



 

 
Applicant: 
Mr Jeremy Stein 
Mercham House 25-27 The Burroughs Hendon NW4 4AR 
 
Description: 
Demolition of existing building and erection of a part three-storey, part four-storey, part 
five-storey building with basement level, to provide a mixed use development 
comprising 25 residential units (Class C3) (3 x 1 bed, 10 x 2 bed, 6 x 3 bed and 6 x 
studios) plus four B1 Office units (570sqm) at basement level, with associated cycle 
storage, refuse storage and amenity space. 
Drg Nos: CHLCR-L201 REV.E; S201 REV.E; S202 REV.E; S203 REV.E;P201 REV.E; 
P202 REV.E; P203 REV.E; P204 REV.E;P205 REV.E; P206 REV.E; E201 REV.E; 
E202; REV.E;203 REV.E; E204 REV.E; E205 REV.E; E206 REV.E; 
 
 
Application Type: 
Full Detailed Planning Application 
 
Officer Recommendation: 
 
That the Committee resolve that the Strategic Director, The Economy be authorised to 
determine the application and grant permission upon the completion of a satisfactory 
Deed of Variation to the s106 legal agreement securing the heads of terms contained 
within this report and subject to conditions listed. 
 
To authorise that the Strategic Director, The Economy, after consultation with the 
Director of Law and the Chair of the Planning and Development Control Committee to 
make any minor changes to the proposed conditions or heads of terms of the legal 
agreement, any such changes shall be within their discretion.  
 
  
 
 1) The development hereby permitted shall not commence later than the expiration of 

3 years beginning with the date of this planning permission. 
    
 Condition required to be imposed by section 91(1) (a) of the Town and Country 

Planning Act 1990 (as amended by section 51 of the Planning and Compulsory 
Purchase Act 2004). 

 
 2) The development hereby permitted shall be erected in complete accordance with 

the following submitted drawings hereby approved: 
  
 CHLCR-L201 REV.E; S201 REV.E; S202 REV.E; S203 REV.E; P201 REV.E; 

P202 REV.E; P203 REV.E; P204 REV.E; P205 REV.E; P206 REV.E; E201 
REV.E; E202; REV.E; 203 REV.E; E204 REV.E; E205 REV.E; E206 REV.E;  

  
 To ensure full compliance with the planning application hereby approved and to 

prevent harm arising through deviations from the approved plans, in accordance 
with Policies DC1, DC2, DC4 and DC8 of the Local Plan 2018. 

 

Page 25



 

 3) Prior to commencement of the development hereby approved, a Demolition 
Management Plan (DMP) and a Demolition Logistics Plan (DLP) shall be 
submitted to and approved in writing by the Council. Details shall include control 
measures for dust, noise, vibration, lighting, delivery locations, restriction of hours 
of work and all associated activities audible beyond the site boundary to 0800-
1800hrs Mondays to Fridays and 0800 -1300 hrs on Saturdays, advance 
notification to neighbours and other interested parties of proposed works and 
public display of contact details including accessible phone contact to persons 
responsible for the site works for the duration of the works.  Approved details shall 
be implemented throughout the project period.   

  
 To ensure that the amenity of occupiers of surrounding premises is not adversely 

affected by noise, vibration, dust, lighting or other emissions from the building site, 
in accordance with Policies CC11 and CC13 of the Local Plan 2018. 

 
 4) Prior to commencement of the development hereby approved, a Demolition and 

Construction Logistics Plan shall be submitted to, and approved in writing by, the 
Council. This must be in accordance with Transport for London (TfL) requirements 
and should seek to minimise the impact of construction traffic on nearby roads and 
restrict construction trips to off-peak hours only. Thereafter the approved details 
shall be implemented throughout the project period.      

  
 To ensure that construction works do not adversely impact on the operation of the 

public highway, in accordance with Policies T1 and T7 of the Local Plan (2018). 
 
 5) Prior to any works at ground floor and above (save for demolition and site 

clearance), details of all new external materials (including samples where 
considered appropriate by the Council) to be used in the development including 
brickwork, cast stone and metal screen, windows, balustrades and roofing 
materials shall be submitted to, and approved in writing by, the Council. The 
development shall be carried out in accordance with the approved details; and 
permanently retained as such. 

   
 To ensure a satisfactory external appearance and to prevent harm to the street 

scene and public realm, to preserve the character and appearance of the area; 
and the setting and special architectural and historic interest of the locally listed 
building in accordance with policies 7.1, 7.6 and 7.9 of the London Plan (2016) 
and Policies DC1, DC2, DC4 and DC8 of the Local Plan 2018. 

 
 6) Prior to any works at ground floor and above (save for demolition and site 

clearance works), detailed drawings in plan, section and elevation at a scale of no 
less than 1:20 of all typical bays including windows, doors, entrances and gates,  
all excrescences at roof level and junctions shall be submitted to and approved in 
writing by the Council and the development shall be carried out in accordance with 
such details as have been approved. 

  
 To ensure a satisfactory external appearance, in accordance with Policies DC1, 

DC2, DC4 and DC8 of the Local Plan 2018. 
 
 7) Prior to any works at ground floor and above, full details of the means by which 

wheelchair access is provided to the building and dwellings, shall be submitted to 
and approved in writing by the Council. Such details as approved shall be carried 

Page 26



 

out prior to any use or occupation of the buildings or open spaces and thereafter 
permanently retained. 

   
 To ensure a satisfactory provision for dwellings, meeting the needs of people with 

disabilities, in accordance with the Policy 3.8 and 4.5 of the London Plan (2016), 
and Policies DC1 and DC4 of the Local Plan 2018. 

 
 8) No plumbing, extract flues or pipes other than rainwater pipes shall be fixed on the 

front elevations of the building(s) hereby approved. 
   
 To ensure a satisfactory external appearance and to prevent harm to the 

streetscene, in accordance with Policies DC1, DC2, DC4 and DC8 of the Local 
Plan 2018. 

 
 9) No plant, water tanks, water tank enclosures or other structures, that are not 

shown on the approved plans, shall be erected upon the roofs of the building(s) 
hereby permitted. 

   
 To ensure a satisfactory external appearance, in accordance Policies DC1, DC2, 

DC4 and DC8 of the Local Plan 2018. 
 
10) No alterations shall be carried out to the external appearance of the building, 

including the installation of air-conditioning units, ventilation fans or extraction 
equipment not shown on the approved drawings, without planning permission first 
being obtained. Any such changes shall be carried out in accordance with the 
approved details. 

            
 To ensure a satisfactory external appearance and to prevent harm to the 

amenities of the occupiers of neighbouring residential properties, in accordance 
with Policies DC1, DC2, DC4 and DC8 of the Local Plan 2018. 

 
11) Notwithstanding the provisions of the Town and Country Planning (General 

Permitted Development) (England) Order 2015 as amended (or any Order 
revoking or re-enacting that Order with or without modification), no aerials, 
antennae, satellite dishes or related telecommunications equipment shall be 
erected on any external part of the approved buildings, without planning 
permission first being obtained. 

        
 To ensure that the Council can fully consider the effect of telecommunications 

equipment upon the appearance of the buildings in accordance with Policies DC1, 
DC2, DC4 and DC8 of the Local Plan 2018. 

 
12) No advertisements shall be displayed on the development hereby approved 

without details of the advertisements having first been submitted to and approved 
in writing by the Council. 

     
 In order that any advertisements displayed on the building are assessed in the 

context of an overall strategy, to ensure a satisfactory external appearance and to 
preserve the integrity of the design of the building, in accordance with Policies 
DC1, DC2, DC4, DC8 and DC9 of the Local Plan 2018. 

 

Page 27



 

13) Prior to the commencement of the construction phases of the development, an Air 
Quality Dust Management Plan (AQDMP) is submitted to and approved in writing 
by the Local Planning Authority. The AQDMP must be site specific and include an 
Air Quality Dust Risk Assessment (AQDRA) that considers sensitive receptors off-
site of the development and is undertaken in compliance with the methodology 
contained within Chapter 4 of the Mayors of London 'The Control of Dust and 
Emissions during Construction and Demolition', SPG, July 2014 and the identified 
measures recommended for inclusion into the AQDMP. The AQDMP submitted 
must comply with the Mayors SPG and should include an Inventory and Timetable 
of dust generating activities during demolition and construction; Dust and Emission 
control measures including for on-road and off-road construction traffic, Detailed 
list of Non-Road Mobile Machinery (NRMM) used on the site, Ultra Low Emission 
Vehicle Strategy (ULEVS) for the use of on-road Ultra Low Emission Vehicles in 
accordance with the emission hierarchy (1) Electric (2) Hybrid (Electric-Petrol) (3) 
Petrol, (4) Hybrid (Electric-Diesel)  (5) Diesel (Euro VI HGV). The NRMM should 
meet as minimum the Stage IIIB emission criteria of Directive 97/68/EC and its 
subsequent amendments. This will apply to both variable and constant speed 
engines for both NOx and PM. An inventory of all NRMM must be registered on 
the NRMM register https://nrmm.london/user-nrmm/register. Air quality monitoring 
of PM10 should be undertaken where appropriate and used to prevent levels 
exceeding predetermined Air Quality threshold trigger levels. Developers must 
ensure that on-site contractors follow best practicable means to minimise dust and 
emissions at all times. Approved details shall be fully implemented and 
permanently retained and maintained during the demolition and construction 
phase of the development. 

   
 To comply with the requirements of the NPPF (2019), Policies 7.14a-c of the 

London Plan (2016), and Policy CC10 of the Local Plan 2018. 
 
14) Prior to occupation of the development a Low Emission Strategy for the 

operational phase shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local 
Planning Authority. The Low Emission Strategy must detail the remedial action 
and mitigation measures that will be implemented to protect receptors (e.g. 
abatement technology for energy plant, design solutions). This Strategy must 
make a commitment to implement the mitigation measures (including NOx 
emissions standards for the chosen energy plant) that are required to reduce the 
exposure of future residents to poor air quality and to help mitigate the 
development's air pollution impacts, in particular the emissions of NOx and 
particulates from on-site and off-site transport via a Ultra Low Emission Vehicle 
Plan (ULEVP) e.g. use of on-road Ultra Low Emission Vehicles in accordance with 
the emissions hierarchy (1) Electric Vehicle (Zero emission), (2) Hybrid (non-plug 
in) Electric Vehicle (HEV), (3) Plug-in Hybrid Electric Vehicle (PHEV), (4) 
Alternative Fuel e.g. CNG, LPG, (5) Petrol (6) Diesel (Euro 6-HGV) and energy 
generation sources. The strategy must re-assess air quality neutral in accordance 
with the Mayor of London SPG 'Sustainable Design and Construction' (April 2014) 
guidance. Approved details shall be fully implemented prior to the occupation/use 
of the development and thereafter permanently retained and maintained 

   
 To comply with the requirements of the NPPF (2019), Policies 7.14a-c of the 

London Plan (2016), and Policy CC10 of the Local Plan 2018. 
 

Page 28



 

15) Prior to the installation of the Ultra Low NOx Gas fired boilers to be provided for 
space heating and domestic hot water in the development, details must be 
submitted to and agreed in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The Ultra Low 
NOx Gas fired boilers shall have dry NOx emissions not exceeding 30 mg/kWh (at 
0% O2). Where any installations do not meet this emissions standard, it should not 
be operated without the fitting of suitable NOx abatement equipment or technology 
as determined by a specialist to ensure comparable emissions. Following 
installation, emissions certificates will need to be provided to the council to verify 
boiler emissions. The approved details shall be fully implemented prior to the 
occupation/use of the residential development and thereafter permanently retained 
and maintained. 

  
 To comply with the requirements of the NPPF (2019), Policies 7.14a-c of the 

London Plan (2016), and Policy CC10 of the Local Plan 2018. 
 
16) Prior to commencement of the development, (excluding site clearance and 

demolition) a report including detailed information on the proposed mechanical 
ventilation system with NOx, PM2.5 filtration shall be submitted to and approved in 
writing by the Local Planning Authority. This report shall specify air intake and 
extract locations at roof level on the front Challoner Crescent elevation and the 
design details and locations of windows of all habitable rooms (Bedrooms, Living 
Rooms) to demonstrate that they avoid areas of NO2 or PM exceedance e.g. 
North End Road (B317). The whole system shall be designed to prevent summer 
overheating and minimise energy usage. Chimney/boiler flues and ventilation 
extracts shall be positioned a suitable distance away from ventilation intakes, 
openable windows, balconies, roof gardens, terraces and receptors. The 
maintenance and cleaning of the systems shall be undertaken regularly in 
accordance with manufacturer specifications, and shall be the responsibility of the 
primary owner of the property. Approved details shall be fully implemented prior to 
the occupation/use of the residential development and thereafter permanently 
retained and maintained 

  
 To comply with the requirements of the NPPF (2019), Policies 7.14a-c of the 

London Plan (2016), Policy CC10 of the Local Plan 2018. 
 
17) Prior to any works at ground floor and above, details shall be submitted to and 

approved in writing by the Council, of an enhanced sound insulation value DnT,w 
and L'nT,w of at least 5dB above the Building Regulations value, for the 
floor/ceiling /wall structures separating different types of rooms/ uses in adjoining 
dwellings. Approved details shall be implemented prior to occupation of the 
development and thereafter be permanently retained.   

  
 To ensure that the amenity of occupiers of the development site is not adversely 

affected by noise, in accordance with Policies CC11 and cc13 of the Local Plan 
(2018).    

 
18) Prior to any works at ground floor and above, details shall be submitted to and 

approved in writing by the Council, of the sound insulation of the floor/ ceiling/ 
walls separating the commercial part(s) of the premises from dwellings.  Details 
shall demonstrate that the sound insulation value DnT,w is enhanced by at least 
10dB above the Building Regulations value and, where necessary, additional 
mitigation measures are implemented  to contain commercial noise within the 

Page 29



 

commercial premises and to achieve the criteria of BS8233:2014 within the 
dwellings/ noise sensitive premises.  Approved details shall be implemented prior 
to occupation of the development and thereafter be permanently retained.  

  
 To ensure that the amenity of occupiers of the development site/ adjacent 

dwellings/ noise sensitive premises is not adversely affected by noise, in 
accordance with Policies CC11 and CC13 of the Local Plan (2018). 

 
19) Prior to any works at ground floor and above, a noise assessment shall be 

submitted to the Council for approval of external noise levels including reflected 
and re-radiated noise and details of the sound insulation of the building envelope, 
orientation of habitable rooms away from major noise sources and of acoustically 
attenuated mechanical ventilation as necessary to achieve internal room- and (if 
provided) external amenity noise standards in accordance with the criteria of 
BS8233:2014.  Approved details shall be implemented prior to occupation of the 
development and thereafter be permanently retained.  

  
 To ensure that the amenity of occupiers of the development site/ surrounding 

premises is not adversely affected by noise from activities or people at or leaving 
the site, in accordance with Policies CC11 and CC13 of the Local Plan (2018). 

 
20) Unless otherwise indicated on the approved drawings, no part of the flat roof areas 

provided by the development hereby approved shall be used as a terrace or other 
accessible amenity space. No walls, fences, railings or other means of enclosure 
other than those shown on the approved drawings shall be erected around the 
roofs, and no alterations shall be carried out to the approved building to form 
access onto these roofs. 

    
 To ensure a satisfactory external appearance and so that the use of the buildings 

does not harm the amenities of the existing neighbouring residential properties 
and future residential occupiers of the development due to overlooking, loss of 
privacy and noise and disturbance, in accordance with Policies DC1, DC2 and 
HO11 of the Local Plan 2018. 

 
21) No part of the development hereby approved shall be occupied prior to the 

provision of the cycle storage for the residential and commercial development 
hereby approved and such storage facilities shall be permanently retained 
thereafter in accordance with the approved details. 

  
 To promote alternative, sustainable forms of transport, in accordance with Policy 

6.9 and Table 6.3 of the London Plan (2016), and Policy T3 of the Local Plan 
2018.   

 
22) No part of the development hereby approved shall be occupied prior to the 

provision of the refuse storage enclosures for the residential and commercial 
development hereby approved and such storage facilities shall be permanently 
retained thereafter in accordance with the approved details. 

  
 To ensure that the use does not give rise to smell nuisance and to prevent harm to 

the street scene arising from the appearance of accumulated rubbish, in 
accordance with Policies DC8, CC6 and CC7 of the Local Plan 2018.   

 

Page 30



 

23) The development hereby permitted shall not be occupied before implementation of 
the energy efficiency, low carbon and renewable energy measures detailed in the 
revised Sustainability and Energy Statement (dated October 2018).  All details 
shall be implemented prior to occupation/use of the development hereby 
permitted, and thereafter be permanently retained.  

    
 To ensure a satisfactory external appearance and the integration of energy 

generation from renewable sources, consistent with the Mayor's sustainable 
design objectives in accordance with Policies 5.1, 5.2, 5.3 and 5.7 of The London 
Plan (2016), and Policies DC1, DC2, DC8, CC1 and CC2 of the Local Plan 2018. 

 
24) Prior to the occupation of the proposed development hereby permitted, a 

supporting statement confirming the residential sustainability measures as outlined 
in the Sustainability and Energy Statement (dated October 2018) have been 
implemented, shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Council and 
thereafter be permanently retained.  

  
 To ensure a satisfactory external appearance and the integration of energy 

generation from renewable sources, consistent with the Mayor's sustainable 
design objectives in accordance with Policies 5.1, 5.2, 5.3 and 5.7 of The London 
Plan (2016) and Policies DC1 and CC1 of the Hammersmith and Fulham Local 
Plan 2018. 

 
25) The development hereby permitted shall not be occupied before implementation of 

the sustainable design and construction measures detailed in the submitted 
Sustainability and Energy Statement (dated October 2018).  

  
 Prior to occupation, a post construction BREEAM assessment shall be submitted 

to and approved in writing by the Council which confirms that the "Very Good" 
Rating has been achieved and a supporting statement on the residential measures 
to confirm that the measures have been implemented.  

   
 All details thereafter shall be implemented prior to occupation/use of the 

development hereby permitted, and thereafter be permanently retained. 
   
 To ensure a satisfactory external appearance and the integration of energy 

generation from renewable sources, consistent with the Mayor's sustainable 
design objectives in accordance with Policies 5.1, 5.2, 5.3 and 5.7 of The London 
Plan (2016) and Policies DC1 and CC2 of the Hammersmith and Fulham Local 
Plan 2018. 

 
26) No development shall commence until a preliminary risk assessment report, 

regarding with land contamination, is submitted to and approved in writing by the 
Council. This report shall comprise: a desktop study which identifies all current and 
previous uses at the site and surrounding area as well as the potential 
contaminants associated with those uses; a site reconnaissance; and a conceptual 
model indicating potential pollutant linkages between sources, pathways and 
receptors, including those in the surrounding area and those planned at the site; 
and a qualitative risk assessment of any potentially unacceptable risks arising from 
the identified pollutant linkages to human health, controlled waters and the wider 
environment including ecological receptors and building materials; and a 
statement of whether a site investigation is necessary to address these potentially 

Page 31



 

unacceptable risks. All works must be carried out in compliance with the approved 
details and by a competent person who conforms to CLR 11: Model Procedures 
for the Management of Land Contamination (Defra 2004) or the current UK 
requirements for sampling and testing. 

   
 Potentially contaminative land uses (past or present) are understood to occur at, 

or near to, this site. The condition is required to ensure that no unacceptable risks 
are caused to humans, controlled waters or the wider environment during and 
following the development works, and in accordance with policy 5.21 of the 
London Plan (2016), and Policy CC9 of the Local Plan 2018. 

 
27) No development shall commence until a site investigation scheme, if a site 

investigation is to be required under the approved preliminary risk assessment, is 
submitted to and approved in writing by the Council. This scheme shall be based 
upon and target the risks identified in the approved preliminary risk assessment 
and shall provide provisions for, where relevant, the sampling of soil, soil vapour, 
ground gas, surface and groundwater. The site investigation should then progress 
in accordance with the agreed site investigation scheme. All works must be carried 
out in compliance with the approved details and by a competent person who 
conforms to CLR 11: Model Procedures for the Management of Land 
Contamination (Defra 2004) or the current UK requirements for sampling. 

   
 Potentially contaminative land uses (past or present) are understood to occur at, 

or near to, this site. The condition is required to ensure that no unacceptable risks 
are caused to humans, controlled waters or the wider environment during and 
following the development works, and in accordance with policy 5.21 of the 
London Plan (2016), and Policy CC9 of the Local Plan 2018. 

 
28) Unless the Council agree in writing that a set extent of development must 

commence to enable compliance with this condition, no development shall 
commence until, following the site investigation undertaken in compliance with the 
approved site investigation scheme if required by the approved preliminary risk 
assessment a quantitative risk assessment report is submitted to and approved in 
writing by the Council. This report shall: assess the degree and nature of any 
contamination identified on the site through the site investigation; include a revised 
conceptual site model from the approved preliminary risk assessment based on 
the information gathered through the approved site investigation to confirm the 
existence of any remaining pollutant linkages which would require the submission 
of a remediation method statement and determine the remaining risks posed by 
any contamination to human health, controlled waters and the wider environment. 
All works must be carried out in compliance with the approved details and by a 
competent person who conforms to CLR 11: Model Procedures for the 
Management of Land contamination (Defra 2004) or the current UK requirements 
for sampling and testing. 

   
 Potentially contaminative land uses (past or present) are understood to occur at, 

or near to, this site. The condition is required to ensure that no unacceptable risks 
are caused to humans, controlled waters or the wider environment during and 
following the development works, and in accordance with policy 5.21 of the 
London Plan 2016, and Policy CC9 of the Local Plan 2018. 

 

Page 32



 

29) Unless the Council agree in writing that a set extent of development must 
commence to enable compliance with this condition, no development shall 
commence until, a remediation method statement, if deemed to be required in the 
approved quantitative risk assessment, is submitted to and approved in writing by 
the Council. This statement shall detail any required remediation works and shall 
be designed to mitigate any remaining risks identified in the approved quantitative 
risk assessment. This statement will also include a plan to verify that the required 
remediation works are undertaken in line with the remediation method statement 
which will be compiled into a verification report. The remediation should then 
progress in accordance with the agreed remediation method statement. All works 
must be carried out in compliance with the approved details and by a competent 
person who conforms to CLR 11: Model Procedures for the Management of Land 
Contamination (Defra 2004) or the current UK requirements for sampling and 
testing. 

   
 Potentially contaminative land uses (past or present) are understood to occur at, 

or near to, this site. The condition is required to ensure that no unacceptable risks 
are caused to humans, controlled waters or the wider environment during and 
following the development works, and in accordance with policy 5.21 of the 
London Plan (2016), and Policy CC9 of the Local Plan 2018. 

 
30) Unless the Council agree in writing that a set extent of development must 

commence to enable compliance with this condition, no development shall 
commence until the approved remediation method statement has been carried out 
in full if required by the approved quantitative risk assessment, and a verification 
report confirming these works has been submitted to, and approved in writing, by 
the Council. This report shall include: details of the remediation works carried out; 
results of any verification sampling, testing or monitoring including the analysis of 
any imported soil; all appropriate waste Duty of Care documentation and the 
validation of gas membrane placement. If, during development, contamination not 
previously identified is found to be present at the site, the Council is to be informed 
immediately and no further development (unless otherwise agreed in writing by the 
Council) shall be carried out until a report indicating the nature of the 
contamination and how it is to be dealt with is submitted to, and agreed in writing 
by, the Council. Any required remediation shall be detailed in an amendment to 
the remediation method statement to be submitted and approved by the Council 
and verification of these works included in the verification report. All works must be 
carried out in compliance with the approved details and by a competent person 
who conforms to CLR 11: Model Procedures for the Management of Land 
Contamination (Defra 2004) or the current UK requirements for sampling and 
testing. 

  
 Potentially contaminative land uses (past or present) are understood to occur at, 

or near to, this site. The condition is required to ensure that no unacceptable risks 
are caused to humans, controlled waters or the wider environment during and 
following the development works, and in accordance with policy 5.21 of the 
London Plan (2016), and Policy CC9 of the Local Plan 2018. 

 
31) Unless the Council agree in writing that a set extent of development must 

commence to enable compliance with this condition, no development shall 
commence until an onward long-term monitoring methodology report, is submitted 
to and approved in writing by the Council setting out where further monitoring is 

Page 33



 

required past the completion of development works (as identified in the approved 
site investigation scheme or the approved remediation statement or the approved 
verification report) to verify the success of the remediation undertaken. If required, 
a verification report of these monitoring works shall then be submitted to and 
approved in writing by the Council when it may be demonstrated that no residual 
adverse risks exist. All works must be carried out in compliance with the approved 
details and by a competent person who conforms to CLR 11: Model Procedures 
for the Management of Land Contamination (Defra 2004) or the current UK 
requirements for sampling and testing. 

   
 Potentially contaminative land uses (past or present) are understood to occur at, 

or near to, this site. The condition is required to ensure that no unacceptable risks 
are caused to humans, controlled waters or the wider environment during and 
following the development works, and in accordance with policy 5.21 of the 
London Plan (2016), and Policy CC9 of the Local Plan 2018. 

 
32) Prior to any works at ground floor and above, details of the proposed measures to 

ensure that the development achieves "secured by design" status shall be 
submitted to and approved in writing by the Council. No part of the development 
thereby effected shall be used or occupied prior to the implementation of the 
approved details and thereafter be permanently retained. 

   
 To ensure that the development incorporates suitable design measures to 

minimise opportunities for, and the perception of, crime, in accordance with 
Policies 7.3 and 7.13 of the London Plan (2016) and policies DC1 and DC2 of the 
Local Plan 2018.   

 
33) The development shall be implemented in accordance with the recommended 

flood mitigation measures in the revised Flood Risk Assessment and Sustainable 
Drainage Strategy (3rd Issue dated October 2018) hereby approved by the local 
planning authority. In line with advice from Thames Water, a non-return valve or 
other suitable device shall be installed to avoid the risk of the sewerage network 
surcharging wastewater to basement/ground level during storm conditions. The 
recommended mitigation measures shall be permanently retained thereafter.  

  
 To reduce the impact of flooding to the proposed development and future 

occupants, in accordance with Policies 5.11, 5.13, 5.14 and 5.15 of the London 
Plan (2016), and Policy CC3 of the Local Plan 2018 

  
 
34) No development other than site demolition and clearance shall commence until the 

full details of the proposed Surface Water Management Strategy, including design 
details of the proposed green and blue roofs, rainwater harvesting system and 
pervious paving have been submitted to and approved in writing by the Council. 
Confirmation that the implementation of the measures outlined in the Strategy will 
limit surface water discharges to no more than 1 l/s from the site into the combined 
sewer should be provided. Maintenance information for the green and blue roofs, 
pervious paving and rainwater harvesting system us also required. All SuDS 
measures shall be implemented in accordance with the approved details prior to 
occupation of the development hereby permitted, and thereafter be permanently 
retained and maintained in line with the agreed details. 

  

Page 34



 

 To ensure acceptable surface water management, in accordance with policy 5.13 
of The London Plan (2016) and policies CC3 and CC4 of the Local Plan (2018)". 

 
35) Prior to occupation of the commercial units, a Delivery & Servicing Plan shall be 

submitted to and approved in writing by the Council. Details shall include times 
and frequency of deliveries and collections, vehicle movements, silent reversing 
methods, location of loading area and quiet loading/unloading measures. The 
measures/scheme shall be implemented in accordance with the approved details 
prior to occupation of the development hereby permitted, and thereafter 
permanently complied with and maintained in line with the agreed plan. 

     
 To ensure that the resulting servicing arrangements are satisfactory in terms of 

their impact on highway safety and the free-flow of traffic in accordance with 
policies T1 and T6 of the Local Plan 2018. 

 
36) Prior to commencement of development (excluding site clearance and demolition) 

details for construction of a green infrastructure (including paving, external hard 
surface and green / brown roof) shall be submitted to and approved by the local 
planning authority. The green infrastructure shall be constructed and planted up in 
full accordance with the approved details following completion of buildings. 
Approved details shall be fully implemented prior to the occupation/use of the 
development and thereafter permanently retained and maintained. 

   
 In order that the Council may be satisfied as to the details of the development in 

the interests of visual amenity of the area in accordance with policies CC3, CC4 
and OS5 of the Local Plan 2018.   

 
37) Prior to any works at ground floor and above, full details of the proposed soft 

landscaping of the site, including planting schedules and details of the species, 
height and maturity of new trees and shrubs, shall be submitted to and approved 
in writing by the Council. The approved landscaping scheme shall be implemented 
in the next winter planting season following completion of the building works, or 
before the occupation and use of any part of the building, whichever is the earlier.  

     
 To ensure a satisfactory external appearance and to prevent harm to the character 

of the surrounding and streetscene, in accordance with Policies OS5, DC1 and 
DC2 of the Local Plan (2018). 

 
38) Any tree or shrub planted pursuant to condition 37 being removed or severely 

damaged, dying or becoming seriously diseased within 5 years of planting shall be 
replaced with a tree or shrub of similar size and species to that originally required 
to be planted. 

    
 To ensure a satisfactory provision for planting in accordance with Policies OS5, 

DC1 and DC2 of the Local Plan (2018). 
 
39) The development hereby approved shall not be carried out until the consent from 

the owner of the Sycamore Tree (T1) for the proposed removal and tree 
replacement planting  has been agreed and these details have been submitted to 
and approved in writing by the Council.  

   

Page 35



 

 To ensure the Council is able to properly assess the impact of the development on 
any trees and prevent their unnecessary loss, in accordance with Policies OS5, 
DC1, DC2 and DC8 of the Local Plan (2018). 

 
40) The proposed development hereby permitted shall not be occupied until the 

Council has been notified in writing (and has acknowledged such notification) of 
the full postal address of the flats. Such notification shall be to the council's Head 
of Development Management and shall quote the planning application number 
specified in this decision letter. 

  
 In order that the Council can update its records to ensure that parking permits are 

not issued to the occupiers of the new flats hereby approved and thus ensure that 
the development does not harm the existing amenities of the occupiers of 
neighbouring residential properties by adding to the already high level of on-street 
car parking stress in the area, in accordance with Policies HO1, HO11, T1 and T4 
of the Local Plan (2018) and Key Principle TR3 of the Planning Guidance 
Supplementary Planning Document (SPD) (2018).  

 
41) No occupier of the flats hereby permitted, with the exception of disabled persons 

who are blue badge holders, shall apply to the Council for a parking permit or 
retain such a permit, and if such a permit is issued it shall be surrendered to the 
Council within seven days of written demand. 

  
 In order to ensure that the development does not harm the existing amenities of 

the occupiers of neighbouring residential properties by adding to the already high 
level of on-street car parking stress in the area, in accordance with Policies HO1, 
HO11 and T4 of the Local Plan (2018) and Key Principle TR3 of the Planning 
Guidance Supplementary Planning Document (SPD) (2018).  

 
42) The new flats hereby permitted shall not be occupied until such time as a scheme 

has been submitted to and approved in writing by the local planning authority to 
ensure that all occupiers, other than those with disabilities who are blue badge 
holders, have no entitlement to parking permits from the council and to ensure that 
occupiers are informed, prior to occupation, of such restriction. The flat shall not 
be occupied otherwise than in accordance with the approved scheme unless prior 
written agreement is issued by the Council. 

  
 In order that the prospective occupiers of the residential unit concerned are made 

aware of the fact that they will not be entitled to an on-street car parking permit, in 
the interests of the proper management of parking, and to ensure that the 
development does not harm the existing amenities of the occupiers of 
neighbouring residential properties by adding to the already high level of on-street 
car parking stress in the area, in accordance with Policies HO1, HO11, T4 and T5 
of the Local Plan (2018) and Key Principles TR3 and TR6 of the Planning 
Guidance Supplementary Planning Document (SPD) (2018).  

 
43) The development shall not commence (excluding works of site clearance and 

demolition of existing building), until details of any proposed external artificial 
lighting, including security lights have been submitted to and approved in writing 
by the Local Planning Authority and no occupation shall take place until the 
lighting has been installed in full accordance with the approved details. Such 
details shall include the number, exact location, height, design and appearance of 

Page 36



 

the lights, together with data concerning the levels of illumination and light spillage 
and the specific measures, having regard to the recommendations of the 
Institution of Lighting Engineers in the `Guidance Notes for The Reduction of Light 
Pollution 2011 (or relevant guidance) to ensure that any lighting proposed does 
not harm the existing amenities of the occupiers of neighbouring properties. No 
part of the development shall be used or occupied until any external lighting 
provided has been installed in accordance with the approved details and shall 
thereafter be permanently retained in this form. 

     
 To ensure that lighting does not adversely affect the amenity of occupiers of the 

development site/surrounding premises and natural habitat, in accordance with 
policies 5.11, 7.3 and 7.13 of the London Plan (2016), and policy CC12 of the 
Local Plan 2018. 

 
44) The development hereby permitted shall not be occupied until the new upper floor 

windows (facing Challoner Mansions (1-10) and No.6 - No.12 Lanfrey Place ) have 
been installed so as to be non-openable and with obscure glazing to a height of 
1.7 metres from the internal floor level, a sample of which shall have been 
submitted to and approved in writing by the Council prior to any development on 
site. Thereafter the window shall be retained in the form approved. 

  
 Such a use would be harmful to the existing residential amenities of neighbouring 

occupiers as a result of overlooking and loss of privacy, contrary to Policy DC1, 
HO11 and DC4 of the Local Plan (2018). 

 
45) Prior to the commencement of the development, details including detailed 

drawings in plan, section and elevation at 1:20 and samples, where appropriate, of 
all boundary walls, railings, gates, fences and other means of enclosure for that 
development shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Council. The 
development shall be carried out in accordance with the approved details and 
thereafter permanently retained as such. 

     
 Reason: To ensure a satisfactory external appearance, in accordance with, 

policies DC1, DC2 and DC8 of the Local Plan 2018. 
 
46) Prior to the commencement of the development, the detailed access, layout and 

location of two disable car parking on the site shall be submitted to and approved 
in writing by the Council. The proposed car parking shall accord with the details as 
approved and shall be retained permanently thereafter unless otherwise agreed in 
writing with the Local Planning Authority. 

  
 To ensure that the detailed design of the access ramps provides sufficient vertical 

clearance and capacity for vehicle manoeuvring in the interest of public safety and 
to ensure that the detailed design of the roads, footways and cycleways would 
avoid vehicle/pedestrian conflict in accordance with policies T1, T4 and T5 of the 
Local Plan 2018 and the Council's Planning Guidance Supplementary Planning 
Document 2018. 

 
47) The development hereby permitted shall not be occupied until 2 active electric 

vehicle charging spaces have been provided. The electric vehicle charging shall 
be permanently retained for the lifetime of the development and shall be 
permanently accessible.      

Page 37



 

  
 To ensure the suitable provision of electric vehicle charging within the 

development to meet the needs of future site occupiers and users, in accordance 
with policy T4 of the Local Plan (2018). 

 
 
 
 
Justification for Approving the Application: 
 
 
 
  1. Change of Use: It is considered that the proposed change of land use is 

acceptable. The loss of part of the existing Class B8 floorspace and creation of a 
mixed development comprising Class B1 premises and residential are acceptable 
and in accordance with the NPPF (2018), Policies 4.2 and 4.3 of the London Plan 
(2016), and Local Plan Policy Policy E1 and E2. 

   
 2. Design:  The proposed development would be a high-quality development which 

would make a positive contribution to the urban environment in this part of the 
Borough. The proposed development would be compatible with the scale and 
character of existing development and surrounding. The development would 
therefore be acceptable in accordance with the NPPF (2018), 7.1, 7.2, 7.3, 7.4, 
7.5, 7.6 and 7.8 of the London Plan (2016) and Local Plan 2018 Policies Policies 
DC1, DC2, DC4 and DC8. 

   
 3.  Residential Amenity and Impact on Neighbouring Properties: The impact of the 

proposed development upon adjoining occupiers is considered acceptable with no 
significant worsening of noise, overlooking, loss of sunlight or daylight or outlook to 
cause undue detriment to the amenities of neighbours. In this regard, the 
development would respect the principles of good neighbourliness. The 
development would therefore be acceptable in accordance with Policies HO11 and 
DC2 of the Local Plan 2018, and Key Principles HS7 and 8 of the Planning 
Guidance Supplementary Planning Document (2018). 

   
 4. Safety and Access: The development would provide a safe and secure 

environment for all users in accordance with London Plan (2016) Policy 7.3 and 
Policy DC1 Local Plan 2013 (2018). The proposal would provide ease of access 
for all people, including disabled people, in accordance with Policy 3.8 of the 
London Plan (2016), and Policies DC1, DC4 and HO6 of the Local Plan 2018.  

   
 5. Transport:  There would be no significant adverse impact on traffic generation 

and the scheme would not result in congestion of the road network. Conditions will 
secure a parking permit free development on site and adequate provision of cycle 
and refuse storage. The development would therefore be acceptable in 
accordance with the NPPF (2018), Policies 6.1, 6.3, 6.9, 6.10, 6.11, 6.13 of the 
London Plan (2016), and Local Plan 2018 policies T2, T3, T4, T5 and T7. 

   
 6.  Flood Risk: A Flood Risk Assessment (FRA) has been submitted and has 

considered risks of flooding to the site and adequate preventative measures have 
been identified. Implementation of the submitted details will be secured by 
condition.  In this respect the proposal is therefore in accordance with the NPPF 

Page 38



 

(2018), Policies 5.11, 5.12, 5.13, 5.14 and 5.15 of the London Plan (2016), and 
policies CC3 and CC4 in the Local Plan 2018.  

   
 7. Land Contamination:  Conditions will ensure that the site would be remediated 

to an appropriate level for the sensitive residential and open space uses.  The 
proposed development therefore accords with Policy 5.21 of the London Plan 
(2016), and policy CC9 in the Local Plan 2018.  

   
 8. Air Quality: Subject to additional air quality, mechanical ventilation and fresh air 

intake details, the proposal will ensure neutral air quality outcomes in accordance 
with Policies 3.2, 5.3 and 7.14 of the London Plan (2016) and Policy CC10 of the 
Local Plan 2018. 

  
 9.  Planning Obligations: The application proposes a contribution of £3,400 

towards local procurement initiative, 48% of proposed residential units being 
affordable homes, a payment of £46,080 to bring the residential units up to the 
zero-carbon standard, and S278 agreement for the provision of footway to the 
frontage of the site in Challoner Crescent including alterations to parking, which 
are considered to accord with London Plan Policy 8.2. 

   
 10. Conditions: In line with the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 and the Town 

and Country Planning (Pre-commencement Conditions) Regulations 2018, officers 
have consulted the applicant on the pre-commencement conditions included in the 
agenda and the applicant has raised no objections. 

 
 
--------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------- 
 

LOCAL GOVERNMENT ACT 2000 
LIST OF BACKGROUND PAPERS 

 
All Background Papers held by Andrew Marshall (Ext:  4841): 
 
Application form received: 5th April 2018 
Drawing Nos:   see above 
 
 
Policy documents: National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) 2019 

The London Plan 2016 
LBHF - Local Plan 2018 
LBHF – Planning Guidance Supplementary Planning Document  
2018 

 
 
Consultation Comments: 
 
Comments from: Dated:  
Thames Water - Development Control 16.05.18 
 
 
Neighbour Comments: 
 

Page 39



 

Letters from: Dated: 
 
Sulgrave road London W67rt   28.05.18 
2 Challoner Crescent Flat 2 London W14 9LE  29.05.18 
97A Sinclair Road London W24 0NP   28.05.18 
flat 5, 8 imperial court, 8 lexham gdns london w85jh  26.05.18 
16 Bolingbroke Road London W140AL   27.05.18 
16 Bolingbroke Road London W140AL   27.05.18 
50 Agate Rd London W6 0AH   28.05.18 
3 challoner crescent London W14 9LE   19.06.18 
Flat 6 1 Challoner Crescent London W14 9LE  10.09.18 
17 Challoner Mansions Challoner Street London W14 9LD  11.09.18 
3 Perham Road London W14 9SR   26.06.18 
1 Fairholme Road Flat B London W14 9JZ  12.06.18 
15 Faroe Road London W14 0EL   26.05.18 
Flat 4 1 Challoner Crescent London W14 9LE  27.05.18 
52 Colehill Lane London SW6 5EG   27.05.18 
10 Lanfrey Place London W149py   30.06.18 
12b Lanfrey Place London W14 9PY   28.06.18 
22 charleville rd London W149JH   29.05.18 
62 Riverview Gardens London SW13 8QZ   23.06.18 
Challoner Mansions 17 London W14 9LD  11.09.18 
Flat 8  Challoner Court 3 Challoner Street London W14 9LB  12.09.18 
32 Vereker road london w14 9js   25.05.18 
62 Barons Court Road London London W14 9DU  29.05.18 
3 Perham Road London W14 9SR   27.06.18 
61b Fairholme Road London W14 9JY   29.06.18 
35 The Royal Hospital School Holbrook Ipswich IP9 2RT  06.06.18 
8 LANFREY PLACE LONDON W149PY   29.06.18 
8 LANFREY PLACE LONDON W149PY   07.09.18 
31 Rocks Lane London SW130DB   27.05.18 
26 the grange London W15 8sl   27.05.18 
17 Perham Road London W14 9SR   01.06.18 
Flat 7 Challoner mansions Challoner Street London W14 9LD  04.06.18 
8 Lanfrey Place London W149PY   25.06.18 
1 Challoner Crescent London W14 9LE   18.09.18 
9 Challoner Court Challoner Street London W14 9LB  11.09.18 
2 Lanfrey Place London W14 9PY   29.06.18 
17 Perham Road West Kensington London W14 9SR  01.06.18 
Ground floor flat 1 fairholme road London W149JZ  02.06.18 
28 Charleville Road London W14 9JH   21.06.18 
1 PERHAM ROAD London LONDON W149SR  06.09.18 
4 Perham Road London W14 9ST   23.05.18 
18 Livingstone Mansions Queens Club Gardens London 
    W14 9RW  26.05.18 
14 Tasso road London W6 8lz   27.05.18 
6/366 Edgecliff Road Sydney 2025   29.06.18 
Flat 12 Challoner Court Challoner Street London W14 9LB  27.05.18 
15 Faroe Road London W14 0EL   27.05.18 
Flat 24 Regent Court Norn Hill Basingstoke RG21 4HP  28.05.18 
110a Sugden Road London SW11 5EE   29.05.18 
Basement Flat, Challoner Mansions Challoner Street London 

Page 40



 

    W14 9LD  27.06.18 
4 Lanfrey Place London W14 9PY   27.06.18 
2 Challoner Mansions CHALLONER Street London W14 9LD  04.06.18 
2 Challoner Mansions CHALLONER Street London W14 9LD  09.09.18 
60 Madeley Road London W5 2LU   06.09.18 
9 Challoner court London W149lb   11.09.18 
73 Castletown Road London W14 9HG   26.05.18 
12 orchard square Sun road London W14 9XE  27.05.18 
28 Gledstanes Road West Kensington London W14 9HU  27.05.18 
28 Gledstanes Road West Kensington London W14 9HU  28.05.18 
Flat 11a Wellington Mansions Queen's Club Gardens London 
    W14 9TF  01.06.18 
273 Long Furlong Drive Slough SL2 2LY   14.06.18 
6/366 Edgecliff Road Sydney 2025   29.06.18 
Flat 12 Challoner Mansion Challoner Street London W14 9LD  28.06.18 
Flat 4 Challoner Mansions Challoner St London W14 9LD  28.06.18 
2 Challoner Crescent London W14 9LE   12.09.18 
33 West Kensington Mansions Beaumont Crescent London 
    W14 9PF  29.05.18 
9 Challoner Court London W14 9LB   22.06.18 
INGLETHORPE, 15 CHALLONER COURT, 2 CHALLONER ST 
    LONDON W14 9LB   27.06.18 
Flat 2 197-199 North End Road LONDON W14 9NL  29.06.18 
35 Monkton Farleigh Monkton Farleigh Bradford on Avon 
    BA15 2QB  14.06.18 
1 Perham Road London W14 9SR   05.06.18 
5 Normand Mews London W14 9RB   05.06.18 
18 Challoner Mansions Challoner Street London W14 9LD  27.06.18 
69 Sandycombe road Richmond TW9 2EP   14.06.18 
Flat 6 1 Challoner Crescent London W14 9LE  28.06.18 
Cathedine Hill Cathedine Nr Brecon LD3 7SX  11.09.18 
Cathedine Hill Cathedine Nr Brecon LD3 7SX  11.09.18 
1 Perham Road London W14 9SR   05.06.18 
Flat 7 Challoner Crescent London W14 9LE  12.06.18 
6 CHALLONER MANSIONS CHALLONER STREET LONDON 
    W149LD  13.09.18 
4 Perham Road London London W14 9ST  05.06.18 
Flat 4, No. 2 Challoner Crescent West Kensington London 
     W14 9LE  28.06.18 
NAG     16.06.18 
3 Nevis Road Reading RG31 6RU   01.06.18 
19 Challoner Mansions London W14 9LD   15.06.18 
50a Abingdon rd london w8 6ar   27.05.18 
Flat 1 1 Challoner Crescent London W14 9LE  28.06.18 
8 LANFREY PLACE LONDON W149PY   26.06.18 
Flat 17 Challoner Mansions Challoner Street London W14 9LD  11.09.18 
5 Challoner Mansions Challoner Street London W149LD  02.06.18 
8 Spencer Mansions Queen's Club Gardens London W14 9TL  14.06.18 
397 Goldhawk Road London W6 0SA   11.07.18 
Flat 7 Challoner Mansions Challoner Street London W14 9LD  22.06.18 
8 Spencer Mansions Queens Club Gardens London W14 9RJ  16.06.18 
Flat A 3 Perham Road London W14 9SR  26.06.18 

Page 41



 

Flat A 3 Perham Road London W14 9SR  23.09.18 
Ludgate Lynsted ME9 0RF   29.06.18 
 
Inglethorpe, 15 Challoner Court Challoner Street London 
    W14 9LB  28.06.18 
60 MADELEY ROAD LONDON W5 2LU   11.09.18 
Flat 2, Challoner Court, 4 Challoner Street, West Kensington 
    London, England W14 9LB   10.09.18 
16B Monnery road London N19 5RZ   11.09.18 
18 Livingstone Mansions Queens Club Gardens London 
    W14 9RW  18.09.18 
Flat 9 Challoner Court 3 Challoner Street London W14 9LB  11.09.18 
Flat 2, Challoner Court 4 Challoner Street London, England 
    W14 9LB  10.09.18 
Flat 2, Challoner Court, 4 Challoner Street, West Kensington 
    London, England W14 9LB   11.09.18 
Cathedine Hill Brecon LD3 7SX   11.09.18 
20 Margravine Gardens London W6 8RH   13.10.18 
62 Barons Court Road London W14 9DU   24.09.18 
Flat 1 1 Challoner Crescenr London W14 9LE  24.09.18 
 
 
 
1.0. SITE DESCRIPTION 
  
1.1. The current application site (approximately 0.07 hectares) comprises part single 
part two storey industrial buildings, formally in use as car repair premises (Use Class 
B2), with frontages both on North End Road and Challoner Crescent.  
 
1.2. The surrounding area is characterised by a mix of uses with residential in 
Challoner Crescent, Challoner Street and Lanfrey Place with commercial uses along 
North End Road.  
 
1.3. The site is within the Baron's Court Conservation Area and Flood Zone 3, and has 
a PTAL rating of 6a. The application buildings do not include any statutorily building.  
 
2.0. RELEVANT PLANNING HISTORY 
  
2.1. In 2008, planning application (2008/03430/FUL) for change of use from workshop 
to MOT vehicle testing station was lapsed.  
 
2.2. In 1997, planning permission was granted (1997/02168/FUL) for use of the former 
petrol station forecourt for the sale of cars. 
 
2.3. In 2001, planning permission was refused (2001/02778/FUL) for erection of single 
storey building in front of existing garage comprising 656 square metres of floorspace 
for use as a wine and food bar (Class A3); erection of mechanical plant and acoustic 
screen to roof of new building; erection of a single storey bin store. 
 
2.4. In 2001, planning permission was refused (2001/02779/FUL) for erection of a 
single storey building in front of existing garage comprising 656 square metres of floor 

Page 42



 

space for use as a wine and food bar (Class A3); erection of mechanical plant and 
acoustic screen to roof of new building; erection of a single storey bin store. 
 
2.5. In 2003, planning permission was granted (2003/01210/FUL) for redevelopment of 
site involving the erection of a single storey infill building comprising no. 2-3 Retail Units; 
retention of vehicular/pedestrian access to the existing building at the rear; no. 1 parking 
space, no.4 cycle spaces and refuse storage area. (Revised Description) 
 
2.6. In 2004, planning permission was granted (2004/02691/FUL) for alteration to 
planning permission dated 13 October 2003 (ref: 2003/01210/FUL) relating to the 
design of the proposed shopfronts fronting North End Road.  
 
2.7. In 2016, a formal pre-application request was submitted for the demolition of 
existing building and erection of 2 new buildings at a maximum height of 4 storeys with 
two storeys below ground for the creation of 30 flats with associated access, amenity 
provision, car parking, and retention/relocation of existing car bodywork repair business. 
Officers raised concerns about inadequate evidence to justify the loss of employment 
floorspace; an overdevelopment of the site with excessive scale, form and compatibility 
within the conservation area; lack of affordable housing and inappropriate unit mix; 
amenity impacts and access arrangements.  
 
2.8. A follow up pre-application in 2016 was submitted for a similar proposal involving 
the erection of a part four-storey part five-storey building with basement level providing 
21 residential units (class C3) plus the retention of car repair business (class B2) with 
three further B1 office units at ground floor level. Officers remained concerned on lack 
of marketing evidence justifying the resulting loss of employment floorspace and 
demonstrating local demand for B1 space, design (the extent of glazing within the top 
storey), no details on affordable housing and amenity (overlooking and loss of light). 
 
2.9. In 2017, a third pre-application was submitted for a revised proposal involving the 
erection of a part four-storey part five-storey building with basement level providing 25 
residential units (class C3) together with four B1 office units. Officers had concerns 
about the design of the top floor level.     
 
3.0. PROPOSAL 
  
3.1. The current application seeks planning permission for the demolition of the 
existing buildings and erection of a new part three, part four and part five storey block 
with a basement, providing 25 residential units and basement office floorspace 
(570sqm), with associated cycle storage, amenity space and refuse waste facility.  
 
4.0. PUBLICITY AND CONSULTATIONS  
  
4.1. The application has been advertised by means of site notices in North End Road, 
Lanfrey Place, Challoner Crescent, Challoner Street and Charleville Road. In addition to 
a press advert, two rounds of the neighbour letters have been sent out including 282 
notifications on each occasion to the adjacent properties.  
 
4.2. In total, excluding duplications, 115 letters have been received from 89 properties, 
including 1 letter of support. The grounds of the objections are summarised as follows: 
- Loss of employment; 
- Unacceptable design; 

Page 43



 

- Overdevelopment of the site;  
- Excessive height and bulk;  
- Impact on the character of neighbouring buildings and the surrounding area; 
- Threat to 'Buildings of Merits' in the conservation area;  
- Over-dominate;  
- Basement is excessive and unnecessary; 
- Density; 
- Inadequate affordable housing; 
- Loss of privacy and increased overlooking; 
- Loss of outlook;  
- Increased noise and pollution;  
- Loss of light and overshadowing; 
- Noise and disturbance during demolition and construction; 
- Increased traffic movements and parking stress;  
- No car parking spaces have been created for the new flat;  
- Adverse impact on a neighbouring tree; 
- No engagement with local residents; 
- No clear information on how the proposals comply with the council's policies; 
 
4.3. Thames Water have raised no objection.  
 
5.0. PLANNING CONSIDERATIONS 
  
5.1. The main planning considerations in light of the London Plan 2016, and the Local 
Plan 2018 (hereafter referred to as LP 2018) and the Planning Guidance 
Supplementary Planning Document 2018 (hereafter referred to as Planning Guidance 
SPD), include: the principle of the development in terms of land use; quantum and 
intensity of development; quality of proposed accommodation; design and appearance; 
existing residential amenities of neighbouring properties; traffic impact on the highway 
network; environmental sustainability and planning obligations.  
 
Draft London Plan 
 
5.2. The draft London Plan was published on 29 November 2017. The Plan's 
consultation ended in March 2018. An Examination in Public (EiP) commenced in 
January 2019, and publication of the new Plan is expected in the autumn of 2019. While 
it is adopted the draft London Plan should be given limited weight at this stage in 
determining this application. In the interim, consideration shall be given to the London 
Plan (Consolidated with Further Alterations 2016).  
 
LAND USE    
  
Loss of Employment Floorspace 
 
5.3. London Plan Policy 4.1 (Economy) promotes the development of a strong, 
sustainable and diverse economy to ensure the availability of suitable workspaces for all 
sizes of business. London Plan Policy 4.3 (Mixed use and office development) supports 
consolidation and enhancements of the quality of the remaining office stock.  
 
5.4. Policy E1 (Range of employment) of the LP 2018 encourages the retention, 
enhancement and intensification of existing employment uses and specifically 
necessitates flexible space suitable for small and medium enterprises. The supporting 

Page 44



 

text (para 7.3) under Policy E1 further states that there is a large proportion of small to 
medium sized enterprises in the borough, and the Council is keen to provide a wide 
range of workspace to support existing and new businesses as well as respond to the 
changing behaviours of doing business.  
 
5.5. Policy E2 (Land and Premises for Employment Uses) of the LP 2018 asserts that 
the Council will require the retention of land and premises capable of providing 
continued accommodation for employment or local services. Permission will only be 
granted for a change where an alternative use would give a demonstrably greater 
benefit that could not be provided on another site.  
 
5.6. In terms of optimising the development benefits, the supporting text (Para 7.17) 
under Policy E2 states that "there may be some sites in employment use that are 
capable of more intensive use to accommodate additional uses, particularly residential. 
Where this is appropriate, the council will seek to ensure that employment floorspace is 
retained within mixed use scheme and this will include adequate replacement 
accommodation for small businesses". In assessing this, considerations would be given 
to the amount of full time equivalent jobs generated against the current use, the types of 
employment and how it accords with the H&F Economic Development Strategy (Para 
7.12 under Policy E2).  
 
5.7. A mixed-use scheme is proposed for the revitalization of the existing underused 
commercial site which is vacant at ground floor leve, to create 25 residential units (Use 
Class C3) and 570sqm of office spaces (Use Class B1).  
 
5.8. The existing building includes 1,420sqm (GIA) employment floor space, and the 
proposals generate 436sqm (GIA) or 576sqm (Gross) B1 offices at basement level. This 
would result in a net loss of commercial floor space. The proposed office space is 
divided in 4 units ranging from 31sqm to 215sqm (GIA). The new office units are flexibly 
designed to meet the needs of a variety of business activities, including start-up 
businesses and are adaptable for changes in the future.  
 
5.9. The proposed offices (B1 use) would generate equal numbers of employment 
when compared to the existing use (B2 use) which has a lower employment density. 
The Government's Employment Density Guide (3rd Edition) 2015 provides a density 
matrix which states that B1 Offices on average accommodate an employee for every 11 
sqm (GIA) provided. In comparison B2 class uses require 36 sqm (GIA) per employee. 
Therefore, the proposed office floor space at 436 sqm (GIA) has the potential to 
accommodate 40 employees, which is virtually equivalent to the total number jobs for 
the existing industrial floor space at 1,420 sqm (GIA).  
 
5.10. Overall the existing commercial floor space would be reduced by 69% (984sqm). 
However, the new B1 accommodation would retain a comparable replacement numbers 
of jobs and provide flexible space to support start-up businesses that meets the 
Council's economic objectives. In addition, the applicant has agreed to a contribution of 
£3,400 towards local procurement initiative which engages local businesses and 
prepares them to bid for suitable contracts. The proposals would accord with Policy E2. 
And, the proposals also offer a significant contribution to affordable housing on site 
(48%). 
 
 
 

Page 45



 

 
 
Residential Use 
 
5.11. Policy 3.3 of the London Plan requires an annual average of 42,000 net additional 
homes to be delivered with Table 3.1 setting an annual target of 1,031 net additional 
dwellings for Hammersmith and Fulham.  
 
5.12. Policy HO1 of the Local Plan (2018) seeks to exceed this annual target until 2025 
and continue to seek a minimum of 1031 net additional dwellings per year up until 2035.  
 
5.13. The proposed redevelopment would provide 25 residential flats which would 
contribute towards the Borough's housing targets. The proposal accords with Policy 
HO1 of the Local Plan (2018) and Policy 3.3 of the London Plan.  
 
Housing Density 
 
5.14. Policy 3.4 (Optimising Housing Potential) of the London Plan 2016 seeks to 
ensure that development optimises housing output for different types of location within 
the relevant density range shown in Table 3.2 which considers local context and 
character, design principles and public transport capacity.  
 
5.15. Policy HO4 (Housing Quality and Density) of the LP 2018 also seeks to ensure 
that development proposals achieve the optimum intensity, with regard to the density 
ranges set out in Table 3.2 of the London Plan. 
 
5.16. Policy HO4 goes on to state that high density housing with limited car parking can 
help ensure housing output is optimised and may be appropriate in locations with high 
levels of public transport accessibility (PTAL 4-6) provided it is compatible with the local 
context and the principles of good design and is satisfactory of all other respects, such 
as good neighbourliness, high quality accommodation, and etc. Acceptable housing 
density will be dependent primarily on an assessment of these factors, taking account of 
London Plan policies and subject to public transport and highway impact and capacity.  
 
5.17. The site lies within an urban area with the London Plan PTAL of 6a for which the 
spectrum of density in accordance with London Plan ranges between 200 - 700 
habitable rooms (hr/ha), or 45-185 units per hectare (unit/ha).  
 
5.18. The proposals would result in a residential density of 943 habitable rooms per 
hectare, which is higher than the maximum density range normally considered 
acceptable in London Plan. London Plan (2016) makes clear that residential density 
ranges are not a sole factor to be taken into account in considering the appropriate 
scale and intensity.  
 
5.19. The application site has an excellent level of public transport accessibility, and 
therefore, the site dimensions, surrounding context, good design, car free development 
and quality of accommodation have been the determining factors in addition to the 
proposed density. In this case, the proposed density is considered appropriate for the 
site and would optimise the housing provision within the Borough. The relevant 
considerations for the surrounding context and transport are considered in the 
paragraphs below.  
 

Page 46



 

 
 
Residential Mix  
 
5.20. Policy HO5 of the LP 2018 requires a mix of housing types and sizes in 
development schemes, especially increasing the proportion of family accommodation. 
The justification to Policy HO5 states `there is a particular need in this borough for more 
family sized housing (3 or more bedrooms)'.  
 
5.21. The proposed reschedule of accommodation contains a mix of 6 x studio (24%), 3 
x 1-bed (12%), 10 x 2-bed (40%) and 6 x 3-bed units (24%). Officers consider that this 
represents an appropriate mix.  
 
Housing Affordability 
 
5.22. Policy 3.13 (Affordable Housing Thresholds) of the London Plan 2016 outlines that 
affordable housing will normally be required on a site which has the capacity to provide 
10 or more homes and that negotiations should take account of development viability. 
 
5.23. Policy HO3 (Affordable Housing) of the LP 2018 states that for developments of 11 
of more self-contained dwellings, affordable housing should be provided in line with the 
specified targets of at least 50% of all dwellings. In total 60% of the affordable housing 
should be social or affordable rented housing and 40% should be intermediate housing.  
                                                               
5.24. In this case, 48%  would be affordable, with a 60:40 tenure split between 
affordable rent and intermediate housing. All the affordable housing would be provided 
on site. The proposals generally accord with Policy HO3.  
 
5.25. Overall the proposed mixed-uses of residential and office are acceptable in 
principle.  
 
QUALITY OF ACCOMMODATION 
  
5.26. Policy 3.5 of London Plan 2016 states that housing developments should be of the 
highest quality internally, externally and in relation to their context and to the wider 
environment. To support this, the Mayor has prepared Supplementary Planning 
Guidance entitled 'Housing' (herein referred to as the Housing SPG).  
   
5.27. Policy HO4 (Housing Quality and Density) of the LP 2018 necessitates all housing 
developments to respect the local setting and context, provide a high quality residential 
environment, be well designed and energy efficient, meet satisfactory internal and 
external space standards and provide a good range of housing types and sizes. In 
addition, Policy HO11 (Detailed Residential Standards) requires that design and quality 
of all new housing, including new build, is of a high standard and will meet the needs of 
future occupants and respect the principles of good neighbourliness.   
 
Size of units  
 
5.28. Policy 3.5 of London Plan 2016 places a significant focus on internal space 
standards for dwellings, ensuring that all new homes are fit for purpose and offer the 
potential to be occupied over time by households of all tenures. The London Plan, Table 

Page 47



 

3.3 sets out the minimum gross internal area for new flats. It is also supported by Key 
Principle HS2 of the Local Plan 2018.  
 
5.29. The proposed residential units would comprise 6 x studio, 3 x 1-bed, 10 x 2-bed 
and 6 x 3-bed units. The floorspace of each of these units all exceed the minimum 
standards comfortably, are shown below: 
 
Studio units measure between 37.6sqm and 52.9sqm (minimum: 37sqm) 
 
One-bedroom units measure 55.0sqm (minimum: 50sqm) 
 
Two-bedroom units measure between 62.3sqm and 88.8sqm (minimum: 61sqm) 
 
Three-bedroom unit measure 86.0sqm and 107.8sqm (minimum: 74sqm): 
 
 
Aspect and Outlook 
 
5.30. London Plan Housing SPG paragraph 2.3.31 recognises that a home with opening 
windows on at least two sides has many inherent benefits, including better daylight, a 
greater chance for direct sunlight for longer periods, natural cross ventilation, mitigating 
pollution, offering a wider choice of views, access to a quiet side of the building, greater 
flexibility in the use of rooms, and more potential for future adaptability by altering the 
use of rooms. The preference is therefore for dwellings to be dual aspect.  
 
5.31. Key Principle HS2 (Standards) of the SPD 2018 also states that new north facing 
(i.e. where the orientation is less than 50 degrees either side of north) should be 
avoided wherever possible. The supporting text (Paragraph 3.7) further points out that 
in respect of aspect, the reception of sunlight is important to the quality of life and 
therefore in designing new buildings the ability for at least one habitable room to receive 
sunlight should be priority.   
 
5.32. In total, 24 of the 25 units would have external windows that are not exclusively 
north facing or provide dual aspects, benefiting from good levels of outlook and light, in 
accordance with the above referred development policies.  
 
5.33. One of the proposed units (studio Unit 1.02) is exclusively north facing. That unit  
has a generous internal floor area (43sqm) with a private balcony (6sqm) and would be 
served by large patio windows and high level windows. In this case, the proposed layout 
is considered to be satisfactory in this case.   
 
5.34. On balance, the overall outlook and aspect of the proposals are considered to be 
acceptable. 
 
Accessibility 
 
5.35. Policy HO6 of the LP 2018 seeks to secure high quality accessible homes in all 
developments that include housing.  London Plan (2016) Policy 3.8 (Housing Choices) 
seeks to ensure that 90% of new housing meet Building Regulation requirement M4(2).  
To comply with this requirement developments should be step free access and should 
normally have a lift where a dwelling is accessed above or below the entry level.  
 

Page 48



 

5.36. The proposed ground floor flats would have level access from street level and the 
upper floor flats would have access via the provision of two lifts. This arrangement is 
considered to be acceptable. 
 
Noise and disturbance / stacking arrangements  
 
5.37. The Housing SPG Baseline Standard 5.3.1 and London Plan Policy 7.15 state that 
the layout of adjacent dwellings and the location of lifts and circulation spaces should 
seek to limit the transmission of noise to sound sensitive rooms within dwellings. This 
policy is supplemented by Local Plan Policies HO11 and CC11, both of which seek to 
ensure that development does not result in noise and disturbance to future occupiers.   
 
5.38. The stacking arrangements of the proposed units are satisfactory. Conditions 17 - 
19 would be attached to any planning permission, to ensure satisfactory sound 
insulation and noise impact. The proposals accord with Policies HO11 and CC11.     
 
Daylight/Sunlight in New Dwellings: 
 
5.39. London Plan standard 32 requires that all new homes should provide for daylight 
to enter at least one habitable room for part of the day.  Where it cannot be met, 
housing schemes should demonstrate the provision of good amenity for its residents. 
 
5.40. BRE guidelines 'Site layout planning for daylight and sunlight' incorporate a main 
method of calculating daylight: Average Daylight Factor (ADF) method.  
 
5.41. The ADF is a measure of the amount of daylight in a proposed room, of which 
assessment takes into account the total area of the room, the transmittance quality of 
the glazing proposed, the total area of the room surfaces including ceiling and floors, 
and the internal average reflectance for the room being assessed.   
 
5.42.   The recommended ADF values for habitable rooms are as follows: 
 
- 1% Bedrooms 
- 1.5% Living Rooms 
-  2% Family Kitchen 
 
5.43. The applicant has submitted an Internal Daylight and Sunlight Report, which sets 
out the ADF values for habitable rooms within the proposed development. In total, 66 
habitable rooms on the ground to 4th floor have been considered as part of the 
assessment.  
 
5.44. The Report shows that 53 (80%) of 66 assessed rooms achieve the ADF criteria. 
13 rooms that failed the ADF test include all the 6 studio flats and kitchen / dining rooms 
of the first-floor flats.  
 
5.45. The BRE Guidance acknowledges that there may be circumstances in which the 
target is not met, for instance due to the higher obstruction angle. The BRE guidelines 
further state that 'in a historic city centre, or in an area with modern high-rise buildings, 
a higher degree of obstruction may be unavoidable if new developments are to match 
the height and proportions of existing buildings'. Hence, the advice given are advisory, 
because natural lighting is only one of many factors in site layout design (p1, para.16).  
 

Page 49



 

5.46. In this case, all the studio flats would exceed the internal gross floor area target as 
set out in London Plan 2016 and benefit from additional private outdoor space which is 
required by the policies. The kitchen / dining rooms of the first-floor flats would also 
exceed the room sizes as set out in Key Principle HS3 of the SPD. If the floor area of 
the flats and rooms were reduced they would be closer to the ADF target.   
 
5.47. Overall, officers are satisfied that the flats would have reasonable levels of 
daylight/ sunlight. 
 
Floor to Ceiling Heights: 
 
5.48. The Housing SPD states that new housing should have 75% of their floor area 
with a minimum floor to ceiling height of 2.5m and above so that units is of adequate 
quality, especially in terms of light, ventilation and sense of space. The proposal 
accords with this requirement. 
 
Amenity Space: 
   
5.49. The Housing SPG Baseline Standard 26 relates to private amenity space in new 
dwellings and recognises that private open space is highly valued and should be 
provided in all new housing developments. The Standard is quantified as 5 sqm for 1 to 
2-person dwellings and an extra 1 sqm should be provided for each additional occupant.  
   
5.50. Key Principle HS1 (Amenity Space) of the SPD requires all new dwellings should 
have access to an area of amenity space, appropriate to the type of housing being 
provided. For family dwellings (3 or more bedrooms), amenity space of no less than 
36sqm should be provided. Other types of dwellings should comply with the Housing 
SPG.  
 
5.51. Satisfactory amenity areas (6 - 8sqm) are provided for all studio, one-bed and two-
bed flats, which meet the minimum requirement as set out in London Plan 2016. Two 
houses would have garden areas between 18 - 20sqm and four 3-bedroom flats would 
have balconies of 8sqm. The outdoor amenity spaces for all the proposed family units 
fall below the target 36sqm.    
 
5.52. Given the site constraints, it would be difficult to provide an adequate level of 
outdoor amenity space to all the proposed family units, unless the family units are 
excluded. However, no provision of family units would be contrary to Policies HO1 and 
HO5 of the LP 2018 which seek to promote a range of units including family units.      
 
5.53. Furthermore, London Housing SPG requires a minimum of 8sqm of private 
outdoor space to a 3-bedroom flat, which all the proposed family flats comply with.  
 
5.54. The supporting text (Paragraph 2.3.32) of the Housing SPG also outlines that in 
exceptional circumstances, where site constraints make it impossible to provide private 
open space for all dwellings, a proportion of dwellings may instead be provided with 
additional internal living space equivalent to the area of the private open space 
requirement. This area must be added to the minimum GIA.  
 
5.55. All the proposed six family units would have internal gross areas (GIA) ranging 
between 86sqm and 107.80sqm which well exceed the minimum GIA of 74sqm as 
required by London Plan 2016 for a 3-bedroom 4 person flat.  

Page 50



 

 
5.56. On balance, officers conclude that the proposal would provide an acceptable 
quality of living condition to future occupiers of the proposed development. 
  
DESIGN AND APPEARANCE 
  
5.57. Policies 7.1, 7.2. 7.4. 7.5 and 7.6 of London Plan 2016 require all new 
development to be of high quality that responds to the surrounding context and 
improves access to social and community infrastructure, contributes to the provision of 
high-quality living environments and enhances the character, legibility, permeability, and 
accessibility of the surrounding neighbourhood. 
  
5.58. Policy DC1 (Built Environment) and DC2 (Design of New Build) of the LP 2018 
state that all development within the borough should create a high quality urban 
environment that respects and enhances its townscape context and heritage assets. 
There should be an approach to accessible and inclusive urban design that 
demonstrates how good design, quality public realm, landscaping and land use can be 
integrated to help regenerate places.' Policy DC2 goes on to state that new build 
development will be permitted if it is of a high standard of design and compatible with 
the scale and character of existing development and its setting. 
 
5.59. Policy DC8 (Heritage and Conservation) of the LP 2018 aims to protect, restore or 
enhance the significance of the borough's conservation areas and its historic 
environment.  
 
Height, Scale, and Massing and Design 
             
5.60. The site lies in the centre of a diverse block enclosed by Victorian terraces and 
mansion blocks and a single storey parade of shops. Adjacent to the south-eastern 
corner of the site lies a 4-storey post-war block with an elongated footprint facing North 
End Road. Generally, the surrounding townscape comprises terraces with 3-4 storeys 
plus roof and mansion blocks of 4-7 storeys plus roof. Only the terraces to the south, in 
Lanfrey Place, and the retail parade and short terrace in fronting North End Road are 
lower with 1-2 storeys plus roof. 
 
5.61. The site is currently occupied by a traditional, 2-storey high industrial shed with 
brick elevations and gabled roofs facing Challoner Crescent and a large horizontal 
element with a more modern industrial appearance set back behind a single storey 
parade of shops in North End Road. While the building appears to have been "wedged" 
into the irregular footprint of the centre of the block, the traditional south-western façade 
encloses the end of Challoner Crescent where it adds to the diverse character of the 
locality. The predominant building materials of the mansion blocks and terraces are 
London stock brick and red brickwork, with contrasting stucco façade features such as 
window bays and surrounds, cornices and balustrades. 
 
5.62. The proposed building on site comprises 3 blocks arranged around a new 
courtyard formed by the continuation of Challoner Crescent into the site. The main 
courtyard area would be taken up by 2 lightwells that serve the proposed basement, 
separated by a walkway, as well as by small private gardens/patios for the apartments 
facing the courtyard at ground floor level. 
 

Page 51



 

5.63. The largest block would be 4 storeys high plus 1 recessed roof storey and would 
fill in most of the North End Road facing part of the site. Its elongated form would 
visually be broken up by vertical window slots that would be articulated by white cast 
stone lining to achieve a strong contrast with the London stock brick cladding of the 
elevations. This treatment is considered to relate in a contemporary manner to the 
historic detailing and materials of the surrounding terraces and mansion blocks. 
 
5.64. The massing of the top floor would exceed the height of the neighbouring post-war 
block by one floor but it would not exceed the height of the larger mansion blocks 
surrounding the site. The recessed position of the building within the street block and 
the further recessed top floor with white cast stone cladding would reduce the visual 
impact of the height. The roof line is further broken down by the modelling of the 
parapet as a succession of shallow gables. The block steps downs to a single storey 
towards the south-eastern boundary to form the entrance and reception which would 
have a green roof. 
 
5.65. The Challoner Crescent elevation would be accentuated by its parapet that would 
be formed by 3 shallow gables in reference to the existing gable form. This would 
visually break down the massing in the background of the Challoner Crescent 
elevations.  
 
5.66. Two smaller scale wings to the main block with 3 and 4 storeys would be located 
close to Challoner Crescent. The floor levels would be lower than that of the main block 
to achieve a visually stronger stepping down in massing from the larger block. The 
openings and elevations would be detailed with decorative red brickwork features that 
would relate to the use of red brickwork in the neighbouring mansion blocks. The roof 
parapets would have the same gabled form as in the rear elevation of the main block, 
and the roofs would feature green sedum and photovoltaic panels that would not be 
visible in street level views. 
 
5.67. Given its height, massing, scale and materials, Officers consider that the design of 
the proposed building would complement the existing townscape with regard to scale 
and materials. 
 
Impact on heritage assets 
 
5.68. When considering the impact of a proposed development on the significance of a 
designated heritage asset, paragraph 193 of the NPPF (July 2018) states that "…great 
weight should be given to the asset's conservation (and the more important the asset, 
the greater the weight should be). Paragraph 194 states that "any harm to or loss of, the 
significance of a designated heritage assets, (from its alteration or destruction, or from 
development within its setting), should require clear and convincing justification". 
 
5.69. When considering the impact of a proposed development on the significance of a 
designated heritage asset, paragraph 193 of the NPPF (July 2018) states that "…great 
weight should be given to the asset's conservation (and the more important the asset, 
the greater the weight should be). Paragraph 194 states that "any harm to or loss of, the 
significance of a designated heritage assets, (from its alteration or destruction, or from 
development within its setting), should require clear and convincing justification". 
Paragraph 197 states that "the effect of an application on the significance of a non-
designated heritage asset should be taken into account in determining the application. 
In weighing applications that directly or indirectly affect non-designated heritage assets, 

Page 52



 

a balanced judgement will be required having regard to the scale of any harm or loss 
and the significance of the heritage asset." 
 
5.70. The site lies within Barons Court Conservation Area. The Conservation Area is 
defined by the variety of residential developments which form cohesive groups, and by 
the large open space of Hammersmith Cemetery. Of the significance are the early 
Victorian developments of agricultural land to form a cemetery that would release 
pressure on smaller churchyards in London, and to create high quality residential 
suburbs around it.  
 
5.71. The application site is part of sub-area B that includes all Challoner Crescent 
properties, and that shares its eastern border with sub-area C, the latter covering the 
North End Road that forms part of the conservation area. The sub-area of the 
conservation area is considered to have high historical and aesthetic values. 
 
5.72. The site is also surrounded by 19th and early 20th Century mansion blocks and 
terraces grouped around the perimeter of the block. Some of these lying to the north-
west, north-east and south of the site are designated as Buildings of Merit. In both main 
elevations of the site, on North End Road and Challoner Crescent, the buildings on site 
can be seen in context of the Buildings of Merit and other historic buildings that 
contribute to the character and appearance of the conservation area.  
 
Heritage assessment 
 
5.73. The impact on the significance of each affected designated and non-designated 
heritage assets has been assessed in accordance with English Heritage's methodology 
for assessing "significance" as set out in 'Conservation Principles Policies and 
Guidance for the Sustainable Management of the Historic Environment". 
 
5.74. The proposal includes the demolition of all buildings on site. The existing building's 
façade facing North End Road is set back behind the parade of shops and its modern 
industrial appearance with a flat roof is considered to detract from the character and 
appearance of the conservation area. The Challoner Crescent façade has retained 
much of its traditional appearance, however, its unusual positioning on the site and in 
relationship to the surrounding residential mansions and terraces is at odds with the 
otherwise characteristic cohesive groups and terraces of residential developments, and 
its contribution to the character and appearance of the conservation area is considered 
to be neutral. The demolition of the buildings on site therefore is not considered to harm 
the significance of the identified heritage assets. 
 
5.75. In the views from North End Road, the proposed building would form the backdrop 
to the retail arcade with a simple, modern elevational treatment. The recessed top floor 
with its contrasting cladding would terminate the building appropriately while reducing its 
visual impact on the block of buildings. The materiality of London stock brick and white 
stone features provides references to the surrounding historic buildings. Officers 
consider the clarity and simple lines of the elevational treatment to be an appropriate 
response to the diverse North End Road townscape. 
 
5.76. The confined and intimate character of the Challoner Crescent context with its 
Buildings of Merit framing the new building requires a more sensitive, detailed approach 
to the design. The proposed configuration with the 2 smaller blocks stepping down from 
the main block and forming a loose building line to Challoner Crescent would 

Page 53



 

adequately respond to the smaller scale and break in the townscape created by The 
Studio and its garden at No.3 Challoner Crescent. The 5-storey element would be 
visible in the background of the view from Challoner Crescent where the visual impact 
of its height would be no greater than the impact of the neighbouring mansion blocks. 
The proposed references to the area's characteristic materials and facade features 
would contribute to the integration of the proposed development into the diverse 
neighbourhood in an appropriate manner. 
 
5.77. The proposed development would visually correspond to its local context and 
integrate appropriately into the townscape, improving the appearance of the site, the 
character and appearance of the conservation area.  
 
5.78. The proposed impact on the setting of the Buildings of Merit is considered to be 
positive as the quality of the detailing would appropriately respond to their historic 
character. The proposals are not considered to result in substantial or less than 
substantial harm to the significance of the affected heritage assets, as referred to in the 
paragraphs 195 and 196 of the NPPF, and therefore, the proposals accord with the 
above referred development policies. 
 
5.79. Details of a typical bay of the front elevations in plan, section and elevation (at a 
scale of not less than 1:20), and details of materials and finishes would be secured by 
Conditions 5 and 6. 
 
Basement and lightwells 
  
5.80. Policy DC11 (Basements and Lightwells) of the Local Plan (2018) states that new 
basement will be permitted only where there is no unacceptable impacts on the 
amenities of adjoining properties or the historic or natural environment during and post 
construction; and does not increase the chance of flood risk. 
 
5.81. A new basement is proposed to form 4 office units. A construction method 
statement and flood risk assessment have been submitted in support of the proposals. 
The information supplied were reviewed and considered to be satisfactory by the 
council's Environment Team. Further details are stated in the following section of the 
Report. As the excavation remains within the footprint of the proposed buildings, the 
proposal accords with Policy DC11 of the Local Plan. 
 
5.82. In summary, Officers conclude that the proposed design would integrate with the 
existing townscape, preserve the character and appearance of the conservation area 
and have limited effect to the significance of the historical assets surrounding of the site. 
The proposal development would be of sufficient quality development to make a positive 
contribution to the urban environment in this part of the Borough.  
  
RESIDENTIAL AMENITY 
  
5.83. Policies DC1, DC2, CC11, CC13 and HO11 of the LP 2018 require all proposals to 
be formulated to respect the principles of good neighbourliness. Key Principles 6, 7 and 
8 of Planning Guidance SPD seek to protect the existing amenities of neighbouring 
residential properties in terms of outlook, light, privacy and noise and disturbance.  
 
5.84. The application site is bounded with residential properties on three sides. The 
neighbouring residential properties that would be potentially affected by the proposals at 

Page 54



 

most have been identified to be No.8 - No.12 Lanfrey Place to the east, Challoner 
Mansions (1 - 10) and Challoner Courts (1- 3) to the west, and No. 108 - 110 North End 
Road to the north.    
 
Outlook  
 
5.85. Principle HS6 (Development, extension and alterations - scale and massing) of 
Planning Guidance SPD notes that the proximity of a development can have an 
overbearing and dominating effect detrimental to the enjoyment by adjoining residential 
occupiers of their properties.  Although it is dependent upon the proximity and scale of 
the proposed development a general standard can be adopted by reference to a line 
drawn at an angle of 45 degrees from a point at the rear residential boundary at ground 
level where proposals that adjoin residential properties with rear garden less than 9m in 
length to the adjoining rear boundary. If any part of the proposed building extends 
beyond these lines then on-site judgement will be a determining factor in assessing the 
effect which proposals will have on the existing amenities of neighbouring properties. 
 
5.86. The existing two-storey commercial premises cover the entire site, and therefore 
the existing building already falls within the 45-degree line. On-site judgement will 
therefore be the determining factor in this case. The most affected properties are at 
Lanfrey Place, Challoner Mansions, Challoner Court and North End Road.  
 
No.6 - No.12 Lanfrey Place 
 
5.87. The existing building has a boundary wall with No.6 - No.12 Lanfrey Place at a 
height of approximately 5.8m.  The boundary wall will be largely retained and reduced 
towards No.6 and would therefore improve the existing outlook of No.6. The outlook 
from No.10 and No.12 would remain unchanged.  
 
5.88. The north-east elevation of the new building facing No.8 includes a series setback 
between 3m and 5m from the boundary and this would help reduce the sense of 
enclosure and thereby outlook from No.6 and No.8.     
  
Challoner Mansions (1-10) 
 
5.89. The south-west elevation of the new building facing Challoner Mansions would 
have a reduced footprint which includes setting the building line 3m further away from 
Challoner Mansion. This alteration to the building line would improve the sense of 
openness, particularly as the proposed opposing south-west elevation of the new 
building would be no higher than the existing elevation.  
 
Challoner Court 
 
5.90. The existing boundary wall facing Challoner Court would be reduced from two-
storey to single storey and set back approximately 12m at the 1st, 2nd and 3rd floor 
levels. The fourth floor would be setback some 19m, resulting an improved outlook from 
Challoner Court.  
 
No.108 - 110 North End Road  
 
5.91. No.108 and No.110 would have an outlook onto the south-west corner of the 
proposed building which is similar in scale to the existing. Officers then consider that the 

Page 55



 

proposals would not result in a significant loss of outlook to the occupiers of adjoining 
properties on North End Road. 
 
Overlooking/Privacy: 
  
5.92. Policy DC2 of the LP 2018 ensures that the design and quality of all new housing 
will respect the principles of good neighbourliness. These policies are supported by 
SPD Key Principle 7 which states that windows should normally be positioned so that 
the distance to any existing residential windows is not less than 18m measured in an 
arc of 60 degrees from the centre of the new window.  
  
5.93. Key Principle HS8 states that permission will not be granted for roof terraces or 
balconies if the use of the terraces or balcony is likely to cause harm to the existing 
amenities of neighbouring occupiers by reason of noise and disturbance; or, if it would 
result in an additional opportunity for overlooking or result in a significantly greater 
degree of overlooking and consequent loss of privacy than from the access point onto 
the proposed roof terrace/balcony. 
  
5.94. The proposed elevations would contain some windows that would be within 18m of 
opposing neighbouring windows at Challoner Mansion, Challoner Court, No.110 North 
End Road and No.6 - No.12 Lanfrey Place. The relevant windows facing Lanfrey Place 
and Challoner Court would be obscure glazed and secured by Condition 44. The 
windows facing Challoner Mansion would be at an oblique angle and would not result in 
loss of privacy. The windows on the first floor at No.110 North End Road are set is set 
back behind a high boundary wall and would not be overlooked.    
 
Noise and Disturbance: 
  
5.95. Local Plan Policy CC11 considers noise levels both inside the dwelling and in 
external amenity spaces. The policy deals with environmental nuisance and requires all 
developments to ensure that there is no undue detriment to the general amenities at 
present enjoyed by existing surrounding occupiers of their properties.  
  
5.96. It is difficult to predict with any accuracy the likely level of noise/disturbance that 
would be generated by the use of the proposed balcony/terrace areas. Having regard to 
the modest size of most of the proposed terraces (between 5sqm - 8sqm), together with 
their location and the relationship with adjoining properties, it is not considered that the 
terraces would be likely to harm the existing amenities of adjoining occupiers as a result 
of additional noise and disturbance. As such, the proposal is considered to be compliant 
with Local Plan Policy CC11 and SPD Key Principle HS8.  
  
Daylight, Sunlight, and Overshadowing: 
   
5.97. The application is supported by a Daylight, Sunlight & Overshadowing Report. The 
assessment is undertaken in accordance with 'BRE: Site Layout Planning for Daylight 
and Sunlight (Second Edition 2011)'.   
 
5.98. The British Research Establishment (BRE) guide on 'Site layout planning for 
daylight and sunlight', sets out good practice for assessing daylight and sunlight impacts 
for new development. In urban and city centre areas, BRE Guidelines advise that the 
guidance be applied flexibly. The applicant's Daylight and Sunlight report which has 
been carried out in line with BRE and considers the potential impacts of the proposed 

Page 56



 

development on daylight, sunlight and overshadowing on existing neighbouring 
residential buildings. In total 45 windows relating to the adjoining properties at Challoner 
Mansions, Challoner Court, No.106-No.108 North End Road, West Kensington 
Mansions and No.4 - No.12 Lanfrey Place for external levels of daylight have been 
assessed. Officers have considered applicants report in terms of impact on habitable 
rooms and have employed a consultant to consider the proposals.  
 
Daylight 
 
5.99. The BRE Guidance sets out three different methods of assessing daylight to or 
within a room, the Vertical Sky Component (VSC) method, the plotting of the no-sky-line 
(NSL) method and the Average Daylight Factor (ADF) method. 
 
5.100. The VSC method measures the amount of sky that can be seen from the 
centre of an existing window and compares it to the amount of sky that would still be 
capable of being seen from that same position following the erection of a new building. 
The measurements assess the amount of sky that can be seen by converting it into a 
percentage. An unobstructed window will achieve a maximum level of 40% VSC. The 
BRE guide advises that if the VSC is greater than 27% then enough skylight should still 
be reaching the window of the existing window. If the VSC is both less than 27% and 
less than 80% of its former value, occupants of the existing building will notice the 
reduction in the amount of skylight. However, the Guidance makes clear that these 
values are advisory and para 2.2.1 states that 'Different criteria may be used based on 
the requirements for daylighting in an area viewed against other site layout constraints.  
Another important issue is whether the existing building is itself a good neighbour, 
standing a reasonable distance from the boundary and taking no more than its fair 
share of light.' 
 
5.101. The NSL method measures the distribution of daylight within a room. It 
indicates the point in a room from where the sky cannot be seen through the window 
due to the presence of an obstructing building.  The NSL method is a measure of the 
distribution of daylight at the 'working plane' within a room.  In houses, the 'working 
plane' means a horizontal 'desktop' plane 0.85 metres above floor level.  This is 
approximately the height of a kitchen work surface. The NSL divides those areas of the 
working plane in a room which receive direct sky light through the windows from those 
areas of the working plane which do not.  For houses, the rooms to be assessed should 
include living rooms, dining rooms and kitchens.  Bedrooms should also be analysed, 
although in terms of NSL they are considered less significant in terms of receiving direct 
sky light.  Development will affect daylight if the area within a room receiving direct 
daylight is less than 80% of its former value.  
 
5.102. The ADF method involves values for the transparency of the glass, the net 
glazed area of the window, the total area of room surfaces, their colour reflectance and 
the angle of visible sky measured from the centre of the window.  This is a method that 
measures the general illumination from skylight and considers the size and number of 
windows, room size, room qualities and room use.  However, the BRE Report 
(Appendix F) states that 'Use of the ADF for loss of light to existing buildings is not 
generally recommended'. 
 
5.103. In terms of VSC, none of the windows will be adversely impacted by the 
proposed development, as the proposed VSC levels are either above 27% or more than 
0.8 times their former values.  

Page 57



 

 
5.104. Regarding NSL, two windows including the first-floor rear window at No.6 
Lanfrey Place and a ground floor opening at No.12 Lanfrey Place would be reduced to 
0.57and 0.71 times than their former value, which fall below the target (80%).  The first-
floor rear window of No.6 serves a secondary bedroom, while the affected opening of 
No.12 is a ground floor rear door that serves the habitable room of No.12 which was 
also served by a separate window.  
 
Sunlight 
 
5.105. To assess loss of sunlight to an existing building, the BRE guidance suggests 
that all main living rooms of dwellings, and conservatories, should be checked if they 
have a window facing within 90 degrees of due south. The guidance states that kitchens 
and bedrooms are less important, although care should be taken not to block too much 
sun. The Annual Probable Sunlight Hours (APSH) predicts the sunlight availability 
during the summer and winter for the main windows of each habitable room that faces 
90 degrees of due south.  The summer analysis covers the period 21 March to 21 
September, the winter analysis 21 September to 21 March.  The BRE Guidance states 
a window may be adversely affected if the APSH received at a point on the window is 
less than 25% of the annual probable sunlight hours including at least a 5% of the 
annual probable sunlight hours during the winter months and the percentage reduction 
of APSH is 20% or more. 
 
5.106. The proposed development meets the sunlight test.  
 
Overshadowing 
 
5.107. The BRE Guidelines recommend that for it to achieve adequate sun light 
throughout the year at least half of a garden or amenity space should receive a least 2 
hours of sunlight on 21 March. If, because of new development, an existing garden or 
amenity area does not meet the above, and the area which can receive 2 hours of 
sunlight on the 21 March is less than 0.8 times its former value, then the loss of sunlight 
is likely to be noticeable.  
 
5.108. A total 7 residential existing rear gardens / terraces of Challoner Mansions, 
Challoner Court, No.108 North End Road and No.6 - No.10 Lanfrey Place have been 
assessed.  
 
5.109. Only the rear garden at No.108 North End Road would be affected by the 
proposed development. No.108 comprises a ground floor retail unit and a rear garden 
serving the upper floor flat. Half of this amenity garden would receive direct sunlight 
more than 6 and 4 hours.  
 
5.110. Overall, in terms of daylight, sunlight and overshadowing officers accept that 
there are some infringements and where these occur most of these are modest. On 
balance, considering the site constraints within this urban location, the proposal is 
satisfactory in terms of its impact on daylight, sunlight and overshadowing to 
neighbouring residential properties. 
 
TRAFFIC GENERATION, CAR PARKING, CYCLE PARKING AND ACCESS: 
   

Page 58



 

5.111. The NPPF requires developments that generate significant movement are 
located where the need to travel will be minimised and the use of sustainable transport 
modes can be maximised; and development should protect and exploit opportunities for 
the use of sustainable transport modes for the movement of goods or people. 
 
5.112. London Plan (2016) Policies 6.1, 6.3, 6.10, 6.11 and 6.13 set out the 
intention to encourage consideration of transport implications as a fundamental element 
of sustainable transport, supporting development patterns that reduce the need to travel 
or that locate development with high trip generation in proximity of public transport 
services.   
 
Traffic Generation 
 
5.113. Local Plan (2018) Policy T2 (Transport Assessments and Travel Plans) 
states that all development proposals will be assessed for their contribution to traffic 
generation and their impact on congestion, particularly on bus routes and on the primary 
rout network. The existing and potential availability of public transport, and its capacity 
to meet increased demand will also be assessed for any development.  
 
5.114. A Transport Statement has been submitted, providing an assessment of the 
potential traffic generation associated with the proposed development and the likely 
impact of the development traffic on the operation of the local highway network. The 
Statement has been reviewed by the council's Highways Team and they have accepted 
its conclusion that the proposed development would result in a minimal impact 
compared to the existing use and would have limited impact on highway safety and 
traffic capacity.  
 
5.115. The Highways Team confirms that a travel plan is not required for this site as 
it is less than 50 residential units, according to TFL guidance.  
 
Car Parking: 
 
5.116. Local Plan (2018) Policy T4 (Vehicle Parking Standards) requires any 
proposed development to conform to its car parking standards and will also require car 
parking permit free measures on all new development unless evidence is provided to 
show that there is a significant lack of public transport available.  
  
5.117. Local Plan (2018) Policy T5 (Parking for Blue Badge Holders) entails that 
new development that include vehicular access must provide accessible, off street car 
parking bay for Blue Badge holders even if no other general parking is provided as part 
of the development.  
 
5.118. The site has a PTAL score of 6a indicating that it has an excellent level of 
public transport accessibility. It is proposed to provide a car-free scheme with no car 
parking for the flats or office use, except for two blue badge parking spaces located on 
the south of the site. These two parking spaces are accessed via Challoner Crescent, 
fitted with active electric vehicle charging points. The parking arrangement is considered 
to be satisfactory and blue badge and electric vehicle charging points will be secured by 
Conditions 46 and 47 .   
 
5.119.  The car-free scheme will be secured by Conditions 40 - 42 restricting future 
residents from obtaining parking permits. The applicant has agreed to enter into a S278 

Page 59



 

agreement in order to carry out works to the public highway. The S278 highway works 
will include the provision of footway to the frontage of the site in Challoner Crescent 
including alterations to parking. This will be secured by a S106 agreement. 
 
Cycle Parking: 
  
5.120. Cycle parking should be provided in line with London Plan 2016 Policy 6.9 
and Table 6.3. Local Plan Policy T3 and SPD Key Principle TR3 encourages increased 
cycle use by seeking the provision of convenient and safe cycle parking facilities.  
  
5.121. It is proposed to provide 41 cycle parking spaces at ground floor level. The 
residential cycle parking will be provided in a purpose-built enclosure and therefore 
provides a secure location undercover. The proposed provision and location of cycle 
parking are considered to accord with the abovementioned policies and are secured by 
Condition 21. 
  
Servicing and Refuse Collection: 
  
5.122. London Plan Policy 5.16 outlines the Mayor's approach to waste 
management. This is supported by Local Plan CC7 which requires suitable storage 
space the management of waste. It is not acceptable for waste material to be left on the 
highway for extended periods of time. 
 
5.123. The proposal will be served by a communal refuse/recycling store located at 
ground floor level. All servicing and refuse collection of the proposals will take place 
from North End Road, as per the current situation. Officers are satisfied that there is 
sufficient space within the designated area for the satisfactory storage of refuse. The 
refuse vehicle is able to get within 25m of a storage point as defined as the maximum 
distance in the Manual for Street Guidance. 
 
5.124. The details of the proposed servicing arrangements are secured by Condition 
22.  
                         
Construction Logistics Plan (CLP) 
  
5.125. Local Plan (2018) Policy T7 (Construction and Demolition Logistics) requires 
that all construction, demolition, utilities and major logistic activities within the borough 
will need to work with the council to ensure the smooth operation of the highway 
network. 
 
5.126. A revised Outline Construction Logistics Plan (November 2018) provides 
details of the construction logistics, such as the traffic impact, traffic management, the 
demolition phases, estimated HGV travelling routes, footway closure, delivery time, etc..  
It is estimated that the programme of works will range from 6 - 8 months. The majority of 
construction related deliveries will be taken away from the public highway from North 
End Road directly on to the site. A small number of deliveries will be taken from the 
public highway outside of peak hours. It is estimated that the demolition period will 
result in the approximately 75 HGV trips and the construction period will result in 
approximately 100 HGV trips. It is estimated that the peak number of construction 
related traffic will be 5 HGV trips a day, which over the course of a day is significantly 
less than 1 trip per hour. It is considered that the construction related activities is not 
likely to have a detrimental impact to the public highway in the vicinity of the site.  

Page 60



 

 
5.127. The revised CLP is secured by Condition 4.  
 
 
GREEN INFRASTRUCTURE 
 
5.128. Local Plan (2018) Policy OS5 (Greening the Borough) seeks to enhance 
biodiversity and green infrastructure in the borough by maximising the provision of 
gardens, garden space and soft landscaping, seeking green or brown roofs and other 
planting as part of new development, seeking retention of existing trees and provision of 
new trees on development site and adding to the greening of streets and the public 
realm. 
 
5.129. The proposals would provide private gardens to the proposed family units on 
the ground floor level and 290sqm green roof, which are considered to provide a better 
green infrastructure than the current site that is fully covered by industrial buildings. 
Condition 37 and 38 are attached to any planning permission requesting further details 
on the proposed soft and hard landscaping of the proposals to show the compliance 
with Policy OS5.  
 
5.130. There is a group of Sycamore growing as one tree (Sycamore T1) in the 
neighbouring rear garden of the basement flat at No.3 Challoner Court.  
 
5.131. The applicant has submitted a revised Tree Survey report which consideres 
the constraints posed by Sycamore T1 and proposes a replacement plan. 
 
5.132. The Tree Survey Report has been reviewed by the Council's Tree Officer and 
he concludes while the proposed removal of T1 is regrettable, the Sycamore Tree is not 
visible from any surrounding streets, hence it provides no visual amenity to the street 
scene. Condition 39 would be attached to any planning permission requiring consent 
from the owner of the Sycamore Tree (T1) for its removal to be obtained prior to the 
commencement of work.   
 
ENVIRONMENTAL QUALITY:  
  
Sustainability - Carbon Reduction 
 
5.133. London Plan Policies 5.1, 5.2 and 5.3 require development proposals to 
make the fullest contribution to minimising carbon dioxide emissions. Policies 5.5 and 
5.9 promote the use of localised decentralised energy systems and encourage the 
design of places and spaces to avoid overheating and excessive heat generation.  
 
5.134. Local Plan Policies CC1 (Reducing Carbon Dioxide Emissions) and CC2 
(Ensuring Sustainable Design and Construction) assert that all major developments 
should implement the London Plan (2016) sustainable energy policies and meet the 
associated carbon dioxide (CO2) reduction targets as set out in London Plan Policy 5.2.  
 
5.135. Policy CC1 goes on to state that where is not feasible to make the required 
CO2 reductions by implementing these measures on site, a payment in lieu contribution 
should be made to the council which will be used to fund CO2 reduction measures in 
the Borough.  
 

Page 61



 

5.136. A Sustainability and Energy Statement has been submitted with the planning 
application to show how sustainable energy measures will be implemented to meet the 
carbon reduction targets set in the abovementioned policies. 
 
5.137. The Statement includes information on the planned energy efficiency 
measures in the new development. These include improved levels of insulation, energy 
efficient lighting throughout, low air permeability to reduce heat loss, natural ventilation 
and use of high efficiency communal gas boilers for heating and hot water. The use of 
solar PV panels on the roof to generate electricity is proposed to the residential units, 
while Air Source Heat Pumps (ASHPs) are planned to heat/cool the commercial units. 
Together, these are calculated to reduce CO2 emissions. 
 
5.138. Officers have reviewed the Statement. The proposed office use would 
achieve a carbon reduction of 36.41%, which meets the minimum requirement of 35%. 
The residential units would achieve an overall reduction of 39.37% which falls short of 
the zero target. The applicant has agreed a payment in lieu of £46,080 to bring the 
residential units up to the zero-carbon standard. The payment will be secured by a S106 
legal agreement.  
 
Flood Risk and Sustainable Urban Drainage Systems (SUDs): 
 
5.139. London Plan Policy 5.11, 5.12, 5.13, 5.14 and 5.15 requires new 
development to comply with the flood risk assessment and management requirements 
of National Policy, including the incorporation of sustainable urban drainage systems, 
and specifies a drainage hierarchy for new development.  
 
5.140. Local Plan Policies CC3 (Minimising Flood Risk and Reducing Water Use) 
and CC4 (Minimising Surface Water Run-Off with Sustainable Drainage Systems) entail 
that developments should reduce the use of water and minimise current and future flood 
risk, and all proposals for new development must manage surface water run-off as close 
to its source as possible and on the surface where practicable.  
  
5.141. The application site is in the Environment Agency's Flood Zone 3, and 
benefits from flood defences, which are in good condition along this stretch.  
 
Flood Risk Assessment 
 
5.142. The revised Flood Risk Assessment (FRA) which includes Surface Water 
Drainage Strategy has been reviewed by the council's Environmental Policy Team and 
is considered satisfactory.  
 
5.143. In accordance with the NPPF's technical guidance, dwellings are classed as 
'More Vulnerable, while offices and industrial units are 'Less Vulnerable'. The proposed 
development would comprise office spaces at the basement level which are less 
vulnerable, and thus no flood mitigation is required. The revised FRA is satisfactory and 
Condition 33 would be attached to secure these details.  
 
Surface Water Drainage Strategy 
 
5.144. The revised Strategy indicates that the offsite flow rate has been reduced as 
far as practically possible, given the constraints on space available to store attenuated 
rainwater. The blue roof coverage has been increased from 490sqm to 563 sqm, which 

Page 62



 

provides 61m3 of attenuation. Paving is proposed in the car parking areas, which is 
quantified to cover c. 110sqm and provides c8.7m3 of attenuation. 227sqm of green 
roof is also introduced. As such, the final discharge rate has been reduced to 1.01/s for 
the 1:100-year storm + 40% climate change factor. These are considered to be 
acceptable by the Environmental Policy Team.  
 
5.145.  Details of the proposed SuDS measures, including specification of the green 
roof and other measures, including maintenance information would be secured by 
Conditions 34 and 36.  
  
Contamination: 
  
5.146. Policy 5.21 of the London Plan and Local Plan Policy CC9 and CC13 state 
that the Council will support the remediation of contaminated land and that it will take 
measures to minimise the potential harm of contaminated sites and ensure that 
mitigation measures are put in place.  
            
5.147. Potentially contaminative land uses, past or present, are understood to occur 
at, or near to, this site. Conditions 26 - 31 are attached ensuring that no unacceptable 
risks are caused to humans, controlled waters or the wider environment during and 
following the development works, in accordance with the abovementioned policies.  
  
Air Quality: 
      
5.148. London Plan Policy 7.14 and Local Plan Policy CC10 seek to reduce the 
potential adverse air quality impacts of new developments by requiring all developments 
to provide an air quality assessment that considers the potential impacts of pollution 
from the development on the site and on neighbouring areas and requiring mitigation 
measures to be implemented to reduce emissions where assessments show that 
developments could cause a significant worsening of local air quality or contribute to 
exceedances of the Government's air quality objectives. 
    
5.149. The development site is within the borough wide Air Quality Management 
Area (AQMA). The site is in an area of very poor air quality due to the road traffic 
emissions from North End Road. The proposals would introduce new residential 
receptors into this area and will result in an impact on local air quality from transport and 
energy plant emissions during the operational phases.  
 
5.150. The Council's Environmental Quality team have reviewed the submitted 
documents and subsequently recommended a number of conditions (Conditions 13 - 
16) relating to air quality, namely in relation to Air Quality Dust Management Plan, Gas 
Boilers Compliance with Emission Standards, Low Emissions Strategy, and Mechanical 
Ventilation to be attached to planning consent. 
 
6.0. PLANNING OBLIGATIONS  
  
S106 AGREEMENT 
 
6.1. The London Plan Policy 8.2 recognises the role of planning obligations in 
mitigating the effects of development and provides guidance of the priorities for 
obligations in the context of overall scheme viability.   
 

Page 63



 

6.2. In the event that planning permission were to be acceptable, the applicant would 
be required to enter into a legal agreement.  The Legal Agreement will include the 
following clauses: 
 
- Contribution to economic development (£3,400) towards local procurement 
initiative; 
- 48% of affordable house contribution (12 residential units), with a tenure split of 
60:40 between affordable rented and intermediate housing;  
- A payment in lieu of £46,080 to bring the residential units up to the zero-carbon 
standard; 
- A S278 agreement for the provision of footway to the frontage of the site in 
Challoner Crescent including alterations to parking. 
 
COMMUNITY INFRASTRUCTURE LEVY: 
  
Mayoral CIL     
  
6.3. Mayoral CIL (Community Infrastructure Levy) came into effect in April 2012 and is 
a material consideration to which regard must be had when determining this planning 
application. Under the London wide Mayoral CIL the scheme would be liable for a CIL 
payment.  This would contribute towards the funding of Crossrail. The GLA expect the 
Council, as the Collecting Authority, to secure the levy in accordance with London Plan 
Policy 8.3.  
 
6.4. CIL total for this charging authority (Total Liability for TFL) will be: £84,881.25 
 
Local CIL 
  
6.5. The Council has also set a CIL charge. The Council's Community Infrastructure 
Levy (CIL) is also a charge levied on the net increase in floorspace arising from 
development in order to fund infrastructure that is needed to support development in the 
area. The Council's CIL runs alongside Section 106 Agreements (S106s) which will be 
scaled back but will continue to operate. The CIL Charging Schedule was presented to 
Council and approved 20 May and has formally taken effect since the 1st September 
2015. An estimate of the proposed CIL contribution will follow.  
 
6.6. CIL Total for this charging authority (Total Liability for LBHF) will be: £225,675.41.  
             
7.0. CONCLUSION  
     
7.1. Officers consider that the proposals are acceptable in principle. The design and 
appearance of the proposed new building and impact on the conservation area is 
acceptable. The proposals would provide satisfactory living conditions for future 
occupiers and would neither cause undue harm to residential amenity, and nor have a 
detrimental impact on the highway network or local parking conditions. Other matters 
including flood risk and contaminated land matters are also considered to be 
acceptable. 
 
8.0. RECOMMENDATION   
  
8.1. It is therefore recommended that Planning Permission be approved, subject to 
conditions and S106 agreements.  

Page 64



 

 
1) That the Committee resolve that the Strategic Director of the Economy 
Department be authorised to determine the application and grant permission upon the 
completion of a satisfactory Deed of Variation to the s106 legal agreement securing the 
heads of terms contained within this report and subject to conditions. 
 
2) To authorise that the Strategic Director of The Economy Department in 
consultation with the Director of Law and the Chair of the Planning and Development 
Control Committee to make any minor modifications to the proposed conditions or 
heads of terms of the legal agreement, any such changes shall be within their 
discretion.  
 
 
 
 
 

Page 65



 

--------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------- 
Ward:  Fulham Reach 
 

Site Address: 
Waterfront Hammersmith Embankment  Chancellors Road  
London  W6 9RU   
 

 

 
 

© Crown Copyright. All Rights Reserved. London Borough Hammersmith and Fulham LA100019223 (2013). 

For identification purposes only - do not scale. 
 

 
Reg. No: 
2018/04016/FUL 
 
Date Valid: 
13.12.2018 
 
Committee Date: 
22.07.2019 

Case Officer: 
Graham Simpson 
 
Conservation Area: 
Constraint Name: Fulham Reach Conservation 
Area - Number 39 

Page 66

Agenda Item 5



 

 
Applicant: 
 
C/O Agent    
 
Description: 
Erection of a two storey extension to the Manbre Road elevation and a six storey 
extension to the riverside elevation, including infill roof level extensions at fourth and 
fifth floor levels in connection with the refurbishment and extension of existing B1 office 
building known as the 'Refinery' Building, incorporating ancillary uses (cafe / restaurant; 
co-working incubator space; and events space), a new green roof, comprehensive 
public realm improvements and associated works. 
Drg Nos: 1299/PL/101D; 102D; 103E; 104D; 105D; 106D; 107D; 108D;109E; 110D; 
111D; 112D; 113D; 114D; 115D;1186-010 P1; 1186-011 P1; 1186-012 P1; 1186-013 
P1;1186-014 P1; 1186-015 P1; 1186-016 P1; 1186-017 P1;1186-018 P1; 1186-019 P1; 
1186-201 P2; 1186-002 P2;186-402 P1; Site Management Strategy (October 2018) 
 
 
Application Type: 
Full Detailed Planning Application 
 
Officer Recommendation: 
 
That the Committee resolve that the Strategic Director, The Economy be authorised to 
determine the application and grant permission upon the completion of a satisfactory 
legal agreement and subject to the condition(s) listed below. 
 
To authorise the Strategic Director, The Economy, after consultation with the Director of 
Law and the Chair of the Planning and Development Control Committee to make any 
minor changes to the proposed conditions or heads of terms of the legal agreement, 
any such changes shall be within their discretion. 

 
 
 1) The development hereby permitted shall not commence later than the expiration of 

3 years beginning with the date of this planning permission. 
    
 Condition required to be imposed by section 91(1) (a) of the Town and Country 

Planning Act 1990 (as amended by section 51 of the Planning and Compulsory 
Purchase Act 2004). 

 
 2) The development shall not be erected otherwise than in accordance with the 

following approved drawings:  1299/PL/101D; 102D; 103E; 104D; 105D; 106D; 
107D; 108D;   109E; 110D; 111D; 112D; 113D; 114D; 115D;   1186-010 P1; 1186-
011 P1; 1186-012 P1; 1186-013 P1;   1186-014 P1; 1186-015 P1; 1186-016 P1; 
1186-017 P1;   1186-018 P1; 1186-019 P1; 1186-201 P2; 1186-002 P2; 186-402 
P1. 

   
 To ensure full compliance with the planning application hereby approved and to 

prevent harm arising through deviations from the approved plans, in accordance 
with Policies DC1, DC4, and DC8 of the Local Plan 2018. 

 

Page 67



 

 3) Prior to commencement of the coNstruction phase of development, a Construction 
Management Plan (CMP) for that phase shall be submitted to and approved in 
writing by the Local Planning Authority. The CMP shall include detailed plan 
showing phasing; piling (temporary and permanent), contractors' method 
statements, waste classification and disposal procedures and locations, location of 
site offices, ancillary buildings, plant, wheel-washing facilities, stacking bays and 
car parking , details storage of any skips, oil and chemical storage, membership of 
the Considerate Contractors Scheme, delivery locations and the proposed control 
measures and monitoring for noise, vibration, lighting, , restriction of hours of work 
and all associated activities audible beyond the site boundary to 0800-1800hrs 
Mondays to Fridays and 0800-1300hrs on Saturdays, advance notification to 
neighbours and other interested parties of proposed works and public display of 
contact details including accessible phone contact to persons responsible for the 
site works for the duration of the works. The details shall also relevant foundations, 
basement and ground floor structures, or for any other structures below ground 
level, including piling (temporary and permanent) for that phase include the use of 
on -road Ultra Low Emission Zone compliant Vehicles e.g. Euro 6 and Euro VI; 
provisions within the site to ensure that all vehicles associated with the 
construction works are properly washed and cleaned to prevent the passage of 
mud and dirt onto the highway. The works shall be carried out in accordance with 
the relevant approved CMP unless otherwise agreed in writing with the Local 
Planning Authority. Approved details shall be implemented throughout the project 
period. 

   
 To ensure that the amenity of occupiers of surrounding premises is not adversely 

affected by noise, vibration, dust, lighting or other emissions from the building site, 
in accordance with Policies CC11 and CC13 of the Local Plan 2018. 

 
 4) The development hereby permitted shall not commence until a detailed 

Construction Logistics Plan has been submitted to and approved in writing by the 
Local Planning Authority. This shall be in accordance with Transport for London 
Guidance on Construction Logistics Plans and shall include the demolition phase 
of the development. Each CLP shall include the following minimum information:  

  
 - site logistics and operations;  
 - construction vehicle routing;  
 - Details of the estimated number, size and routes of construction vehicles per 

day/week 
 - details of the use of Ultra Low Emission Zone (ULEZ) compliant Vehicles e.g. 

Euro 6 and Euro VI; 
 - details of the access and egress arrangements 
 - delivery locations on the site;  
 - details of any vehicle holding areas; and other matters relating to traffic 

management to be agreed as required 
 - Efficiency and sustainability measures to be undertaken for the works 
 - membership of the Considerate Contractors Scheme.  
  
 The works shall be carried out in accordance with the relevant approved CLP 

unless otherwise agreed in writing with the Local Planning Authority. Approved 
details shall be fully implemented and retained and maintained throughout the 
construction phase of the development. 

      

Page 68



 

 To minimise the impacts of construction-related vehicle movements and facilitate 
sustainable construction travel to the site in accordance with policies T1 and T6 of 
the Local Plan 2018. 

 
 5) The relevant parts of the development hereby permitted shall not commence until 

detailed drawings in plan, section and elevation at a scale of no less than 1:20 of: 
  a.) typical bays, to include cladding details, soffits, balustrades, entrances, 

brise soleils, external light installations, plant room enclosures and separate bin 
store;  

  b.)detailed roof plan and typical sections showing all roof surfaces and 
installations including the green roof, plant, rooflights, railings, hatches, flues etcl; 
and 

  c.) landscape plans and sections, planting schedules/tree specifications, hard 
landscaping material samples, and details of light installations 

  are submitted to and approved in writing by the Council. The relevant parts of 
development shall be carried out in accordance with such details as have been 
approved and thereafter permanently retained in this form, unless otherwise 
agreed in writing with the local planning authority. 

  
 To ensure a satisfactory external appearance, in accordance with Policies DC1, 

DC4, and DC8 of the Local Plan 2018.    
 
 6) Prior to installation of the relevant parts of the development hereby permitted, 

details of samples of external materials including cladding mock-up panel(s) 
showing all main cladding material and junctions between them, to be viewed on 
site, shall be submitted to, and approved in writing by, the Council. The 
development shall be carried out in accordance with the approved details; and 
permanently retained as such. 

   
 To ensure a satisfactory external appearance and to prevent harm to the street 

scene and public realm, to preserve the character and appearance of the area; 
and the setting and special architectural and historic interest of the locally listed 
building in accordance with policies 7.1, 7.6 and 7.9 of the London Plan (2016) 
and Policies DC1, DC4, and DC8 of the Local Plan 2018. 

 
 7) No alterations shall be carried out to the external appearance of the building, 

including the installation of air-conditioning units, ventilation fans or extraction 
equipment not shown on the approved drawings, without planning permission first 
being obtained. Any such changes shall be carried out in accordance with the 
approved details. 

            
 To ensure a satisfactory external appearance and to prevent harm to the 

amenities of the occupiers of neighbouring residential properties, in accordance 
with Policies DC1, DC4, and DC8 of the Local Plan 2018. 

 
 8) Notwithstanding the provisions of the Town and Country Planning (General 

Permitted Development) (England) Order 2015 as amended (or any Order 
revoking or re-enacting that Order with or without modification), no aerials, 
antennae, satellite dishes or related telecommunications equipment shall be 
erected on any external part of the approved building, without planning permission 
first being obtained. 

        

Page 69



 

 To ensure that the Council can fully consider the effect of telecommunications 
equipment upon the appearance of the buildings in accordance with Policies DC1, 
DC4, and DC8 of the Local Plan 2018. 

 
 9) Prior to use, machinery, plant or equipment, extract/ ventilation system and 

ducting at the development, details shall be submitted to and approved in writing 
by the Council, of: 

  
 a.) The external sound level emitted from plant/ machinery/ equipment and 

mitigation measures as appropriate.  The measures shall ensure that the external 
sound level emitted from plant, machinery/ equipment will be lower than the lowest 
existing background sound level by at least 10dBA in order to prevent any adverse 
impact. The assessment shall be made in accordance with BS4142:2014 at the 
nearest and/or most affected noise sensitive premises, with all machinery 
operating together at maximum capacity. A post installation noise assessment 
shall be carried out where required to confirm compliance with the sound criteria 
and additional steps to mitigate noise shall be taken, as necessary.  Approved 
details shall be implemented prior to occupation of the development and thereafter 
be permanently retained; and   

  
 b.) Details of anti-vibration measures shall be submitted to and approved in writing 

by the Council.  The measures shall ensure that machinery, plant/equipment 
extract/ventilation system and ducting are mounted with proprietary anti-vibration 
isolators and fan motors are vibration isolated from the casing and adequately 
silenced.   

  
 Approved details shall be implemented prior to occupation of the development and 

thereafter be permanently retained.  
   
 To ensure that the amenity of occupiers of the development site/ adjacent 

dwellings/ noise sensitive premises is not adversely affected by noise, in 
accordance with Policies CC11 and CC13 of the Local Plan 2018.   

  
 
10) The glass installed for the commercial frontage of Manbre Road shall be clear and 

shall be permanently retained and not permanently obscured in any way. 
      
 To ensure a satisfactory external appearance, in accordance with Policies DC1, 

DC4, DC8 and DC9 of the Local Plan 2018. 
 
11) The green infrastructure hereby approved shall be constructed and planted up in 

full accordance with the approved details within the first available planting season 
following completion of buildings. Any plants which die, are removed, become 
seriously damaged and diseased within a period of five years from completion of 
these buildings shall be replaced in the next planting season with others of similar 
size and species. Approved details shall be fully implemented prior to the 
occupation/use of the development and thereafter permanently retained and 
maintained. 

   
 In order that the Council may be satisfied as to the details of the development in 

the interests of visual amenity of the area in accordance with policy OS5 of the 
Local Plan 2018.   

Page 70



 

 
12) With the exception of the terrace at fifth floor level, no part of the flat roof areas 

provided by the development hereby approved shall be used as a terrace or other 
accessible amenity space. No walls, fences, railings or other means of enclosure 
other than those shown on the approved drawings shall be erected around the 
roofs, and no alterations shall be carried out to the approved building to form 
access onto these roofs. 

    
 To ensure a satisfactory external appearance and so that the use of the buildings 

does not harm the amenities of the existing neighbouring residential properties 
and future residential occupiers of the development due to overlooking, loss of 
privacy and noise and disturbance, in accordance with Policies DC1, DC4 and 
HO11 of the Local Plan 2018. 

 
13) No part of the development hereby approved shall be occupied prior to the 

provision of the cycle storage for the commercial development hereby approved, 
as indicated on the approved drawing no. 1299/PL/102D and such storage 
facilities shall be permanently retained thereafter in accordance with the approved 
details. 

   
 To promote alternative, sustainable forms of transport, in accordance with Policy 

6.9 and Table 6.3 of the London Plan (2016), and Policy T3 of the Local Plan 
2018.   

 
14) No part of the development hereby approved shall be occupied prior to the 

provision of the refuse storage enclosures, as indicated on the approved drawing 
1299/PL/102D. 

   
 To ensure that the use does not give rise to smell nuisance and to prevent harm to 

the street scene arising from the appearance of accumulated rubbish, in 
accordance with Policies DC8, CC6 and CC7 of the Local Plan 2018.   

 
15) The development shall be implemented in accordance with the recommended 

flood mitigation measures in the Flood Risk Assessment as hereby approved by 
the local planning authority. In line with advice from Thames Water, a non-return 
valve or other suitable device (which may need to be a pumped device) shall be 
installed to avoid the risk of the sewerage network surcharging wastewater to 
basement/ground level during storm conditions. The recommended mitigation 
measures shall be permanently retained thereafter.  

  
 To reduce the impact of flooding to the proposed development and future 

occupants, in accordance with Policies 5.11, 5.13, 5.14 and 5.15 of the London 
Plan (2016), and Policy CC3 of the Local Plan 2018 

  
 
16) The development hereby permitted shall not be occupied until a revised 

Sustainable Drainage Strategy (SuDS Strategy), which details how surface water 
will be managed on-site in-line with the London Plan Drainage Hierarchy's 
prioritised SuDS measures, shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the 
Council, in consultation with the Environment Agency. Information provided in the 
SuDS Strategy shall include details on the design, location and attenuation 
capabilities of all proposed SuDS features. This includes provision of full details, 

Page 71



 

including associated plans, of the proposed rainwater harvesting system, all soft 
landscaping features including the proposed swales and other permeable 
surfaces, including living roofs. The feasibility of managing run-off from 
impermeable surfaces by directing this into landscaped areas including tree pits 
should be assessed and integrated where possible. The use of attenuation tanks 
to store stormwater below ground prior to discharge into the River should be 
avoided where possible, but if included full details, including location and drainage 
plans should be provided. Confirmation should be provided that no surface water 
is to be discharged into the sewer network and that surface water will only be 
discharged into the River Thames. Full maintenance information for all SuDS 
features should also be provided. The SuDS Strategy shall be implemented in 
accordance with the approved details, and thereafter all SuDS measures shall be 
retained and maintained in accordance with the approved details and shall 
thereafter be permanently retained in this form.  

  
 To prevent any increased risk of flooding and to ensure the provision of 

sustainable drainage measures in accordance with Policy 5.13 of The London 
Plan 2016; and Policy CC3 and CC4 of the Local Plan 2018. 

 
17) The development hereby permitted shall not be occupied before implementation of 

the sustainable design and construction measures, energy efficiency, low carbon 
and renewable energy measures detailed in the submitted Energy Strategy and 
Sustainability Assessment.  All details shall be implemented prior to 
occupation/use of the development hereby permitted, and thereafter be 
permanently retained.  

    
 To ensure a satisfactory external appearance and the integration of energy 

generation from renewable sources, consistent with the Mayor's sustainable 
design objectives in accordance with Policies 5.1, 5.2, 5.3 and 5.7 of The London 
Plan (2016), and Policies DC1, DC4, DC8, CC1 and CC2 of the Local Plan 2018. 

 
18) Prior to the commencement of the construction phase of the development hereby 

permitted, an Air Quality Dust Management Plan (AQDMP) in order to mitigate air 
pollution in that phase shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local 
Planning Authority. The AQDMP must include an Air Quality Dust Risk 
Assessment (AQDRA) that considers sensitive receptors off-site of the 
development and is undertaken in compliance with the methodology contained 
within Chapter 4 of the Mayor of London 'The Control of Dust and Emissions 
during Construction and Demolition', SPG, July 2014 and the identified measures 
recommended for inclusion into the AQDMP. The AQDMP submitted must comply 
with the Mayor's SPG and should include: Inventory and Timetable of dust 
generating activities during construction; Site Specific Dust mitigation and 
Emission control measures in the table format as contained within Appendix 7 of 
Mayor's SPG including for on-road and off-road construction traffic; Detailed list of 
Non-Road Mobile Machinery (NRMM) used on the site. The NRMM should meet 
as minimum the Stage IV emission criteria of Directive 97/68/EC and its 
subsequent amendments. This will apply to both variable and constant speed 
engines for both NOx and PM. An inventory of all NRMM for the first phase of 
construction shall be registered on the NRMM register https://nrmm.london/user-
nrmm/register prior to commencement of construction works and thereafter 
retained and maintained until occupation of the development; use of on-road Ultra 
Low Emission Zone (ULEZ) compliant vehicles in accordance with the emission 

Page 72



 

hierarchy (1) Electric (2) Hybrid (Electric-Petrol) (3) Petrol, (4) Hybrid (Electric-
Diesel) (5) Diesel (Euro 6 and Euro VI); Details of MCERTS compliant monitoring 
of Particulates (PM10) where appropriate and used to prevent levels exceeding 
predetermined PM10 threshold trigger levels. Developers must ensure that on-site 
contractors follow best practicable means to minimise dust, particulates (PM10, 
PM2.5) and NOx emissions at all times. Approved details shall be fully 
implemented and permanently retained and maintained during the construction 
phases of the development. 

  
   
 To comply with the requirements of the NPPF (2012), Policies 7.14a-c of the 

London Plan (2016), and Policy CC10 of the Local Plan 2018. 
 
19) Prior to occupation of the development hereby permitted a Low Emission Strategy 

for the operational phase of the development in order to mitigate the impact of air 
pollution shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Council. The Low 
Emission Strategy must detail the remedial action and mitigation measures that 
will be implemented to protect receptors (e.g. design solutions). This Strategy 
must make a commitment to implement the mitigation measures that are required 
to help mitigate the development's air pollution impacts, in particular non-
combustion energy generation sources the emissions of NOx and particulates 
from on-road vehicle transport by the use of Ultra Low Emission Zone (ULEZ) 
compliant Vehicles in accordance with the emissions hierarchy (1) Cargo bike (2) 
Electric Vehicle, (3) Hybrid (non-plug in) Electric Vehicle (HEV), (4) Plug-in Hybrid 
Electric Vehicle (PHEV), (5) Alternative Fuel e.g. CNG, LPG, (6) Diesel (Euro 6 & 
Euro VI). Approved details shall be fully implemented prior to the occupation of the 
development and thereafter permanently retained and maintained. 

   
 To comply with the requirements of the NPPF (2012), Policies 7.14a-c of the 

London Plan (2016), and Policy CC10 of the Local Plan 2018. 
 
20) Prior to the occupation of the development hereby permitted, a report with details 

of the combustion plant in order to mitigate air pollution shall be submitted to and 
approved in writing by the council. The report shall include the following: 

  
 a) Details to demonstrate that the termination height of the shared Flue stack for 

the combustion Plant has been installed a minimum of 2 metres above any 
openable window and/or roof level amenity area of the buildings  

  
 b) Details of emissions certificates, and the results of NOx emissions testing of 

each Ultra Low NOx gas boiler and Emergency Diesel Generator Plant to 
demonstrate that all the Ultra Low NOx Gas fired boilers, Emergency Diesel 
Generator Plant and associated abatement technologies shall meet a minimum 
dry NOx emissions standard of 30 mg/kWh (at 0% O2) and 95 mg/Nm-3 (at 5% 
O2) respectively by an accredited laboratory shall be provided following installation 
and thereafter on an annual basis to verify compliance of the relevant emissions 
standards in part b). Where any combustion plant does not meet the relevant 
emissions Standards in part b) above, it should not be operated without the fitting 
of suitable secondary NOx abatement Equipment or technology as determined by 
a specialist to ensure comparable emissions.  

  

Page 73



 

 c) Details to demonstrate where secondary abatement is used for the 
Emergency Diesel Generator the relevant emissions standard in part b) is met 
within 5 minutes of the generator commencing operation. During the operation of 
the emergency Diesel generators there must be no persistent visible emission. 
The maintenance and cleaning of the systems shall be undertaken regularly in 
accordance with manufacturer specifications. The diesel fuelled generators shall 
only be used for a maximum of 48 hours when there is a sustained interruption in 
the mains power supply to the site, and the testing of these diesel generators shall 
not exceed a maximum of 12 hours per calendar year.  

  
 Approved details shall be fully implemented prior to the occupation/use of the 

development and thereafter permanently retained and maintained. 
  
   
 To comply with the requirements of the NPPF (2012), Policies 7.14a-c of the 

London Plan (2016), Policy CC10 of the Local Plan 2018. 
 
21) The development hereby approved shall not be occupied until the measures 

stated in the Site Management Strategy (October 2018) have been implemented. 
The arrangements shall thereafter be permanently retained. 

  
 To ensure that control is exercised over the use of the open space so that undue 

harm is not caused to the amenities of the occupiers of neighbouring residential 
properties as a result of noise and disturbance, particularly in the quieter night time 
hours, in accordance with policy CC11 of the Local Plan (2018) and to ensure a 
safe and secure environment in accordance with Policy 7.3 of the London Plan 
(2016) and Policies DC1, DC4 and DC8 of the Local Plan (2018). 

 
22) No development shall commence until a site investigation scheme, if a site 

investigation is to be required under the approved preliminary risk assessment, is 
submitted to and approved in writing by the Council. This scheme shall be based 
upon and target the risks identified in the approved preliminary risk assessment 
and shall provide provisions for, where relevant, the sampling of soil, soil vapour, 
ground gas, surface and groundwater. The site investigation should then progress 
in accordance with the agreed site investigation scheme. All works must be carried 
out in compliance with the approved details and by a competent person who 
conforms to CLR 11: Model Procedures for the Management of Land 
Contamination (Defra 2004) or the current UK requirements for sampling. 

   
 Potentially contaminative land uses (past or present) are understood to occur at, 

or near to, this site. The condition is required to ensure that no unacceptable risks 
are caused to humans, controlled waters or the wider environment during and 
following the development works, and in accordance with policy 5.21 of the 
London Plan (2016), and Policy CC9 of the Local Plan 2018. 

 
23) Unless the Council agree in writing that a set extent of development must 

commence to enable compliance with this condition, no development shall 
commence until, following the site investigation undertaken in compliance with the 
approved site investigation scheme if required by the approved preliminary risk 
assessment a quantitative risk assessment report is submitted to and approved in 
writing by the Council. This report shall: assess the degree and nature of any 
contamination identified on the site through the site investigation; include a revised 

Page 74



 

conceptual site model from the approved preliminary risk assessment based on 
the information gathered through the approved site investigation to confirm the 
existence of any remaining pollutant linkages which would require the submission 
of a remediation method statement and determine the remaining risks posed by 
any contamination to human health, controlled waters and the wider environment. 
All works must be carried out in compliance with the approved details and by a 
competent person who conforms to CLR 11: Model Procedures for the 
Management of Land contamination (Defra 2004) or the current UK requirements 
for sampling and testing. 

   
 Potentially contaminative land uses (past or present) are understood to occur at, 

or near to, this site. The condition is required to ensure that no unacceptable risks 
are caused to humans, controlled waters or the wider environment during and 
following the development works, and in accordance with policy 5.21 of the 
London Plan 2016, and Policy CC9 of the Local Plan 2018. 

 
24) Unless the Council agree in writing that a set extent of development must 

commence to enable compliance with this condition, no development shall 
commence until, a remediation method statement, if deemed to be required in the 
approved quantitative risk assessment, is submitted to and approved in writing by 
the Council. This statement shall detail any required remediation works and shall 
be designed to mitigate any remaining risks identified in the approved quantitative 
risk assessment. This statement will also include a plan to verify that the required 
remediation works are undertaken in line with the remediation method statement 
which will be compiled into a verification report. The remediation should then 
progress in accordance with the agreed remediation method statement. All works 
must be carried out in compliance with the approved details and by a competent 
person who conforms to CLR 11: Model Procedures for the Management of Land 
Contamination (Defra 2004) or the current UK requirements for sampling and 
testing. 

   
 Potentially contaminative land uses (past or present) are understood to occur at, 

or near to, this site. The condition is required to ensure that no unacceptable risks 
are caused to humans, controlled waters or the wider environment during and 
following the development works, and in accordance with policy 5.21 of the 
London Plan (2016), and Policy CC9 of the Local Plan 2018. 

 
25) Unless the Council agree in writing that a set extent of development must 

commence to enable compliance with this condition, no development shall 
commence until the approved remediation method statement has been carried out 
in full if required by the approved quantitative risk assessment, and a verification 
report confirming these works has been submitted to, and approved in writing, by 
the Council. This report shall include: details of the remediation works carried out; 
results of any verification sampling, testing or monitoring including the analysis of 
any imported soil; all appropriate waste Duty of Care documentation and the 
validation of gas membrane placement. If, during development, contamination not 
previously identified is found to be present at the site, the Council is to be informed 
immediately and no further development (unless otherwise agreed in writing by the 
Council) shall be carried out until a report indicating the nature of the 
contamination and how it is to be dealt with is submitted to, and agreed in writing 
by, the Council. Any required remediation shall be detailed in an amendment to 
the remediation method statement to be submitted and approved by the Council 

Page 75



 

and verification of these works included in the verification report. All works must be 
carried out in compliance with the approved details and by a competent person 
who conforms to CLR 11: Model Procedures for the Management of Land 
Contamination (Defra 2004) or the current UK requirements for sampling and 
testing. 

   
 Potentially contaminative land uses (past or present) are understood to occur at, 

or near to, this site. The condition is required to ensure that no unacceptable risks 
are caused to humans, controlled waters or the wider environment during and 
following the development works, and in accordance with policy 5.21 of the 
London Plan (2016), and Policy CC9 of the Local Plan 2018. 

 
26) Unless the Council agree in writing that a set extent of development must 

commence to enable compliance with this condition, no development shall 
commence until an onward long-term monitoring methodology report, is submitted 
to and approved in writing by the Council setting out where further monitoring is 
required past the completion of development works (as identified in the approved 
site investigation scheme or the approved remediation statement or the approved 
verification report) to verify the success of the remediation undertaken. If required, 
a verification report of these monitoring works shall then be submitted to and 
approved in writing by the Council when it may be demonstrated that no residual 
adverse risks exist. All works must be carried out in compliance with the approved 
details and by a competent person who conforms to CLR 11: Model Procedures 
for the Management of Land Contamination (Defra 2004) or the current UK 
requirements for sampling and testing. 

   
 Potentially contaminative land uses (past or present) are understood to occur at, 

or near to, this site. The condition is required to ensure that no unacceptable risks 
are caused to humans, controlled waters or the wider environment during and 
following the development works, and in accordance with policy 5.21 of the 
London Plan (2016), and Policy CC9 of the Local Plan 2018. 

 
27) Prior to occupation of the Development hereby permitted, a Delivery and Servicing 

Management Plan (DSMP), shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the 
Local Planning Authority. The DSMP shall include, freight consolidation facilities, 
vehicle tracking, detail the management of deliveries, emergency access, 
collection of waste and recyclables, times and frequencies of deliveries and 
collections, silent reversing methods, Use of Ultra Low Emission Zone (ULEZ) 
compliant vehicles in accordance with the emissions hierarchy (1) Cargo bike (2) 
Electric Vehicle, (3) Hybrid (non-plug in) Electric Vehicle (HEV), (4) Plug-in Hybrid 
Electric Vehicle (PHEV), (5) Alternative Fuel e.g. CNG, LPG, (6) Diesel (Euro 6 & 
Euro VI), location of loading bays with active electric vehicle charging points, quiet 
loading/unloading measures and vehicle movements. The approved measures 
shall be implemented and thereafter retained for the lifetime of the commercial 
uses of the site 

     
 To ensure that the resulting servicing arrangements are satisfactory in terms of 

their impact on highway safety and the free-flow of traffic in accordance with 
policies T1 and T6 of the Local Plan 2018.   

 
28) External artificial lighting at the development shall not exceed lux levels of vertical 

illumination at neighbouring premises that are recommended by the Institution of 

Page 76



 

Lighting Professionals in the 'Guidance Notes For The Reduction Of Light  
Pollution 2011'.  Lighting should be minimized and glare and sky glow should be 
prevented by correctly using, locating, aiming and shielding luminaires, in 
accordance with the Guidance Notes.  

    
 To ensure that lighting does not adversely affect the amenity of occupiers of the 

development site/surrounding premises and natural habitat, in accordance with 
policies 5.11, 7.3 and 7.13 of the London Plan (2016), and policy CC12 of the 
Local Plan 2018. 

  
  
 
29) No part of the development hereby approved shall be used or occupied until a 

scheme for the control and operation of the proposed lighting within the office 
building, during periods of limited or non-occupation, has been submitted to and 
approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority, and the approved details have 
been implemented. The internal lighting shall be operated only in accordance with 
the approved details. 

     
 To ensure that the building does not cause excessive light pollution and to 

conserve energy when they are not occupied, in accordance with policy CC12 of 
the Local Plan 2018. 

 
30) The relevant parts of the development hereby approved shall not commence prior 

to the implementation of an archaeological field evaluation in accordance of a 
written scheme of investigation previously submitted to and approved in writing by 
the local planning authority. The archaeological works shall be carried out by a 
suitably qualified investigating body acceptable to the Council.  

        
 In order to ensure the preservation or protection of any archaeological interests 

that may be present on the site, in accordance with Policy DC8 of the Local Plan 
2018 and Policy 7.8 of the London Plan 2016. 

 
31) In the event that the results of the field evaluation required by condition 43 reveal 

the presence of archaeological interests on the site, the development shall not 
commence prior to the implementation in full of a programme of works to ensure 
that the archaeology is either preserved or fully excavated, in accordance with a 
written scheme previously submitted to and approved in writing by the local 
planning authority.  

        
 In order to ensure the preservation or protection of any archaeological interests on 

the site, in accordance with Policy DC8 of the Local Plan 2018 and Policy 7.8 of 
the London Plan 2016. 

 
32) Prior to the occupation of the development hereby approved details of the 

proposed measures to ensure that the development achieves "secured by design" 
status shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Council. No part of the 
development thereby effected shall be used or occupied prior to the 
implementation of the approved details and thereafter be permanently retained. 

  
 To ensure that the development incorporates suitable design measures to 

minimise opportunities for, and the perception of, crime, in accordance with 

Page 77



 

Policies 7.3 and 7.13 of the London Plan (2011) and policies DC1 and DC4 of the 
Local Plan 2018. 

 
33) There shall be no use of the roof terrace at fifth floor level between 9.00pm and 

8am Monday - Friday or on bank holidays and that there will be no music, 
amplified or acoustic, played on the terrace between the aforementioned hours.  

  
 To ensure that the amenity of occupiers of surrounding premises is not adversely 

affected by noise, in accordance with Policies HO11 and  CC11 and CC13 of the 
Local Plan (2018). 

 
34) Prior to the occupation of the development details of riparian life-saving equipment 

shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Council. No part of the 
development thereby effected shall be used or occupied prior to the 
implementation of the approved details and thereafter be permanently retained. 

  
 To ensure that the development incorporates suitable design measures to ensure 

public safety, in accordance with Policies RTC1 and RTC2 of the Local Plan 2018. 
 
 
 
 
Justification for Approving the Application: 
 
 
 
  1. Land Use:  It is considered that the proposed land use is acceptable. The 

extension of the existing Class B1 use is acceptable and in accordance with the 
NPPF (2018), Policies 4.2 and 4.3 of the London Plan (2016), and Local Plan 
Policy E1 and E2.  

    
 2. Design:  The proposed development would be a high-quality development which 

would make a positive contribution to the urban environment in this part of the 
Borough. The proposed development would be compatible with the scale and 
character of existing development. The proposal would protect the character and 
appearance of Fulham Reach Conservation Area and the setting of the adjacent 
Crabtree Conservation Area. The development would therefore be acceptable in 
accordance with the NPPF (2018), 7.1, 7.2, 7.3, 7.4, 7.5, 7.6 and 7.8 of the 
London Plan (2016) and Local Plan 2018 Policies OS1, OS2, DC1, DC4, DC8, 
RTC1, RTC2 and RTC3. 

    
 3.  Residential Amenity and Impact on Neighbouring Properties: The impact of the 

proposed development upon adjoining occupiers is considered acceptable with no 
significant worsening of noise, overlooking, loss of sunlight or daylight or outlook to 
cause undue detriment to the amenities of neighbours. In this regard, the 
development would respect the principles of good neighbourliness. The 
development would therefore be acceptable in accordance with Policies HO11 and 
DC4 of the Local Plan 2018, and Key Principles HS6, HS7 and 8 of the Planning 
Guidance Supplementary Planning Document (2018). 

    
 4. Safety and Access: The development would provide a safe and secure 

environment for all users in accordance with London Plan (2016) Policy 7.3 and 

Page 78



 

Policy DC1 Local Plan 2013 (2018). The proposal would provide ease of access 
for all people, including disabled people, in accordance with Policy 3.8 of the 
London Plan (2016), and Policies DC1, DC4, HO6, RTC1, RTC2 and RTC3 of the 
Local Plan 2018.  

    
 5. Transport:  There would be no significant adverse impact on traffic generation 

and the scheme would not result in congestion of the road network. Conditions will 
secure provision of cycle and refuse storage. The development would therefore be 
acceptable in accordance with the NPPF (2018), Policies 6.1, 6.3, 6.9, 6.10, 6.11, 
6.13 of the London Plan (2016), and Local Plan 2018 policies T2, T3, T4, T5 and 
T7. 

    
 6.  Flood Risk: A Flood Risk Assessment (FRA) has been submitted and has 

considered risks of flooding to the site and adequate preventative measures have 
been identified. Implementation of the submitted details will be secured by 
condition. Details of SUDS will be secured by a condition. In this respect the 
proposal is therefore in accordance with the NPPF (2018), Policies 5.11, 5.12, 
5.13, 5.14 and 5.15 of the London Plan (2016), and policies CC3 and CC4 in the 
Local Plan 2018.  

    
 7. Land Contamination:  Conditions will ensure that the site would be remediated 

to an appropriate level for the sensitive residential and open space uses.  The 
proposed development therefore accords with Policy 5.21 of the London Plan 
(2016), and policy CC9 in the Local Plan 2018.  

    
 8. Air Quality: Subject to additional air quality, mechanical ventilation and fresh air 

intake details, the proposal will ensure neutral air quality outcomes in accordance 
with Policies 3.2, 5.3 and 7.14 of the London Plan (2016) and Policy CC10 of the 
Local Plan 2018. 

 
 
--------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------- 
 

LOCAL GOVERNMENT ACT 2000 
LIST OF BACKGROUND PAPERS 

 
All Background Papers held by Andrew Marshall (Ext:  4841): 
 
Application form received: 12th December 2018 
Drawing Nos:   see above 
 
 
Policy documents: National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) 2019 

The London Plan 2016 
LBHF - Local Plan 2018 
LBHF – Planning Guidance Supplementary Planning Document  
2018 

 
 
 
 
 

Page 79



 

Consultation Comments: 
 
Comments from: Dated:  
Thames Water - Development Control 15.01.19 
Environment Agency - Planning Liaison 14.01.19 
Fulham Society 13.02.19 
Port Of London Authority 17.01.19 
Historic England London Region 07.01.19 
London Borough Of Richmond-upon-Thames 07.02.19 
Hammersmith & Fulham Historic Buildings Group 07.02.19 
Thames Water - Development Control 27.02.19 
Environment Agency - Planning Liaison 01.04.19 
 
 
Neighbour Comments: 
 
Letters from: Dated: 
 
59 Lochaline street London W6 9SJ W6 9SJ   26.05.19 
3 Disbrowe road London W68qg   26.05.19 
16 Bowfell Rd London W6 9HE   18.01.19 
40 Parfrey st Hammersmith W69en   12.01.19 
25 Silverton road London w69ny   26.05.19 
59 Boileau Road Barnes London SW13 9BN  27.05.19 
34 C Cromwell Grove London W6 7RG   26.05.19 
30 Ellaline Rd London W6 9NZ   27.05.19 
33 Rosedew Road London W6 9ET   26.05.19 
18 Livingstone Mansions Queens Club Gardens London  
    W14 9RW  26.05.19 
7 Sulgrave Road GFF London W6 7RD  27.05.19 
16 Bowfell Road London W6 9HE   31.01.19 
m.charalambides@imperial.ac.uk London W6 9SJ   26.05.19 
39 Ellerby Street London SW6 6EX   28.05.19 
33 Lochaline Street London W6 9SJ   12.01.19 
NAG     29.05.19 
10 Tournay Road Fulham SW6 7UF   27.05.19 
53 Crabtree lane London Sw66lp   28.05.19 
55 Crabtree Lane London SW6 6LP   28.05.19 
73 King Henry's Reach Manbre Road W6 9RH   17.01.19 
132 Harbord street London Sw6 6ph   27.05.19 
13 south black lion lane london w69tj   26.05.19 
24 A lochaline street London w69sh   14.01.19 
2 Dryden Mansions, Queens Club Queens Club Gardens  
    London W14 9RG  28.05.19 
37 Cloncurry Street London sw6 6dr   27.05.19 
71 King Henrys Reach Manbre Road London W6 9RH  26.05.19 
52 Colehill Lane Fulham London SW6 5EG  26.05.19 
47a Wardo Avenue London Sw66ra   26.05.19 
438fulham palace road London Sw66hx   26.05.19 
60 Chancellors Road London W6 9RS   21.06.19 
58 Lochaline Strret London w6 9sh w69sh   28.05.19 
31 Mall Road London W6 9DG   28.05.19 

Page 80



 

39 Rosedew Road London W6 9ET   26.05.19 
21 Silverton Road London W6 9NY   27.05.19 
Flat B 65 Parfrey Street London W6 9EW  16.01.19 
36 Lysia Street London SW6 6NG   26.05.19 
24 lochaline street London W69sh   22.06.19 
74 bishops mansions Bishops park road London Sw6 6dy  27.05.19 
1E Aviation House Gatwick Airport South Crawley RH6 0YR  24.01.19 
1E Aviation House Gatwick Airport South Crawley RH6 0YR  24.01.19 
19 bracken gardens London Sw13 9hw   26.05.19 
Flat 13 Penn Court 12 North End Road West Kensington 
    W14 0SH  18.06.19 
 
 
1.0 SITE DESCRIPTION 
       
1.1 The application relates to two large six storey office buildings (Riverside Building 
to the north and Waterfront Building to the south), facing Manbre Road, and an open 
landscaped area fronting the riverside. The Waterfront Building is multi-let to different 
tenants and the Riverside Building is currently vacant and unfurnished. The application 
only relates to the Riverside Building. 
  
1.2 Vehicular access to the Site is achieved from a gated access point on Manbre 
Road and an access at the junction between Winslow Road and Manbre Road to the 
north of the Site. The site includes some 95 basement car parking spaces available 
across the two buildings. 
   
1.3 The surrounding area is a mix of commercial and residential uses. To the north-
west in Fulham Reach and to the south east in Rainville Road there are several 
commercial premises. To the north-west are blocks of flats in Fulham Reach and to the 
north east are rows of two storey terraced houses in Winslow Road and Lochaline 
Street.  
  
1.4 The site is within the Fulham Reach Conservation Area, and adjacent to the 
Crabtree Conservation Area which is on the opposite side of Manbre Road. The site is 
also within Flood Risk Zones 2 and 3. 
     
1.5 Relevant planning history: 
     
In 1989, permission was granted for the redevelopment of the site for 42,156 square 
metres of B1 Use Class accommodation on 75% of the site area and residential 
accommodation on 25% of the site (1989/01296/OUT). 
  
In 1990, permission was granted for reserved matters for the submission of details 
(Phase A) in part compliance with condition 03 of planning permission dated 21st 
December 1989 (1990/00180/RES). 
  
In 1990, permission was granted for a revised roof plan of Block A and associated 
alterations being revised details in part compliance with Condition 03 of planning 
permission dated 21st December 1989 (RN/89/01296)  amending details approved on 
22nd May 1990 (RN 90/00180), (1990/00946/FUL). 
  

Page 81



 

In 1997, permission was granted for revisions to previously approved design and 
external appearance of two office buildings, and submission of materials 
(1997/00860/RES). 
  
In 2000, permission was granted for the erection of a radio antenna on the external roof 
screen (2000/03152/FUL). 
  
In 2003, planning permission was refused for the erection of four 4.9 metre diameter 
satellite dishes on roof (2003/03009/FUL). 
  
In 2004, planning permission was granted for the erection of four 3.7 metre diameter 
satellite dishes on roof; increase in height of plant screen by 1.9 metres around north 
wing of building (2004/00297/FUL). 
  
In 2008, a certificate of lawfulness was granted for the installation of an additional 
generator within the lower ground floor car park (2008/01245/CLP). 
  
In 2009, planning permission was granted for the installation of two generator extract 
flues to the north elevation, at roof level (2009/03061/FUL). 
     
1.6 Current proposal: 
    
1.7 The development involves the erection of a two storey extension to the Mabre 
Road elevation and a six storey extension to the riverside elevation, including infill roof 
level extensions at fourth and fifth floor levels in connection with the refurbishment and 
extension of existing B1 office building known as the 'Refinery' Building. The proposals 
also incorporate ancillary uses (cafe / restaurant; co-working incubator space; and 
events space), a new green roof, comprehensive public realm improvements and 
associated works.  
    
2.0 PUBLICITY AND CONSULTATION: 
        
2.1      The application has been advertised by means of a site notice and a press 
advert. Individual notification letters were sent to the occupiers of 1427 neighbouring 
properties.  
  
Thirty-eight objections have been received including letters from the Hammersmith, 
Fulham Historic Buildings Group and Fulham Society, Hammersmith Mall Residents 
Association, Winslow Road Residents Association and Fulham Reach Residents 
Association as well as one neutral response, and one letter of support. The grounds of 
objection can be summarised as follows: 
  
 - Proposed scale would have adverse impact on the character of the conservation 
area and surroundings 
 - Taller building would be harmful to views along the Thames 
 - Loss of light 
 - Loss of outlook 
 - Widening of Thames Path would increase conflict between pedestrians and 
cyclists.  
 - Additional traffic 
 - Increased air pollution 

Page 82



 

 - Manbre Road pedestrian gate should be closed in the event of anti-social 
behaviour 
 - Loss of mature trees  
 - Noise and disturbance from building works, larger number of occupants and 
delivery and servicing vehicles  
 - A significant loss of open space 
 - The proposal should provide better access from Manbré and Winslow Roads to 
the Thames Path national trail and the riverside walk.  
 - Proposal fails to ensure the provision, or improvement and greening of the 
Thames Path National Trail (the riverside walk) or accessible and inclusive public 
access to the riverside, including through-site links when riparian development takes 
place and the provision and enhancement of riverside walk. 
  
2.4 Historic England: No objection.  
  
2.5 Environment Agency: No objection. 
  
2.6 Thames Water: No objection subject to conditions.  
  
2.7 Civil Aviation Authority: No objections subject to informatives. 
  
2.8 London Borough of Richmond upon Thames: No objection. 
  
2.9 Disability Forum: No objections following amendments to the proposal.  
  
2.10 Port of London Authority: No objections subject to conditions. 
     
3.0       CONSIDERATIONS 
                    
3.1 The main planning considerations in light of the London Plan (2016), and the Local 
Plan 2018 (hereafter referred to as LP 2018) and the Planning Guidance 
Supplementary Planning Document 2018 (hereafter referred to as Planning Guidance 
SPD), include: the principle of the development in land use terms; quantum and 
intensity of development; heritage, design and appearance; existing residential 
amenities of neighbouring properties; environmental matters; and traffic impact on the 
highway network.  
 
3.2 The new draft London Plan was published on 29 November 2017. The Plan's 
consultation ended on 2 March 2018. An Examination in Public (EiP) commenced in 
January 2019, and publication of the new Plan is expected in the autumn of 2019. It is 
therefore considered that the new draft London Plan should be given limited weight at 
this stage in determining this application. In the interim, consideration shall be given to 
the London Plan (Consolidated with Further Alterations 2016).     
              
   
LAND USE:  
   
3.3 London Plan Policies 4.2 and 4.3, and Policy E1 are relevant in the proposal. The 
existing site includes underused and outmoded office space. The applicant has agreed 
to a contribution towards the Council's jobs and business employment strategy to 
maximise employment, training and business benefits of the development, which will be 

Page 83



 

secured through a S106 agreement. Subject to this, it is considered that the proposal 
would comply with LP 2018 Policy E1.  
        
3.4 The proposed development would result in the retention of employment uses on 
site as well as provide an upgraded modern facility with additional net employment 
generating floorspace within the borough. The proposal accords with LP 2018 Policy 
E1, and as such there is no objection to the principle of the proposal in land use terms.  
  
                                    
HERITAGE IMPACT, DESIGN AND EXTERNAL APPEARANCE 
  
Site  
  
3.5 The site comprises 2 large six storey office buildings, Refinery to the north (built 
2000) and Waterfront to the south (built 1998), located between Manbre Road to the 
east and Riverside Walk. The proposals relates to the Refinery Building which is 
currently vacant and un-refurbished as well as the open areas of the whole site. The site 
faces the Riverside Walk to the west and shares boundaries with the residential 
developments at Fulham Reach to the north and King Henry's Reach to the south. To 
the east the site borders on Manbre Road, a street with a distinct lack of relationship to 
its built edges due to a lack of principal elevations facing the street and to overgrown 
landscaping on the western side that forms the site boundary. 
  
3.6 The Refinery is arranged over 6 storeys with plant located at roof level behind 
recessed, louvred screens. The facades are composed of terracotta coloured concrete 
panels combined with large areas of glazing and solid white spandrel panels. The 4th 
floor below the plant floor is set back from the edges. The riverside frontage comprises 
2 "fingers" of different depths, between which a glazed atrium is located in a recessed 
position. The Waterfront building is of similar, related design. The development as a 
whole, including the access and servicing arrangements as well as the landscaping 
reflects very much the popular style and concepts of 1990's office buildings. 
  
Proposal 
  
3.7 The application relates to the refurbishment and extension of the Refinery. The 
proposed alterations include reconfiguring the open spaces around the site and and 
alterations to vehicular and pedestrian access and to open spaces and landscaping on 
site to create a contemporary, high quality office complex with amenity provision on the 
site and improved links into the neighbourhood. In more detail the development 
comprises: 
  
 - Extensions to the east and west elevations of the Refinery plus roof 
extensions and alterations 
 - Improvements to the relationship with the Riverside walk through hard and 
soft landscaping, improved views across the site, creating public access to the 
proposed onsite amenities  
 - Improvements to the relationship with Manbre Road by creating a better 
defined and welcoming urban edge with landscaping, activation of the proposed 
elevation and openings into the site. 
  
 
 

Page 84



 

Heritage context 
  
3.8 The site lies within Fulham Reach Conservation Area and borders Crabtree 
Conservation Area to the east. These are the only heritage assets potentially affected 
by the proposals. In more recent history, the site was part of the industrial area along 
the river that developed in the early Victorian period and was occupied by a sugar 
refinery, the Manbre and Garton Saccharine Works, which shut down in 1979. The 
extent of the site, along with that of its neighbours to the north and south, represents 
typical sizes of the original industrial plots, around which terraced housing for workers 
was developed.  
  
3.9 With the exception of the low scale, Victorian terrace housing to the east, the site 
is surrounded by taller, up to 9 storey, modern residential blocks, some with design 
references to the historically relevant industrial and warehouse architecture. However, 
overall the area is without a strong, unified townscape character. The main historic 
relevance of the conservation area lies in the relationship between the river, the 
riverbank and foreshore, the former large industrial sites and the views along and 
across the river that provide the important characteristics of the conservation area. The 
contrast to the surrounding, small scale workers' terraced housing in the neighbouring 
conservation area provides further historic and townscape interest.  
  
3.10 The site is clearly separated from the residential terraces by Manbre Road that 
forms a strong spatial and visual break between the different uses and the 2 adjacent 
conservation areas. The large scale office buildings Waterfront and Refinery are set 
back from the street edge and screened by a strip of landscaping to maintain a 
respectful distance to the small scale terraces. As a result, Manbre Road suffers from a 
lack of character and activation. 
  
3.11 Towards the Riverside Walk, the current hard and soft landscaping obstructs a 
positive relationship to the river, and the narrow public walkway is contained by high 
fencing and hedging along the western boundary of the site. 
  
3.12 The current development proposals offer opportunities to improve the relationships 
between the various building typologies and open spaces to become more cohesive, 
positive and open while retaining their distinct characters that are expressed in the 2 
separate conservation area designations. 
   
Design and Appearance 
  
Extensions to the Refinery 
3.13 The proposal is to extent the building westwards towards the river at full height, to 
add a 2-storey extension in the Manbre Road elevation and to infill the existing 2 top 
levels for additional office accommodation and plant enclosures. 
  
3.14 The new river frontage would rake back from the southern return elevation to the 
northern one, following the main external route from the north-east to the entrances of 
both buildings in the river elevations. The new frontage would have a high proportion of 
glazing to maximise views across the river but would also feature horizontal brise soleils 
to limit solar gain. Ground and first floor would be set back behind a colonnade to 
provide a protected route with a welcoming character. 
  

Page 85



 

3.15 In Manbre Road, a 2-storey extension is added moving the development closer to 
the street. The extension is designed to engage the development with the street scene 
and to provide a more welcoming frontage to visitors approaching from eastern 
direction. The extension would contain co-working, incubator and event spaces at 
ground floor level with additional entrances which potentially could provide a more 
activated and positive relationship with the street frontage in tandem with improvements 
to the design of the external spaces facing the street. This extension has been limited to 
2 storeys to reflect the scale of the terraces to the east and avoid visual intrusion on the 
breathing space between the residential and commercial uses. 
  
3.16 The building's envelope would be replaced with a contemporary cladding system 
comprising vertical glazed (clear and back-painted) slots alternating with weathered 
metal cladding of a colour and finish that, while being sympathetic to the retained 
concrete cladding of the Waterfront building, would draw on the former industrial 
heritage and the exposed riverside nature of the site. Corten steel would be one of the 
possible material options. The new 2-storey base would be emphasised by externally 
exposed steel columns and framing. Further details of the design and materials will be 
considered under the conditions to the permission. 
  
3.17 The new roofscape would feature biodiverse planted roofs, atrium lights, solid 
surfaces and lightweight screens to plant areas, and overall would have an improved 
appearance compared to the existing roof with open plant areas in views from any 
higher developments in the area (such as Fulham Reach and Charing Cross hospital). 
  
3.18 The scale and massing of the proposals for the Refinery Building would increase, 
however, this increase cannot fully be appreciated in any one view of the development. 
The increases are divided into the western extension, the eastern extension, the infills 
of the 2 top floors and additional height resulting from plant, atrium roof lights and lift 
overruns. Most of the additional half storey high structures at roof level would not be 
visible from the ground. The extensions would increase the plan form to a size similar to 
the Waterfront Building, and increase the bulk of the top 2 levels so that overall, the 
Refinery would become the slightly larger building of the 2 buildings on site. 
  
Landscaping 
3.19 The external proposals include significant changes to the open space levels. The 
landscape would be lifted up to the existing raised ground level of the building and 
layered downs towards the Thames Path using individual sculpted landscape mounds 
separated by various paths and tree planting to improve the relationship of the site with 
the Riverside Walk. While this does involve the loss of a number of trees on site, the 
replacement planting scheme includes a net increase in the total number of trees 
provided on site. The main access from the Riverside Walk would be a wide and 
shallow paved ramp leading up to the hard landscaped space in front of the Waterfront 
Building and the Refinery Building with its proposed public café. 
  
3.20 The quality of the Riverside Walk would be improved by providing terraced seating 
on the edge of the path along the entire length of the site boundary and by moving 
boundary treatment further into the site so that the path would appear less enclosed. 
The applicants propose to install railings and gates around the site to discourage 
access into the grounds at night in accordance with advice received from the police. 
The railings and gates would be made from weathered steel with a modern, industrial 
design in keeping with the overall design concept for the site, and the railings would be 
integrated with the landscaping of the site to soften their appearance. 

Page 86



 

  
3.21 The proposed remodelling of the park including allowing public access would 
provide visual, environmental and functional improvements, and, together with a public 
café facing the river, will provide public amenity and activation on the river frontage as 
well as permeability across the site that would improve links within the local community. 
The planting proposals are designed to provide a greater potential for biodiversity while 
enabling a variety of uses of the open space. In Manbre Road, vehicle access along the 
frontage would be reduced to facilitate the extension, and the existing landscaping 
including the bin storage shed would be remodelled to provide an attractive planted 
edge that would also improve passive surveillance along the street. 
 
3.22 London Plan Policy 7.19 'Biodiversity and Access to Nature' and Policy 7.21 'Trees 
and Woodland' are concerned with protecting biodiversity and trees. The policies 
requires that if a tree is to be removed, it should be replaced following the principle of 
'right tree, right place'. Local Plan Policy OS5 'Greening the Borough' seeks to protect 
existing trees and maximise planting; and Key Principle BD9 of the Planning Guidance 
SPD also encourages the planting of additional trees. 
 
3.23 Of the existing trees, all are semi-mature, with no Grade A (high quality) trees. The 
majority are Grade B (moderate quality) and C (low quality) with no tree preservation 
orders in place. A total of 30 trees are proposed to be removed and 47 semi-mature 
trees (5-7m in height) planted in their place. The tree replacement proposals comprise 
the planting of Metasequoia glyptostoboides (Dawn Redwood) within the Thames facing 
gardens. This is fast growing and typical of a river bank environment. In addition, there 
would be native birch species Betula pubescens (Downy birch) Betula pendula (Silver 
Birch) and some smaller multi stem species where there is less space available. To 
Manbré Road, additional Prunus avium 'Plena' (Cherry) trees would be planted to 
complete the existing row. 
  
3.24 The proposed materials for the hard landscaping overall are thought to be robust, 
natural and hardwearing, such as natural stone, granite, resin bound gravel for the 
paths, timber and steel to complement the design concept for the site. Details of all 
materials will be considered under the conditions (Conditions 5 and 6), and details of 
the replacement planting and landscaping scheme will be secured through conditions 
(Condition 11). 
  
Lighting design 
3.25 The gardens would be lit up during opening hours with tree uplighters and bollard 
lights but kept dark during the night to avoid impact on the River Thames as a bat 
corridor. The building forecourts facing the river would be more extensively lit up as they 
provide the main entrances into the building and require well-lit paths leading to them. 
The paths will be marked by column and landscape bollard lights of a modern design 
with materials to complement the new cladding. Other external lighting includes lighting 
strips on benches and steps. The Refinery Building is proposed to be externally 
illuminated by column uplighters and soffit lighting. Details of all installations and lighting 
levels will be considered under the conditions (Condition 28).  
  
Conclusion 
  
3.26 The proposed works are considered to be a welcome opportunity to integrate the 
site more successfully into the surrounding urban grain and to seek significant 
improvements to the Riverside Walk. 

Page 87



 

  
3.27 In context with the neighbouring development, the proposed 6-storey development 
would remain below the 8 storeys of the Fulham Reach development and step down 
towards the 3-5 storeys of the residential blocks of King Henry's Reach. The infills at the 
top would not perceived to be intrusive compared to the existing building. 
  
3.28 The 2-storey extension in Manbre Road would project out closer to the streetspace 
but would remain recessed behind the site boundary. Its height would relate to the 
terraces opposite. Another situation of interlinking between the former industrial sites of 
Fulham Reach Conservation Area and the residential terraces within Crabtree 
Conservation Area exists nearby at the junction of King Henry's Reach with Manbre 
Road where one part of the modern 3-storey block is positioned on the Manbre Road 
building line that then continues south with historic 2-storey terraces. On the application 
site, this would be mirrored by the modern 2-storey extension that would project forward 
to align with the northern building line of the much taller Fulham Reach block to the 
north. The extension would have a more animated frontage facing Manbre Road, as 
have the ground floors of the neighbouring Fulham Reach blocks. This would provide a 
positive engagement between 2 different character areas and not have a harmful impact 
on the significance of the two affected conservation areas as the built forms, scales and 
the characteristic contrast between these post-industrial sites of Fulham Reach 
Conservation Area and the residential terraces of the neighbouring Crabtree 
Conservation Area would remain distinct.  
  
3.29 Given that the residential and commercial uses in the area as well as open spaces 
and the river frontage are much more accessible, interlinked and compatible than the 
residential and industrial uses in this area were in the 19th and 20th Century, it makes 
sense that modern development responds to this positively to the benefit of the 
community. Overall, the proposals would improve the Riverside Walk, the park including 
providing public access, the appearance of the building and its relationship with the 
surrounding street and open spaces. In terms of scale and massing the proposed 
building would remain within the general height and scale threshold of existing 
development on these former industrial sites. The proposed scale and design of the 
building and the improved positive engagement of the site with the riverside is 
considered to be sympathetic to the character and appearance of the conservation 
area. The proposals facing the boundary of Crabtree Conservation Area in Manbre 
Road would respect the smaller scale of the adjacent conservation area townscape and 
improve the Manbre Road street scene, and therefore are not considered to harm the 
setting of Crabtree Conservation Area. The development is therefore acceptable in 
accordance with the principles of the NPPF (2018), Policies 7.1, 7.2, 7.4, 7.5 and 7.6 of 
the London Plan (2016), and Policies OS1, OS5, DC1, DC4 and DC8 of the Local Plan 
(2018). 
 
CRIME PREVENTION 
 
3.30 Policy 7.3 of The London Plan advises that new development should seek to 
create safe, secure, and appropriately accessible environments. Local Plan DC2 
requires new development to respect the principles of Secure by Design. Following 
consultation with the police's Crime Prevention Design Advisor, a Site Management 
Strategy has been submitted which outlines the measures to manage any potential anti-
social behaviour at the site. The proposals include increased security presence over 
and above the existing arrangements (2x security guards at night) and the closing two 
of the three gates to the River Walk out of hours (after 7pm). In addition, the more open 

Page 88



 

nature of the proposed landscaping will ensure better passive surveillance across the 
site. It is considered this is a reasonable balance between preventing any antisocial 
behaviour and retaining access through the site between Manbre Road and the Thames 
Path. The proposals in the Strategy which would incorporate measures to provide a 
safe and secure environment would be secured by a condition (Condition 21). 
  
       
RESIDENTIAL AMENITY  
                                                   
3.31 Policies DC1, DC4, CC11, CC13 and HO11 of the LP 2018 require all proposals to 
be formulated to respect the principles of good neighbourliness. SPD Housing Key 
Principles 6, 7 and 8 seeks to protect the existing amenities of neighbouring residential 
properties in terms of outlook, light, privacy and noise and disturbance. 
           
3.32 There are residential properties on two sides of the application building. The 
application site is located directly to the south east of two eight storey residential 
properties in Fulham Reach, and to the south west of end of 2 x two storey terraces 
fronting Winslow Road and Lochaline Street.  
  
Outlook: 
                           
3.33 SPD Housing Key Principle Policy HS6 acknowledges that a building's proximity 
can have an overbearing and dominating effect detrimental to the enjoyment by 
adjoining residential occupiers of their properties. Although it is dependent upon the 
proximity and scale of the proposed development a general standard can be adopted by 
reference to a line produced at an angle of 45 degrees from a point 2 metres above the 
adjoining ground level of the boundaries of the site where it adjoins residential 
properties. If any part of the proposed building extends beyond these lines then on-site 
judgement will be a determining factor in assessing the effect which the extension will 
have on the existing amenities of neighbouring properties. 
 
Manbre Road 
  
3.34 To the north east, the ends of the two terraces in Lochaline Street and Winslow 
Road are on the opposite side of Manbre Road to the proposed two storey extension to 
the Manbre Road elevation. The proposed extension would not infringe upon a line 
produced at an angle of 45 degrees from a point 2 metres above the adjoining ground 
level taken from the Manbre Road edge of the application site. It is therefore considered 
that the existing residential amenities of neighbouring residential properties to the north 
east will be retained and would be acceptable in terms of SPD Housing Key Principle 
Policy HS6.  
    
Fulham Reach 
         
3.35 To the north west of the application site is the eight storey residential block known 
as Fulham Reach Building F still under construction. The side elevation of the proposed 
six storey extension, and infill extensions at fourth and fifth floor levels would face that 
neighbouring building. 
 
3.36 The existing Refinery building already infringes upon a line produced at an angle of 
45 degrees from a point 2 metres above the adjoining ground level taken from the north 

Page 89



 

western boundary. The existing building extends approximately 6m above the 45 
degree line. 
  
3.37 The proposed extension would increase the length of the north-west elevation of 
the application building by an additional 18m from the second to fifth floors. The infill 
extensions along the length of the existing building would bring the fourth and fifth floors 
1.3m and 2m closer to the main side elevation building line respectively. Key Principle 
SH6 makes clear that on-site judgement is the determining factor in these situations.    
 
3.38 While the proposed extension would increase the length of the north west elevation 
of the application building by an additional 18m resulting in some additional impact, this 
would be a continuation of the existing relationship between the two buildings, which 
has come about due to the positioning of Building F in close proximity to the boundary. 
A separation of at least 17m between the proposed building and Building F will be 
retained, comparable to the existing. Officers consider that the proposed development 
would be maintain a satisfactory sense of openness and would be no closer than other 
similar schemes within an urban context. The proposed siting and reduced massing 
would not have an overbearing effect compared to the existing building, to a degree as 
to warrant the refusal of planning permission.  
 
3.39 Officers conclude that the development would not give rise to unacceptable levels 
of loss of outlook and sense of enclosure and would therefore be acceptable in terms of 
SPD Housing Key Principle Policy HS6.  
         
Privacy: 
              
3.40 SPD Housing Key Principle HS7 states that new windows should normally be 
positioned so that they are a minimum of 18 metres away from existing residential 
windows as measured by an arc of 60 degrees taken from the centre of the proposed 
window. In addition, it states that a roof terrace/balcony is unacceptable if it would result 
in an additional opportunity for overlooking and consequent loss of privacy. 
                
3.41 (i) Manbre Road 
 
The nearest affected windows on the opposite side of Manbre Road are those in the 
side elevations of the back additions to 59 Winslow Road and 60 Lochaline Street at 
first floor level. These windows already face the public realm of Manbre Road and would 
therefore experience an existing degree of overlooking. 
 
(ii) Fulham Reach Building F 
 
The nearest affected windows to the north-west elevation extensions are those in 
Fulham Reach Building F. However, the proposed windows would be no closer to the 
opposing windows than the existing windows in that elevation. It is therefore considered 
that the proposal would not result in any additional opportunities for overlooking or loss 
of privacy than which exists with the existing arrangement of windows.  
 
(iii) Fulham Reach Building H 
 
The proposed fifth floor terrace would be at least 25m away from the nearest residential 
units in Fulham Reach Building H. The proposed terrace is therefore more than 18m 
away, complying with SPD Housing Key Principle HS7. 

Page 90



 

 
In conclusion, the proposal would therefore not result in any significant loss of privacy or 
overlooking complying with Policies HO11 and DC1 and DC4 of the LP 2018, and SPD 
Housing Key Principle HS7. 
            
Noise and disturbance: 
               
3.42 Policies CC11 and CC13 of the LP 2018 relate to environmental nuisance and 
require all development to ensure that there is no undue detriment to the general 
amenities enjoyed by existing surrounding occupiers, particularly those of residential 
properties. SPD Key Principle HS8 adds that roof terraces or balconies likely to cause 
harm to the existing amenities of neighbouring properties by reason of noise and 
disturbance will not be supported.    
  
3.43 It is difficult to predict with any accuracy the likely level of noise/disturbance that 
would be generated by the use of the proposed terrace area at fifth floor level. Having 
regard to the size of the proposed terrace (96sqm), together with its location and the 
relationship with adjoining properties, it is considered that the terrace has the potential 
to harm the existing amenities of adjoining occupiers as a result of additional noise and 
disturbance. It is considered that it would be necessary to control the hours of use of the 
terraces to ensure that the development would not harm the existing amenities of 
adjoining occupiers in terms of noise and disturbance. Subject to such a condition 
(Condition 33), it is considered that the proposed development would accord with 
Policies HO11, CC11 and CC13 of the LP 2018 and SPD Key Principle HS8 regarding 
noise. 
                                       
Daylight and Sunlight:  
 
3.44 Daylight, Sunlight, and Overshadowing: 
 
3.45 The British Research Establishment (BRE) guide on 'Site layout planning for 
daylight and sunlight', set out good practice for assessing daylight and sunlight impacts 
for new development. In urban and city centre areas, BRE Guidelines advise that the 
guidance be applied flexibly. The applicant's Daylight and Sunlight report which has 
been carried out in line with BRE and considers the potential impacts of the proposed 
development on daylight, sunlight and overshadowing on existing neighbouring 
residential buildings. Officers have considered the applicant's report in terms of impact 
on habitable rooms, and the Council's Daylight/Sunlight consultant has also considered 
the proposals. 
 
Daylight 
 
3.46 The BRE Guidance sets out three different methods of assessing daylight to or 
within a room, the Vertical Sky Component (VSC) method, the plotting of the no-sky-line 
(NSL) method and the Average Daylight Factor (ADF) method. 
 
3.47 The VSC method measures the amount of sky that can be seen from the centre of 
an existing window and compares it to the amount of sky that would still be capable of 
being seen from that same position following the erection of a new building. The 
measurements assess the amount of sky that can be seen by converting it into a 
percentage. An unobstructed window will achieve a maximum level of 40% VSC. The 
BRE guide advises that if the VSC is greater than 27% then enough skylight should still 

Page 91



 

be reaching the window of the existing window. If the VSC is both less than 27% and 
less than 80% of its former value, occupants of the existing building will notice the 
reduction in the amount of skylight. However the Guidance makes clear that these 
values are advisory and para 2.2.1 states that 'Different criteria may be used based on 
the requirements for daylighting in an area viewed against other site layout constraints.  
Another important issue is whether the existing building is itself a good neighbour, 
standing a reasonable distance from the boundary and taking no more than its fair 
share of light.' 
 
3.48 No Sky-Line NSL measures the distribution of daylight within a room. It indicates 
the point in a room from where the sky cannot be seen through the window due to the 
presence of an obstructing building.  The NSL method is a measure of the distribution of 
daylight at the 'working plane' within a room.  In houses, the 'working plane' means a 
horizontal 'desktop' plane 0.85 metres above floor level.  This is approximately the 
height of a kitchen work surface. The NSL divides those areas of the working plane in a 
room which receive direct sky light through the windows from those areas of the working 
plane which do not.  For houses, the rooms to be assessed should include living rooms, 
dining rooms and kitchens.  Bedrooms should also be analysed, although in terms of 
NSL they are considered less significant in terms of receiving direct sky light.  
Development will affect daylight if the area within a room receiving direct daylight is less 
than 80% of its former value.  
 
3.49 The Average Daylight Factor (ADF) involves values for the transparency of the 
glass, the net glazed area of the window, the total area of room surfaces, their colour 
reflectance and the angle of visible sky measured from the centre of the window.  This 
is a method that measures the general illumination from skylight and considers the size 
and number of windows, room size, room qualities and room use. The BRE test 
recommends an ADF of 5% for a well day lit space or 2% for a partly day lit space.  The 
minimum standards for ADF recommended by the BRE for individual rooms are 2% for 
kitchens, 1.5% for living rooms and 1% for bedrooms.  
 
3.50 The submitted Daylight/Sunlight report has identified habitable rooms in the 
following neighbouring residential premises: 
- Building F, Fulham Reach 
- Building E, Fulham Reach 
- 59 Winslow Road 
- 60 Lochaline Street 
 
Whilst there are other existing neighbouring residential premises adjacent to the 
Application Site, we are satisfied that they are sufficiently remote and will not be 
affected by the proposed development and therefore do not need to be included in the 
tests. 
 
3.51 Of the four above-mentioned properties, the results demonstrate that there will be 
no material impact in terms of Daylight & Sunlight for Building E, 59 Winslow Road and 
60 Lochaline Street. The Council's consultant is satisfied with the findings for these 
properties. However, Building F which contains 118 windows in close proximity to the 
application site needs further consideration. 
 
3.52 In the present circumstances the application site sits adjacent to well-established 
existing terraced houses and the new build multi-storey residential development 
presently under construction, Building F. The Daylight/Sunlight report as originally 

Page 92



 

submitted focused purely on Average Daylight Factors, but for Building F in Fulham 
Reach, this was later addressed and corrected in their second report where VSC and 
Daylight Distribution results were submitted. 
 
3.53 When assessed against the targets of ADF for New-Build dwellings the results for 
Building F show that four L/K/D's at ground floor level and two L/K/D's at first-floor level 
will have sub- standard levels of natural daylight but it does however need to be noted 
that they will also be below standard even under "existing" conditions. It should also be 
noted that although ADF should be measured on an absolute rather than comparative 
scale, where the ADF values are already below standard, the "existing" and "propose" 
values can be compared in order to gauge the likely level of impact and the 20% is 
permissible margin of reduction established by the BRE is not an unreasonable 
approach. On that basis, the changes to the ADF values to these particular rooms will 
not be significant. 
 
3.54 When Building F is assessed using VSC and Daylight Distribution, a slightly 
different conclusion is reached from that using ADF's. If an allowance is made for 
greater flexibility in terms of percentage reductions in the existing levels of daylight and 
achieving absolute residual VSC values in or around mid-teens, the material and 
noticeable shortfalls occur at the western quarter of Building F. They are: 
- Bedrooms R3 and R4 at ground floor level, and 
- Bedrooms R3 and R4 at first floor level. 
 
These Rooms will experience a noticeable loss of VSC and will be left with absolute 
residual VSC values below mid-teens. This is a distinctly different pattern of results 
when compared to the ADF analysis and is primarily due to the greater extent to which 
the proposed "new" building will extend towards the south-west, not just in comparison 
to the existing building but even with the "mirror-image" that BVP applied. 
 
3.55 If internal Daylight Distribution is considered in isolation, material shortfalls in the 
No Skyline Standards occur at the two western most bedrooms at second, third and 
fourth floors as well as at ground and first floor levels. 
 
3.56 In overall conclusion, it is considered that the correct methodology for assessing 
the impact on Building F in Fulham Reach is the use of Average Daylight Factors as it is 
a New-Build development currently under construction. On that basis, there are six 
L/K/D's (four at ground floor level and two at first floor level) that will receive sub-
standard levels of natural daylight under "proposed" conditions but are also sub- 
standard under "existing" conditions. The actual perceived change in internal lighting 
conditions will not however be significant. If the alternative VSC and Daylight 
Distribution methods of measuring daylight are applied to Building F, material losses in 
natural daylight (that are not affected by the mitigation of projecting private amenity 
balconies) will arise to the two western most bedrooms at ground floor and first floor 
levels. 
 
3.57 Given that the BRE advises that their guidance be applied flexibly, the reduced 
distribution of daylight to Building F is acceptable within an urban setting. Overall, the 
reduction in daylight to Building F when considered against the wider benefits of the 
scheme is considered acceptable.  
  
3.58 With regards to Fulham Reach (Building E), 60 Lochaline Street and 59 Winslow 
Road, the relevant BRE criterion would be satisfied and no adverse effect would occur. 

Page 93



 

   
Sunlight: 
  
3.59 To assess loss of sunlight to an existing building, the BRE guidance suggests that 
all main living rooms of dwellings, and conservatories, should be checked if they have a 
window facing within 90 degrees of due south. The guidance states that kitchens and 
bedrooms are less important, although care should be taken not to block too much sun. 
The Annual Probable Sunlight Hours (APSH) predicts the sunlight availability during the 
summer and winter for the main windows of each habitable room that faces 90 degrees 
of due south. The summer analysis covers the period 21 March to 21 September, the 
winter analysis 21 September to 21 March. The BRE Guidance states a window may be 
adversely affected if the APSH received at a point on the window is less than 25% of 
the annual probable sunlight hours including at least a 5% of the annual probable 
sunlight hours during the winter months and the percentage reduction of APSH is 20% 
or more. 
  
Fulham Reach (Building F) 
  
3.60 A Sunlight Analysis has been submitted by the applicant to assess the impact of 
the development on the surrounding properties. The Analysis assesses 118 
neighbouring windows.  
  
3.61 A number of windows within Building F would fall below the BRE recommended 
value, which is due to the overhanging balconies above many of the windows. BRE 
recognises that where balconies and other overhangs are above the existing windows, 
they inevitably receive less sunlight. Where this occurs, BRE recommends an additional 
calculation, by assessing the sunlight availability without the overhang in place. The 
results in the submitted assessment confirms that, when this test is carried out, the 
results would improve above 0.8 times the existing value, confirming that the major 
obstruction to sunlight is the presence of the existing overhang rather than the proposed 
development. 
  
3.62 Only two exceptions would occur, where the winter sunlight availability would be 
below BRE guidance to two windows, serving a bedroom and a living/dining room at 
ground floor level respectively. While the proposed winter sunlight availability would be 
4% with the value recommended by BRE being 5%, it is considered that the difference 
would be undiscernible by the occupants. Furthermore, BRE states that sunlight to 
bedrooms is less important than to living rooms. In any case, the annual sunlight 
availability would be well above the BRE recommended value.  
 
Overshadowing: 
  
3.63 The nearest amenity spaces are 59 Winslow Road and 60 Lochaline Street. The 
submitted report assesses these spaces and confirms that the BRE criterion for sunlight 
availability on the ground would be satisfied.  
            
3.64 In conclusion, Officers consider that the habitable rooms, and neighbouring 
gardens would on the whole have sufficient access to daylight and sunlight after the 
development has been constructed complying with Policies HO11, DC1 and DC4 of the 
LP 2018, SPD Housing Key Principle HS7 and guidance set out in the Building 
Research Establishments' (BRE) Report 2011 "Site Layout Planning for Daylight and 
Sunlight - A guide to good practice". 

Page 94



 

        
Light pollution 
         
3.65 Policy CC12 of the LP 2018 seeks to control the adverse impacts of lighting 
arrangements including that from signage and other sources of illumination. The 
existing buildings would be extended with additional windows to the north-west and 
north east elevations. However, officers do not consider the level of illumination likely to 
be harmful or out of character with the location. A condition requiring a strategy securing 
how internal lights to be turned off when not required is recommended to mitigate 
against unnecessary harm to sensitive receptors (Condition 42). In addition, further 
details are sought for approval of all proposed external illumination to secure a positive 
environment without harmful impacts upon adjacent residents or harm to the character 
of the area (Condition 41). As such officers consider that the proposal accords with the 
requirements of Policy CC12 of the LP 2018.     
            
HIGHWAYS 
           
3.66 Policy 6.1, 6.3, 6.10, 6.11 and 6.13 of the London Plan sets out the intention to 
encourage consideration of transport implications as a fundamental element of 
sustainable transport, supporting development patterns that reduce the need to travel or 
that locate development with high trip generation in proximity of public transport 
services. The policies also provide guidance for the establishment of maximum car 
parking standards. 
                
      
3.67 Policy T1 of the LP 2018 supports The London Plan. Policy DC2 of the LP 2018 
requires new development to incorporate ease of access by disabled people and people 
with mobility impairment. Policy T2 of the LP 2018 states that all development proposals 
will be assessed for their contribution to traffic generation and their impact on 
congestion. Policy T4 of the LP 2018 requires new development to accord with the car 
parking standards set out in the London Plan. Policy T6 of the LP 2018 relates to 
development affecting the borough's road network. These are supported by SPD 
Transport Key Principles TR1, TR2, TR3, TR15, TR17, TR21 and TR27. 
              
Car Parking:              
                     
3.68 The site benefits from good level of accessibility as reflected by its 3 PTAL rating 
enabling employees to access the site by a range of public transport facilities. Bus 
routes (190, 211, 220 and 295) operate along Fulham Palace Road providing regular 
services to central London. Hammersmith Tube Station is 850m to the north of the site 
providing regular services to central London. Both bus stops and the station are within 
walking distance of the site for commuters.  
         
3.69 The proposal includes the reduction of car parking within the application site from 
32 to 19 car parking spaces (1 dedicated disabled parking space with another enlarged 
space with the potential for another), which is welcomed. The submitted transport 
assessment concludes that the new offices will be unlikely to impact on the parking 
situation in the area as most employees will either use public transport or bicycles to get 
to work, with 60% of trips will be undertaken by public transport, with a further 11% by 
cycling and 10% by walking. The applicant proposes the provision of 5 electric vehicle 
charging points, in accordance with the Policy T4 of the Local Plan (2018).   
  

Page 95



 

         
Cycle: 
                                                                
3.70  Cycle parking should be provided in line with London Plan 2011 Policy 6.9 and 
Table 6.3. Policy T3 of the LP 2018 encourages increased cycle use by seeking the 
provision of convenient and safe cycle parking facilities.  
                
3.71    The proposal includes the provision of 194 cycle parking spaces within the 
application site, comprising 182 secure long-stay cycle parking spaces to be provided at 
basement level, accessed via a graded access, and the remaining 12 short-stay cycle 
parking spaces at ground floor level would be secured by Condition 13. The proposed 
cycle parking provision is in accordance with LBHF and London Plan policies.  
                
Refuse:  
                 
3.72 London Plan Policy 5.16 outlines the Mayors approach to waste management. 
Policy CC6 and CC7 of the LP 2018 requires development to incorporate suitable 
facilities for the storage and collection of segregated waste. The plans indicate an 
expansion of the existing refuse storage and recycling facilities at ground floor level, 
with refuse vehicles being able to service the development on site. The details are 
expanded upon in a Service and Delivery Management Plan and will be secured by 
Conditions 14 and 27. 
                
Servicing and Delivery:  
  
3.73 The transport assessment has provided a trip generation assessment which has 
found that there will be an increase in vehicle trips relating to servicing and deliveries, 
and the existing arrangements for these are to be retained which will continue to occur 
off-street within the application site.  
  
3.74 The applicant has submitted a delivery and servicing plan (DSP) in accordance 
with policy T2 of LBHF's Local Plan (2018). The TRICS database was used to establish 
the estimated number of servicing trips associated with the proposed development. It is 
estimated that the proposed development will result in an increase in delivery and 
servicing trips from 33 per day to 54 per day. This equates to less than 5 vehicular 
movements per hour. All servicing and delivery operators will be advised to avoid the 
AM and PM peak hours where possible. Swept-path analysis has been provided which 
demonstrates the ability of servicing vehicles to enter and leave the site in a forward 
gear. The Council's Highways team have reviewed this information and are satisfied 
that there are no grounds for objection.  
    
3.75 The delivery and servicing plan document would be secured through condition 
(Condition 27). In addition, the Travel Plan and monitoring fees for reviewing the travel 
plan would be secured through S106 agreement. 
             
3.76 Overall, subject to conditions and S106 obligations, the development would not 
adversely impact on the local highway network. It is considered that the proposal would 
accord with Policies T2, T4 and T6 of the LP 2018 in this regard.    
                    
           
 
 

Page 96



 

ENVIRONMENTAL QUALITY 
 
River Thames 
 
3.77 Policies RTC1 (River Thames), RTC2 (Access to the Thames Riverside and 
Foreshore) and RTC3 (Design and appearance of development within the Thames 
Policy Area) are relevant, and require the council will work with its partner organisations, 
including the Environment Agency, Port of London Authority, Thames Water and 
landowners to enhance and increase access to, as well as use of, the waterways in the 
borough, ensuring the provision, or improvement and greening of the Thames Path 
National Trail (the riverside walk) in all riverside developments, and seeking 
improvements to the tidal foreshore in line with the requirements of the Thames River 
Basin Management Plan and the Thames Estuary 2100 Plan. 
 
3.78 In this regard, the Port of London Authority (PLA) broadly supports the public 
realm improvements proposed as part of the development, including the widening of the 
Thames Path at this location to 6.2 metres, and the improved footpath leading from 
Winslow Road to the Thames Path. This supports the PLA's Vision for the Tidal Thames 
(2016) which includes the goal to join up and improve the Thames Path from source to 
sea. The PLA also supports the incorporation of CCTV covering this section of the 
Thames Path highlighted in the submitted Management Strategy. In the submitted 
preliminary ecological appraisal the PLA welcomes the statement that any new lighting 
should not illuminate the River Thames and any new lighting within the site will be 
designed accordingly to minimise light spillage with a lux level of 1 or under at the 
riverside. Given one of the aims of the development is to improve access to the Thames 
Path, the PLA considers that essential infrastructure of riparian lifesaving equipment 
(including grab chains, access ladders and life buoys) must be provided. Subject to this 
being secured by condition (Condition 34), the proposal is considered to comply with 
Policies RTC1, RTC2 and RTC3 of the Local Plan 2018. 
   
Flood Risk 
                
3.79 A Flood Risk Assessment (FRA) has been provided with the application. The 
application relates to the provision of office and other commercial space uses on the 
site, which are less vulnerable uses in terms of flood risk. Although the site is in Flood 
Zone 3, it is well protected from flooding from the River Thames by the existing flood 
defences in the form of the Thames Barrier and local river wall defences. If these were 
to be breached or overtopped, Environment Agency modelling shows that flood water 
could be expected to impact on the site. Parts of the borough are known the have 
increased potential for elevated groundwater, but this site is not in such an area. In 
terms of sewer/surface water flood risk, the site is not in a flooding hotspot although as 
a basement is planned where it is intended to include facilities such as showers and 
toilets, there could be a risk of sewer surcharge flooding. The submission provides 
details of the structural flood proofing measures for the basement, which are considered 
acceptable and would be secured through Condition 15. 
 
3.80 The FRA has also demonstrated to the satisfaction of the Environment Agency 
that the flood defences directly adjacent to the site could be raised in the future to 
provide additional flood protection. 
               
 
 

Page 97



 

Sustainable Urban Drainage Systems (SUDs): 
      
3.81   In terms of managing surface water run-off from the site, a separate Drainage 
Strategy has been provided which considers sustainable drainage measures for the 
site. The SuDS Strategy proposes soft landscaping features including the proposed 
swales and other permeable areas and an area of green roof in addition to a potential 
underground attenuation tank. The final discharge rate for surface water run-off will be 
at greenfield rate and adequate attenuation storage can be provided by the green roof 
and tank to cope with a 1 in 100 year storm event plus climate change impacts. 
  
3.82 The SuDS Strategy element of the FRA has been reviewed by council officers, 
and considered acceptable. It is proposed to secure final details, and the 
implementation of the SuDS strategy through condition (Condition 16). 
          
Air Quality: 
                
3.83   London Plan Policy 7.14 and Policy CC12 of the LP 2018 seek to reduce the 
potential adverse air quality impacts of new major developments by requiring all major 
developments to provide an air quality assessment that considers the potential impacts 
of pollution from the development on the site and on neighbouring areas and requiring 
mitigation measures to be implemented to reduce emissions where assessments show 
that developments could cause a significant worsening of local air quality or contribute 
to exceedances of the Government's air quality objectives. 
              
3.84 The Council's Environmental Quality team have considered the proposal and have 
recommended a few conditions relating to air quality, namely in relation to Air Quality 
Dust Management Plan, Low Emissions Strategy, and Mechanical Ventilation 
(Conditions 18, 19 and 20). 
           
Sustainable Design and Construction: 
         
3.85 As required, a Sustainability Statement has been submitted, as has a BREEAM 
Assessment. The BREEAM assessment shows that the sustainable design and 
construction measures planned for the new building will achieve the "Very Good" 
BREEAM rating. This is adequate to meet the requirements of Local Plan policy DM H2 
and London Plan policy 5.3 on sustainable design and construction. Measures planned 
for the site include measures to reduce energy use and CO2 emissions, reduced use of 
other resources such as water, make use of building materials with low environmental 
impacts, minimise waste and promote recycling. Condition 17 is attached to secure the 
implementation of the sustainability measures as outlined in the Sustainability 
Statement and BREEAM assessment and require submission of a post construction 
BREEAM assessment to confirm that the measures have been implemented as 
required. 
         
Carbon Reduction 
         
3.86 In terms of the submitted Energy Strategy, the London Plan Energy Hierarchy has 
been used to guide the approach to integrating energy efficiency and low/zero carbon 
measures. The new development will include the integration of energy efficiency 
measures, such as improved levels of insulation, improved air permeability measures to 
reduce heat loss and also energy efficient lighting and other building services. The 
energy assessment shows an improvement of 35% in terms of CO2 emissions 

Page 98



 

reductions compared to the minimum requirements of the Building Regulations 2013. 
The proposed sustainable energy measures therefore meet the minimum requirement 
of the London Plan target of a 35% reduction in CO2 emissions. The Energy Strategy is 
therefore satisfactory and its implementation can be conditioned (Condition 17).  
             
Contaminated Land 
               
3.88   Policy 5.21 of the London Plan and Policy CC9 of the LP 2018 states that the 
Council will support the remediation of contaminated land and that it will take measures 
to minimise the potential harm of contaminated sites and ensure that mitigation 
measures are put in place.   
                
3.89   Potentially contaminative land uses, past or present, are understood to occur at, 
or near to, this site. To ensure that no unacceptable risks are caused to humans, 
controlled waters, or the wider environment during and following the development works 
conditions would be attached covering the assessment and remediation of 
contaminated land if the application were to be approved (Conditions 22-26).  
  
                            
COMMUNITY INFRASTRUCTURE LEVY 
            
Mayoral CIL               
    
3.90   Mayoral CIL came into effect in April 2012 and is a material consideration to 
which regard must be had when determining this planning application. This 
development will be subject to a London-wide community infrastructure levy. This will 
contribute towards the funding of Crossrail, and further details are available via the GLA 
website at www.london.gov.uk. The GLA expect the council, as the collecting authority, 
to secure the levy in accordance with London Plan policy 8.3. An estimate of £ 
£538,080 plus indexation, based on the additional floorspace has been calculated. 
                
Local CIL: 
                
3.91   The Council has also set a CIL charge. The Council's Community Infrastructure 
Levy (CIL) is also a charge levied on the net increase in floorspace arising from 
development to fund infrastructure that is needed to support development in the area. 
The Council's CIL runs alongside Section 106 Agreements (S106s) which will be scaled 
back but will continue to operate. The CIL Charging Schedule was presented to Council 
and approved 20 May and has formally taken effect since the 1st September 2015. 
Office developments are exempt from the Council's CIL.  
       
Planning obligations 
       
3.92 In dealing with planning proposals, local planning authorities consider each on its 
merits and reach a decision based on whether the application accords with the relevant 
development plan, unless material considerations indicate otherwise. Where 
applications do not meet these requirements, they may be refused. However, in some 
instances, it may be possible to make acceptable development proposals which might 
otherwise be unacceptable, using planning conditions or, where this is not possible, 
through planning obligations. London Plan policy 8.2 recognises the role of planning 
obligations in mitigating the effects of development and provides guidance on the 
priorities for obligations in the context of overall scheme viability. 

Page 99



 

       
3.93 Site-specific contributions would be included in the S106 agreement and would 
include the following: 
       
- A S278 agreement for repaving the footway along the frontage of the site and a 
s38 agreement for adopting the Thames Path. 
-        Travel Plan review and monitoring fees (£3000 per review for Year 1, Year 3 and 
Year 5) 
- Cycle infrastructure contribution for cycle racks and signage for cyclists (£10,000) 
- Car club/cycle hire membership to encourage sustainable travel 
- Parking review for zone T 
-       Contribution to economic development including the following: 
       

Construction phase (£84,000) 
                          -          12 apprentices 
                          -          6 work placement (paid) 
                          -          6 unpaid work placements  
                          -          Target of 10% local labour 
 
          Operational phase  
           Local Procurement (£8,250) 
 
                         Affordable workspace 
  -       242 sqm affordable, flexible workspace and event space on the ground floor 
within the area accessed directly from Manbre Road (6.1% of the proposal) provided to 
occupiers on flexible short-term contracts for a minimum period of 20 years at a 
discount of 35% of market rent. 
 
- Commitment to meet the costs of the Council's Legal fees.   
      
3.90 The proposed development is considered acceptable subject the above s106 
obligations. 
                
   
4.0 CONCLUSION  
                
4.1 The proposed development create a well-designed scheme that would preserve 
the setting of the Conservation Areas. The design, height and massing of the 
development would be compatible with the surrounding development. The development 
has an acceptable impact on neighbouring living and working conditions. The impact of 
the development subject to conditions would not have a significant impact on the 
highway, parking, flooding or the environment. As such the proposal is considered to be 
in accordance with relevant national guidance, London Plan policies, the Local Plan, 
and Planning Guidance Supplementary Planning Document Key Principles. 
             
5.0     RECOMMENDATION: 
             
5.1     That the Committee resolve that the Strategic Director of the Economy 
Department be authorised to determine the application and grant permission upon the 
completion of a satisfactory Deed of Variation to the s106 legal agreement securing the 
heads of terms contained within this report and subject to conditions. 
 

Page 100



 

5.2 To authorise that the Strategic Director of The Economy Department in 
consultation with the Director of Law and the Chair of the Planning and Development 
Control Committee to make any minor modifications to the proposed conditions or 
heads of terms or any subsequent minor changes arising out of the detailed 
negotiations with the applicant which may necessitate the modification, variation, 
addition or deletion of the conditions and heads of terms as drafted to ensure 
consistency between the two sets of provisions. 
 
 

Page 101



 

--------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------- 
Ward:  Palace Riverside 
 

Site Address: 
Willow Bank Junction With  Putney Bridge Approach  London     
 

 

 
 

© Crown Copyright. All Rights Reserved. London Borough Hammersmith and Fulham LA100019223 (2013). 

For identification purposes only - do not scale. 
 

 
Reg. No: 
2019/00439/FR3 
 
Date Valid: 
14.02.2019 
 
Committee Date: 
22.07.2019 

Case Officer: 
Grace Purnell 
 
Conservation Area: 
Putney Bridge Conservation Area - Number 40 

 

Page 102

Agenda Item 6



 

 
Applicant: 
Lynda Dunn 
25 Bagleys Lane Fulham SW6 2QA  
 
Description: 
Use of part of the public highway for the placing of 1 market stall maximum size 2.5 x 3 
x 1.5m from Monday to Sunday from 8am to 8pm. 
Drg Nos: 65010/6/1; 65010/6/2 
 
 
Application Type: 
Full Regulation 3 - LBHF is Developer 
 
Officer Recommendation: 
 
 That the Committee resolve that the Strategic Director, The Economy, be authorised to 
determine the application and grant permission  pursuant to Regulation 3 of the Town 
and Country Planning General Regulations 1992subject to the condition(s) listed below: 
 
To authorise the Strategic Director, The Economy, after consultation with the Director of 
Law and the Chair of the Planning and Development Control Committee to make any 
minor changes to the proposed conditions which may include the variation, addition or 
deletion of the conditions, any such changes shall be within their discretion. 
 
 
 1) The placement of any stall on the application site, or the carrying on of any trading 

on any part of the application site, shall not continue beyond 24 months from the 
date of this decision notice. 

  
 So that the operation of the market stall, most particularly with regards to 

Highways impacts and noise and disturbance to neighbouring properties, may be 
monitored by the Council over the course of the permission to ensure that no 
adverse impacts are occurring, in accordance with Policies T1, T6, CC11 and 
CC13 of the Local Plan (2018). 

 
 2) The use of the premises shall not be permitted outside the hours of 08:00-20:00, 

Monday to Sunday. 
  
 To ensure that the amenity of occupiers of the development site/ surrounding 

premises is not adversely affected by noise from activities or people at the site, in 
accordance with Local Plan (2018) Policies CC11 and CC13. 

 
 3) Prior to commencement of the development, a Servicing Management Plan shall 

be submitted to and approved in writing by the Council. Details shall include times 
and frequency of loading and unloading, vehicle movements, and quiet 
loading/unloading measures. The details within the agreed Servicing Management 
Plan shall be implemented prior to the stalls being used and thereafter be 
permanently retained.  

  

Page 103



 

 To ensure that the amenity of occupiers of the development site/ surrounding 
premises is not adversely affected by noise, in accordance with Local Plan (2018) 
Policies CC11 and CC13. 

  
  
 
 4) No servicing of the stall/s shall occur from the public footway adjacent to, or part of 

the site.  
  
 To avoid vehicles using the public footway for servicing and causing an obstruction 

on the footway, in accordance with Policies T1 and T6 of the Local Plan (2018) 
and Key Principle TR25 of the Planning Guidance Supplementary Planning 
Document (2018). 

 
 5) A maximum of one stall at any one time shall be erected only in the location shown 

on approved drawing no. 65010/12/2 and no stall shall be erected in any other 
area at any time. The market stall shall be dismantled and removed when not 
trading. 

  
 To ensure full compliance with the planning application hereby approved and to 

prevent harm arising through deviations from the approved plans, in accordance 
with Policies DC1, T1 and T6 of the Local Plan (2018), and Key Principles TR22 
and TR29 of the Planning Guidance Supplementary Planning Document (SPD) 
(2018). 

 
 
 
 
Justification for Approving the Application: 
 
 
 
  1. Land use: The proposal would achieve a sustainable development by 

contributing to the vibrancy of the surrounding locality, and would not conflict in 
any way with the Council's aims for this area. Resultantly, the proposal would be 
considered consistent with Policy DC1 of the Local Plan (2018).  

  
 2. Highways matters: It is considered that the scheme would not have a significant 

further impact on the highway network or local parking conditions and is thus 
considered to be acceptable. Satisfactory provision would be made for the loading/ 
unloading and deliveries and an acceptable width of footway would remain 
unobstructed for pedestrians. The development thereby accords with Local Plan 
(2018) Policies T1 and T6 of the Local Plan (2018) as well as London Plan (2016) 
Policies 6.1, 6.3, 6.10, 6.11 and 6.13. 

  
 3. Residential Amenity: The impact of the proposed development upon 

neighbouring residential occupiers is considered acceptable. The proposal would 
not have an unacceptably harmful impact on neighbouring residential amenity in 
terms of noise disturbance or other nuisance, such as hot food smells. In this 
regard, the development would respect the principles of good neighbourliness, and 
would therefore be acceptable in accordance with Policies CC11 and CC13 of the 
Local Plan (2018). 

Page 104



 

  
 4. Appearance: The development is considered to comply with Local Plan (2018) 

Policies DC1 and DC8 which require a high standard of design in all new build 
developments and extensions and alterations to existing buildings, compatible with 
the scale and character of existing development and its setting. The stalls are not 
a permanent fixture, of a neat and tidy appearance and do not feature any large, 
obtrusive or garish signage or advertisement. The character and appearance of 
the conservation area would be preserved. 

 
 
--------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------- 
 

LOCAL GOVERNMENT ACT 2000 
LIST OF BACKGROUND PAPERS 

 
All Background Papers held by Andrew Marshall (Ext:  4841): 
 
Application form received: 11th February 2019 
Drawing Nos:   see above 
 
 
Policy documents: National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) 2019 

The London Plan 2016 
LBHF - Local Plan 2018 
LBHF – Planning Guidance Supplementary Planning Document  
2018 

 
 
Consultation Comments: 
 
Comments from: Dated:  
 
 
Neighbour Comments: 
 
Letters from: Dated: 
 
NAG     08.07.19 
 
 
1.0 BACKGROUND 
 
1.1 The application site comprises an area of public footway and cycle path, located 
adjacent to Putney Bridge. The footway forms an underpass, connecting Bishop's Park 
to Ranelagh Gardens which lies west of Putney Bridge Station (District Line). 
 
1.2 The application site lies within the Putney Bridge Conservation Area and is adjacent 
to the Grade II listed Putney Bridge. 
 
1.3 The application seeks permission for the use of part of the public highway for the 
placing of one market stall (selling flowers/coffee), operating from Monday to Sunday 
(8am - 8pm).  

Page 105



 

 
2.0 PUBLICITY AND CONSULTATION RESPONSES 
 
Neighbouring responses 
 
2.1 The application was advertised by way of site and press notices. Individual letters 
were also sent to neighbouring properties.  
 
2.2 One letter of objection has been received. 
 
- Unit would set a precedent that would change the environment for local residents and 
increase the already problematic anti-social behaviour in the area. 
 
3.0 PLANNING CONSIDERATIONS 
 
3.1 The relevant considerations in this case, to be assessed against the policies in the 
National Planning Policy Framework [NPPF] (2018), The London Plan (as amended 
March 2016) and the Hammersmith and Fulham Local Plan (2018) and the Planning 
Guidance Supplementary Planning Document [SPD] (2018) are: 
 
- The principle of the development. 
- Highways matters, most particularly servicing and deliveries. 
- Noise and disturbance to neighbouring residential properties. 
- Visual amenity and street clutter. 
 
4.0 PRINCIPLE 
 
4.1 The application site lies outside of a Town Centre, Local Centre, Neighbourhood 
Parade or a Satellite Parade. As such, there are no policies within the Local Plan (2018) 
that specifically mention new proposals for street food or market stalls, and accordingly, 
Officers recommend that no objections be raised to the principle of the development. 
The key issues to be assessed are the highways impact of the scheme, noise and 
disturbance for neighbours, and the impact of the scheme on visual amenity and the 
character and appearance of the conservation area. 
 
 
5.0 HIGHWAYS 
 
5.1 The main Highways issues in respect of the development are (a) ensuring 
satisfactory arrangements for safe and convenient loading/unloading and deliveries for 
the market stalls and (b) ensuring that there is still space on the pavement for the safe 
and convenient passage of pedestrians, including those with mobility impairments. 
 
5.2 Policy T1 of the Local Plan (2018) states that the Council will seek to ensure that 
traffic generated by new development is minimised so that it does not add to parking 
pressures on local streets. 
 
5.3 The location of the proposed market stall is on a no vehicle access pedestrian and 
cycle footpath. This means that the trader would be required to load and unload their 
equipment away from the proposed location of the stall. The Street Markets Team are in 
discussions with Highway Officers in relation to a Servicing Management Plan, which 
will detail all the information regarding where and how the stalls would be set up without 

Page 106



 

illegally parking along Ranelagh Gardens and Fulham High Street. A condition has been 
attached to ensure this plan is submitted for approval.  
 
5.4 The location of the market stall is on a part of footway with a high level of footfall, 
especially at peak times with commuters moving between Putney Bridge Station 
(District Line), Putney Bridge Approach (A219) and Bishop's Park. This means that 
more than the minimum width of 3.5m clear and unobstructed footway will need to be 
provided as per Key Principles TR25 and TR29 of the Planning Guidance SPD (2018). 
The submitted site layout plan indicates that the market stall would be located to the 
side of the pedestrian footway, leaving a distance, excluding the cycle lane, of 4m. 
Therefore, officers are satisfied there would still be enough space remaining to ensure 
the free flow of pedestrians.  
 
6.0 NOISE AND NUISANCE 
 
6.1 Policy CC11 of the Local Plan (2018) states that noise-generating development will 
not be permitted if it would be liable to materially increase the noise experienced by the 
occupants of existing noise-sensitive uses in the vicinity. Policy CC13 (Control of 
Potentially Polluting Uses) states that the Council will, where appropriate, require 
mitigation measures if a nuisance (such as smoke, smell, or noise) would be likely to 
occur. With specific reference to outdoor uses, Key Principle NN5 states that outdoor 
uses need to be assessed with regard to frequency and times of use, and the noise 
level likely to be emitted from activities. 
 
6.2 The nearest property are residential units at Swanbank Court, located south of the 
application site. Measurements demonstrate that there would be an approximate 
distance of 11m between the proposed market stall's location and these residential 
units. To the north of the site also lies a Premier Inn Hotel.  
 
6.3 Officer's acknowledge that noise from the development could be generated from 
vehicles arriving, setting up, and voices etc. The application proposes a start time of 
8am for trading, with set up commencing prior to that time. Whilst the start time could be 
early, it is not considered that the proposed market stall would generate additional noise 
beyond what has been established by the existing activities in the area and the 
considerable pedestrian and heavy vehicular traffic on Putney Bridge Approach and 
pedestrian movement on Willow Bank at that time. For these reasons, it is considered 
that no objections would be raised to the 8am start time proposed.  
 
6.4 The application form submitted specifies that the market stall would sell coffee or 
flowers. Resultantly, hot food odours would not be associated with the proposal.  
 
6.5 It is recommended that the proposal is granted a temporary permission for 24 
months, to allow both Highways and Noise and Nuisance Officers to monitor the impact 
of the developments and record any complaints received during that time. If the stalls 
were found to be operating without any detrimental issues, the applicant could then re-
apply for a longer-term permission. 
 
 
7.0 APPEARANCE/VISUAL CLUTTER 
 
7.1 The proposed market stall is considered to be modest in terms of its footprint, bulk 
and mass. In order for the market stall to comply with street trading licencing regulations 

Page 107



 

it would be designed to integrate with the surrounding urban environment without 
detracting from its character and appearance, and, given it is not a permanent feature, 
no objections are raised on the grounds of visual amenity. It is considered that the 
character and appearance of the Conservation Area would be preserved. The proposal 
is therefore considered to accord with Local Plan policies DC1, DC4 and DC8 
 
8.0 CONCLUSIONS AND RECOMMENDATIONS 
 
8.1 Officers consider that the proposed development would be acceptable in terms of its 
highways implications and noise and disturbance for neighbours, as well as appearance 
and the impact on the character and appearance of the Putney Bridge conservation 
area. 
 
8.2 It is recommended that planning permission be granted, subject to conditions. 
 
 

Page 108



 

--------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------- 
Ward:  Hammersmith Broadway 
 

Site Address: 
104 King Street  London  W6 0QW     
 

 

 
 

© Crown Copyright. All Rights Reserved. London Borough Hammersmith and Fulham LA100019223 (2013). 

For identification purposes only - do not scale. 
 

 
Reg. No: 
2019/01494/FUL 
 
Date Valid: 
15.05.2019 
 
Committee Date: 
22.07.2019 

Case Officer: 
John Sanchez 
 
Conservation Area: 
 

 

Page 109

Agenda Item 7



 

 
Applicant: 
The Thackeray Estates 
CO Town Planning Bureau The Barn 43 Oakdene Road Redhill 
RH1 6BT 
 
 
Description: 
Redevelopment of the site comprising the demolition and removal of the existing timber 
shed buildings; retention of the existing office and former recording studio buildings; and 
the development of part-2, part-3 storey buildings; refurbishment of the existing office 
building and development of a first floor extension to the recording studio; all to be used 
as offices (Use Class B1); comprising 2,876 sqm (GEA) floorspace; associated access 
works and no. 47 cycle parking spaces. 
Drg Nos: See Condition 2 below 
 
 
Application Type: 
Full Detailed Planning Application 
 
Officer Recommendation: 
 
That the Committee resolve that the Strategic Director, The Economy be authorised to 
determine the application and grant permission upon the completion of a satisfactory 
legal agreement and subject to the condition(s) listed  below   
  
To authorise the Strategic Director, The Economy, after consultation with the Director of 
Law and the Chair of the Planning and Development Control Committee to make any 
minor changes to the proposed conditions or heads of terms of the legal agreement, 
any such changes shall be within their discretion. 
 

 
 1) Time Limit 
 The development hereby permitted shall not commence later than 3 years from 

the date of this decision 
     
 Condition required to be imposed by section 91(1) (a) of the Town and Country 

Planning Act 1990 (as amended by section 51 of the Planning and Compulsory 
Purchase Act 2004). 

 
 2) Drawings 
 The development shall be carried out and completed only in accordance with the 

approved drawings numbers: 
  
 1118_SI_100_P1; 1118_GA_100_P1; 1118_GA_101_P1; 1118_GA_102_P1; 

1118_GA_103_P1; 1118_GE_100_P1; 1118_GE_101_P1; 1118_GE_102_P1; 
1118_GE_103_P1; 1118_GE_104_P1; 1118_GE_105_P1; 1118_GE_106_P2; 
1118_GS_100_P1; 1118_GS_101_P1; 1118_GS_102_P1; 1118_GS_103_P1; 
and 1118_GS_104_P1  

  
 To ensure full compliance with the planning application hereby approved and to 

prevent harm arising through deviations from the approved plans, in accordance 

Page 110



 

with Policies 7.1, 7.2, 7.3, 7.4, 7.5, 7.6, 7.7, 7.8, 7.9 and 7.21 of the London Plan 
2016 and Policies DC1, DC2, DC4, and DC8 of the Local Plan 2018. 

 
 3) Hoardings 
 No development shall commence until a scheme for temporary fencing and/or 

enclosure of the site has been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local 
Planning Authority, and the temporary fencing and/or enclosure has been erected 
in accordance with the approved details. The temporary fencing and/or enclosure 
shall thereafter be retained for the duration of the demolition and building works in 
accordance with the approved details. No part of the temporary fencing and/or 
enclosure of the site shall be used for the display of advertisement hoardings. 

  
 To ensure a satisfactory external appearance and to prevent harm to the street 

scene and public realm, in accordance with Policies 7.1 and 7.6 of the London 
Plan 2016, Policies DC1 and DC8 of the Local Plan 2018 and Key Principles of the 
Planning Guidance SPD (2018). 

 
 4) Business and Community Liaison Group   
 No development shall commence until the establishment of a Business and 

Community Liaison Group, to be maintained for the duration of the demolition and 
construction works hereby approved, having the purpose of:  

   
 a) informing nearby residents and businesses of the building programme and 

progress of demolition and construction works for the development;  
   
 b) informing nearby residents and businesses of appropriate mitigation measures 

being undertaken as part of each phase of the development;  
   
 c) informing nearby residents and businesses of considerate methods of working 

such as working hours and site traffic;  
   
 d) providing advanced notice of exceptional hours of work, if and when 

appropriate;  
   
 e) providing nearby residents and businesses with an initial contact for information 

relating to the works and procedures for receiving/responding to comments or 
complaints regarding the development with the view of resolving any concerns that 
might arise;  

   
 f) providing telephone contacts for nearby residents and businesses 24 hours daily 

throughout the works for the development; and  
   
 g) producing a leaflet prior to the commencement of the development for 

distribution to nearby residents and businesses, identifying progress of the 
development and which shall include an invitation to register an interest in the 
Liaison Group.  

   
 The terms of reference for the Business and Community Liaison Groups shall be 

submitted to the Council for approval prior to Commencement of any works on 
site. The Business and Community Liaison Groups shall meet at least once every 
quarter until completion of the development.  

   

Page 111



 

 To ensure satisfactory communication with residents, businesses, and local 
stakeholders throughout the construction of the development, in accordance with 
the Policies CC10, CC11, CC12, CC13, DC2, and T7 of the Local Plan 2018. 

 
 5) Demolition Management Plan 
 Prior to the commencement of the demolition works hereby permitted a Demolition 

Management Plan (DMP) shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the 
Local Planning Authority. The DMP shall include details location of site offices, 
ancillary buildings, plant, wheel-washing facilities, stacking bays and car parking, 
storage of any skips, oil and chemical storage, membership of the Considerate 
Contractors Scheme, delivery locations and the proposed control measures and 
monitoring for noise, vibration, lighting, restriction of hours of work and all 
associated activities audible beyond the site boundary to 0800-1800hrs Mondays 
to Fridays and 0800-1300hrs on Saturdays, advance notification to neighbours 
and other interested parties of proposed works and public display of contact 
details including accessible phone contact to persons responsible for the site 
works for the duration of the works. The details shall also include the use of on -
road Ultra Low Emission Zone compliant Vehicles e.g. Euro 6 and Euro VI; 
provisions within the site to ensure that all vehicles associated with the demolition 
works are properly washed and cleaned to prevent the passage of mud and dirt 
onto the highway. Approved details shall be implemented throughout the relevant 
project period. 

  
 To ensure that occupiers of surrounding premises are not adversely affected by 

noise, vibration, dust, lighting or other emissions from the building site in 
accordance with policies 5.18, 5.19, 5.20, 5.21, 5.22 and 7.14 of the London Plan 
2016 and Policies DC1, DC2, CC6, CC7, CC10, CC11, and CC12 of the Local 
Plan 2018. 

 
 6) Demolition Logistics Plan  
 Prior to the commencement of the demolition works hereby permitted, a 

Demolition Logistics Plan (DLP) in accordance with the Transport for London 
Guidance shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning 
Authority. The works shall cover the following minimum requirements: 

  
 - Site logistics and Operations; 
 - Demolition vehicle routing; 
 - Details of the estimated number, size and routes of demolition vehicles per 

day/week;  
 - Details of the use of Ultra Low Emission Zone (ULEZ) compliant Vehicles 

e.g. Euro 6 and Euro VI;  
 - Details of the access arrangements and delivery locations on the site;  
 - Details of any vehicle holding areas; and other matters relating to traffic 

management to be agreed as required; 
 - Efficiency and sustainability measures to be undertaken for the works; and 
  Membership of the Considerate Contractors Scheme 
  
 Approved details shall be implemented throughout the project period 
  
 To ensure that occupiers of surrounding premises are not adversely affected by 

noise, vibration, dust, lighting, or other emissions from the building site in 

Page 112



 

accordance with Policies 6.11 and 6.12 of the London Plan 2016 and T1, T6 and 
T7 of the Local Plan 2018. 

 
 7) Construction Management Plan 
 Prior to commencement of the development hereby permitted (excluding site 

clearance and demolition works), a Construction Management Plan (CMP) shall 
be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The CMP 
shall include a detailed plan showing phasing; relevant foundations, basement and 
ground floor structures, or for any other structures below ground level, including 
piling (temporary and permanent), contractors' method statements, waste 
classification and disposal procedures and locations, location of site offices, 
ancillary buildings, plant, wheel-washing facilities, stacking bays and car parking , 
details of storage and any skips, oil and chemical storage, membership of the 
Considerate Contractors Scheme, delivery locations and the proposed control 
measures and monitoring for noise, vibration, lighting, restriction of hours of work 
and all associated activities audible beyond the site boundary to 0800-1800hrs 
Mondays to Fridays and 0800-1300hrs on Saturdays, advance notification to 
neighbours and other interested parties of proposed works and public display of 
contact details including accessible phone contact to persons responsible for the 
site works for the duration of the works. The details shall include for each phase of 
works the use of on -road Ultra Low Emission Zone compliant Vehicles e.g. Euro 6 
and Euro VI; provisions within the site to ensure that all vehicles associated with 
the construction works are properly washed and cleaned to prevent the passage of 
mud and dirt onto the highway. The works shall be carried out in accordance with 
the relevant approved CMP unless otherwise agreed in writing with the Local 
Planning Authority. Approved details shall be implemented throughout the project 
period. 

  
 To ensure that occupiers of surrounding premises are not adversely affected by 

noise, vibration, dust, lighting, or other emissions from the building site in 
accordance with policies 5.18, 5.19, 5.20, 5.21 and 5.22 of the London Plan 2016, 
Policies DC1, DC12, CC6, CC7, CC10, CC11 and CC12 of the Local Plan 2018 
and Key Principles of the Planning Guidance SPD (2018). 

 
 8) Construction Logistics Plan 
 Prior to commencement of the development hereby permitted (excluding 

demolition works), a Construction Logistics Plan (CLP) ) in accordance with the 
Transport for London Guidance on Construction Logistics Plans shall be submitted 
to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. Each CLP must seek to 
minimise the impact of construction traffic on nearby roads and restrict 
construction trips to off peak hours only and shall include the following minimum 
requirements:  

  
 - Site logistics and operations;  
 - Construction vehicle routing;  
 - Details of the estimated number, size and routes of construction vehicles per 

day/week; 
 - Details of the use of Ultra Low Emission Zone (ULEZ) compliant Vehicles 

e.g. Euro 6 and Euro VI; 
 - Details of the access and egress arrangements; 
 - Delivery locations on the site;  

Page 113



 

 - Details of any vehicle holding areas; and other matters relating to traffic 
management to be agreed as required; 

 - Efficiency and sustainability measures to be undertaken for the works; and 
 - Membership of the Considerate Contractors Scheme.  
  
 The works shall be carried out in accordance with the relevant approved CLP. 

Approved details for each relevant phase, or part thereof shall be implemented 
throughout the project period. 

  
 To ensure that no unacceptable adverse effect on the amenity of surrounding 

occupiers in accordance with Policies 6.11 and 6.12 of the London Plan 2016 and 
T1, T6 and T7 of the Local Plan 2018. 

 
 9) Details of retained boundary wall with Cambridge Grove properties 
 a) No demolition works shall commence until full details of the protection 

measures for the safeguarding of the existing boundary wall along the boundary of 
the site with the rear gardens of properties fronting Cambridge Grove is submitted 
and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. 

   
 b) Following site clearance and demolition works, no development works shall 

commence until full details in plan, section and elevation (at a scale of not less 
than 1:20) of the existing wall along the boundary of the site with the rear gardens 
of properties fronting Cambridge Grove is submitted and approved in writing by the 
Local Planning Authority. The retention of the existing boundary wall shall include 
details of protecting measures during construction works, making good and 
retention at its present height. No part of the development shall be used or 
occupied prior to the completion of that part of the development in accordance with 
the approved details. 

  
 To ensure a satisfactory external appearance and prevent harm to the amenities 

of surrounding residential occupiers, in accordance with Policies DC1, DC2, DC4 
and DC8 of the Local Plan 2018. 

  
 
10) Contamination - Preliminary Risk Assessment 
 No development shall commence until a preliminary risk assessment report is 

submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. This report 
shall comprise: a desktop study which identifies all current and previous uses at 
the site and surrounding area as well as the potential contaminants associated 
with those uses; a site reconnaissance; and a conceptual model indicating 
potential pollutant linkages between sources, pathways and receptors, including 
those in the surrounding area and those planned at the site; and a qualitative risk 
assessment of any potentially unacceptable risks arising from the identified 
pollutant linkages to human health, controlled waters and the wider environment 
including ecological receptors and building materials. All works must be carried out 
in compliance with the approved details and by a competent person who conforms 
to CLR 11: Model Procedures for the Management of Land Contamination (Defra 
2004) or the current UK requirements for sampling and testing. 

    
 Potentially contaminative land uses (past or present) are understood to occur at, 

or near to, this site. This condition is required to ensure that no unacceptable risks 
are caused to humans, controlled waters or the wider environment during and 

Page 114



 

following the development works, in accordance with Policy 5.21 of the London 
Plan 2016, Policies CC9 and CC13 of the Local Plan 2018 and SPD Key 
Principles LC1 to LC7 (2018). 

  
 
11) Contamination - Site Investigation Scheme 
 No development (excluding site clearance and demolition works ) shall commence 

until a site investigation scheme is submitted to and approved in writing by the 
Local Planning Authority. This scheme shall be based upon and target the risks 
identified in the approved preliminary risk assessment and shall provide provisions 
for, where relevant, the sampling of soil, soil vapour, ground gas, surface and 
groundwater. All works must be carried out in compliance with the approved 
details and by a competent person who conforms to CLR 11: Model Procedures 
for the Management of Land Contamination (Defra 2004) or the current UK 
requirements for sampling and testing. 

   
 Potentially contaminative land uses (past or present) are understood to occur at, 

or near to, this site. This condition is required to ensure that no unacceptable risks 
are caused to humans, controlled waters or the wider environment during and 
following the development works, in accordance with Policy 5.21 of the London 
Plan 2016, Policies CC9 and CC13 of the Local Plan 2018 and SPD Key 
Principles LC1 to LC7 (2018). 

 
12) Contamination - Quantitative Risk Assessment  
 Unless the Local Planning Authority agree in writing that a set extent of 

development must commence to enable compliance with this condition, no 
development shall commence until (following a site investigation undertaken in 
compliance with the approved site investigation scheme) a quantitative risk 
assessment report is submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning 
Authority. This report shall: assess the degree and nature of any contamination 
identified on the site through the site investigation; include a revised conceptual 
site model from the preliminary risk assessment based on the information 
gathered through the site investigation to confirm the existence of any remaining 
pollutant linkages and determine the risks posed by any contamination to human 
health, controlled waters and the wider environment. All works must be carried out 
in compliance with the approved details and by a competent person who conforms 
to CLR 11: Model Procedures for the Management of Land Contamination (Defra 
2004) or the current UK requirements for sampling and testing. 

    
 Potentially contaminative land uses (past or present) are understood to occur at, 

or near to, this site. This condition is required to ensure that no unacceptable risks 
are caused to humans, controlled waters or the wider environment during and 
following the development works, in accordance with Policy 5.21 of the London 
Plan 2016, Policies CC9 and CC13 of the Local Plan 2018 and SPD Key 
Principles LC1 to LC7 (2018). 

 
13) Contamination - Remediation Method Statement 
 Unless the Local Planning Authority agree in writing that a set extent of 

development must commence to enable compliance with this condition, no 
development shall commence until a remediation method statement, if required, is 
submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. This 
statement shall detail any required remediation works and shall be designed to 

Page 115



 

mitigate any remaining risks identified in the approved quantitative risk 
assessment. All works must be carried out in compliance with the approved details 
and by a competent person who conforms to CLR 11: Model Procedures for the 
Management of Land Contamination (Defra 2004) or the current UK requirements 
for sampling and testing. 

    
 Potentially contaminative land uses (past or present) are understood to occur at, 

or near to, this site. This condition is required to ensure that no unacceptable risks 
are caused to humans, controlled waters or the wider environment during and 
following the development works, in accordance with Policy 5.21 of the London 
Plan 2016, Policies CC9 and CC13 of the Local Plan 2018 and SPD Key 
Principles LC1 to LC7 (2018). 

 
14) Contamination - Verification Report 
 Unless the Local Planning Authority agree in writing that a set extent of 

development must commence to enable compliance with this condition, no 
development shall commence until the approved remediation method statement 
has been carried out in full if required, and a verification report confirming these 
works has been submitted to, and approved in writing, by the Local Planning 
Authority. This report shall include: details of the remediation works carried out; 
results of any verification sampling, testing or monitoring including the analysis of 
any imported soil; all appropriate waste Duty of Care documentation and the 
validation of gas membrane placement. If, during development, contamination not 
previously identified is found to be present at the site, the Local Planning Authority 
is to be informed immediately and no further development (unless otherwise 
agreed in writing by the Local Planning Authority) shall be carried out until a report 
indicating the nature of the contamination and how it is to be dealt with is 
submitted to, and agreed in writing by, the Local Planning Authority. Any required 
remediation shall be detailed in an amendment to the remediation method 
statement and verification of these works included in the verification report. All 
works must be carried out in compliance with the approved details and by a 
competent person who conforms to CLR 11: Model Procedures for the 
Management of Land Contamination (Defra 2004) or the current UK requirements 
for sampling and testing. 

   
 Potentially contaminative land uses (past or present) are understood to occur at, 

or near to, this site. This condition is required to ensure that no unacceptable risks 
are caused to humans, controlled waters or the wider environment during and 
following the development works, in accordance with Policy 5.21 of the London 
Plan 2016, Policies CC9 and CC13 of the Local Plan 2018 and SPD Key 
Principles LC1 to LC7 (2018). 

 
15) Contamination - Long-term monitoring methodology 
 Unless the Local Planning Authority agree in writing that a set extent of 

development must commence to enable compliance with this condition, no 
development shall commence until an onward long-term monitoring methodology 
report, is submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority 
where further monitoring is required past the completion of development works to 
verify the success of the remediation undertaken. If required, a verification report 
of these monitoring works shall then be submitted to and approved in writing by 
the Local Planning Authority when it may be demonstrated that no residual 
adverse risks exist. All works must be carried out in compliance with the approved 

Page 116



 

details and by a competent person who conforms to CLR 11: Model Procedures 
for the Management of Land Contamination (Defra 2004) or the current UK 
requirements for sampling and testing. 

    
 Potentially contaminative land uses (past or present) are understood to occur at, 

or near to, this site. This condition is required to ensure that no unacceptable risks 
are caused to humans, controlled waters or the wider environment during and 
following the development works, in accordance with Policy 5.21 of the London 
Plan 2016, Policies CC9 and CC13 of the Local Plan 2018 and SPD Key 
Principles LC1 to LC7 (2018). 

 
16) Archaeology (GLAAS) 
 Prior to commencement of development hereby permitted (excluding site 

clearance and demolition, works), a Written Scheme of Investigation (WSI) shall 
be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. For land 
that is included within the WSI, no development shall take place other than in 
accordance with the agreed WSI, which shall include the statement of significance 
and research objectives, and 

  
 a) The programme and methodology of site investigation and recording and the 

nomination of a competent person(s) or organisation to undertake the agreed 
works. 

 b) The programme for post-investigation assessment and subsequent analysis, 
publication & dissemination, and deposition of resulting material. This part of the 
condition shall not be discharged until these elements have been fulfilled in 
accordance with the programme set out in the WSI. 

  
 Heritage assets of archaeological interest may survive on the site. The local 

planning authority wishes to secure the provision of appropriate archaeological 
investigation, including the publication of results, in accordance with Section 12 of 
the NPPF, Policy 7.8 of the London Plan 2016, Policies DC1, DC8 of the Local 
Plan 2018 and key principles within the Planning Guidance Supplementary 
Planning Document (2018). 

 
17) Piling 
 No impact piling shall take place until a piling method statement (detailing the type 

of piling to be undertaken and the methodology by which such piling will be carried 
out within the development (where relevant), including measures to prevent and 
minimise the potential for damage to subsurface water or sewerage infrastructure, 
and the programme for the works) has been submitted to and approved in writing 
by the Local Planning Authority in consultation with the relevant water or sewerage 
undertaker. Any piling must be undertaken in accordance with the terms of the 
approved piling method statement.   

   
 To prevent any potential to impact on local underground water and sewerage utility 

infrastructure, in accordance with Policies 5.14 and 5.15 of the London Plan 2016, 
Policies CC3 CC5 of the Local Plan 2018 and Key Principles of the Planning 
Guidance SPD 2018. The applicant is advised to contact Thames Water 
Developer Services on 0845 850 2777 to discuss the details of the piling method 
statement. 

 
 

Page 117



 

18) Air Quality Dust Management Plan (AQDMP) 
 Prior to the commencement of the demolition and construction phases of the 

development hereby permitted, an Air Quality Dust Management Plan (AQDMP) in 
order to mitigate air pollution shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the 
Local Planning Authority. The AQDMP must include an Air Quality Dust Risk 
Assessment (AQDRA) that considers sensitive receptors off-site of the 
development and is undertaken in compliance with the methodology contained 
within Chapter 4 of the Mayor of London 'The Control of Dust and Emissions 
during Construction and Demolition', SPG, July 2014 and the identified measures 
recommended for inclusion into the AQDMP. The AQDMP submitted must comply 
with the Mayor's SPG and should include: Inventory and Timetable of dust 
generating activities during demolition and construction; Site Specific Dust 
mitigation and Emission control measures in the table format as contained within 
Appendix 7 of Mayor's SPG including for on-road and off-road construction traffic; 
Detailed list of Non-Road Mobile Machinery (NRMM) used on the site. The NRMM 
should meet as minimum the Stage IV emission criteria of Directive 97/68/EC and 
its subsequent amendments. This will apply to both variable and constant speed 
engines for both NOx and PM. An inventory of all NRMM for the demolition phase 
shall be registered on the NRMM register https://nrmm.london/user-nrmm/register 
prior to the commencement of demolition works; use of on-road Ultra Low 
Emission Zone (ULEZ) compliant Vehicles in accordance with the emission 
hierarchy (1) Electric (2) Hybrid (Electric-Petrol) (3) Petrol, (4) Hybrid (Electric-
Diesel) (5) Diesel (Euro 6 and Euro VI); Details of MCERTS compliant Air quality 
monitoring of PM10 where appropriate and used to prevent levels exceeding 
predetermined Particulate (PM10) threshold trigger levels. Developers must 
ensure that on-site contractors follow best practicable means to minimise dust and 
emissions at all times. Approved details shall be fully implemented and 
permanently retained and maintained during the demolition and construction 
phases of the development. 

  
 To comply with the requirements of the NPPF, Policies 7.14a-c of the London Plan 

2016 and Policy CC10 of the Local Plan 2018. 
 
19) Ventilation Strategy 
 Prior to commencement of above ground works in the development hereby 

permitted, (excluding site clearance and demolition works) a Ventilation Strategy 
report for Buildings A & D (B1 use class) in order to mitigate air pollution shall be 
submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The 
Ventilation Strategy report should include the following information: 

  
 a) Details and locations of the fresh air intake locations at rear roof level on the 

northern elevations 
  
 b) Details of non-openable windows on southern and eastern elevations 
  
 c) Details and locations of air extract location to demonstrate that they are 

located a minimum of 2 metres away from the fresh air intakes. Chimney/boiler 
flues and ventilation extracts shall be positioned a suitable distance away from 
ventilation intakes, openable windows, balconies, roof gardens, terraces, and 
receptors 

  

Page 118



 

 The whole system shall be designed to prevent summer overheating and minimise 
energy usage. The maintenance and cleaning of the systems shall be undertaken 
regularly in accordance with manufacturer specifications and shall be the 
responsibility of the primary owner of the property. A post installation certificate of 
the approved ventilation strategy shall be submitted to the Local Planning 
Authority prior to the occupation/use of the development. Approved details shall be 
fully implemented prior to the occupation/use of the development and thereafter 
permanently retained and maintained. 

  
 To comply with the requirements of the NPPF, Policies 7.14a-c of the London Plan 

2016 and Policy CC10 of the Local Plan 2018. 
 
20) Gas Boilers Compliance with Emission Standards - Air Quality 
 Prior to occupation of the development hereby permitted, details of the Ultra-Low 

NOx Gas fired boilers to mitigate air pollution shall be submitted to and agreed in 
writing by the Local Planning Authority. The Ultra-Low NOx Gas fired boilers to be 
provided for space heating and hot water shall have dry NOx emissions not 
exceeding 40 mg/kWh (at 0% O2). Where any installations do not meet this 
emissions standard, it should not be operated without the fitting of suitable NOx 
abatement equipment or technology as determined by a specialist to ensure 
comparable emissions. Following installation, emissions certificates will need to be 
provided to the council to verify boiler emissions. The approved details shall be 
fully implemented prior to the occupation/use of the development and thereafter 
permanently retained and maintained. 

  
 To comply with the requirements of the NPPF, Policies 7.14a-c of the London Plan 

2016 and Policy CC10 of the Local Plan 2018. 
 
21) Low Emission Strategy 
 Prior to occupation of the development hereby permitted a Low Emission Strategy 

for the operational phase of the development in order to mitigate the impact of air 
pollution shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning 
Authority. The Low Emission Strategy must detail the remedial action and 
mitigation measures that will be implemented to protect receptors (e.g. design 
solutions). This Strategy must make a commitment to implement the mitigation 
measures that are required to reduce the exposure of poor air quality and to help 
mitigate the development's air pollution impacts. Approved details shall be fully 
implemented prior to the occupation/use of the development and thereafter 
permanently retained and maintained. 

  
 To comply with the requirements of the NPPF, Policies 7.14a-c of the London Plan 

2016, and Policy CC10 of the Local Plan 2018. 
  
 
22) Materials 
 Prior to commencement of above ground works in the development hereby 

permitted, (excluding site clearance and demolition works), details of particulars 
and samples (where appropriate) of all the materials to be used in all external 
faces of the buildings; including details of the colour, composition and texture of 
the metal work; details of all surface windows; roof top plant and general plant 
screening; glazing styles including rooflights and all external hard surfaces 
including paving, and fencing shall be submitted and approved in writing by the 

Page 119



 

Local Planning Authority. The development shall be carried out in accordance with 
the details as approved and thereafter permanently retained in this form. 

    
 To ensure a satisfactory external appearance and to prevent harm to the street 

scene and public realm, in accordance with Policies 7.1 and 7.6 of the London 
Plan 2016 and Policies DC1, DC2 and DC8 of the Local Plan 2018. 

 
23) 1:20 Details - Buildings 
 Prior to commencement of above ground works in the development hereby 

permitted, (excluding site clearance and demolition works), detailed drawings of 
each building at a scale not less than 1:20 (in plan, section, and elevation), of 
typical bays of each elevation shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the 
Local Planning Authority. The development shall be carried out in accordance with 
the details as approved and thereafter permanently retained in this form. 

    
 To ensure a satisfactory external appearance and to prevent harm to the street 

scene and public realm, in accordance with Policies 7.1 and 7.6 of the London 
Plan 2016 and Policies DC1, DC2 and DC8 of the Local Plan 2018. 

  
 
24) 1:20 Details - Boundaries 
 The development hereby permitted shall not commence prior to the submission 

and approval in writing by the Council of details and samples of all materials to be 
used on the external faces of the new buildings and all surface treatments, 
including 1:20 plans (section, plan and elevation) of boundary walls, railings, gates 
and fences and no part of the development shall be used or occupied prior to the 

 completion of the development in accordance with the approved details.  
  
 To ensure a satisfactory external appearance and to prevent harm to the street 

scene and public realm, in accordance with Policies 7.1 and 7.6 of the London 
Plan 2016 and Policies DC1, DC2 and DC8 of the Local Plan 2018. 

 
25) Secure by Design 
 The development hereby permitted shall not commence (excluding site clearance 

and demolition works) until a statement of how 'Secure by Design' requirements 
are to be adequately achieved has been submitted to and approved in writing by 
the Local Planning Authority. Such details shall include, but not be limited to: site 
wide public realm CCTV and feasibility study relating to linking CCTV with the 
Council's borough wide CCTV system, access controls, basement security 
measures and means to secure the site throughout construction in accordance 
with BS8300:2009. No part of the development shall be used or occupied until 
these measures have been implemented in accordance with the approved details, 
and the measures shall thereafter be permanently retained in this form. 

  
 To ensure that the development incorporates suitable design measures to 

minimise opportunities for, and the perception of crime and provide a safe and 
secure environment, in accordance with Policy 7.3 of the London Plan 2016, and 
Policies DC1 and DC8 of the Local Plan 2018. 

 
26) Soft and Hard Landscaping 
 Prior to the commencement of the development (excluding site clearance and 

demolition works) details of the proposed soft and hard landscaping shall be 

Page 120



 

submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The details 
shall include: planting schedules and details of the species, height and maturity, 
including sections through the planting areas; containers and shrub beds; details 
relating to the access of each building, including pedestrian surfaces, materials, 
kerb details, external steps and seating that ensure a safe and convenient 
environment for blind and partially sighted people. The landscaping works shall be 
carried out in accordance with the approved details and shall thereafter be 
permanently retained in this form. 

   
 To ensure a satisfactory external appearance of the development and relationship 

with its surroundings, and the needs of the visually impaired are catered for in 
accordance with the Equality Act 2010, Policies 3.1, 7.1 and 7.6 of the London 
Plan 2016, and Policies DC1, DC8, OS2 and OS5 of the Local Plan 2018. 

  
 
27) Green Roofs  
 Prior to the commencement of any above ground development (excluding site 

clearance and demolition works) details shall be submitted and approved in writing 
by the Local Planning Authority of the green roof, including planting and 
maintenance plan. The development shall not be occupied until the scheme has 
been carried out in accordance with the approved details and shall thereafter be 
permanently retained in this form. 

  
 To ensure the provision of green roofs in the interests of sustainable urban 

drainage and habitat provision, in accordance with Policies 5.11, 5.13 and 7.19 of 
the London Plan 2016 and OS1, OS4, OS5 and CC4 of the Local Plan 2018. 

  
 
28) Replacement Soft Landscaping 
 Any shrubs or planting including works associated with green roofs or wall 

boundary planting pursuant to the approved soft landscape details being removed, 
or seriously damaged, dying or diseased within five years of the date of planting 
shall be replaced in the next planting season with a similar size and species to that 
originally required to be planted.  

   
 To ensure a satisfactory external appearance in terms of the provision of tree and 

shrub planting, in accordance with Policies 7.1 and 7.6 of the London Plan 2016, 
and Policies DC1, DC8, OS2 and OS5 of the Local Plan 2018. 

  
 
29) Protection of Existing Trees 
 The development hereby permitted shall not commence until all the trees in the 

proximity of the development that are to be retained, have been protected from 
damage in accordance with BS5837:2012 during both the demolition and 
construction works.  

    
 To ensure that trees on site are retained and to prevent harm during the course of 

construction, in accordance with accordance with Policies DC1, DC8, OS2 and 
OS5 of the Local Plan 2018. 

  
 
 

Page 121



 

30) Lighting 
 Prior to the installation of any external artificial lighting, details of any proposed 

external artificial lighting, including security lights shall be submitted to and 
approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. Such details shall include the 
number, exact location, height, design and appearance of the lights, together with 
data concerning the levels of illumination and light spillage and the specific 
measures, having regard to the recommendations of the Institution of Lighting 
Engineers in the `Guidance Notes for The Reduction of Light Pollution 2011 (or 
relevant guidance) to ensure that any lighting proposed does not harm the existing 
amenities of the occupiers of neighbouring properties. No part of the development 
shall be used or occupied until any external lighting provided has been installed in 
accordance with the approved details and shall thereafter be permanently retained 
in this form. 

    
 To ensure that the amenity of occupiers of the surrounding is not adversely 

affected by lighting, and to ensure a satisfactory external appearance and to 
prevent harm to the street scene and public realm, in accordance with Policies 
5.11, 7.1, 7.3, 7.6 and 7.13 of the London Plan 2016, and Policies DC1, DC8, and 
CC12 of the Local Plan 2018. 

  
 
31) Lights off 
 Prior to first occupation of the development hereby permitted, a scheme for the 

control and operation of the proposed lighting within the office buildings, during 
periods of limited or non-occupation, shall be submitted to and approved in writing 
by the Local Planning Authority. Details shall be implemented prior to the 
occupation of the relevant Phase and operated only in accordance with the 
approved details. 

  
 To ensure that the building does not cause excessive light pollution and to 

conserve energy when they are not occupied, in accordance with Policy CC12 of 
the Local Plan 2018. 

  
 
32) Cycle Parking 
 Prior to the first occupation of the development, the provision of the cycle storage 

arrangements, including the 47 cycle parking spaces, as indicated on the 
approved drawings and set out within the submitted Transport Statement, to serve 
the development shall be fully provided and made available to visitors and staff 
and such storage facilities shall be permanently retained thereafter in accordance 
with the approved details. 

  
 To ensure the suitable provision of cycle parking within the Development to meet 

the needs of future site occupiers and users and in the interest of the appearance 
of the development, in accordance with Policies 6.9 and 6.13 of the London Plan 
2016 and Policy T3 of the Local Plan 2018.  

 
33) Refuse 
 No part of the development shall be used or occupied prior to the provision of the 

refuse storage enclosures, as indicated on the approved drawings and shall 
include provision for the storage of recyclable materials. All the refuse/recycling 
generated by the development hereby approved shall be stored within the 

Page 122



 

approved areas and shall be permanently retained thereafter in accordance with 
the approved details. 

    
 To protect the environment and to ensure that satisfactory provision is made for 

refuse/recycling storage and collection, in accordance with policy 5.17 of the 
London Plan 2016 and Policies CC6 and CC7 of the Local Plan 2018 and SPD 
Key Principle WM1 (2018). 

  
 
34) Waste Management Strategy 
 No part of the development shall be used or occupied until a Waste Management 

Strategy has been submitted and approved in writing by the Local Planning 
Authority. Details shall include full details of refuse storage (and provision for the 
storage of recyclable materials) facilities, show how recycling will be maximised 
and be incorporated into the facilities of the development. All refuse/recycling 
generated by the development hereby approved shall be stored within the agreed 
areas. These areas shall be permanently retained for this use. Refuse and 
recyclables shall be stored only within the curtilage of the application site except 
on collection days. The approved details shall be implemented prior to the 
occupation of the development and shall thereafter be permanently retained. 

  
 To protect the environment and to ensure that satisfactory provision is made for 

refuse/recycling storage and collection, in accordance with policy 5.17 of the 
London Plan 2016 and Policies CC6 and CC7 of the Local Plan 2018 and SPD 
Key Principles WM1 to WM11 (2018).  

  
 
35) Delivery and Servicing Plan 
 No part of the development shall be used or occupied until a Delivery and 

Servicing Plan is submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning 
Authority. Details shall include freight consolidation, vehicle tracking, management 
of deliveries (times and frequency of deliveries and collections), use of Ultra Low 
Emission Zone (ULEZ) compliant vehicles, silent reversing methods, and quiet 
loading/unloading measures. The measures/scheme shall be implemented in 
accordance with the approved details prior to occupation of the development 
hereby permitted, and thereafter be permanently retained in this form. 

  
 To ensure satisfactory provision for delivery and servicing and to prevent noise 

and disturbance to neighbouring residents, in accordance with Policy 6.11 of the 
London Plan and Policies T2, CC11 and CC13 of the Local Plan 2018 and SPD 
Key Principle TR28 (2018). 

 
36) Level Threshold 
 The ground floor entrance doors to the buildings and integral lift/stair cores shall 

not be less than 1-metre-wide and the threshold shall be at the same level as the 
adjoining ground level fronting the entrances to ensure level access. 

  
 To ensure the development provides ease of access for all users, in accordance 

with Policy 3.1 and 7.2 of the London Plan 2016 and Policy DC1 and HO6 of the 
Local Plan 2018.   

  
 

Page 123



 

37) Lift 
 Prior to first occupation of Building A,, details of fire rated lift in the buildings shall 

be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. Details 
shall include measures to ensure that no wheelchair occupiers are trapped if the 
lift breaks down. The fire rated lift shall be installed as approved and maintained in 
full working order for the lifetime of the development.  

   
 To ensure that the development provides for the changing circumstances of 

occupiers and responds to the needs of people with disabilities, in accordance with 
policies 3.8 and 7.2 of the London Plan 2016, and Policy DC1 and HO6 of the 
Local Plan 2018. 

  
 
38) External noise from machinery, extract/ventilation ducting, mechanical gates, etc.   
 Prior to commencement of the development (excluding site clearance and 

demolition works), details shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the 
Local Planning Authority, of the external sound level emitted from plant/ 
machinery/ equipment and mitigation measures as appropriate. The measures 
shall ensure that the external sound level emitted from plant, machinery/ 
equipment will be lower than the lowest existing background sound level by at 
least 10dBA in order to prevent any adverse impact. The assessment shall be 
made in accordance with BS4142:2014 at the nearest and/or most affected noise 
sensitive premises, with all machinery operating together at maximum capacity. A 
post installation noise assessment for the development shall be carried out where 
required to confirm compliance with the sound criteria and additional steps to 
mitigate noise shall be taken, as necessary.  Approved details shall be 
implemented prior to occupation of the development and thereafter be 
permanently retained.  

   
 To ensure that the amenity of occupiers of the development site/ surrounding 

premises is not adversely affected by noise from plant/mechanical installations/ 
equipment, in accordance with Policies CC11 and CC13 of the Local Plan 2018.  

  
 
39) Anti- vibration mounts and silencing of machinery etc.    
 Prior to first operational use of the development hereby approved, machinery, 

plant or equipment, extract/ ventilation system and ducting forming part of the 
development shall be mounted with proprietary anti-vibration isolators and fan 
motors shall be vibration isolated from the casing and adequately silenced and 
maintained as such.   

   
 To ensure that the amenity of occupiers of the development site and surrounding 

premises is not adversely affected by vibration, in accordance with Policies CC11 
and CC13 of the Local Plan 2018. 

  
 
40) No music / Amplified sound  
 Music or amplified sound emitted from the commercial element of the development 

within a Development Plot hereby permitted shall not exceed the criteria of 
BS8233:2014 at neighbouring noise sensitive/ habitable rooms and private 
external amenity spaces. 

  

Page 124



 

 To ensure that the amenity of occupiers of the surrounding premises is not 
adversely affected by noise, in accordance with Policies CC11 and CC13 of the 
Local Plan 2018. 

  
 
41) Flood Risk Assessment 
 The Flood Risk Assessment shall be implemented in accordance with the 

approved details, and thereafter all approved measures shall be retained and 
maintained in accordance with the approved details and shall thereafter be 
permanently retained in this form. 

  
 To reduce the impact of flooding to the proposed development and future 

occupants, in accordance with Policies 5.11, 5.13, 5.14 and 5.15 London Plan 
2016, Policies CC3 and CC5 of the Local Plan 2018 and Key Principles of the 
Planning Guidance SPD (2018). 

  
 
42) Sustainable Drainage Strategy 
 The development shall be implemented in line with the Flood Risk Assessment 

and Drainage Strategy - April 2019 and proforma. All Sustainable Drainage 
Strategy (SuDS) measures shall be retained and maintained in accordance with 
the approved plan and shall thereafter be permanently retained in this form. 

   
 To prevent any increased risk of flooding and to ensure the satisfactory storage 

of/disposal of surface water from the site in accordance with Policy 5.13 of The 
London Plan 2016, and Policy CC3 of the Local Plan 2018. 

  
  
 
43) Post Construction BREEAM Assessment 
 Within 6 months of occupation of any use or occupation of the development, a 

BREEAM (2011) certificate confirming that the buildings achieve an `Excellent' 
BREEAM rating shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local 
Planning Authority. 

    
 In the interests of energy conservation, reduction of CO2 emissions and wider 

sustainability, in accordance with Policies 5.1, 5.2, 5.3, 5.6 and 5.7 of the London 
Plan 2016 and Policies CC1, CC2 of the Local Plan 2018. 

 
44) Energy Strategy 
 No part of the development shall be used or occupied until the carbon reduction 

measures and all other details outlined within the Planning Stage Energy 
Statement - May 2019 have been implemented, and the development shall 
thereafter be permanently retained in this form.   

    
 In the interests of energy conservation and reduction of CO2 emissions, in 

accordance with Policies 5.1, 5.2, 5.3, 5.6 and 5.7 of the London Plan 2016 and 
Policy CC1 of the Local Plan 2018. 

 
45) Photovoltaic (PV's) system 
 Prior to first operational use of the development hereby approved, full details of the 

proposed photovoltaic (PV's) system on the roofs of building shall be submitted to 

Page 125



 

and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority at a scale no less than 
1:20 in plan, section and elevation. Such details shall be implemented prior to 
occupation or use of the building and shall be retained thereafter. 

  
 To ensure that the development is consistent with the Mayor's sustainable design 

objectives, to ensure a satisfactory external appearance and to prevent harm to 
the street scene and public realm, in accordance with policies 5.3 and 5.7 and 7.1 
and 7.6 of the London Plan 2016, Policies  DC1, DC2, DC3 and DC8 of the Local 
Plan 2018 and Key Principles of the Planning Guidance SPD (2018). 

 
46) Roof Structures  
 No plant, water tanks, water tank enclosures or other structures, that are not 

shown on the approved plans, shall be erected upon the roofs of the buildings 
hereby permitted. 

  
 To ensure a satisfactory external appearance and to prevent harm to the street 

scene and public realm, in accordance with Policies 7.1 and 7.6 of the London 
Plan 2016 and Policies DC1, DC2 and DC8 of the Local Plan 2018. 

 
47) Terraces 
 No part of the flat roof areas provided by the development hereby approved shall 

be used as a terrace or other accessible amenity space. No walls, fences, railings 
or other means of enclosure shall be erected around the roofs, and no alterations 
shall be carried out to the approved building to form access onto these roofs. 

  
 To ensure a satisfactory external appearance and so that the use of the buildings 

does not harm the amenities of the existing neighbouring residential properties as 
a result of overlooking, loss of privacy and noise and disturbance, in accordance 
with Policies DC1, DC2, DC4, DC8 and HO11 of the Local Plan 2018. 

 
48) Changes to the External Appearance of the New Buildings 
 No alterations shall be carried out to the external appearance of the buildings, 

including the installation of air-conditioning units, ventilation fans or extraction 
equipment not shown on the approved drawings. 

          
 To ensure a satisfactory external appearance and to prevent harm to the street 

scene and public realm, in accordance with Policies 7.1 and 7.6 of the London 
Plan 2016 and Policies DC1, DC2 and DC8 of the Local Plan 2018. 

 
49) Changes to elevations of the New Buildings 
 Other than as shown on the plans hereby approved, or in details required by 

condition, no plumbing, extract flues or pipes, other than rainwater pipes, may be 
fixed on the elevations of the building hereby permitted. 

  
 To ensure a satisfactory external appearance, in accordance with policies 

DC1,DC2, DC4 and DC8 of the Local Plan 2018. 
 
50) Obscure Glass - Building A 
 The development shall not be occupied until the no.5 second floor dormer 

windows to Building A, as shown on approved drawing 1118-GA-102-P1 are 
glazed only with obscure or opaque glass. The windows shall be permanently 

Page 126



 

retained and maintained as obscure/opaque glazing only for the lifetime of the 
building. 

  
 To prevent direct overlooking between the development and the adjacent 

residential occupiers, in accordance with policies DC1 and DC2 of the Local Plan 
(2018) and SPD Key Principles of the Planning Guidance Supplementary Planning 
Document (2018). 

 
51) Permitted Development Rights - Telecommunications 
 Notwithstanding the provisions of the Town and Country Planning (General 

Permitted Development) (England) Order 2015 (or any Order revoking or re-
enacting that principal Order with or without modification), no aerials, antennae, 
satellite dishes or related telecommunications equipment shall be erected on any 
part of the development hereby permitted, without planning permission first being 
obtained. 

   
 To ensure that the visual impact of telecommunication equipment upon the 

surrounding area can be considered, in accordance with in accordance with 
Policies 7.6 and 7.8 of the London Plan 2016, and Policies DC1 and DC8 of the 
Local Plan 2018.  

 
52) No Advertisements 
 No advertisements shall be displayed on or within any elevation of the buildings or 

courtyard of the development hereby approved without details of the 
advertisements having first been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local 
Planning Authority. 

  
 In order that any advertisements displayed on the building are assessed in the 

context of an overall strategy, so as to ensure a satisfactory external appearance 
and to prevent harm to the street scene and public realm, in accordance with 
Policies 7.1 and 7.6 of the London Plan and Policies DC1, DC2 and DC8 of the 
Local Plan 2018. 

 
 
 
 
Justification for Approving the Application: 
 
 
 
 1) Land Use: The proposal would provide small business office accommodation 

within the town centre and provide local employment opportunities. The 
development would generate an estimated 190 full time jobs once the 
development is complete and operational. The development would provide 
modern and upgraded office  floorspace, and job opportunities for residents and 
companies. The employment and training initiatives secured through the S106 
agreement would bring significant benefits to the local area while a local 
procurement intuitive will be entered into by way of the legal agreement to provide 
support for businesses. The proposal is therefore supported in land use terms and 
is considered to be in accordance with the NPPF, Policies 2.1, 3.1, 4.1, 4.2, 4.5 
and 4.6 and 4.12 of the London Plan 2016 and Policies HRA, E1, E2, E3, and E4 
of the Local Plan 2018 and Key Principles of the Planning Guidance SPD 2018. 

Page 127



 

  
 Design and Conservation: Officers consider that in design terms the proposal is of 

high quality which would make a positive contribution to the urban environment 
and would be in keeping with the character of the surrounding area. Furthermore, 
the proposal would not have any harm the Bradmore Conservation Area or other 
surrounding conservation areas. The proposal is in line with national guidance in 
the NPPF, London Plan 2016 Policies 7.1, 7.2, 7.3 7.4, 7.5, 7.6 and 7.8 and 
Policies H04, DC1, DC2, DC4 and DC8 of the Local Plan 2018 and Key Principles 
of the Planning Guidance SPD 2018. 

  
 Transport: The accessibility level of the site is very good and is well served by 

public transport. The development would be car free and would have no adverse 
impact on traffic generation or congestion of the road network. Conditions would 
secure satisfactory provision of cycle and refuse storage, construction and 
demolition logistics and management and Travel Plan. Contribution towards the 
monitoring of the Travel Plan would be secured by legal agreement. Adequate 
provision for storage and collection of refuse and recyclables would be provided. 
The proposed development therefore accords with Policies 6.1, 6.3, 6.9, 6.10, 
6.11, 6.13, of the London Plan 2016, Policy T1, CC6, CC7, T2, T3, T4 and T5 of 
the Local Plan 2018 and Key Principles of the Planning Guidance SPD 2018. 

  
 Impact on Neighbouring Properties: The impact of the proposed development 

upon adjoining occupiers is considered acceptable with no significant worsening of 
noise/disturbance and overlooking, no unacceptable loss of sunlight or daylight or 
outlook to cause undue detriment to the amenities of neighbours. In this regard, 
the development would respect the principles of good neighbourliness. The 
proposed development therefore accords with policies 3.5, 3.6, 3.8, 7.3, 7.6, 7.7, 
7.14 and 7.15 of the London Plan 2016; Policies DC1, DC2, DC4, DC8, CC10, 
CC11, CC12, CC13 and OS5 of the Local Plan 2018 and Key Principles of the 
Planning Guidance SPD 2018. 

  
 Safety and Access: A condition would ensure the development would provide a 

safe and secure environment for all users. Conditions would ensure the proposal 
would provide ease of access for all persons, including disabled people persons. 
Satisfactory provision is therefore made for users with mobility needs, in 
accordance with Policy 7.2 of the London Plan 2016, Policy DC2 of the Local Plan 
2018 and Key Principles of the Planning Guidance SPD 2018. 

  
 Sustainability and Energy: The proposed development has been designed to meet 

the highest standards of sustainable design and construction. The application 
proposes a number of measures to reduce CO2 emissions to exceed London Plan 
targets, a revised Energy Strategy is secured by condition to ensure the highest 
levels of savings. The proposal would achieve an 'excellent' BREEAM rating and 
delivering this is secured by condition. The proposal would incorporate green roofs 
and the SuDs strategy provided is considered to be adequate. The proposal would 
thereby seek to reduce pollution and waste and minimise its environmental impact. 
The proposed development therefore accords with Policies 5.1, 5.2, 5.3, 5.6, 5.7, 
5.8, 5.9, 5.11, 5.12, 5.13, 5.14, 5.15 and 7.19 of the London Plan 2016, Policies 
DC1, DC2, DC8, CC2, CC1, CC3, CC10, FRA, SFRRA1 and OS5 of the Local 
Plan 2018 and Key Principles of the Planning Guidance SPD 2018.  

  

Page 128



 

 Flood Risk: Flood Risk: The site is located in Flood Zone 3 (low risk). A Flood Risk 
Assessment (FRA) has been submitted which advises standard construction 
practices in order to ensure the risk of flooding at the site remains low, however 
further assessment is required that is considered acceptable to be submitted and 
approved by condition. Sustainable drainage systems (SUDS) would be integrated 
into the development to cut surface water flows into the communal sewer system. 
The development would therefore be acceptable in accordance with the Policy 
5.21 of the London Plan 2016, Policy CC2, CC9 and CC13 of the Local Plan 2018 
and Key Principles of the Planning Guidance SPD 2018. 

  
 Land Contamination: Conditions will ensure that the site would be remediated to 

an appropriate level for the sensitive residential and open space uses. The 
proposed development therefore accords with Policy 5.21 of the London Plan 
2016 and Policies CC9 and CC13 of the Local Plan 2018 and Key Principles of the 
Planning Guidance SPD 2018. 

  
 Planning Obligations: Planning obligations to offset the impact of the development 

and to make the development acceptable in planning terms are secured. 
Contributions relating to the provision of economic development initiatives, 
including local training and employment opportunities and procurement are 
secured. The proposed development would therefore mitigate external impacts 
and would accord with Policy 8.2 of the London Plan and Policy CF1 of the Local 
Plan 2018. 

  
 Conditions: In line with the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 and the Town 

and Country Planning (Pre-commencement Conditions) Regulations 2018, officers 
have consulted the applicant on the pre-commencement conditions included in the 
agenda and the applicant has raised no objections. 

 
 
--------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------- 
 

LOCAL GOVERNMENT ACT 2000 
LIST OF BACKGROUND PAPERS 

 
All Background Papers held by Andrew Marshall (Ext:  4841): 
 
Application form received: 14th May 2019 
Drawing Nos:   see above 
 
 
Policy documents: National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) 2019 

The London Plan 2016 
LBHF - Local Plan 2018 
LBHF – Planning Guidance Supplementary Planning Document  
2018 

 
 
Consultation Comments: 
 
Comments from: Dated:  
Environment Agency - Planning Liaison 20.05.19 

Page 129



 

Thames Water - Development Control 29.05.19 
Cambridge Grove & Leamore Street Residents Ass Chairman 13.06.19 
 
 
Neighbour Comments: 
 
Letters from: Dated: 
 
23b Cambridge Grove Hammersmith London W6 0LA  13.06.19 
19 Argyle Place Hammersmith London W6 0RQ  21.06.19 
Island Studios, 22 St Peters Square London  W6 9NW   12.06.19 
23A Cambridge Grove Hammersmith London W6 0LA  09.06.19 
Argyle Place London W6 0RQ   14.06.19 
26 Cambridge Grove Flat C LONDON W6 0LA  25.05.19 
13 Cambridge Grove London W6 0LA   07.06.19 
30 Argyle Place London W6 0RQ   13.06.19 
 
 
1.0 BACKGROUND 
 
Site and Surroundings 
1.1 The application site comprises a narrow and irregular shaped plot, with an area of 
approximately 0.24 hectares. The site is located on the north side of King Street 
between Argyle Place and Cambridge Grove. A gated entrance is provided on Dimes 
Place, enabling vehicular access into the site. The site comprises a vacant, former 
timber merchant's yard. Contains a two-storey brick building, formerly used as the sales 
and back room office, double height open storage timber structures, associated single 
and two storey workshops, and an open paved area for storage, and loading / 
unloading. The remainder of the site includes a single storey brick addition, formerly 
used as part of a recording studio with offices (20 Dimes Place). The site is bounded by 
a combination of existing low-level brick walls, timber fencing or the existing 
buildings/structures which adjoin parts of the site. There is a change of levels across the 
site. The northern end of the timber yard is set lower than the entrance on Dimes Place 
and the neighbouring properties on Argyle Place and Cambridge Grove. 
 
1.2 The majority of the site is screened from public view and is largely landlocked. 
Parts of the site are visible from Argyle Place, Cambridge Grove, Dimes Place and King 
Street. The site is bound to the north by a London Underground Bridge (viaduct) over 
Cambridge Grove, to the east by nos.1-23 Cambridge Grove, to the west by the rear 
gardens of the residential terraced properties at nos. 20-38 Argyle Place and to the 
south by the rear yards serving commercial and residential properties fronting nos. 102-
118 King Street. Argyle Place is a cul de sac and borders part of the site to the 
west/north-west. A Holiday Inn hotel, the Blue Cross Hospital, and residential properties 
nos. 15-27 Argyle Place look out onto the western part of the site. Surrounding buildings 
vary in height and scale. Range between two/three storey terraced houses to the east 
and west, three/four storeys to the south for the existing commercial outlets (ground 
floor) and residential/office or storage uses on the upper floors fronting onto King Street. 
The hotel to the west is a four/five storey building. 
  
1.3 None of the existing buildings on the site are statutory or locally listed. Most of the 
site lies outside a conservation area. Only a small section in the north-east corner of the 
site falls within the Bradmore Conservation Area. Hammersmith Town Hall 

Page 130



 

Conservation Area (formerly known as the King Street (East) Conservation Area) 
bounds the site to the south. The site is located within the Hammersmith Regeneration 
Area (Strategic Policy HRA) and Town Centre, lies within an Archaeological Priority 
Area, and is within the Environment Agency's Flood Risk Zone 3. The site has a Public 
Transport Accessibility Level (PTAL) of 6a/6b, using Transport for London (TfL) 
methodology, which indicates excellent public transport accessibility. The site is within 
easy walking distance of Hammersmith and Ravenscourt Park stations. Bus 
routes/stops are located on King Street and Glenthorne Road. There is a Santander 
Cycle Hire Docking Station on the south side King Street outside the town hall building. 
The surrounding area, including Argyle Place and Cambridge Grove is controlled by 
CPZs. 
     
Planning History 
1.4 The most relevant planning history relate to the redevelopment of the site and 
includes: 
 
1.5 On 21 December 2018 planning permission was refused for demolition of all the 
existing buildings and the redevelopment of the site for offices (Class B1), comprising 2 
and 3 storey buildings to provide 3,045 sqm (GEA) and associated pedestrian access 
and cycle parking (ref: 2017/01931/FUL). The application was refused permission on 
five grounds: 
 
(1). The development would affect the outlook from nos.20-38 Argyle Place and 
properties on Cambridge Grove, including no.23 Cambridge Grove. 
(2). The design and siting, fails to protect the privacy of adjacent residential premises 
and fails to integrate sensitively with them. This close relationship is exacerbated by the 
proposed first-floor windows which would have an overbearing impact on adjoining 
residents on Argyle Place (nos.20-38). 
(3). The proposal is considered to be unacceptable in highway terms. The proposed 
development fails to provide appropriate cycle parking to meet the needs of future 
occupiers and the proposal does not provide satisfactory onsite storage or 
shower/changing facilities. 
(4). The Construction Logistics Plan (CLP) fails to provide sufficient information to 
ensure the safe operation of the public highway. 
(5). The proposal fails to provide satisfactory information to demonstrate that the 
amenity of the surrounding residential occupiers is not adversely impacted by noise or 
vibration from proposed plant/mechanical installations. 
 
1.6 Planning permission has been granted for a residential led ("8-house scheme") 
development on 3 occasions (refs: 2013/01017/FUL & 2013/01018/CAC: approved 
17/06/2013; 2016/01230/FUL: approved 17/05/2016 and 2019/00370/FUL: approved 
18.04.2019). Involves the demolition of most of the existing buildings on the site and the 
erection of eight single family dwellings (3 x two storey mews houses to the rear of nos. 
13-23 Cambridge Grove, 1 x two storey mews house at the northern end of the site 
adjacent to the railway bridge; and a terrace of 4 x three storey plus-basement dwelling 
houses fronting on to Argyle Place); the retention of the two storey office building at the 
southern end of the site (to provide 208 sqm of Class B1 office space) and provision of 
6 no. off street parking spaces.  
 
1.7 A similar residential development (variation of condition 2 of planning permission 
ref: 2013/01017/FUL) was granted 17th June 2013; seeking minor material amendment 

Page 131



 

to allow the northern elevation of the railway mews to be re-positioned 0.9m from 
London Underground viaduct. 
 
1.8 Applications approved for the discharge of conditions do not require listing for the 
purposes of this report. 
 
2.0 PROPOSED DEVELOPMENT 
 
2.1 The proposed office led development has been revised in response to the 
previous refused application (ref: 2017/01931/FUL) and the five grounds summarised in 
paragraph 1.5 above. The current application has sought to address the objections 
expressed by local residents and in response to recent public consultation events held 
by the applicant prior to the submission of this application. 
 
2.2 The present application involves the demolition and removal of the existing timber 
shed and workshop buildings on the site, the retention of the existing office and former 
recording studio buildings, redevelopment with part single, part-2, part-3 storey 
buildings, refurbishment of the existing office building and development of a first-floor 
extension above the former recording studio for office use (Use Class B1), comprising 
to provide 2,876 sqm GEA, together with 47 cycle parking spaces and associated 
access works.  
 
2.3 All the buildings would have pedestrian and cycle access / egress only from Dimes 
Place. There would be no access from Argyle Place nor Cambridge Grove unless in the 
case of emergencies. An emergency exit point is proposed off Argyle Place (rear of 114 
King Street) and Cambridge Grove (required to comply with means of escape in the 
event of fire). The development is car free and provides 47 cycle spaces (30 internal / 8 
long stay / 9 visitor spaces). All servicing, deliveries and waste collections would be 
from Dimes Place only.  
  
2.4 The development is divided into four buildings (A, B, C and D - former recording 
studio space) and the retention of former ancillary office building. 
 
2.5 In summary, the main revisions involve a reduction in the proposed floorspace, 
amendment to the massing/design of all the buildings, including the reintroduction of 
gaps at first floor between different the proposed units in Buildings B and C; a reduction 
in height and massing of Building D; omission of first floor facing windows to Argyle 
Place (Building B) and second floor windows to Cambridge Grove (Building D); 
provision of updated cycle parking and shower/changing facilities, in line with the 
London Plan standards; provision of an updated Construction Logistics Plan; and 
provision of an updated noise acoustic report and plant enclosure screens. The 
applicant adds the latest proposal would retain two brick-built buildings on site, reducing 
the length of demolition and construction works. 
 
2.6 The amendments for each proposed building are listed as the following: 
 
(Building A): Argyle Place Building 
- Reduction in height of the building by 500mm. 
- Reduction in eaves height of 600 mm. 
- Removal of the 2-storey reception link between Building (A) and (B). 
- Reduction in the number of windows. 

Page 132



 

- Change to window orientation (north elevation) fronting Argyle Place to reduce 
overlooking. 
- Change to the design, massing and detailing of scheme, including a set back at the 
rear off 20 Argyle Place. 
- Change to method of construction using, where possible, pre-fabricated timber frame. 
- Reduction in floor area. 
- Increase cycle parking storage including integration of showers/changing rooms, and 
reception internally. 
 
(Building B): Mews Building 
- Retention of the existing brick-built ancillary office building. 
- Removal of entrance link between Building (A) and (B). 
- Creation of breaks in the massing at first floor level. 
- Increase gap between Building (B) and (C) improving outlook for 23 Cambridge Grove 
("No.23"). 
- Change to design, massing and detail of building. 
- Remove first floor windows facing Argyle Place to reduce overlooking. 
- Change to method of construction (pre-fabricated off site). 
- Retention of Cambridge Grove rear garden boundary walls. 
- Reduction in floor area. 
- Green roofs. 
 
(Building C): Railway Mews Building 
- Creation of a gap between Building (B) and (C). 
- Change to design, massing and detail of the building. 
- Change to method of construction (panelised off site). 
- Green roofs. 
 
(Building D): Recording Studio Building 
- Retention of this building (as opposed to demolition). 
- Addition of first floor extension (as opposed to three storeys). 
- Change to method of construction (panelised off site). 
 
2.7 The current proposal results in a reduction in GEA floor space from 3,045sqm in 
the previous refused application to 2,876sqm (2,558 sqm - GIA or 2,107 sqm - NIA). 
 
2.8       The floor area (GIA and GEA) of each building is: 
 
 
Building                     Floor GIA Sqm          Floor GEA 
Building A                   1,391                          1,534 
Building B                      498                             571 
Building C                      235                             271 
Building D                      263                             304 
Retained Office              171                             196 
Total                            2,558                          2,876 
 

 
 
 
 
 

Page 133



 

2.9 In summary the four proposed buildings and retained office block consist of: 
 
Building A: 
A predominantly two storey plus mansard (three floors total) building. Timber framed 
construction with an external brick façade in London stock brick with contrasting lintels 
and parapet. Aluminium windows with recessed bays added to the north façade facing 
Argyle Place. The roof would be a profiled metal mansard design with dormer windows. 
The building would benefit from directional windows, opaque windows, climbing plant 
and security features. The air handling plant at roof level would be contained in an 
acoustic enclosure that will screened by climbing plants. 
 
Buildings (B) and (C):  
Building (B) is a long (north to south alignment) two storey 'mews' style building form, 
set adjacent to the eastern boundary of the site. Proposed massing now includes 
regular breaks, consistent with the extant residential scheme. Set 200mm off the 
boundary wall. The buildings would be timber framed structures, with timber slat 
cladding and profiled pitched metal roofs. Except for the concrete foundations, the 
proposal would be pre-fabricated off site and assembled in sections on site. Ground 
floor windows would be positioned on the western elevation. First floor windows would 
be on the north and south elevations facing the gaps. The building would also have 
rooflights on the west roof elevation. 
 
Building (C) is a two-storey office proposed on land at the north of the site, in between 
the railway viaduct and the party boundary with No.23 Cambridge Grove. 
 
Building D: 
A single storey brick addition formerly used as a recording studio. This block would be 
retained and extended as a standalone office unit. An additional lightweight extension at 
first floor is proposed, which would be panelised and built in section on site. This 
building would be a full storey lower than the previous refused scheme. The design of 
the extension would match Buildings B & C.   
 
Retained Office: 
The existing timber yard office is a two-storey brick building, which would be retained 
and refurbished. This building is located off Dimes Place, opposite Building D and 
behind the existing houses along Cambridge Grove.    
 
2.10 The proposal offers a variety of office suite sizes within the development, available 
for small to medium sized business. Buildings B, C, D and retained office block would 
focus on small tech and creative industries. Offices sizes would range from 35qm 
upwards. Building A would provide more conventional Grade A office space. 
 
2.11 Soft and hard landscaping is included. The existing cobbled central courtyard / 
walkway that runs the length of the site would be retained and repaired. The remainder 
of the open space on the site would be provided with new paving. Green roofs would be 
incorporated to parts of Buildings A, B and D. Urban greening in the form of climbing 
planters would be added to Building A and a green boundary fence to the rear of the 
Argyle Place properties is also proposed. 
 
 
 
 

Page 134



 

2.12 The application is accompanied by the following documents: 
 
- Drawings 
- Design & Access Statement  
- Noise Assessment  
- Bream Assessment 
- Energy Assessment 
- Air Quality Assessment 
- Flood Risk Assessment 
- Contamination Impact Assessment 
- Transport Statement 
- Travel Plan 
- Construction Logistic Plan 
- Loading Bay Assessment 
- Delivery and Servicing Plan 
- Sunlight & Daylight Assessment 
- Economic Statement 
- Construction Approach Pack 
- Community Engagement 
 
3.0 PUBLICITY AND CONSULTATION 
 
3.1 The applicant has undertaken extensive public consultation with residents and 
officers ahead of the submission of the application. The Statement of Community 
Engagement summarises that following the refusal of planning permission, a new 
architect was appointed. Instructed to take a fresh look at the proposals and reassess 
the previous scheme. Two consultation events were held with neighbouring occupiers 
on 27 March and 10 April 2019. The applicant states further consultations were held on 
the 17 and 24 April and 8 May at the request of some residents and overall the 
feedback was positive to the proposed amendments. 
 
3.2 The application has been advertised by means of press and site notice, and 
individual notification letters have been sent to 435 neighbouring occupiers in Argyle 
Street, Cambridge Grove, and King Street. The Cambridge Grove, Leamore Street, and 
Argyle Place Residents' Association have also been notified. 
  
3.3 In response 9 representations have been received. In comparison to the previous 
refused scheme, the latest representations received are generally supportive. There are 
some points of concern listed which include dust, noise and impacts from construction 
and operation of the site, height of the buildings increased above the existing and 
security matters. Some residents request a suitable and accessible contact point be 
made available to resolve any difficulties. The occupier of no. 13 Cambridge Grove, the 
Blue Cross Animal Hospital and Front Meadowcroft (office agency specialist) have 
expressed support for the application. 
 
3.4 The Cambridge Grove, Leamore Street, and Argyle Place Residents' Association 
state they do not object to the latest proposals and acknowledge the efforts and 
approach taken by the applicant to engage in the latest scheme. Matters relating to 
construction and operational impacts and mitigation and emergency access / fire risk 
measures can be dealt with through condition and/or a Section 106 agreement. The 
Association has referenced S106 obligations and whether these can be sought towards 
mitigation and management of the construction period, and for environmental mitigation 

Page 135



 

of the immediate area adjoining the site, namely Argyle Place and Cambridge Grove. 
The quality of the streetscape, traffic control, safety, landscaping and lighting are areas 
identified by the Association as being in need of remedial investment to ensure the 
development integrates into the surrounding streets.  
 
3.5 Environment Agency: No objection. To improve flood resilience, recommend 
finished floor levels are set above 2100 breach flood level (5.04 AOD).  
 
3.6 Thames Water: No objection subject to informative to be placed on the decision.    
 
4.0 RELEVANT PLANNING POLICIES 
 
4.1 The development plan for the borough consists of the London Plan (2016) and the 
Hammersmith and Fulham Local Plan (2018). The National Planning Policy Framework 
(revised 2018) and the Council's Planning Guidance - Supplementary Planning 
Document (2018) are also material considerations.  
 
4.2 Together with the relevant London Plan policies summarised in Section 5 of the 
report, the key local plan policies are listed below: 
 
HAMMERSMITH & FULHAM LOCAL PLAN (2018) 
 
HRA - Hammersmith Regeneration Area 
E1 - Providing for a range of employment uses 
E2 - Land and premises for employment use 
E4 - Local employment, training, and skill development initiatives  
DC1 - Built environment 
DC2 - Design of new build 
DC4 - Alterations and extensions 
DC8 - Heritage and conservation 
CC1 - Reducing carbon dioxide emissions 
CC2 - Ensuring sustainable design and construction 
CC3 - Minimising flood risk and reducing water use 
CC4 - Surface water drainage systems 
CC7 - On-site waste management 
CC9 - Contaminated land 
CC10 - Air quality 
CC11 - Noise 
CC12 - Light pollution 
OS5 - Greening the borough 
T1 - Transport 
T2 - Transport assessments and travel plans 
T3 - Promoting opportunities for cycling and walking 
T4 - Vehicle parking standards 
T7 - Construction and demolition logistics 
 
5.0 PLANNING CONSIDERATIONS 
 
5.1 The main planning issues to be considered in the light of relevant national, 
regional, and local policies and standards include: 
 
- The acceptability of the office development in land use terms 

Page 136



 

- Quality, design and scale of the proposed new buildings. 
- The impact on amenities of adjoining properties. 
- Provision of on-site cycle parking. 
- Highways and traffic matters. 
- Noise. 
- Flood risk, contaminated land and energy / sustainability issues. 
 
Office Development  
5.2 The proposed office development is in compliance with national, regional (London) 
and local planning policies, which encourage office developments in town centres. 
Paragraph 80 of the NPPF states that planning decisions 'should help create the 
conditions in which business can invest, expand and adapt. Significant weight should be 
placed on the need to support economic growth and productivity, considering both local 
business needs and wider opportunities for development'. An office (B1) development in 
Hammersmith town centre location would attract business to the area and thereby 
meets national policy guidance. 
 
5.3 London Plan Policy 4.1 seeks availability of sufficient workspaces in terms of type, 
size, and cost and suitable environments small and medium sized enterprises. The 
proposed office development would accommodate small to medium sized enterprises in 
appropriate industrial sectors for the local context in a town centre location. Therefore, 
the principle of the development is acceptable in land use terms. 
  
5.4 London Plan Policy 4.2 seeks increases in current office stock where there is 
authoritative, strategic, and local evidence of sustained demand for office-based 
activities. An Economic/Business statement and an office market report have been 
submitted in support of the application, providing a justification for the proposed type of 
office development proposed and include a context of the current office supply and 
demand in Hammersmith. This complies with Strategic Policy HRA of the Local Plan 
2018 in that the proposals would secure economic benefit for the wider community, help 
regenerate Hammersmith Town Centre and target of creating 10,000 new jobs. 
 
5.5 Local Plan Policy E1 states the Council will support proposals for new employment 
uses, especially building on the existing strengths is the Borough including those in 
creative industries. Policy E1 requires new employment space to consider: 
a) The scale and nature of the development with regards to local impact, nature of the 
surrounding area, and public transport accessibility;  
b) Impact on small and medium sized businesses that support the local community;  
c) Scale and nature of employment opportunities generated in new development;  
d) Whether there will be a displacement of other uses such as community facilities or 
housing; and  
e) The Hammersmith and Fulham Economic Growth Plan and the council economic 
strategies. 
 
5.6 Local Plan Policy E2 safeguards employment land and premises capable of 
providing continued employment uses. Policy E4 requires the provision of appropriate 
employment and training initiatives for local people of all abilities in the construction of 
major developments including visitor accommodation and facilities. 
 
5.7 The site is currently disused and vacant, formerly used as a timber merchant's 
yard. During this time, the proposal of a residential led development for 8 houses and 
208 sqm B1 floor space has come forward. The applicant has cited that the extant 

Page 137



 

residential scheme is unviable at this current time and unlikely to be constructed in the 
current market. 
 
5.8 The site is located within the Hammersmith Town Centre and Regeneration Area. 
The Council seeks to support major regeneration and growth within the borough's 
regeneration areas and to work with the local community and key stakeholders to 
ensure that proposals provide exemplary sustainable communities, deliver highest 
standards of urban design, and respect the historic environment and local context. 
Strategic Regeneration Policy HRA encourages the regeneration of Hammersmith Town 
Centre and to build upon the centre's major locational advantages for office and retail. It 
also seeks to deliver 10,000 new jobs providing a range of skills and competencies to 
enable local employment and training. 
 
5.9 The proposed redevelopment of this brownfield site for new, office units for small 
and start-up businesses in a key regeneration location and with good public transport 
accessibility accords with the Strategic policy HRA. The development would provide 
2107 sqm (GIA), and provide employment for approximately 190 people, based on a 
density of circa 11sqm of office space per employee. The proposed unit sizes would 
cater for a range of small to medium sized companies in the borough providing reduced 
rents, co-hubs and start up space. The smaller units in Building B, C, D and retained 
office block would provide office space for smaller companies alongside the 
conventional office space proposed in Building A. This would offer flexibility and allow 
businesses to grow and remain in the borough. An employment and skills and local 
supply contributions and a Local Procurement Initiative contribution have been secured 
via the S106 in line with Local Plan policy E4. Due to the small size of the development 
no affordable workspace has been sought. An employment strategy is however required 
to demonstrate how some of the workspace could benefit local businesses and work 
with the Council's local business initiatives, with the aim to providing 
flexible/affordable/discounted workspace or membership for local SME and micro start-
up businesses. It is considered that this accords with Policy E4 of the Local Plan. On 
balance officers consider that a B1 use in this location would respond well to the local 
context and setting, is adequately served by public transport, and has an acceptable 
level of services, facilities, and infrastructure.  It is therefore considered to comply with 
the above strategic policies. 
 
Design and Conservation  
5.10 London Plan policies 7.1, 7.2, 7.3, 7.4, 7.5, 7.6 to 7.8 are relevant in the 
assessment of the development and set out the Mayor's directive for place shaping and 
design. Policy 7.6 states buildings should be of the highest architectural quality and not 
cause unacceptable harm to the amenity of surrounding land and buildings, particularly 
residential buildings.  
 
5.11 Local Plan Policy DC1 requires all developments within the borough to create a 
high-quality urban environment that respects and enhances its townscape context and 
heritage assets. Policy DC2 sets out the design criteria for new build development and 
Policy DC4 for extensions and alterations to existing buildings. It states that new 
development will be permitted if it is of a high standard of design and compatible with 
the scale and character of existing development and its setting. Development must be 
designed to respect, amongst other things, the scale, mass, form and grain of 
surrounding development and the historical context and townscape setting of the site. 
Policy DC8 (Heritage and Conservation) sets out principles for conserving historic 
environments. It states that applications affecting designated heritage assets (including 

Page 138



 

conservation areas) will only be permitted where the significance of the area is 
conserved or enhanced. The policies largely echo those of the London Plan and are 
addressed in the paragraphs below. 
 
5.12 The majority of the site is concealed from view from public vantage points, being a 
largely back land site. There is one street frontage on to the southern end of Argyle 
Place, where a 2-storey timber storage shed is currently positioned. The western extent 
is also prominent on Cambridge Grove, in the form of a dilapidated timber shed 
between no.23 and the railway bridge. The entrance to the site is also visible from 
Dimes Place.  
   
5.13 The most visible part of the development is therefore, the proposed 3-storey office 
building (Building A) on the south side of Argyle Place. This part of the site is currently 
occupied by a utilitarian storage shed with inactive facades that detract from the active 
character of the rest of the street. The proposed office building has been designed to be 
similar in height, massing and materiality to the terrace of modern houses on the 
eastern side of Argyle Place. Would be 2 storeys in height to the eaves, constructed 
from London Stock bricks and have a recessive, profiled metal mansard roof with 
dormer windows reflecting the style of the adjacent houses. The facades are well 
articulated with angle aluminium window bay projections on the north elevation closest 
to the houses to protect privacy. The main elevation away from the houses would be 
vertically divided into bays by use of shadow gap channels and windows would be set 
within recessed panels that would add more depth to the façade. It is considered that 
this building would be appropriately scaled to the rest of Argyle Place and would be 
attractively detailed, making a positive architectural contribution to the character and 
appearance of the street. It would also provide active edges that engage with the public 
realm of Argyle Place where currently, there is only blank and inactive shed frontage.  
   
5.14 The scheme would create a new office mews aligned north-south along Dimes 
Place. The form of the development has been determined by its close proximity to 
neighbouring terraces of houses to the east and west and the need to avoid further 
impact on these properties beyond that of the existing sheds. Whereas the existing 
timber shed is a continuous structure along the east side of the street, the proposed row 
of 2 storey office buildings would be spaced at intervals with one storey offices between 
them and would be consistent with the form of the consented 8 house scheme. In 
comparison with the refused application the low-rise scale and massing proposed would 
be responsive to the constrained location and the gaps between buildings and would 
improve amenity for some of the neighbouring residents. The roof design has been 
changed to ridge metal profiled roof which is typical in the area and would reduce the 
visible mass when viewed from within the houses on Cambridge Grove. The mews-like 
character of the street would be maintained. In a clear reference to the history of the 
site, the main facing materials would be timber slat cladding with a repeating rhythm of 
timber fins on the ground floor, creating well-articulated elevations along the courtyard 
with texture, depth and shadow. Courtyard facing glazing would only occur at ground 
floor level to provide an active edge together with entrances to each unit. Upper floor 
fenestration has been amended and is limited to the side elevations, to face opposing 
office units and prevent overlooking of existing houses. The flat roofs between each 
office unit would be a green roof. The character of the development would be improved 
by the provision of a new timber fence to the rear gardens of Argyle Place with planting 
along the west side and cobbled paving would be retained and repaired. 
   

Page 139



 

5.15 A two storey office (Building C) is proposed on land at the north of the site, in 
between the railway viaduct and No.23 Cambridge Grove. This part of the site falls 
within the Bradmore Conservation Area. There is an existing, dilapidated, timber shed 
(two storeys in height) here which projects well beyond the predominant building line of 
the terrace on the west side of Cambridge Grove. It is conspicuous in views along the 
street from the south and its demolition is welcomed. The proposed new, 2 storey office 
would have a narrow elevation on to Cambridge Grove and would be set back behind 
the building line of the existing terrace so that it would be subordinate in views along the 
street. In a clear reference to the original timber structure, the two-storey building would 
have a timber clad elevation treatment without fenestration. On the ground floor on to 
Dimes Place glazing would contribute towards providing an active edge along the 
Mews. The scale and massing of this building has been reduced and would be 
subordinate to the terrace along Cambridge Grove and discreet in its set back position 
with no.23 Cambridge Grove. It is considered that this part of the development would 
preserve and enhance the character of the conservation area, in accordance with Policy 
DC8.  
   
5.16 Alterations are proposed to the existing two storey brick office building, including 
the replacement of the roof and windows and the demolition and rebuild of the first-floor 
side extension to the same dimensions. The elevational changes would be sympathetic 
to the existing building and would not harm its appearance. The form of the rebuilt 
extension and the timber cladding would match the mews of office buildings in style and 
would help to reinforce the rhythm of frontages along the east side of Dimes Place.  
   
5.17 On top of the existing, one storey, brick built recording studio on the west side of 
Dimes Place, it is proposed to build one extra, timber clad, office storey (Building D). 
This would achieve a similar scale and appearance to the retained building on the 
opposite side of Dimes Place street and improve the framing and definition of the Mews 
at its entrance. 
  
Landscaping  
5.18 The site is largely constrained in size and as such there is minimal opportunity for 
soft landscaping. Landscaping includes a planted passageway with paving down the 
central mews area, and planters in the courtyard space and along the boundary fence 
with properties in Argyle Place. Planted areas along the north façade of Building A 
would provide some soft landscaping. There is also the opportunity for green roofs on 
most of the buildings across the site (Buildings A, parts of B and D). Further details of 
the landscaping and green roof details would be conditioned. External lighting is 
proposed at the entrance and within the mews which would need to be compatible with 
the Institute of Lighting Engineers (ILE) guidance Note for reduction of obtrusive and the 
aims of secure by design and surrounding residential amenity. Further details of lighting 
are also reserved by condition. 
 
Impact on the Conservation Areas 
5.19 This is largely a back-land site, partly visible from Argyle Place and Cambridge 
Grove. Only the north-east tip of the site, visible from Cambridge Grove, falls within the 
Bradmore Conservation Area. The site borders the Hammersmith Town Hall 
Conservation Area to the south. Therefore, Policy DC8 (Heritage and conservation) is 
relevant. This policy states that the Council will aim to protect, restore, and enhance the 
quality, character, and appearance of the borough's conservation areas. This is 
supported by the conservation area guidelines in the Planning Guidance SPD which 
require new buildings in conservation areas to be carefully considered to achieve a 

Page 140



 

harmonious relationship with their neighbours, and to respect the dominant building line 
on the street frontage. In addition, it is key to the assessment of this application that 
decision-making process is based on the understanding of specific duties in relation to 
conservation areas required by the relevant legislation, particularly the Section 16, 66 
and 72 duties of the Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act 1990 set 
out below together with the requirements of the NPPF. 
 
5.20 The proposal involves demolition of all structures on site except for the brick 
recording studio (Building D) and adjacent brick office building. The only affected 
building within a conservation area would be the existing timber shed structure to the 
north of the site fronting Cambridge Grove. Extending the frontage in this location would 
improve the appearance of Cambridge Grove by infilling the gap and thereby preserving 
and enhancing the character and appearance of the conservation area. The current 
buildings on the site are generally dilapidated and in a poor state of repair and not 
considered to add any visual merit to the conservation areas. Their demolition is 
therefore considered acceptable because they are not of architectural merit and are of 
poor visual amenity. There would be no detrimental impact of the demolition of these 
structures and therefore the proposal complies with national, regional, and local policy 
DC8 of the Local Plan. 
 
Conclusion 
5.21 Overall it is considered that the amendment to the proposal would provide a  high-
quality scheme that would be sensitively integrated into the existing built form with 
improved engagement with the public realm. In comparison to the previously refused 
scheme, the new proposal offers substantial benefits in terms of design. The proposals 
are compliant with Policies DC1, DC2, DC4 and DC8, subject to conditions which would 
ensure the quality of the detailed design and materials. 
 
Accessibility 
5.22 The main entrance to the site from Dimes Place would be on a level threshold. 
Level access is provided to every floor in Building A in the form of a lift. Provision of lift 
access could be made available if required in Buildings B, C and D, as these are small 
more flexible office spaces. At this stage lifts in these buildings would comprise of 
platform lifts which would form part of a tenant fit out. Accessible toilets would be 
provided on the ground floor and showers as part of the cycle facilities would be 
provided in Building A. 
 
Secured by Design 
5.23  Policy DC2 of the Local Plan requires proposals to meet principles of 'Secured by 
Design'. The removal of the existing vacant and dilapidated site would improve security 
through natural surveillance during the day and buildings would have external CCTV 
and low-level lighting fitted  which would improve existing security concerns in the 
surrounding area. In response to resident's comments on security, the applicant has 
recommended lighting (including infra-red lighting) to the western elevation of Building 
A, in order to light an area which is dark and subject to anti-social behaviour. 
 
5.24 Full details of how the proposed development would incorporate crime prevention 
measures to provide a safe and secure environment would be secured by a condition 
and the S278 works. 
 
 
 

Page 141



 

Impact on Neighbour's Living Conditions 
5.25 Residential properties are situated close to the east, south and west boundaries of 
the site. To the south, the site is bounded by commercial premises at ground level and 
residential properties on the upper floors, including nos. 102, 116 and 118 King Street. 
The main consideration in this respect would therefore be the impact to neighbouring 
residential occupiers in Cambridge Grove and Argyle Place. The following paragraphs 
assess the proposed development in terms of its impact on residential amenity, with 
regard to outlook, privacy, sunlight, and daylight and noise. Key Principles HS6 and 
HS7 of the Supplementary Planning Document (SPD) and policies DC1 and DC2 of the 
Local Plan have been considered in this case. Local Plan Policy DC2 states that all 
proposals must be designed to respect good neighbourliness and the principles of 
residential amenity. It is not considered that the proposed development would have an 
unacceptable impact on the existing amenities of the neighbouring occupiers in terms of 
loss of outlook or increased sense of enclosure; overlooking or loss of privacy; undue 
noise and disturbance and loss of light and is judged to be acceptable in the context of 
Local Plan policies. Each issue will be addressed in turn. 
 
Outlook/openness/sense of enclosure 
5.26 The proposal would provide a series of buildings with part single, two or three 
storey elements, designed to reflect the existing conditions on the site and/or 
relationship with the surrounding residential properties. Regard has been given to the 
Council's 45-degree standard set out in Criterion (i) of Key Principle HS6 of the SPD. 
This standard state that on sites which adjoin residential properties that have rear 
gardens of less than 9 metres, the proposed development should not infringe a line 
produced at an angle of 45 degrees from the rear boundary at ground level. The 
standard also states that on-site judgement will be the determining factor in assessing 
the impact of the development on the amenities of neighbouring properties.  
 
5.27 Technically, the proposal does not comply with Key Principle HS6. The proposed 
development comprises a largely back-land site. The limited width of the timber yard, 
the short rear gardens of neighbouring properties in Cambridge Grove and Argyle Place 
and height and massing shaped by the existing buildings on the site produce conditions 
which already exceed the margins of acceptability in terms of this standard. In this case, 
officers agree that an acceptable starting point should therefore be the height and form 
of the existing buildings on the site and an evaluation of the current proposal compared 
to the consented 8 house residential scheme. 
 
5.28 Changes made to the current scheme would reduce the massing across the site 
and would ensure the interface with neighbouring properties is either the same or less 
compared to the refused application. 'Building A' would replace an existing smaller 
workshop structure located on the corner of Argyle Place. In comparison with the 
refused application, both eaves and roof levels have been reduced in height by 500mm, 
lessening the massing and improving the outlook for the neighbouring properties in 
Argyle Place and King Street. The form of the proposed building would now be of a 
similar size and scale to the consented terrace of houses consented under the 
residential scheme. The revised approach to the height and form of 'Building B and C' 
now mirrors the approved residential scheme. The existing timber shed structures on 
the party boundary present an unbroken mass along the rear gardens of Cambridge 
Grove. The new approach would include gaps at first floor level, reducing the extent of 
built form on the boundary with the Cambridge Road properties and improving the 
aspect, outlook and light to the amenity of surrounding residential properties. Similarly, 
the massing facing the rear gardens of the Argyle Place properties would be reduced. 

Page 142



 

Buildings B and C would be completed with a conventional shallow ridge roof which 
would not exceed the height of the existing timber structures on the party boundary and 
be provided with a lower eaves line facing Argyle Place. In the case of the 
outlook/openness/sense of enclosure afforded to the adjoining properties at no. 23 
Cambridge Grove, officers consider the revisions proposed to Building C would 
reproduce a similar gap on the corner of the rear garden and in comparison, with the 
residential scheme, would offer an improved open aspect, visible from the rear garden 
and windows. The existing timber sheds largely enclose the garden and the current 
proposal would provide and improvement in comparison to the consented residential 
scheme. With regard to the rest of the scheme, the retention of the existing brick office 
building to the rear of 1-5 Cambridge Grove and refurbished and extension of Building D 
(former recording studio) by one floor, as opposed to redevelopment with a three-storey 
addition would reduce the perceived sense of loss of outlook or sense of enclosure from 
the neighbouring properties. 
 
5.29 On balance, officers consider that the proposal would not result in a significant 
loss of outlook. The changes made to the latest proposed development would reduce 
the extent of massing and height across the site and ensure that impacts in terms of 
loss of outlook /openness or sense of enclosure would be of an acceptable level, in 
compliance with policy DC2 of the Local Plan and Key Principle HS6. 
 
Overlooking and privacy 
5.30 In terms of privacy, Key Principle HS7 criteria (iii) of the SPD states that any new 
windows should be positioned 18m away from existing habitable room windows in an 
arc of 60 degrees from the centre of the proposed new window to ensure there is no 
loss of privacy. If this standard cannot be met, then windows should be designed to 
ensure that no loss of privacy will occur. 
 
5.31 Officers consider that the previous grounds of refusal have been address 
satisfactorily in the current scheme. The reintroduction of gaps between the blocks in 
Building B and C improve the outlook from the rear of the neighbouring properties in 
Argyle Place and Cambridge Grove.  All first-floor windows on the west elevation of 
Building B facing Argyle Place have been omitted to protect privacy. As with the 
approved residential scheme, natural light to the first floor would now be provided by 
windows re-sited to the flank (north and south) elevations, within the gaps created. The 
windows would include directional privacy fins to the side to prevent oblique overlooking 
/loss of privacy to the adjacent rear gardens. Additional natural light would be provided 
by a series of rooflights. Similarly, there are no first-floor windows in Building C, with 
natural light provided by a series of rooflights. The number of windows to Buildings A 
and D have been reduced. Directional or frosted windows are incorporated into the 
design of Building A to prevent overlooking/loss of privacy to no. 20-38 Argyle Place 
and privacy fins are included to the first floor rear windows of Building D adjacent to 20 
Argyle Place. Elsewhere the proposal has been designed to comply with this standard 
with a minimum 'window to window' separation distances of over 19m achieved 
between proposed windows contained on the mansard roof of 'Building A' and existing 
windows to the rear of Cambridge Grove properties. For this reason, officers consider 
that the current proposal complies with policies DC1 and DC2 and Key Principles HS6 
and HS7(iii) of the SPD. 
 
Daylight and Sunlight 
5.32 The NPPF states that daylight and sunlight guidance should be applied flexibly 
'where they would otherwise inhibit making efficient use of a site', so long as they 

Page 143



 

continue to provide adequate living standards.' Local Plan Policy HO11 addresses 
detailed residential standards and, in seeking a high standard of design, seeks to 
ensure the protection of existing residential amenities; 'including issues such as loss of 
daylight, sunlight, privacy and outlook'. Local Plan Policy DC2 states that all new builds 
must be designed to respect good neighbourliness and the principles of residential 
amenity. SPD Key Principle SDC1 states that, "Other effects buildings can have on the 
local climate include: Overshadowing and reducing access to sunlight"  
 
5.33 The British Research Establishment (BRE) guide on 'Site layout planning for 
daylight and sunlight', sets out good practice for assessing daylight and sunlight impacts 
for new development. In urban and city centre areas, BRE Guidelines advise that the 
guidance be applied flexibly. The applicant's Daylight and Sunlight report which has 
been carried out in line with BRE considers the potential impacts of the proposed 
development on daylight, and sunlight on existing neighbouring residential buildings 
based on the existing and proposed conditions. 
 
Daylight 
5.34 The BRE guidance sets out three different methods of assessing daylight to or 
within a room, the Vertical Sky Component (VSC) method, the plotting of the no-sky-line 
(NSL) method and the Average Daylight Factor (ADF) method. The introduction to the 
guide however stresses that it should not be used as an instrument of planning policy 
and should be interpreted flexibly because lighting is only one design factor for any 
scheme. The applicant's Daylight and Sunlight report has been carried out in line with 
BRE guidelines and considers the potential impacts of the proposed development on 
daylight and sunlight on existing neighbouring residential buildings, in comparison with 
the existing site massing in place. All three methods of daylight assessment have been 
considered and having regard to the BRE preliminary 25-degree angle test.  
 
5.35 The submitted daylight analysis has considered the impact of the development on 
the following properties: nos. 15-25 Argyle Place, 20-38 Argyle Place, 1-23 Cambridge 
Grove and 102-118 King Street. In total 133 windows have been tested against VSC, 
NSL and ADF. The results show that all of the windows and all of the rooms assessed 
would comply with the guidelines for VSC, NSL and ADF. The results demonstrate that 
the proposed development would have no noticeable effect on the quality, quantity and 
distribution of daylight to the windows or rooms of neighbouring buildings or dwellings. 
Officers are therefore satisfied that the development would be of an acceptable and 
considerate scale when considering the effect to daylight to surrounding properties. 
 
Sunlight 
5.36 Sunlight assessment is based on annual probable sunlight hours (APSH) and 
winter sunlight hours. The assessment shows that all 37 (100%) of the rooms assessed 
will comply with the BRE guidelines for APSH. Overall the development is considered to 
have a negligible effect on sunlight to neighbouring properties neighbouring the site. 
 
5.37 The proposal is therefore fully compliant with BRE guidelines for daylight and 
sunlight, with 100% of the windows meeting the required standards, in accordance with 
Local Plan policy DC2. 
 
Noise 
5.38 Local Plan Policy CC11 deals with environmental nuisance. It states that all 
developments shall ensure that there is no undue detriment to the general amenities at 
present enjoyed by existing surrounding occupiers of their properties, particularly where 

Page 144



 

commercial and service activities are close to residential properties. Residents have 
expressed concern about noise disturbance arising from the construction and 
operational use of the office development. 
 
5.39 The former use of the site was a timber merchants potentially generated noise and 
disturbance. The existing floor space of the former timber merchants is approximately 
643 sqm (GIA) and employed around 5-10 employees. The proposed development 
would provide 2,558 sqm of new office floor space (GIA) on the site which the applicant 
estimate would accommodate up to 190 employees. The site adjoins several residential 
properties, and with visitors/staff coming and going throughout the day, the proposed 
new office use with increased floor space would need to be carefully considered with 
regard to potentially noise or nuisance.  
 
5.40 Whilst located within a town centre location, the site is surrounded by residential 
uses. In land use terms, a Class B1 office use is however considered appropriate in a 
residential area. The proposed offices are planned for small businesses/ start-ups and 
expected to be operational Monday to Friday, during typical office hours. Owing to the 
close relationship of the neighbouring residential properties it is recommended that a 
condition be adhered to relating to a site management plan could potentially reduce any 
adverse impact.  
 
5.41 A Noise Impact Assessment has been provided with the application in order to 
enable a minimum background noise level to be established in context with proposed 
plant. The roofs of Buildings A and C are designed with comfort cooling. Building B and 
D would be naturally ventilated with no air handling units fitted. Details of the two 
proposed plant locations on the roof of Buildings A and C have been submitted in the 
latest scheme and assessed in detail. Noise surveys in relation to the nearest noise 
sensitive receptors, the proposed plant installation locations and manufacturer's noise 
data of the proposed emission levels for proposed air handling or air condenser units 
has been provided. It is considered that the amount of noise generated by the proposed 
development in what is already a densely developed residential area would not cause 
significant harm. Anti-vibration mounts are proposed to be installed to all the plant units 
in order to ensure that vibrations do not give rise to structure-borne noise.  
 
5.42 The assessment concludes that noise emissions from the proposed plant would 
not have any adverse impact on the close residential receptors, provided the proposed 
noise control strategy is adhered to. The Council's Environmental Protection officer has 
been consulted and is satisfied with the proposals subject to conditions attached to 
ensure this is adhered to.  
 
5.43 Noise and disturbance from the proposed building works has been considered and 
conditions are recommended requiring the submission of a final Demolition and 
Construction Management and Logistic Plans, to ensure that the amenities of 
neighbouring residents are protected as far as possible during the demolition and 
construction phases, in accordance with Local Plan Policy CC11. 
 
Argyle Place/Cambridge Grove emergency escape  
5.44 In terms of potential anti-social behaviour, the proposed Argyle Place exit point 
would only be used as an emergency means of escape from Building A. There would be 
a second means of escape from the rear yard to Cambridge Grove via the rear of 
Building C. The two exit doors would open outwards and not designed for shelter.  
 

Page 145



 

Transport 
5.45 London Plan Policy 6.13 (Parking) states that the strategic policy of the Mayor of 
London is 'to see an appropriate balance being struck between promoting new 
development and preventing excessive car parking provision that can undermine 
cycling, walking and public transport use'. Local Plan Policy T1 (transport), T2 (travel 
plans and T4 (Vehicle parking standards) are applicable. Policy T4 states that 
developments should conform to its car parking standards. This policy confirms that the 
Council have adopted the same car parking standards as the London Plan.  
 
Car Parking 
5.46 The former timber merchants use has vehicular use via Dimes Place providing on-
site servicing and parking. In comparison with the recently consented residential 
scheme, no off-street parking would be provided in the proposed development for 
employees or visitors and therefore is car free. The proposed development would be 
well served by public transport users, cyclist, or pedestrians. The site is within walking 
distance of Hammersmith underground station, served by the Circle, District, 
Hammersmith and City and Piccadilly lines and Ravenscourt Park station served by the 
Circle, District and Hammersmith and City lines. The site is well served by bus routes 
and stops on both King Street and Glenthorne Road. The nearest bus stop is 
approximately 200m from the site. There are a number of Sheffield cycle stands on King 
Street and two docking stations for the Santander Cycle self-service, bike-sharing 
scheme. One is located outside Hammersmith Town Hall. The site therefore provides 
excellent links to the wider London area.  
 
Trip Generation 
5.47 The trips generated by the previous land use have not been used to draw 
comparisons with the proposed development. This is because the site was formerly 
used as a recording studio and timber yard. Both uses generated trip rates very specific 
to their use and therefore, have little to no bearing on the travel demands generated by 
the proposed car-free office development. Trip generation predictions using TRICS 
have been used to estimate the trip rates for the proposed new development. The 
surveys were selected based on their land use and similar characteristics to the 
proposed development. The results state the development would increase in person 
trips to the site by approximately 102-person trips for each peak hour (AM), with a small 
reduction on this figure in each peak (PM) hour. The results are however considered 
modest and it is expected the majority (approximately 67%) of the total person trips 
would be made by public transport, with around 4% of trips made on foot and 6% made 
on bicycle. As this is a car free development in a town centre location, with a high PTAL 
value, officers are satisfied that any vehicle trips would be limited and the increase in 
other means of travel would not give rise to a noticeable impact on the local transport 
network. An interim Travel Plan has been submitted supporting the application. The 
occupiers and end-users of the office space is not yet known and therefore not possible 
to be precise about the characteristics of the employees who will work here. However, it 
can be assumed at this stage that the staff who are likely to work in the office will mostly 
be drawn from the Greater London area. The application is therefore considered to be 
acceptable in this regard. 
 
Cycle Parking 
5.48 London Plan Policy 6.9 relates to cycling. The policy states that developments 
should provide secure, integrated, convenient and accessible parking facilities in line 
with minimum standards. Local Plan Policy T3 (Increasing the opportunities for cycling 
and walking) including Appendix 8 requires a minimum of 1 cycle space per 90 sqm and 

Page 146



 

1 space per 500 sqm for visitors in line with the London Plan standards. The standards 
are based on gross external floor space. Taking into account these standards, the 
development requires a minimum of 32 long stay and 6 short stay spaces (38 spaces in 
total) within the boundaries of the site. These spaces are required to be convenient, 
accessible, safe, and retained for the life of the development. Shower facilities for the 
staff should also be provided. The refused office scheme failed to provide appropriate 
cycle parking provision. The revised scheme proposes 47 secure parking spaces in 
total, 30 within a dedicated cycle store on the ground floor of Building A with shower and 
changing room facilities, 8 long stay spaces in the courtyard for Buildings B, C and D 
and an additional 9 visitor spaces. 
 
Travel Plan 
5.49     A draft travel plan has been submitted with the application. Prior to the 
occupation of the development a Full Travel Plan will be required. A contribution 
towards the monitoring fee of the Travel Plan for year 1, 3 and 5 is secured via s106 
agreement.  
 
Servicing and Waste 
5.50 Local Plan Policy T2 seeks delivery and servicing plans be secured. Key Principle 
TR27 of the SPD requires adequate loading, unloading, and waiting of good vehicles 
must be provided normally within the development site. Policy CC7 sets out the 
requirements for all new developments to provide suitable facilities for the management 
of waste generated by the development. The policy requires adequate capacity of 
convenient storage facilities. Key Principles WM9-WM11 expand on the requirements 
related to commercial waste.  
 
5.51 King Street operates as a one-way street. Traffic flows in a westbound direction 
and has a generous carriageway width (in excess of 8.0m) outside the entrance to 
Dimes Place. In comparison, Dimes Place is a narrow road with a width of between 
4.2m to 4.8m. Dimes Place is a narrow road and has a width of approximately 3.3m. 
and is used for access/egress and the waste collection by neighbouring 
properties/businesses. Argyle Place has a comparable width to Dimes Place for the first 
50 m and then opens. Both roads are subject to waiting/parking restrictions. No 
vehicular access arrangement is proposed off Argyle Place or Cambridge Grove. 
 
5.52 There are a series of loading bays in the vicinity of the site, and parking bays 
along the northern and southern carriageway edges of King Street. A loading bay 
(14.5m in length) is provided on the north side of King Street (outside the "Argos" store) 
to the west of Dimes Place. The restrictions attached to this loading bay permit "goods 
vehicles loading only, 1.5 hours, no return within 1 hour".  A second 20 minutes loading 
bay is located on the southside of King Street outside the "Iceland" store. There are also 
2hr pay & display parking bays located in the vicinity of the site. Additional loading bays 
are provided at regular intervals along King Street. Outside of the designated 
loading/parking bays in King Street, carriageway restrictions in the form of single or 
double yellow lines specify no loading can legally take place between Monday to 
Saturday (between 8.30am and 6.30pm) and in force during normal office hours. 
Motorcycle and cycles can utilise Dimes Place and visitor cycle parking spaces would 
be provided on site as part of the proposals. 
 
5.53 The proposed development would provide zero on site car parking and no 
vehicular access into the site. All refuse, delivery and servicing arrangement would take 
place from the public highway, within the designated loading or parking bays on King 

Page 147



 

Street. Delivery vehicles are permitted to use the bays within the loading / unloading 
restrictions however, it is anticipated these operations would be for a short period. 
 
5.54 A Delivery and Servicing Management Plan (DSMP) has been prepared to support 
the current application and provides details of the proposed delivery and servicing 
management arrangements for the development. A Loading and Parking Bay Analysis 
is also included and assessed the capacity of the two loading and one parking bay 
closest to the site. This technical note supports the main Transport Statement. The 
DSMP set out the proposed arrangements and how deliveries, collection, servicing trips 
and catering, could operate efficiently on site as appropriate to the organisation's 
activities. Deliveries to the site would be via the main reception off Dimes Place and 
subsequently be collected from individual units. As part of the scheme there will be a 
requirement to ensure that all pre-arranged servicing, delivery and maintenance visits 
specify Dimes Place, use of those bays on King Street and avoid parking up along 
Argyle Place. It is recommended the delivery and servicing management strategy be 
secured by condition. Accordingly, the proposal is considered to accord with Policy T2 
of the Local Plan. 
 
5.55 A traffic survey of the use of the existing loading bays on King Street has been 
undertaken and took place over a 12-hour period (8am to 8pm) on two consecutive 
weekdays: Tuesday 7th and Wednesday 8th May 2019. The busiest period is midday 
with an average occupancy of 60% observed across the two bays. The survey 
demonstrates there is spare capacity within either loading bay (north and south of King 
Street) to accommodate additional deliveries / servicing activity. 
 
5.56 It is estimated that the revised scheme would generate an average of 8 to 9 
delivery vehicle visits on an average weekday and due to the nature of the propose use 
it is not anticipated that any deliveries would take place at weekends. It is considered 
that the estimated level frequency of goods vehicle deliveries would not impact 
significantly on the existing loading bays capacity in King Street. Courier deliveries are 
expected to be for a shorter period and can be managed with linked trips. Findings 
indicate that there is sufficient capacity to serve the site in accordance with Policy T2.  
 
5.57 Refuse and Recycling facilities would be stored in bins in each building at ground 
floor level with the main storage facility located on the ground floor of Building A, 
accessible by waste operatives for direct collection from King street via Dimes Place. 
The bin stores would provide 4 no. 1,100 litre bins. 
 
Demolition and Construction Logistic Plan 
5.58 Concern has been expressed regarding the impact of the demolition and 
construction phases of the proposed development. An updated draft Construction 
Logistics Plan (CLP) and a Construction Approach Plan (CAP) have been provided with 
the current application in accordance with the requirements of policy T7 of the Local 
Plan. The draft CLP summarises the proposed logistics assessments, including further 
details of construction vehicles, access arrangements, and traffic routing. Construction 
access/egress to the site would be from Dimes Place. THE CLP and CAP affirm that 
Argyle Place would not be used. Construction vehicles are expected to use the 
Hammersmith Gyratory onto King Street and using the one-way direction of this road 
continue round and turn right into Studland Road/Glenthorne Road. Vehicles will then 
follow this one-way road into Beadon Road then once again join Hammersmith 
Gyratory. From here there is the route choice of the A4 east and west.  The supporting 
statements summarise that deliveries would be pre-booked and allocated set arrival 

Page 148



 

times and there would be no area for waiting vehicles. The draft CAP is in effect a 
Construction Management Plan and cover matters relating to noise/disturbance and 
dust. Air Quality monitoring equipment would be used to monitor the effects. The 
boundary wall adjacent to the rear gardens on Cambridge Grove would also be 
protected/retained and would therefore reduce disruption. Officers recommend a 
condition be included to this effect. A phased approach has been developed which 
would allow the works to be undertaken in a planned manner and within the shortest 
building programme possible and includes controls to mitigate impacts to adjoining 
residents. 
 
5.59 The ability to service the construction site through Dimes Place is a key concern 
for residents and officers and was one of the grounds of refusal on the previous office 
led application. Officers considered on-site testing by the use of a related sized vehicles 
was necessary, to ensure that all vehicles associated with the demolition/construction 
works can properly access/egress the site. On site testing was carried out ahead of the 
submission of the application. The testing demonstrated that a 12-yard skip on a 2.5 x 
6.5m vehicle can satisfactorily access / egress Dimes Place in a forward gear and turn 
around on the site. The CLP includes swept paths for the different buildings. Banksmen 
at the entrance to Dimes Place off King Street were provided to ensure pedestrian 
safety. Requirements for a pre-conditions survey and traffic management order have 
discussed  with the Council's highways and Network Management team. 
 
5.60 The latest proposal would reduce the extent of demolition works, disruption and 
the build out programme. The building programme proposes a timetable of 
approximately 56 weeks, from the point of demolition to substantial completion of the 
shell of the buildings (excluding fit out). Five phases of works are summarised (i) site 
establishment and hoardings (ii) demolition and site clearance (iii) sub structure works 
(iv) construction works and (v) construction and fit out works. The retention of both the 
existing former timber yard office and extension of the one storey 'recording studio' 
instead of a new build would shorten the build programme. Proposals to use timber 
framed and prefabricated construction techniques have also been considered by the 
applicant for Buildings B, C and D and would shorten the construction time. In addition, 
off site manufacturing methods there is less need for on-site heavy machinery and 
equipment plus construction vehicles. 
 
5.61 The applicant is supportive of appointing a key person in the role of 'community 
officer.' A condition is generally required for the submission of a final detailed CMP and 
CLP for the demolition/construction works. At this stage the draft information provided is 
considered acceptable. A final demolition and construction management and logistics 
plan would however be required prior to the commencement of works and accordingly 
the development would accord with policy T7 of the Local Plan. In addition, officer 
recommend that a Business/Community Liaison Group be established for the duration 
of the proposed works which would be operated in parallel with the CMP and CLP. In 
conclusion, officers consider the latest construction strategy documents provide clearer 
details of how the development works would take place and minimise disruption to local 
residents. Accordingly, the proposal is considered to accord with Policy T7 of the Local 
Plan. 
 
Emergency/Fire Access 
5.62 The applicant has provided a preliminary fire strategy report in discussion with a 
Building Control Approved Inspector that covers means of escape for office occupants, 
external fire spread and sets out initial proposals for firefighting access and provision. 

Page 149



 

Firefighting access would be achieved in line the current Building Regulations Part B 
(Fire Safety) guidance with dry risers to be incorporated into the scheme to the 
perimeter of the site that will allow a parked fire tender (in King Street or in Cambridge 
Grove) to connect to the internal firefighting system that in turn allows complete hose 
coverage of all office buildings. In terms of means of escape and external fire spread, 
the proposals will fully comply with Building Regulations Part B and will be subject 
during detailed design to consultation with the Fire Authority to obtain the required Fire 
Safety certificate.  The previously refused scheme included a reception area which has 
been removed and allows clear access into the site. Officers consider that subject to a 
condition the development meets related health, highway safety, accessibility 
arrangements. 
 
Flood Risk and Drainage 
5.63 Policy 5.12 of the London Plan requires development proposals to comply with 
flood risk assessment and management requirements set out in the NPPF and 
associated Technical Guidance on flood risk over the lifetime of the development. Local 
Plan policy CC3 and CC4 are key policies which deal with flood risk management and 
water use issues. These require developments to incorporate flood mitigation and SuDs 
measures. 
 
5.64 The site is in the Environment Agency's Flood Zone 3. The site is protected from 
flooding from the River Thames (approximately 350 m to the south) by flood defences. 
However if these were breached or over-topped, the site could be impacted by flood 
water. To comply with the NPPF a Flood Risk Assessment (FRA) has been submitted 
with the application. The redevelopment is for commercial office space which is defined 
as a 'less vulnerable' land use according to the NPPF. Given the proposed land use 
classification an Exception Test is not required. The FRA states that occupants of the 
offices would have a safe dry refuge on upper floors within the buildings at all times and 
there is secondary access via Cambridge Grove which could be used to leave the site if 
the King Street/Dimes Place route was blocked. The Environment Agency recommend 
that finished floor levels are set above the 2100 breach flood level, which is 5.04m AOD 
to improve flood resilience and an informative is attached to the effect. 
 
5.65 The site could also be at risk of surface water flooding although not to the extent 
that it is considered a designated flooding hotspot. The FRA sets out a range of flood 
mitigation measures to minimise the flood risks on the site including the preparation of a 
flood warning and evacuation plan, subscription to the Environment Agency's free Flood 
Warning Service and adoption of a flood resilient/resistant approach to the 
development. The FRA is considered to be acceptable in related to Policy CC3 of the 
Local Plan and implementation of its measures is sought via condition. 
 
5.66 In respect of sustainable drainage, consideration has been given in the FRA to 
potential surface water management proposals, in line with the requirement of Local 
Plan Policy CC3 and CC4 in terms of reducing water use and the risk of flooding to 
integrate sustainable drainage systems (SuDs) into new developments. It is proposed 
that the development includes a water butt for outside plant irrigation and an internal 
rainwater tank which would drip feed to the external climbing plants for irrigation. Run 
off from all storms up to the 1 in 100-year event (+climate change factor) would be 
managed with the on-site SuDs measures rather than any run-off needing to be 
managed on the surface. This includes approximately 494 sqm of green roofs and 208 
sqm of tanked permeable paving and an attenuation tank proving 102 m3 of on-site 
storage. This approach is considered to be acceptable and in line with Policy CC4 of the 

Page 150



 

Local Plan. A condition is secured to ensure that the measures as outlined would be 
incorporated and maintained. An informative has also been attached advising that 
water-efficient appliances should be used throughout the development. 
 
5.67 It is considered that the risk of flooding from all sources is generally low, and the 
development can be operated safely and without significantly increasing flood risk 
elsewhere. Subject to the relevant conditions and informative, the proposed 
development would be considered to pose a flood risk and sustainable drainage matters 
will be adequately addressed. The proposed development complies with Local Plan 
policies CC3 and CC4. 
 
Contaminated land  
5.68 Local Plan Policy CC9 is applicable. Potentially contaminative land uses (past or 
present) are understood to occur at, or near to, this site. The Council's preliminary 
review of historical land uses has identified the site as potentially contaminated, as per 
Part 2A of the Environmental Protection Act 1990 and is prioritised for further inspection 
under the Council' s Contaminated Land Strategy. The site is placed in the third highest 
category out of eight; however, a timeframe for further investigation has not yet been 
established. 
 
5.69 The applicant submitted a Contaminated Land Assessment which has been 
reviewed by the Council. The report states that the site would not pose a risk to future 
site occupiers. Officers consider the report generally meets the requirements of a 
Preliminary Risk Assessment set out under CLR11, but further investigation is 
necessary. A full main investigation would be required to be undertaken following 
demolition works and a suitable Investigation Scheme agreed in writing with the Council 
prior to demolition. Conditions are attached to the consent to ensure that no 
unacceptable risks are caused to humans, controlled waters, or the wider environment 
during and following the development works, in accordance with Local Plan Policy CC9. 
 
Energy and Sustainability   
5.70 London Plan Policy 5.1 requires London Boroughs to contribute in achieving a city-
wide strategic carbon dioxide emissions target of 60% by 2025.  Policy 5.2 requires 
development proposals to make fullest contributions to minimising carbon dioxide 
emissions. Policy 5.7 seeks to increase the proportion of energy generated from 
renewable sources. 
 
5.71 Local Plan Policy CC1 requires applicants to demonstrate how proposals would 
implement energy conservation measures. Policy CC2 seeks the implementation of 
sustainable design and construction measures. 
 
5.72 In terms of the submitted Energy Strategy, the London Plan Energy Hierarchy (Be 
Lean, Be Clean, Be Green) has been used to guide the approach to integrating energy 
efficiency and low/zero carbon measures. Building materials with high insulation 
performance, solar control glazing, use of low energy light fittings and heating controls, 
improved air permeability levels and use of heat recovery on the ventilation system 
would be used. This would achieve a 10.40% reduction in CO2 Emissions. Feasibility of 
connecting to an existing heating or cooling network has been considered however 
disregarded due to the distance of existing district networks in the area. An Air Source 
Heat Pump (ASHP) system would be used to meet heating and cooling requirements, 
while hot water would be served locally by instantaneous hot water boilers, 
supplemented by solar PV on the roof of the buildings to help further offset CO2 

Page 151



 

emissions. In total, the energy efficiency and low/zero carbon measures are calculated 
to reduce annual CO2 emissions by just over 40% which meets the London Plan's 
minimum target of a 35% improvement on the Building Regulation requirements. A 
condition to ensure the implementation of the outlined measures is secured. Should the 
full PV not be provided a carbon offset to the council would be required on the basis of 
£1800/Tonne and would be secured via the S106 agreement. 
 
5.73 In terms of sustainability, some of the existing buildings are to be retained and 
refurbished resulting in less demolition works and waste off the site. The BREEAM 
Assessment shows that the proposed sustainable design and construction measures 
can achieve the "Excellent" BREEAM rating. This is adequate to meet the requirements 
of Local Plan policy CC2 and London Plan policy 5.3 on sustainable design and 
construction. Measures planned for the site include measures to reduce energy use and 
CO2 emissions, which include the provision of PV's pm the roofs of Buildings A, B, C 
and D, reduce use of other resources such as water, make use of building materials 
with low environmental impacts, minimise waste and promote recycling. Urban greening 
would be introduced, and the development encourages sustainable means of transport. 
A post construction BREEAM assessment will be conditioned to confirm the measures 
have been implemented as required. 
 
Air Quality 
5.74 Policy 7.14 of the London Plan and Local Plan policy CC10 specifically aim to 
improve air quality. The development site is within the borough wide Air Quality 
Management Area (AQMA) and in an area of poor air quality for NO2 and PM10 due to 
the road traffic vehicle emissions from King Street and Glenthorne Road. A detailed air 
quality assessment has been submitted. The assessment has focused on the potential 
impact on local air quality from the demolition and construction activities on the site. An 
air quality neutral assessment has also been undertaken as the proposal is classified a 
major development. 
 
5.75 The demolition and construction work have the greatest potential to create dust 
and air quality issues. Impacts from these activities can be reduced to a negligible level 
through appropriate mitigation measures. Monitoring equipment is recommended in 
order to minimise exposure outside the site boundaries and for the results to be 
reviewed frequently. The air quality neutral assessment concludes that the proposed 
development would meet building emission benchmarks. 
 
Rodent Control 
5.76 Rodent control is a concern highlighted by local residents, in particular during the 
demolition and construction works. The applicant has advised that prior to the 
commencement of any works on the site, a rodent/pest survey would be completed by 
an appropriate qualified company and appropriate measure would be implemented. 
During construction works the site would be required to be kept clean and tidy and any 
subsequent rodents identified would be dealt with appropriately. 
 
Tree Protection 
5.77 There is an existing tree in the rear garden of no.38 Argyle Place adjacent to the 
boundary of the site. There is potential for this tree to be damaged during demolition 
and construction and as such a condition securing tree protection measures has been 
included in accordance with Local Plan Policy OS5.  
 
 

Page 152



 

6.0 SECTION 106 AND COMMUNITY INFRASTRUCTURE LEVY (CIL) 
 
6.1 Mayoral CIL came into effect in April 2012 and is a material consideration to which 
regard must be had when determining this planning application. This development 
would be subject to a London-wide community infrastructure levy. This would contribute 
towards the funding of Crossrail and is generally charged at £50/sqm. An estimate of 
£104,750 based on the new floorspace (NIA) has been calculated. The GLA expect the 
Council, as the collecting authority, to secure the levy in accordance with Policy 8.3 of 
The London Plan.  
 
6.2 LBHF CIL came into effect on 1 September 2015. This means that CIL liable 
development proposals approved on or after 1 September will need to pay the borough 
CIL as well as Mayoral CIL. The LBHF CIL Charging Schedule identifies the type of 
developments liable to pay Borough CIL. Site is located within the boundary of 'Central 
B' and a £0/m2 (nil) rate is applied. Therefore, the development is  not liable for 
payment. 
 
Section 106 Agreements ('S106s') 
 
6.3 The Council will seek to negotiate S106s, where the S106 'tests' are met, for: 
 
o the provision of infrastructure projects or types not specified on the R123 List 
(through either financial contributions or 'in kind' delivery); and 
o non-'infrastructure' provisions, such as for affordable housing (see policy H03) and 
S106 monitoring expenses.' 
 
6.4 The LBHF CIL Charging Schedule identifies a number of exceptions to the R123 
List where the Council intends to negotiate S106 obligations to secure the provision of 
infrastructure. Two of the identified exceptions are: 
 
- Provision of infrastructure which is requited to ensure compliance by a 
development with a policy of the Development Plan and any relevant SPDs which 
specifically requires provision on the relevant site: and 
- An item of infrastructure or the improvement, replacement, operation or 
maintenance of any infrastructure) that is specifically required to make a planning 
application acceptable (subject to there being no more than 5 planning obligations 
(already entered into since April 10) for that item at the time). 
 
6.5  A legal agreement is required to secure the heads of terms to ensure the 
development accords with the local plan and secures necessary infrastructure required 
to mitigate the proposal. These heads of terms include: 
 
- Construction phase (2 apprentices, 2 paid and 2 unpaid work experience 
placements); £21,000 
- Operational phase (7 positions); £24,500 
- Local Supply contribution £3,375 
- Travel Plan with review at years 1,3 and 5 at £3,000 each 
- Section 278 agreement to Dimes Place/King Street, Argyle Place and Cambridge 
Grove.  
 
 
 

Page 153



 

7.0 CONCLUSION 
 
7.1 The proposal would see the demolition of dilapidated buildings, and revitalisation 
of a redundant and disused site located within the Hammersmith town centre and a 
regeneration area. The principle of a Class B1 office use within this location is 
supported and would contribute to the provision of modern small and medium sized 
enterprises and employment opportunities within the borough and would further 
contribute to the vitality of the town centre.  
 
7.2 The proposed development is considered to create a high-quality environment with 
a design that is sympathetic in nature to the surrounding character and appearance of 
the area. The massing and height to Buildings (A), (B) (C) and (D) have been reduced 
when compared to the former refused scheme, and the amendments have regard to the 
former use as a timber yard, the urban grain and language of the surrounding locality. 
The scheme would enhance the character and appearance of the Bradmore 
Conservation Area and adjacent conservation area, the local area. The proposed 
changes to this scheme would significantly improve the outlook and reduces sense of 
enclosure for residents of Argyle Place and Cambridge Grove. The proposals would not 
have a material impact on the amenities of adjacent residents, in terms of actual or 
perceived overlooking or privacy due to the design changes proposed, daylight and 
sunlight requirements or noise impacts. The proposal would deliver improved lighting 
and security surveillance facilities for the immediate area providing safer routes. 
Sections of the footways in Argyle Place, Cambridge Grove and would also be 
upgraded with improvement pavements as part of the S278 works. A construction 
strategy has been prepared which sets out how the development would be constructed 
and to ensure the works would cause minimum disruption to neighbouring residents. 
 
7.3 The site is in a highly sustainable. The proposal is car free and meets the London 
Plan targets for provision of cycle parking or generate an undue amount of traffic and 
there is sufficient capacity on-street via loading bays for servicing the site.  The offices 
would be built to meet a BREEAM 'excellent' rating.  
 
7.4 Accordingly, it is recommended that the proposed development be granted 
planning permission subject to the conditions listed and the completion of a s106 
agreement securing the heads of terms contained within this report. 
 
 

Page 154



 

--------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------- 
Ward:  Avonmore And Brook Green 
 

Site Address: 
Olympia Exhibition Centre  Hammersmith Road  London  W14 
8UX   
 

 

 
 

© Crown Copyright. All Rights Reserved. London Borough Hammersmith and Fulham LA100019223 (2013). 

For identification purposes only - do not scale. 
 

 
Reg. No: 
2019/01433/FUL 
 
Date Valid: 
09.05.2019 
 
Committee Date: 
22.07.2019 

Case Officer: 
Peter Wilson 
 
Conservation Area: 
Constraint Name: Olympia And Avonmore 
Conservation Area - Number 23 

Page 155

Agenda Item 8



 

Applicant: 
Olympus Property Holding Limited 
 
Description: 
Internal and external physical alterations to accommodate new temporary mezzanine 
level decks in Grand and National Halls (full hall coverage), provision of associated 
temporary new entrance building and lifts, erection of plant and associated landscaping 
and physical works. 
Drg Nos: See Condition 4 
 
 
Application Type: 
Full Detailed Planning Application 
 
--------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------- 
 

LOCAL GOVERNMENT ACT 2000 
LIST OF BACKGROUND PAPERS 

 
All Background Papers held by Andrew Marshall (Ext:  4841): 
 
Application form received: 8th May 2019 
Drawing Nos:   see Condition 4 
 
 
Policy documents: National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) 2018 

The London Plan 2016 
LBHF - Local Plan 2018 
LBHF - Supplementary Planning Document 2018 

 
 
Consultation Comments: 
 
Comments from: Dated:  
Historic England London Region 01.07.19 
Historic England London Region 13.06.19 
Historic England London Region 13.06.19 
Royal Borough Of Kensington And Chelsea 12.06.19 
Transport For London - Land Use Planning Team 11.06.19 
Historic England London Region 28.05.19 
Royal Borough Of Kensington And Chelsea 30.05.19 
Network Rail 13.06.19 
 
 
Neighbour Comments: 
 
Letters from: Dated: 
 
69 Edith Road London W140TH   13.06.19 
25 Hofland Road London W14 0LN   17.06.19 
33 Margaret Street London W1G 0JD   05.07.19 
 

Page 156



 

REPORT CONTENTS 
 
 
RECOMMENDATION 
   
CONDITIONS  
 
RECOMMENDED REASONS FOR APPROVAL        
 
1.0 BACKGROUND 
  
 1.2 Site and Designations Context 
 1.21 Planning History         
 
2.0 PROPOSAL 
 
3.0 PUBLICITY AND CONSULTATIONS 
 
4.0 PLANNING POLICY FRAMEWORK 
 
5.0 PLANNING CONSIDERATIONS       
  

 5.1 Principle of Development and Land Use 

 5.2 Design and Heritage 

 5.3 Highways 

 5.4 Sustainability and Energy 

 5.5 Flood Risk and Drainage 

 5.6 Ground Contamination 

 5.7 Noise and Vibration 

 5.8 Accessibility      

 
6.0 CIL 
 
7.0 CONCLUSIONS 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 157



 

Officer Recommendation: 
 
That the Strategic Director for The Economy Department be authorised to 
determine the application and grant planning permission subject to the 
conditions listed below. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 158



 

 
CONDITIONS 
 

 
In line with the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 and the Town and Country 
Planning (Pre-commencement Conditions) Regulations 2018, officers have 
consulted the applicant on the pre-commencement conditions included in the 
agenda and the applicant has raised no objections. 
 
1. Time Limit 
 
The development hereby permitted shall be removed and the buildings and land 
restored to their former condition on or before 3 years from the date of this planning 
permission. 
 
Condition required to be imposed by section 91(1)(a) of the Town and Country Planning 
Act 1990 (as amended by section 51 of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 
2004). 
 
2. Floorspace 
 
The Class D1 temporary floorspace approved as shown on the application drawings 
shall not be in active use at any time while the Class D1 exhibition floorspace within 
Olympia Central is in active use 
 
Reason: To ensure the development is carried out and used in accordance with the 
impacts assessed, in accordance with London Plan Policies 2.1, 4.1, and 4.6 and Local 
Plan Policies CF1, CF3 and TLC1. 
 
3. Use of Buildings 
 
The development hereby permitted shall be restricted to Class D1 exhibition use and 
ancillary entrance/circulation use as shown on the approved drawings only. 
 
Reason: To ensure the development is carried out and used in accordance with the 
impacts assessed, in accordance with London Plan Policies 2.1, 4.1, and 4.6 and Local 
Plan Policies CF1, CF3 and TLC1. 
 
4. Approved Drawings  
 
The Development shall be carried out and completed in accordance with the 
following approved drawings:   
 
Demolition Plans 
1819-SPP-DR-A-GD-D-20-0G-01-01 Grand Deck - Demolition Level 0G Floor Plan P01; 
1819-SPP-DR-A-GD-D-20-01-01-01 Grand Deck - Demolition Level 01 Floor Plan P01; 
1819-SPP-DR-A-GD-D-20-0R-01-01 Grand Deck - Demolition Roof Plan P01; 
1819-SPP-DR-A-ND-D-20-0G-01-01 National - Demolition Level 0G Floor Plan P01; 
1819-SPP-DR-A-ND-D-20-01-01-01 National - Demolition Level 01 Floor Plan A1 P01; 
1819-SPP-DR-A-ND-D-20-0R-01-01 National - Demolition Roof Plan P01. 
 
 

Page 159



 

Demolition Elevations 
1819-SPP-DR-A-GD-D-25-XX-01-01 Grand Deck - Demolition NE & SE Elevations P01; 
1819-SPP-DR-A-GD-D-25-XX-01-02 Grand Deck - Demolition NW & SW Elevations 
P01; 1819-SPP-DR-A-ND-D-25-XX-01-01 National Deck - Demolition NE & SE 
Elevations P01; 1819-SPP-DR-A-ND-D-25-XX-01-02 National Deck - Demolition NW & 
SW Elevations P01. 
 
Demolition Sections 
1819-SPP-DR-A-GD-D-26-XX-01-01 Grand Deck - Demolition Sections S1 & S2 P01; 
1819-SPP-DR-A-ND-D-26-XX-01-01 National Deck - Demolition Sections S1 & S2 P01. 
 
Demolition Area Schedule 
1819-SPP-SC-A-TD-D-80-0001 Demolition Area Schedule P01. 
 
Proposed Site 
1819-SPP-DR-A-TD-P-00-XX-01-01 Proposed Site Plan P01. 
 
Proposed Plans 
1819-SPP-DR-A-GD-P-20-0G-01-01 Grand Deck - Proposed Level 0G Floor Plan P01; 
1819-SPP-DR-A-GD-P-20-01-01-01 Grand Deck - Proposed Level 01 Floor Plan P02; 
1819-SPP-DR-A-GD-P-20-0R-01-01 Grand Deck - Proposed Roof Plan P01; 
1819-SPP-DR-A-ND-P-20-0G-01-01 National Deck - Proposed Level 0G Floor Plan 
P01; 1819-SPP-DR-A-ND-P-20-01-01-01 National Deck - Proposed Level 01 Floor Plan 
P01; 1819-SPP-DR-A-ND-P-20-0R-01-01 National Deck - Proposed Roof Plan P01. 
 
Proposed Elevations 
1819-SPP-DR-A-GD-P-25-XX-01-01 Grand Deck - Proposed NE & SE Elevations P01; 
1819-SPP-DR-A-GD-P-25-XX-01-02 Grand Deck - Proposed SW & NW Elevations P01; 
1819-SPP-DR-A-GD-P-25-XX-01-01 National Deck - Proposed NE & SE Elevations 
P01; 1819-SPP-DR-A-ND-P-25-XX-01-02 National Deck - Proposed NW & SW 
Elevations P01; 1819-SPP-DR-A-EH-P-25-XX-01-01 Entrance Hall - Axonometric Views 
P01; 1819-SPP-DR-A-GD-P-25-XX-01-11 Grand - Hospitality Room & Additional 
Elevation - Phased P01 
 
Proposed Sections 
1819-SPP-DR-A-GD-P-26-XX-01-01 Grand Deck - Proposed Sections S1 & S2 P01; 
1819-SPP-DR-A-GD-P-26-XX-01-02 Entrance Box Evolution from Existing to Proposed 
Phase P01; 1819-SPP-DR-A-ND-P-26-XX-01-01 National Deck - Proposed Sections S1 
& S2 P01; 1819-SPP-DR-A-EH-P-26-XX-01-01 Proposed New Front Box Sections P01. 
 
Proposed Details 
1819-SPP-DR-A-GD-P-21-XX-01-01 Grand-Deck - Proposed Details S1; 1819-SPP-
DR-A-GD-P-21-XX-01-02 Grand-Deck - Proposed Details S2; 1819-SPP-DR-A-ND-P-
21-XX-01-01 National-Deck - Proposed Details S1; 1819-SPP-DR-A-ND-P-21-XX-01-02 
National-Deck - Proposed Details S2; 1819-SPP-DR-A-EH-P-21-XX-01-03 Entrance 
Hall - Proposed Details 01; 1819-SPP-DR-A-EH-P-21-XX-01-01 Entrance Hall - 
Proposed Details 02; 1819-SPP-DR-A-EH-P-21-XX-01-02 Entrance Hall - Proposed 
Details 03. 
 
Proposed Stair & Balustrate Details 
1819-SPP-DR-A-GD-P-24-XX-01-01 Grand-Deck - Proposed Stair Details S1; 1819-
SPP-DR-A-GD-P-24-XX-01-02 Grand-Deck - Proposed Stair Details S2; 1819-SPP-DR-

Page 160



 

A-GD-P-24-XX-01-03 Grand-Deck - Proposed Balustrate Details S1; 1819-SPP-DR-A-
GD-P-24-XX-01-04 Grand-Deck - Proposed Balustrate Details S2; 1819-SPP-DR-A-ND-
P-24-XX-01-01 National-Deck - Proposed Stair Details S1; 1819-SPP-DR-A-ND-P-24-
XX-01-02 National-Deck - Proposed Stair Details S2; 1819-SPP-DR-A-ND-P-24-XX-01-
03 National-Deck - Proposed Balustrate Details; 1819-SPP-DR-A-ND-P-24-XX-01-04 
National-Deck - Proposed Balustrate Details S2. 
 
Proposed Ceiling Plans & Ceiling Details 
1819-SPP-DR-A-GD-P-35-0G-01-01 Grand-Deck - Proposed Level 0G Reflected 
Ceiling; 1819-SPP-DR-A-GD-P-35-01-01-02 Grand-Deck - Proposed Level 01 Reflected 
Ceiling; 1819-SPP-DR-A-GD-P-35-XX-01-10 Grand-Deck - Proposed Ceiling Details 
S1; 1819-SPP-DR-A-GD-P-35-XX-01-11 Grand-Deck - Proposed Ceiling Details S2; 
1819-SPP-DR-A-ND-P-35-0G-01-01 National-Deck - Proposed Level 0G Reflected 
Ceiling; 1819-SPP-DR-A-ND-P-35-0G-01-02 National-Deck - Proposed Level 01 
Reflected Ceiling; 1819-SPP-DR-A-ND-P-35-XX-01-10 National-Deck - Proposed 
Ceiling Details S1; 1819-SPP-DR-A-ND-P-35-XX-01-11 National-Deck - Proposed 
Ceiling Details S2. 
 
Proposed Lifts 
1819-SPP-DR-A-GD-P-75-XX-01-01 Grand-Deck - Proposed Lift Details; 1819-SPP-
DR-A-GD-P-75-XX-01-02 Grand-Deck - Proposed Lift Elevations; 1819-SPP-DR-A-ND-
P-75-XX-01-01 National-Deck - Proposed Stair Details S2; 1819-SPP-DR-A-ND-P-75-
XX-01-02 National-Deck - Proposed Lift Elevations. 
 
Reason: To ensure full compliance with the planning application hereby approved and 
to prevent harm arising through deviations from the approved plans, in accordance with 
Policies 7.1, 7.2, 7.3, 7.4, 7.5, 7.6, 7.7, 7.8, 7.9 and 7.21 of the London Plan 2016 and 
Policies DC1, DC2, DC3, DC4 and DC8 of the Local Plan 2018. 
 
5. Business and Community Liaison Groups  
 
For the duration of the works hereby approved and up to two years after occupation of 
the final Phase of development, the applicant will establish and maintain Business and 
Community Liaison Groups having the purpose of: 
 

(i) informing nearby residents and businesses of the programme of works for 
the Development; 

 
(ii) informing nearby residents and businesses of progress of each Phase; 

 
(iii) informing nearby residents and businesses of appropriate mitigation 

measures being undertaken as part of the Development; 
 

(iv) informing nearby residents and businesses of considerate methods of 
working such as working hours and site traffic; 

 
(v) providing advanced notice of exceptional hours of work, if and when 

appropriate; 
 

(vi) providing nearby residents and businesses with an initial contact for 
information relating to each Phase of works for the Development and 

Page 161



 

procedures for receiving/responding to comments or complaints regarding 
the Development with the view of resolving any concerns that might arise; 

 
(vii) providing telephone contacts for nearby residents and businesses 24-

hours daily throughout each Phase of works for the Development; and 
 

(viii) producing a leaflet prior to each Phase of the Development for distribution 
to nearby residents and businesses, identifying progress of the 
Development and which shall include an invitation to register an interest in 
the Liaison Groups. 

 
The terms of reference for the Business and Community Liaison Groups shall be 
submitted to the Council for approval prior to Commencement of any works on site. The 
Business and Community Liaison Groups shall meet at least once every quarter for the 
first year, and at least twice a year until completion. 
 
Reason: To ensure satisfactory communication with residents, businesses, and local 
stakeholders throughout the construction of the development, in accordance with the 
Policies CC11, CC12, CC13, DC2, T7 and CF3 of the Local Plan 2018. 
 
6. Hoardings 
 
Prior to commencement of development a scheme including detailed drawings in plan, 
section, and elevation for temporary fencing and/or enclosure of the site shall be 
submitted to and approved in writing by the Council The temporary fencing and/or 
enclosure shall be painted timber and must be erected prior to commencement of each 
phase in accordance with the approved details. The temporary fencing and/or enclosure 
shall thereafter be retained for the duration of the demolition and building works in 
accordance with the approved details. No part of the temporary fencing and/or 
enclosure of the site shall be used for the display of advertisement hoardings, unless 
consent is sought from the Council. 
 
Reason: To ensure a satisfactory external appearance and to prevent harm to the street 
scene and public realm, in accordance with Policies 7.1 and 7.6 of the London Plan, 
Policy DC1 and DC8 of the Local Plan 2018 and Key Principles of the Planning 
Guidance SPD (2018). 
 
7. Demolition Method Statement 
 
 (i) Prior to commencement of demolition works of each Phase (excluding Enabling 
Works) a Demolition Method Statement for that Phase shall be submitted to and 
approved in writing by the Council. Details shall include control measures for dust, 
noise, vibration, lighting, delivery locations, restriction of hours of work and all 
associated activities audible beyond the site boundary to 0800-1800hrs Mondays to 
Fridays and 0800-1300hrs on Saturdays, advance notification to neighbours and other 
interested parties of proposed works and public display of contact details including 
accessible phone contact to persons responsible for the site works for the duration of 
the works.   
 
(ii) No demolition, within each Phase, shall commence until a risk assessment based on 
the Mayor's Best Practice Guidance (The control of dust and emissions from 
construction and demolition) has been undertaken and a method statement for 

Page 162



 

emissions control (including an inventory and timetable of dust generating activities, 
emission control methods and where appropriate air quality monitoring) for that Phase 
has been submitted to and approved in writing by the council.  The appropriate 
mitigation measures to minimise dust and emissions must be incorporated into the site-
specific Demolition Method Statement and Construction Management Plan.  Developers 
must ensure that on-site contractors follow best practicable means to minimise dust and 
emissions at all times. Demolition works shall be undertaken in accordance with the 
approved details. 
 
Reason: To ensure that occupiers of surrounding premises are not adversely affected 
by noise, vibration, dust, lighting or other emissions from the building site in accordance 
with policies 5.18, 5.19, 5.20, 5.21, 5.22 and 7.14 of the London Plan, Policies DC1, 
DC2, CC6, CC7, CC10, CC11, and CC12 of the Local Plan 2018. 
 
8. Demolition Logistics Plan  
 
Prior to the commencement of each phase of the development hereby approved a 
Demolition Logistics Plan (DLP) covering that Phase has been submitted to and 
approved in writing by the Council. 
 
The works shall be carried out in accordance with the approved DLP for each Stage 
identified above and shall cover the following minimum requirements: 
 

 the estimated number, size and routes of demolition and construction vehicles 
per day/week; 

 details of a Low Emission Vehicle Strategy; 

 details of the access arrangements and delivery locations on the site; 

 details of any vehicle holding areas; and 

 other matters relating to traffic management to be agreed as required. 
 
The DLP shall identify efficiency and sustainability measures to be undertaken for the 
works. The approved details shall be undertaken in accordance with the terms and 
throughout the period set out in the DLP. 
 
Reason: To ensure that occupiers of surrounding premises are not adversely affected 
by noise, vibration, dust, lighting, or other emissions from the building site in accordance 
with Policies 6.11 and 6.12 of the London Plan and T1, T6 and T7 of the Local Plan 
2018. 
 
9. Construction Management Plan 
 
Prior to commencement of each phase of the development hereby approved (excluding 
Enabling Works), a Construction Management Plan covering that phase shall be 
submitted to and approved in writing by the Council. Details shall include control 
measures for dust, noise, vibration, lighting, delivery locations, restriction of hours of 
work and all associated activities audible beyond the site boundary to 0800-1800hrs 
Mondays to Fridays and 0800-1300hrs on Saturdays, advance notification to 
neighbours and other interested parties of proposed works and public display of contact 
details including accessible phone contact to persons responsible for the site works for 
the duration of the works. The construction management plan should include the details 
for all the relevant foundations, basement and ground floor structures, or for any other 
structures below ground level, including piling (temporary and permanent). Approved 

Page 163



 

details for each relevant phase, or part thereof shall be implemented throughout the 
project period. 
 
Reason: To ensure that occupiers of surrounding premises are not adversely affected 
by noise, vibration, dust, lighting, or other emissions from the building site in accordance 
with policies 5.18, 5.19, 5.20, 5.21 and 5.22 of the London Plan, Policies DC1, DC12, 
CC6, CC7, CC10, CC11 and CC12 of the Local Plan 2018 and Key Principles of the 
Planning Guidance SPD (2018). 
  
10. Construction Logistics Plan 
 
Prior to commencement of each phase of the development hereby approved (excluding 
Enabling Works), a Construction Logistics Plan for that Phase shall be submitted to and 
approved in writing by the Council. The method statement /construction management 
plan should include the details for all the relevant foundations, basement and ground 
floor structures, or for any other structures below ground level, including piling 
(temporary and permanent). The development of the relevant Phase shall be carried out 
in accordance with the relevant approved Construction Logistics Management Plan 
unless otherwise agreed in writing with the Council. Each Construction Logistics Plan 
shall cover the following minimum requirements: 
 

 site logistics and operations; 

 construction vehicle routing; 

 contact details for site managers and details of management lines of reporting; 

 detailed plan showing phasing; 

 location of site offices, ancillary buildings, plant, wheel-washing facilities, 
stacking bays and car parking; 

 storage of any skips, oil and chemical storage etc.; and 

 access and egress points; 

 membership of the Considerate Contractors Scheme. 
 
Reason: To ensure that no unacceptable adverse effect on the amenity of surrounding 
occupiers in accordance with Policies 6.11 and 6.12 of the London Plan and T1, T6 and 
T7 of the Local Plan 2018. 
 
11. Preliminary Risk Assessment Report 
 
No development (except Enabling Works) shall commence within each Phase of 
development until a preliminary risk assessment report for that Phase is submitted to 
and approved in writing by the Council. This report shall comprise: a desktop study 
which identifies all current and previous uses at the site and surrounding area as well as 
the potential contaminants associated with those uses; a site reconnaissance; and a 
conceptual model indicating potential pollutant linkages between sources, pathways and 
receptors, including those in the surrounding area and those planned at the site; and a 
qualitative risk assessment of any potentially unacceptable risks arising from the 
identified pollutant linkages to human health, controlled waters and the wider 
environment including ecological receptors and building materials. All works must be 
carried out in compliance with and by a competent person who conforms to CLR 11: 
Model Procedures for the Management of Land Contamination (Defra 2004) or the 
current UK requirements for sampling and testing. 
 

Page 164



 

Reason: Potentially contaminative land uses (past or present) are understood to occur 
at, or near to, this site. This condition is required to ensure that no unacceptable risks 
are caused to humans, controlled waters or the wider environment during and following 
the development works, in accordance with Policies CC9 and CC13 of the Local Plan 
2018 and SPD Key Principles LC1 to LC7 2018. 
 
12. Site Investigation Scheme 
 
No development (except Enabling Works) shall commence within each Phase of 
development until a site investigation scheme for that Phase is submitted to and 
approved in writing by the Council. This scheme shall be based upon and target the 
risks identified in the approved preliminary risk assessment for that Phase and shall 
provide provisions for, where relevant, the sampling of soil, soil vapour, ground gas, 
surface, and groundwater. All works must be carried out in compliance with and by a 
competent person who conforms to CLR 11: Model Procedures for the Management of 
Land Contamination (Defra 2004) or the current UK requirements for sampling and 
testing. 
 
Reason: Potentially contaminative land uses (past or present) are understood to occur 
at, or near to, this site. This condition is required to ensure that no unacceptable risks 
are caused to humans, controlled waters or the wider environment during and following 
the development works, in accordance with Policies CC9 and CC13 of the Local Plan 
2018 and SPD Key Principles LC1 to LC7 2018. 
 
13. Quantitative Risk Assessment Report 
 
Unless the Council agree in writing that a set extent of development must commence to 
enable compliance with this condition, no development (except Enabling Works) shall 
commence within each Phase of development, following a site investigation undertaken 
in compliance with the approved site investigation scheme, a quantitative risk 
assessment report is submitted to and approved in writing by the Council. This report 
shall: assess the degree and nature of any contamination identified on the site through 
the site investigation; include a revised conceptual site model from the preliminary risk 
assessment based on the information gathered through the site investigation to confirm 
the existence of any remaining pollutant linkages and determine the risks posed by any 
contamination to human health, controlled waters and the wider environment. All works 
must be carried out in compliance with and by a competent person who conforms to 
CLR 11: Model Procedures for the Management of Land Contamination (Defra 2004) or 
the current UK requirements for sampling and testing. 
 
Reason: Potentially contaminative land uses (past or present) are understood to occur 
at, or near to, this site. This condition is required to ensure that no unacceptable risks 
are caused to humans, controlled waters or the wider environment during and following 
the development works, in accordance with Policies CC9 and CC13 of the Local Plan 
2018 and SPD Key Principles LC1 to LC7 2018. 
 
14. Remediation Method Statement  
 
Unless the Council agree in writing that a set extent of development must commence to 
enable compliance with this condition, no development (except Enabling Works) shall 
commence within each Phase of development until, a remediation method statement for 
that Phase is submitted to and approved in writing by the Council. This statement shall 

Page 165



 

detail any required remediation works and shall be designed to mitigate any remaining 
risks identified in the approved quantitative risk assessment. All works must be carried 
out in compliance with and by a competent person who conforms to CLR 11: Model 
Procedures for the Management of Land Contamination (Defra 2004) or the current UK 
requirements for sampling and testing. 
 
Reason: Potentially contaminative land uses (past or present) are understood to occur 
at, or near to, this site. This condition is required to ensure that no unacceptable risks 
are caused to humans, controlled waters or the wider environment during and following 
the development works, in accordance with Policies CC9 and CC13 of the Local Plan 
2018 and SPD Key Principles LC1 to LC7 2018. 
 
15. Verification Report 
 
Unless the Council agree in writing that a set extent of development must commence to 
enable compliance with this condition, no development (except Enabling Works) shall 
commence within each Phase of development until the approved remediation method 
statement for that Phase has been carried out in full and a verification report confirming 
these works has been submitted to, and approved in writing, by the Council. This report 
shall include: details of the remediation works carried out; results of any verification 
sampling, testing or monitoring including the analysis of any imported soil; all waste 
management documentation showing the classification of waste, its treatment, 
movement and disposal; and the validation of gas membrane placement. If, during 
development, contamination not previously identified is found to be present at the site, 
the Council is to be informed immediately and no further development (unless otherwise 
agreed in writing by the Council) shall be carried out until a report indicating the nature 
of the contamination and how it is to be dealt with is submitted to, and agreed in writing 
by, the Council. Any required remediation shall be detailed in an amendment to the 
remediation statement and verification of these works included in the verification report. 
All works must be carried out in compliance with and by a competent person who 
conforms to CLR 11: Model Procedures for the Management of Land Contamination 
(Defra 2004) or the current UK requirements for sampling and testing. 
 
Reason: Potentially contaminative land uses (past or present) are understood to occur 
at, or near to, this site. This condition is required to ensure that no unacceptable risks 
are caused to humans, controlled waters or the wider environment during and following 
the development works, in accordance with Policies CC9 and CC13 of the Local Plan 
2018 and SPD Key Principles LC1 to LC7 2018. 
 
16. Onward Long-Term Monitoring Methodology Report 
 
Unless the Council agree in writing that a set extent of development must commence to 
enable compliance with this condition, no development (except Enabling Works) shall 
commence within each Phase of development until an onward long-term monitoring 
methodology report is submitted to and approved in writing by the Council where further 
monitoring is required past the completion of development works to verify the success 
of the remediation undertaken. A verification report of these monitoring works shall then 
be submitted to and approved in writing by the Council when it may be demonstrated 
that no residual adverse risks exist. All works must be carried out in compliance with 
and by a competent person who conforms to CLR 11: Model Procedures for the 
Management of Land Contamination (Defra 2004) or the current UK requirements for 
sampling and testing. 

Page 166



 

 
Reason: Potentially contaminative land uses (past or present) are understood to occur 
at, or near to, this site. This condition is required to ensure that no unacceptable risks 
are caused to humans, controlled waters or the wider environment during and following 
the development works, in accordance with Policies CC9 and CC13 of the Local Plan 
2018 and SPD Key Principles LC1 to LC7 2018. 
 
17. Piling Method Statement  
 
No impact piling shall take place until a piling method statement (detailing the type of 
piling to be undertaken and the methodology by which such piling will be carried out 
within each Phase (where relevant) including measures to prevent and minimise the 
potential for damage to subsurface water or sewerage infrastructure, and the 
programme for the works) has been submitted to and approved in writing by the Council 
in consultation with the relevant water or sewerage undertaker. Any piling must be 
undertaken in accordance with the terms of the approved piling method statement.  
 
Reason: To prevent any potential to impact on local underground water and sewerage 
utility infrastructure, in accordance with Policies 5.14 and 5.15 of the London Plan, 
Policies CC3 and CC5 of the Local Plan 2018. The applicant is advised to contact 
Thames Water Developer Services on 0845 850 2777 to discuss the details of the piling 
method statement. 
 
18. External noise from machinery, extract/ventilation ducting, mechanical gates.  
 
Prior to commencement of the relevant part of each Phase of the development 
(excluding Enabling Works and Phase 1), details shall be submitted to and approved in 
writing by the Council, of the external sound level emitted from plant/ machinery/ 
equipment and mitigation measures as appropriate.  The measures shall ensure that 
the external sound level emitted from plant, machinery/ equipment will be lower than the 
lowest existing background sound level by at least 10dBA in order to prevent any 
adverse impact. The assessment shall be made in accordance with BS4142:2014 at the 
nearest and/or most affected noise sensitive premises, with all machinery for that 
relevant part of the Phase operating together at maximum capacity. A post installation 
noise assessment for the relevant part of each Phase shall be carried out where 
required to confirm compliance with the sound criteria and additional steps to mitigate 
noise shall be taken, as necessary.  Approved details for the relevant part of each 
Phase shall be implemented prior to occupation of the development and thereafter be 
permanently retained. 
 
Reason: To ensure that the amenity of occupiers of the development site/ surrounding 
premises is not adversely affected by noise from plant/mechanical installations/ 
equipment, in accordance with Policies CC11 and CC13 of the Local Plan 2018. 
 
19. Anti- vibration mounts and silencing of machinery.   
 
Prior to first operational use of any part of the development within each Phase, any 
machinery, plant or equipment, extract/ ventilation system and ducting forming part of 
that Phase at the development shall be mounted with proprietary anti-vibration isolators 
and fan motors shall be vibration isolated from the casing and adequately silenced and 
maintained as such.  
 

Page 167



 

Reason: To ensure that the amenity of occupiers of the development site and 
surrounding premises is not adversely affected by vibration, in accordance with Policies 
CC11 and CC13 of the Local Plan 2018. 
 
20. Air Quality Dust Management Plan  

 
Prior to the commencement of the development (excluding Enabling Works) of the 
development hereby permitted, an Air Quality Dust Management Plan (AQDMP) in 
order to mitigate air pollution shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the 
council. The AQDMP must include an Air Quality Dust Risk Assessment (AQDRA) that 
considers sensitive receptors off-site of the development and is undertaken in 
compliance with the methodology contained within Chapter 4 of the Mayor of London 
‘The Control of Dust and Emissions during Construction and Demolition’, SPG, July 
2014 and the identified measures recommended for inclusion into the AQDMP. The 
AQDMP submitted must comply with the Mayor’s SPG and should include: Inventory 
and Timetable of dust generating activities during demolition and construction; Site 
Specific Dust mitigation and Emission control measures in the table format as contained 
within Appendix 7 of Mayor’s SPG including for on-road and off-road construction traffic; 
Detailed list of Non-Road Mobile Machinery (NRMM) used on the site. The NRMM 
should meet as minimum the Stage IV emission criteria of Directive 97/68/EC and its 
subsequent amendments. This will apply to both variable and constant speed engines 
for both NOx and PM. An inventory of all NRMM must be registered on the NRMM 
register https://nrmm.london/user-nrmm/register; Ultra Low Emission Vehicle Strategy 
(ULEVS) for the use of on-road Ultra Low Emission Vehicles in accordance with the 
emission hierarchy (1) Electric (2) Hybrid (Electric-Petrol) (3) Alternative Fuel e.g. CNG, 
LPG (4) Petrol, (5) Hybrid (Electric-Diesel)  (6) Diesel (Euro 6 & Euro VI); Details of Air 
quality monitoring of PM10 where appropriate and used to prevent levels exceeding 
predetermined Air Quality threshold trigger levels. Developers must ensure that on-site 
contractors follow best practicable means to minimise dust and emissions at all times. 
Approved details shall be fully implemented and permanently retained and maintained 
during the demolition and construction Phases of the development. 
 
Reason: To comply with the requirements of the NPPF, Policies 7.14a-c of the London 
Plan, and Policy CC10 of the Local Plan 2018 
 
21. Delivery and Servicing Plan  
 
Prior to first occupation of the development hereby permitted, a Delivery and Servicing  
Plan (DSP) for that Phase, including vehicle tracking where required, shall be submitted 
to and approved in writing by the Council. The DSP for the relevant part of each Phase 
shall detail the management of deliveries, emergency access, collection of waste and 
recyclables, times and frequencies of deliveries and collections/ silent reversing 
methods/ location of loading bays and vehicle movement in respect of the relevant 
Phase. The approved measures for the relevant part of each Phase shall be 
implemented and thereafter retained for the lifetime of the residential or commercial 
uses in the relevant part of the site.  
     
Reason: To ensure that satisfactory provision is made for refuse storage and collection 
and to ensure that the amenity of occupiers of the development site and surrounding 
premises is not adversely affected by noise, in accordance with Policy 6.11 of the 
London Plan and Policies T2, CC11 and CC13 of the Local Plan 2018 and SPD Key 
Principle TR28 (2018). 

Page 168



 

 
 
22. Materials 
 
Prior to the commencement of the relevant part of each phase of the development 
(excluding Enabling Works), details and samples of all the materials to be used in all 
external faces and roofs of the buildings to include entrances, cladding, fenestration, 
roofing and plant, for that phase, shall be submitted to and approved in writing by 
Council. External material sample panels, including samples of brickwork, stonework, 
concrete, pointing style, mortar colour and mix shall be erected onsite for the inspection 
by Council’s Conservation Officer and written approval by Council. The development 
shall be carried out in accordance with the details as approved and thereafter 
permanently retained in this form.  
             
Reason: To ensure a satisfactory external appearance and to prevent harm to the street 
scene and public realm, in accordance with Policies 7.1 and 7.6 of the London Plan and 
Policies DC1, DC2 and DC8 of the Local Plan 2018. 
 
23. 1:20  
 
Prior to the commencement of the relevant part of each phase of the development 
(excluding Enabling Works), detailed drawings at a scale not less than 1:20 (in plan, 
section, and elevation) of typical bays and junctions with adjacent buildings of each 
elevation of each building in that phase shall be submitted to and approved in writing by 
the Council. This shall include detailed drawings at of scale of not less than 1:20 (in 
plan, section and elevation) of shopfronts for any A Class uses on site. The 
development shall be carried out in accordance with the details as approved and 
thereafter permanently retained in this form. 
         
Reason: To ensure a satisfactory external appearance and to prevent harm to the street 
scene and public realm, in accordance with Policies 7.1 and 7.6 of the London Plan and 
Policies DC1, DC2 and DC8 of the Local Plan 2018. 
 
24. Samples Hard landscaping  
 
Prior to the commencement of the relevant part of each phase of the development 
hereby permitted, details and samples of all the materials to be used for any hard 
landscaping, street furniture and the public realm canopy for that phase shall be 
submitted to and approved in writing by the Council. The development shall be carried 
out in accordance with the details as approved and thereafter permanently retained in 
this form.  
             
Reason: To ensure a satisfactory external appearance and to prevent harm to the street 
scene and public realm, in accordance with Policies 7.1 and 7.6 of the London Plan and 
Policies DC1, DC2 and DC8 of the Local Plan 2018. 
 
25. Inclusive Access Management Plan 
 
Prior to first occupation of the development, an Inclusive Access Management Plan 
shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Council. The plan will include 
details of access, wheelchair accessible provision for exhibition spaces, hotel, 
restaurant, offices and entertainment venues, and facilities to accommodate hearing 

Page 169



 

and sight impairments at entertainment venues. The plan should set out a strategy for 
ongoing consultation with specific interest groups with regard to accessibility of the 
relevant part of the site. On-going consultation shall then be carried out in accordance 
with the approved IAMP. The development shall not be operated otherwise than in 
accordance with the Inclusive Access Management Plan as approved and thereafter be 
permanently retained in this form.  
 
Reason: To ensure that the proposal provides an inclusive and accessible environment 
in accordance with Policy 7.2 of the London Plan and Policies DC1 and DC2 of the 
Local Plan 2018.  
 
26. Level Threshold  
 
The ground floor entrance doors to the proposed buildings and integral lift/stair cores 
shall not be less than 1-metre-wide and the threshold shall be at the same level as the 
adjoining ground level fronting the entrances to ensure level access. 
 
Reason: To ensure the development provides ease of access for all users, in 
accordance with Policy 7.2 of the London Plan and Policies DC1 and DC2 of the Local 
Plan 2018.  
 
27. Replacement of Trees, Shrubs and Planting 
 
Any trees, shrubs or planting including works associated with green roofs or wall 
boundary planting pursuant to the soft landscape details that is removed, or seriously 
damaged, dying or diseased within five years of the date of planting shall be replaced in 
the next planting season with a similar size and species to that originally required to be 
planted. 
 
Reason: To ensure a satisfactory external appearance in terms of the provision of tree 
and shrub planting, in accordance with Policies 7.1 and 7.6 of the London Plan, and 
Policies DC1, DC8, OS2 and OS5 of the Local Plan 2018. 
 
28. Telecommunications Equipment (siting and details) 
 
Notwithstanding the provisions of the Town and Country Planning (General 
Permitted Development), (England) Order 2015 or any Order revoking or  
re-enacting that Order with or without modification, no aerials, antennae, satellite dishes 
or related telecommunications equipment shall be erected on any part of the site, 
without planning permission first being granted. 
  
Reason: To ensure that the visual impact of telecommunication equipment upon the 
surrounding area can be considered, in accordance with in accordance with Policies 7.6 
and 7.8 of the London Plan, and Policies DC1 and DC8 of the Local Plan 2018. 
 
29. Advertisements  
 
No advertisements shall be displayed on or within any elevation of the Development 
(including inside windows), without details of the advertisements having first been 
submitted to and agreed in writing by the Council. 
  

Page 170



 

Reason: In order that any advertisements displayed on the building are assessed in the 
context of an overall strategy, to ensure a satisfactory external appearance and to 
preserve the integrity of the design of the building, in accordance with Policies DC1 and 
DC8 of the Local Plan 2018. 
 
30. External Alterations 
 
No alterations shall be carried out to the external appearance of the Development, 
including the installation of air-conditioning units, ventilation fans or extraction 
equipment, plumbing or pipes, other than rainwater pipes not shown on the approved 
drawings, without planning permission first being obtained. Any such changes shall be 
carried out in accordance with the approved details.  
  
Reason: To ensure a satisfactory external appearance and to prevent harm to the 
amenities of the occupiers of neighbouring residential properties, in accordance with 
Policies DC1 and DC8 of the Local Plan 2018. 
 
31. Roller Shutters 
 
No roller shutters shall be installed on any façade of the Development unless the details 
have been submitted to and approved in writing by the Council.  
    
Reason: To ensure a satisfactory external appearance and to prevent harm to the street 
scene and public realm, in accordance with Policies DC1, DC5, and DC8 of the Local 
Plan 2018.   
 
32. Energy Statement 
 
The development hereby permitted will be carried out in accordance with the Energy 
Statement submitted. No part of the development shall be used or occupied until it has 
been carried out in accordance with the approved details and shall thereafter be 
permanently retained in this form. 
 
Reason: In the interests of energy conservation and reduction of CO2 emissions, in 
accordance with Policies 5.1, 5.2, 5.3, 5.6 and 5.7 of the London Plan, Policy CC1 of 
the Local Plan 2018. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 171



 

 
 
 
 
 
 

Justification for Approving the Application: 
 
1) Principle of Development: It is considered that the proposed use and quantum of 

temporary floorspace would be within the current lawful use of the site and, subject 
to conditions limiting the time period and limiting the proposed Class D1 exhibition 
space to not be operational concurrently with Central Hall, would result in an 
overall neutral impact of the proposed operation of the site whilst enabling the 
delivery of the overall masterplan currently pending a decision and would not 
undermine the local or nearby centres. The proposed building works and entrance 
extension, subject to design and heritage assessment and a condition limiting the 
time period, is acceptable in principle. As such in principle the proposal would be 
in accordance with the NPPF, London Plan Policies 2.1, 4.1, and 4.6, Draft 
London Plan Policy HC5, and Local Plan Policies CF1, CF3 and TLC1. 

 
2) Design and Heritage: It is considered that the proposals will deliver good quality 

architecture which optimises the capacity of the site with good quality good 
exhibition space. The height, scale and massing of the proposed built form is 
appropriate and provides a satisfactory design response to the site and 
surrounding townscape at its edges. The elevations have an architectural 
character which provides interest across the frontages. The relationship between 
the built form and public realm would assist in the creation of a sense of place. 
The harm to the designated heritage assets has been minimised as far as possible 
including by the quality of the design of the temporary mezzanine levels and the 
temporary entrance building and by avoiding intervention in the historic fabric of 
the building wherever possible. The magnitude of any harm identified has been 
assessed as less than substantial harm, it would be temporary in nature and 
proportionate to the scale of the extensive construction work required to deliver the 
masterplan. The less than substantial harm is considered to be outweighed by the 
public benefits that delivery of the masterplan would secure. It is considered that 
this is compliant with Section 16, 66 and 72 of the Planning (Listed Buildings and 
Conservation Areas) Act 1990. The proposed development is therefore considered 
acceptable in accordance with the NPPF, Policies 7.1, 7.2, 7.3, 7.4, 7.5, 7.6 and 
7.21 of the London Plan and Policies DC1, DC2, DC4 and DC8 of the Local Plan 
(2018). 

 
3) Transport: It is considered that the overall impact of the proposed development set 

out in the Transport Statement is acceptable. The proposed development 
therefore accords with Policies 6.1, 6.3, 6.9, 6.10, 6.11, 6.13 of the London Plan 
and Policies T1, T2, T3, T4, T5 and T7 of the Local Plan (2018). 

 
4) Impact on Neighbouring Properties: The proposed development is considered to 

have an acceptable impact upon the amenities and living conditions within 
surrounding properties and planning conditions are secured to limit the additional 
impacts to arise out of the development, including those during construction and 
demolition phases. The proposed development is therefore considered to be 
acceptable and would be in accordance with policies 7.1, 7.6, 7.7 of the London 

Page 172



 

Plan and Policies DC1, DC2, DC8, CC10, CC11, CC12 and CC13 of the Local 
Plan (2018). 

 
5) Safety and Access: The development would result in the provision of an inclusive 

environment, providing level access and suitable circulation space. The 
development will provide a high quality environment for disabled and impaired 
members of the community and the commitments within the Access Statement are 
positive and deliverable by way of conditions. As such the proposal will comply 
with Local Plan Policies DC1 and DC2 as well as Planning Guidance SPD Key 
Principles DA1, DA4, DA5, DA6, DA7, DA8, DA9, DA11, DA12 and DA13. 

 
6) Sustainability and Energy: The temporary decking proposals will require an 

upgrading of the mechanical and electrical services with efficient Air Handling 
Units being used with other energy efficiency measures such as LED lighting and 
heat recovery. The new entrance building has an energy efficient design to 
manage solar gain and natural light and is passively ventilated and heating and 
cooling will be provided by renewable energy generation in the form of Air Source 
Heath Pumps.  The proposed development therefore accords with Policies 5.1, 
5.2, 5.3, 5.5, 5.6, 5.7, 5.8 of the London Plan and Policies CC1, CC2 and CC7 of 
the Local Plan (2018). 

 
7) Drainage and Flood Risk: This part of the Olympia site is in the Environment 

Agency's Flood Zone 2 with most of the site in Flood Zone 1. The proposed new 
floorspace is at mezzanine level and no basement level works are proposed, so 
groundwater and sewer flood risks are also low. As all but a small part of the 
proposed works relate to internal floorspace additions, there is no significant risk to 
flooding and no need to include additional flood resilience measures. The 
development would therefore be acceptable in accordance with the NPPF (2012), 
Policies 5.11, 5.12, 5.13, 5.14 and 5.15 of the London Plan and policies CC2, CC3 
and CC4 in the Local Plan (2018). 

 
8) Land Contamination: Conditions would ensure that the site would be remediated to 

an appropriate level for the sensitive residential and open space uses. The 
proposed development therefore accords with Policy 5.21 of the London Plan,  

 
9) Objections: Whilst issues have been raised by objectors to the scheme it is 

considered, for the reasons explained in the detailed analysis, that planning 
permission should be granted for the scheme subject to appropriate safeguards to 
ensure that necessary controls and mitigation measures are established. This 
decision is taken on the basis of the proposed controls, mitigation measures and 
delivery commitments contained in the draft conditions set out in this committee 
report, which are considered to provide an adequate framework of control to 
ensure as far as reasonably practicable that the public benefits of the scheme will 
be realised in accordance with relevant planning policies whilst providing the 
mitigation measures and environmental improvements needed to address the 
likely significant adverse impacts of the development. 

 
10) Conditions: In line with the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 and the Town 

and Country Planning (Pre-commencement Conditions) Regulations 2018, officers 
have consulted the applicant on the pre-commencement conditions included in the 
agenda and the applicant has raised no objections. 

 

Page 173



 

 
 
 
 
 

OFFICER REPORT 
 
1.0     BACKGROUND 

 
1.1.     This report should be read in together with, and provides the assessment for, 

the application for listed building consent under reference 2019/01434/LBC.  
 

1.2.     Site and Designations Context 
 

1.3.     The application site has an area of some 2.4 hectares while the Olympia site as 
whole is some 4.6 hectares and is bound by Hammersmith Road to the south, 
the western edge of Olympia Way the east, Maclise Road to the north and 
Beaconsfield Terrace Road and Blythe Road to the west. The western boundary 
at the currently vacant site known as G-Gate to the south-west corner of the site 
is bound by a spur road from Blythe Road called Lyons Walk, which also 
features a pedestrianised area onto Hammersmith Road; it is this part that 
adjoins the office building at 66 Hammersmith Road to the west. To the east of 
the site is Olympia Way which forms the borough boundary with the Royal 
Borough of Kensington and Chelsea and features Kensington Olympia Station, 
originally built to serve the site and served by Overground and limited District 
Line trains. 
 

1.4.     Olympia comprises a series of buildings that together form the site and the 
overall use: 
 

 Grand Hall to the east onto Olympia Way. Grade II*. 

 Pillar Hall, to the north of Grand Hall onto Olympia Way; together these 
form the original buildings. Grade II *. 

 National Hall to the south-east corner onto Olympia Way to the east and 
Hammersmith Road the south. Grade II. 

 Central Hall to the southern boundary on Hammersmith Road. Grade II. 

 Maclise Road Multi-storey Car Park to the north onto Maclise Road. 
Grade II. 

 G-Gate to the south-west corner onto Hammersmith Road/Lyons Walk 
and adjoining Central Hall to the east. The site is currently vacant and 
forms part of the logistics for the site accessed from Blythe Road. 

 West Hall to the west onto Blythe Road. 

 L-Yard to the west onto Blythe Road, the car park adjoins to the north 
with West Hall to the south. This goes through to the rear of Pillar Hall 
and forms part of the logistics for the site from Blythe Road.  

 
1.5.     Grand Hall, National Hall, Central Hall and West Hall form the four exhibition 

spaces for Olympia and together form almost the entirety of the southern and 
eastern boundaries. The first two are of similar appearance with large span 
vaulted glass roofs, Central Hall is later and is of an art deco design from 1923. 
West Hall provides additional exhibition space and has been significantly rebuilt. 

Page 174



 

 
1.6.     The site is located within the Olympia and Avonmore Conservation Area, as well 

as the Heathrow Safeguarding Zone. A number of buildings are subject to 
statutory listing as set out above. Adjoining the site to the north is the Lakeside, 
Sinclair and Blythe Road Conservation Area, typified by a consistent residential 
character. To the southern boundary is the Dorcas Estate Conservation Area 
and the west the Brook Green Conservation Area which features a mixture of 
residential streets and larger commercial buildings. 
 

1.7.     The site lies within Flood Zones 1, 2 and 3, an Archaeological Priority Area and 
within a borough-wide designated Air Quality Management Area (AQMA). The 
site has a Public Transport Accessibility Level (PTAL) of between 5 and 6a, as 
well as Kensington Olympia the site is in close proximity to Barons Court and 
West Kensington underground stations. Bus services operate at multiple stops 
on Hammersmith Road. The site is not within any key views at a London or 
local level.  
 

1.8.     Olympia Way, which is not part of this application and forms part of the 
proposals under the associated outline application, is not a public highway but 
does have one way north bound vehicular access onto Maclise Road from 
Hammersmith Road. Olympia Way is owned by Network Rail with Olympia 
having a long term leasehold. Maclise Road is one way through to Hazlitt Road 
to the west, with Sinclair Road being one way southbound onto Maclise Road. 
Blythe Road is a two way highway which becomes one way westbound to the 
west to joining Hazlitt Road, and one way southbound from Maclise Road.  

 
Site Context and History 

 
1.9.     The Olympia site forms its own sub area within the Olympia and Avonmore 

Conservation Area to the north of Hammersmith Road. The Conservation Area 
boundaries are tightly drawn around the Olympia site, the former Whiteley’s 
depository at Kensington Village and the highly ornamental residential terraces 
and later mansion blocks that were developed with the expansion of the London 
suburbs to west of the West London Railway line along the important route of 
Hammersmith Road. Many of the buildings in the Conservation Area, including 
the mansion blocks on the south side of Hammersmith Road facing Olympia, 
are designated as Buildings of Merit. 
 

1.10.     The northern side of Hammersmith Road is characterised by a mix of uses 
involving building types of a larger scale than the buildings and terraces on the 
southern side of Hammersmith Road. This relationship was established in the 
beginning of the 20th Century when the Lyons factory complex developed at 
Cadby Hall, the Post Office Savings Bank Headquarters was built on Blythe 
Road and the Olympia Exhibition Centre expanded to the south facing 
Hammersmith Road. Later in the 20th Century large scale mansion blocks and 
office buildings were built along the north side of Hammersmith Road leading to 
the town centre, with a general height of up to 8 storeys. The Olympia buildings 
conform to this general scale of development and provide a prominent frontage 
to the north side of Hammersmith Road. 

 
1.11.     The land adjacent to the West London Line has historically included buildings of 

greater scale and massing than the surrounding residential terraces.  The 

Page 175



 

Kensington Village complex to the west of the West London Line and south of 
the application site is an example of large scale Victorian warehousing now 
converted to office use, visible from West Cromwell Road on a key radial route 
into Central London.  On the east side of the West London Line in RKBC, the 
postwar office buildings of Charles House on the south side of Kensington High 
Street provided significant scale and massing in the townscape.  The Charles 
House site has recently been redeveloped for residential led mix use 
development and is now known as 375 Kensington High Street.  The 12 storey 
apartment buildings on the Kensington High Street frontage are clearly visible 
across the railway line in views from the application site.  The development also 
includes a residential tower, set further into the street block, of 17 storeys.  To 
the north of Kensington High Street, on the east side of the West London Line 
and directly opposite Olympia, former railway land has been redeveloped and 
incorporates residential blocks of up to 7 storeys. 
 

1.12.     There are a number of other conservation areas in the vicinity. Dorcas Estate 
Conservation Area, to the south-west of the site can be seen in close context to 
Olympia, in particular the Grade II listed terrace at Nos. 99-119 Hammersmith 
Road on the southern side of the Hammersmith Road that is framed by terraces 
designated as Buildings of Merit. To the north-west, Olympia shares boundaries 
with Brook Green and Lakeside/Sinclair/Blythe Road Conservation Areas.  The 
former includes the imposing Blythe House, a multi-winged late Victorian/early 
20th Century development listed in part at Grade II, and the latter includes a 
Victorian townscape of densely populated terraces opposite Olympia’s multi-
storey car park. On these north-western boundaries, Olympia’s buildings largely 
follow the streets and are in close proximity to their neighbours, but there is a 
perceived lack of interaction between opposite frontages, due to the inactive 
frontages of the Olympia buildings. 

 
1.13.     Despite the close proximity with the diverse residential and commercial 

neighbourhood, the group of exhibition halls and associated structures clearly 
stands out from its townscape context due to the building typology and 
associated façade treatments as well as the greater height and scale of the 
buildings. The large scale of the barrel-vaulted roofs of the Grand Hall and 
National Hall are evident in views of the eastern elevation of the site from 
Olympia Way, Addison Bridge and from within RBKC. The scale of the Grand 
Hall barrel-vaulted roof is also highly visible from Blythe Road, Beaconsfield 
Terrace Road and Sinclair Road.  The east elevation is the historic main 
frontage, as most people would have arrived by train at Kensington Olympia 
Station. The primary and secondary frontages of the site are clearly legible, and 
the Olympia buildings have a landmark status in the surrounding townscape. 
Olympia clearly forms a historically evolved, unique part of the townscape, 
albeit one that could be better integrated, animated and utilised. 

 
History and development of the exhibition function 

 
1.14.     Before its development the site was part of the market gardens located just 

outside London to serve its population with fresh produce. Due to its location 
alongside the expanding railway and Kensington Olympia Station, as well as on 
one of the major roads leading into London, the easily accessible site was 
chosen in the early 1880s to host the National Agricultural Hall, a larger version 
of the Royal Agricultural Hall in Islington. 

Page 176



 

 
1.15.     The Grand Hall opened on Boxing Day in 1886, with an opening show from the 

Paris Hippodrome Company. At its opening, Olympia was the largest 
uninterrupted floorspace in the country and could seat up to 9000 people. The 
Grand Hall incorporates a gallery at first floor level and function rooms front 
Olympia Way. The adjacent Pillar Hall provided an ancillary entertainment and 
hospitality venue with two large halls stacked on top of one another.  The 
pillared hall itself is at upper ground floor level and connected to Grand Hall by 
a link bridge, the upper hall at first floor level has the characteristics of a music 
hall, with a gallery and proscenium and was used for early displays of 
cinematography. 

 
1.16.     The use of the hall as the largest venue in England expanded quickly beyond 

the staging of agricultural or military shows to include exhibitions, tournaments, 
sporting competitions and entertainments of various kinds. Before subsequent 
phases of Olympia and nearby houses were constructed, pleasure gardens 
were laid out on the undeveloped areas of the original site, for events and 
promenading during the summer months, emphasising Olympia as an 
entertainment destination and not just a functional space for one-off events. 

 
1.17.     The second phase of Olympia, The National Hall, was built in 1923 on the site 

of a detached house and three pairs of semi-detached houses at the eastern 
half of West Kensington Gardens and opened in time for the Ideal Home 
Exhibition in March 1923. It complemented the original building with a smaller 
scale hall, function rooms, offices, kitchen and storage rooms as well as a 
substantial new restaurant space at ground floor level facing Hammersmith 
Road. The spaces in the National Hall were designed to enable internal links 
with the Grand Hall on both the main floor and gallery levels if required. 

 
1.18.     By 1937, a major new hall, the Empire Hall, and the multi-storey car park were 

completed by Emberton in the style of the modern movement in architecture. 
Functionally the Empire Hall, now known as Olympia Central, was the first four 
storey exhibition building ever erected in the country, with the aim to provide a 
maximum of new exhibition floorspace, quite unlike the vast barrel vaulted 
spaces at Grand Hall and National Hall. 

 
1.19.     After both World Wars, during which Olympia was mainly used as a temporary 

camp for prisoners of war, the buildings went back into use for major 
tournaments, shows, concerts and exhibitions, e.g. the Ideal Home exhibition 
that it still hosts today. 

 
1.20.     During the latter half of the 20th Century until the present day, Olympia has 

remained a popular venue and it retains an important role in the cultural life of 
the nation.  Olympia is the only surviving major exhibition centre in Central 
London and makes a valuable contribution to London’s economy and status as 
a World City. 
 

1.21. Planning History 
 

1.22.     The site has a long planning history, the most relevant of which are considered 
to be as follows. 
 

Page 177



 

Olympia 
 

1.23.     2018/03100/FUL, 2018/03101/LBC and 2018/03102/OUT – The Planning 
Applications and Development Control Committee resolved to grant full 
planning permission, listed building consent and outline planning permission 
(Olympia Way) on 30th January 2019 subject to conditions, legal agreement, no 
contrary direction from the Mayor of London or Secretary of State. These 
applications comprise the redevelopment of Olympia as a whole as follows: 
 

 Central Hall - demolition with retention of listed façade to Hammersmith 
Road, erection of new ground plus 12 storey building for office, 
exhibition, flexible retail, and flexible office/conference uses; new site-
wide logistics centre, car/cycle parking at two new basement levels 

 G-gate site - erection of ground plus 9 upper storeys building with two 
levels of basement for use as a theatre, exhibition and flexible 
restaurant/bar use at ground/level 2 and roof level 

 National Hall - three storey roof-level extension for use as hotel, 
additional exhibition space and flexible exhibition/restaurant/bar use 

 West Hall - alterations and extension to provide two additional storeys for 
use as live music and performance space 

 Maclise Road Multi Storey Car Park - partial demolition, alterations and 
extension for use as hotel, cinema, and flexible co-working/conference 
use 

 Grand and National Halls - demolition of existing accommodation and 
circulation spaces between halls and construction of new Level 2 public 
realm deck with glazed canopy comprising flexible retail uses  

 Pillar Hall - alterations for use of building for restaurant/bar with ancillary 
live music 

 Grand Hall – additional internal floorspace for exhibition space and 
flexible exhibition/restaurant/bar use;  

 Public realm and landscaping with new pedestrian, vehicular and 
pedestrian accesses and internal routes. 

 Plant and energy centres 
 
Olympia Way outline application: 

 Demolition of the existing building adjacent to the station entrance and 
the erection of buildings up to 4 storeys in height for flexible uses Class 
A1 retail, Class A2 professional services, Class A3 restaurant, Class A4 
drinking establishment, Class B1 offices and Class D1 
exhibition/community use 

 New public realm and pedestrianisation of Olympia Way 

 Landscaping and associated works 
 

1.24.     On 8th July 2019 the Mayor of London determined that he was content for 
Hammersmith and Fulham Council to determine the applications and did not 
wish to direct refusal or call in the application. In summary the Mayor has 
commented that: 

 

 Land use principle: The proposals to regenerate Olympia Exhibition 
Centre as a major visitor attraction, and new business, leisure and 
cultural quarter, are strongly supported. On-site and off-site affordable 

Page 178



 

workspace has been secured, as well as a package of training, 
employment, and community benefits.  

 Design and heritage: Design supported. The harm caused to heritage 
assets is less than substantial and is outweighed by the significant 
benefits of the proposals.  

 Transport: Planning obligations and conditions have been agreed to 
mitigate the site-specific transport impacts of the development and these 
make the application acceptable in strategic transport planning terms. 

 
1.25.     On 9th July the Secretary of State was informed of the Council’s intention to 

grant planning permission and listed building consent together with the Mayor’s 
direction to proceed subject to any action by the Secretary of State. A response 
from the National Planning Casework Unit is currently awaited. 
 
G-Gate 
 

1.26.     2013/03806/FUL – Permission granted 2nd July 2014 for the erection of a part 7 
and part 9 storey hotel building (Class C1) providing 242 bedrooms with 
ancillary uses, including a restaurant and bar at first floor level and café at 
ground floor level to Hammersmith Road, following demolition of the existing 
boundary treatments on the site; creation of a taxi-drop off facility and 
landscaping on Lyons Walk. A ground level marshalling yard for use by Olympia 
Exhibition Centre would be retained and internal pedestrian links to the Olympia 
Central and West Hall buildings of Olympia Exhibition Centre would be created. 
Associated Listed Building Consent under ref. 2013/03807/LBC granted for 
alteration and part removal of the west façade of Central Hall. 
 

1.27.     2008/00547/FUL – Permission granted 17th August 2010 for the erection of a 
part 7, part 9 and part 10 storey building over a ground level marshalling yard 
for Olympia Exhibition Centre, to provide a 259 unit apart-hotel (C1 use), 
including a 69.5sqmm unit at ground floor level for A1, A3 or A4 use. This 2008 
application was called in by Secretary of State on 23rd October 2008 following 
the Committee’s resolution to grant permission, as it was considered by him that 
the proposed development may conflict with national policies. The application 
was the subject of a public inquiry, where permission was granted, subject to 
conditions and a legal agreement on 3rd December 2009.  

 
Pillar Hall 
 

1.28.     2014/03163/FUL – permission granted 10th November 2014 for the change of 
use of the ground floor of Pillar Hall and the Olympia Room from exhibition 
centre (Class D1) to restaurant use (Class A3); demolition of existing ground 
floor link buildings and brick wall between Pillar Hall and Grand Hall and 
erection of a two storey glazed link building between Grand Hall and Pillar Hall 
to accommodate new entrance and kitchen facilities together with new front 
stone steps, lift and railings; Removal of non-original canopy at the front 
elevation of Pillar Hall entrance; Existing window at ground floor level on the 
north elevation of Pillar Hall to be reinstated; installation of metal mesh to 
screen plant;  creation of an external eating/drinking area fronting Olympia Way. 
 

1.29.     2010/02183/FUL – permission granted 16th December 2010 for the change of 
use and external alterations to Pillar Hall for provision of a restaurant (Class A3) 

Page 179



 

on ground floor level, with offices (Class B1) on mezzanine, first and second 
floors, ancillary storage at basement level; alterations to Olympia Way entrance, 
alterations to north, south and west elevations including creation of window 
openings; erection of two storey side (south flank) extension, between the 
Grand Hall and Pillar Hall incorporating a replacement bridge link to Pillar Hall 
at first floor level; alterations to the existing link bridge at ground floor level and 
a plant area screened with a metal mesh screen; alterations to north elevation 
of Grand Hall, relocation of the wall to the north of Pillar Hall, together with 
revised servicing arrangements. 
 

1.30.     2010/02184/LBC – consent granted 17th December 2010 for the refurbishment 
and alterations to Pillar Hall, including demolition of single storey link extension 
between Grand Hall and Pillar Hall; erection of a two storey side (south flank) 
extension to accommodate entrance and kitchen facilities, replacement bridge 
link to Pillar Hall at first floor level, alterations to the existing link bridge at 
ground floor level and a plant area screened with a metal mesh screen; 
insertion of mezzanine office floor at second floor level; creation of staircase 
linking first floor to the new second floor; second floor balustrade exposed and 
cleaned; removal of modern partitions; alterations to existing staircore including 
insertion of lift; replacement of first floor link to Grand Hall; works associated 
with foundation enlargements at basement level; creation of window openings 
on north, south and west elevations; removal of entrance canopy to Olympia 
Way and replacement steps incorporating lift; facade cleaning and repair; 
creation of a link to the Grand Hall and associated alterations to window 
opening on north elevation, demolition and relocation of boundary wall on the 
north side of Pillar Hall, and associated internal alterations. 
 

1.31.     2013/03868/FUL and 2013/3869/LBC – permission and consent granted 19th 
February 2014 for the demolition of the existing entrance building and security 
building along with all associated structures and replacement with a new 
entrance building, hard and soft landscaping, restoration works to the existing to 
listed building, to entrance building, hard and soft landscaping, restoration 
works to the existing to listed building, together with plant and equipment. 
 
West Hall  
 

1.32.     2010/02165/FUL and 2010/02181/LBC – permission and consent granted 13th 
October 2010 for Internal alterations to ground floor of Olympia II building to 
create a marshalling facility and loading/unloading bays including removal of 
escalators and stairs from ground to first floor; infilling of remaining first floor 
lightwell, demolition of internal wall between exhibition hall and yard and 
demolition of internal walls between yard and Hospital Avenue, removal of two 
storey blockwork office building in yard, creation of new vehicular opening to 
Portcullis Avenue with roller shutter and erection of partition walls at ground 
floor level to create operational facilities. 
 

1.33.     2010/02180/FUL and 2010/02181/LBC – permission and consent granted 16th 
December 2010 for the erection of a two storey exhibition hall and conference 
facility (Class D1) at ground and first floor level of the West Hall behind the 
retained facade to Blythe Road, comprising a new visitor entrance on Blythe 
Road; alterations to existing pedestrian footpath and relocation of L-Yard 
perimeter wall and modifications to existing vehicular servicing arrangements 

Page 180



 

 
Central Hall 
 

1.34.     2010/02185/LBC – consent granted 13th December 2010 for internal alterations 
to ground floor of Olympia II building to create a marshalling facility and 
loading/unloading bays including removal of escalators and stairs from ground 
to first floor; infilling of remaining first floor lightwell, demolition of internal wall 
between exhibition hall and yard and demolition of internal walls between yard 
and Hospital Avenue, removal of two storey blockwork office building in yard, 
creation of new vehicular opening to Portcullis Avenue with roller shutter and 
erection of partition walls at ground floor level to create operational facilities. 
 

1.35.     2010/00288/LBC - consent granted 16th march 2010 for the Internal alterations 
including Infilling of the atrium / lightwell at first floor level of Olympia 2 building 
to create additional exhibition accommodation of 598sq.m, by inserting a steel 
and concrete floor; Existing cantilevered structured removed and a new glazed 
screen erected to separate the existing bar from the newly erected exhibition 
area; New light fittings and suspended ceiling to the new ceiling at ground floor 
level to match existing; Existing glazed handrails a first floor level removed and 
re-used to provide protection to the public. 
 

1.36.     2010/01215/FUL - permission granted 14th September 2010 for the change of 
use of Olympia 2 level two from auction room (Sui Generis) to exhibition hall 
(class D1) and ancillary catering facilities. 
 
Maclise Road MSCP 
 

1.37.     2018/00745/FUL and 2018/00746/LBC – permission and consent granted 11th 
July 2018 for the change of use for a temporary period of 3 years, of part of the 
rooftop and Level 5B of the car park, to a restaurant use (Class A3) with the 
capacity for up to 500 people and ancillary services (Level 5B) including 
erection of a light-weight timber-framed roof extension; installation of ventilation 
extracts and 7no. air conditioning units at rooftop level; associated internal and 
external alterations and car and cycle parking facilities. 

 
L-Yard 
 

1.38.     L-Yard is accessed from Blythe Road and is located between the Maclise Road 
MSCP and West Hall. Although it is historically part of the Olympia site, it is not 
within the application boundary and sits outside of the applicant’s ownership. 
 

1.39.     2019/01752/FUL and 2019/01753/LBC – applications submitted 7th June 2019, 
currently pending consideration, for internal and external physical alterations at 
L-Yard, comprising the provision of building housing switch-room and gas-meter 
room, provision of lift to rear of Grand Hall (Grade II·*), alteration of rear access 
point and associated works. 
 

1.40.     2018/02319/FUL and 2018/02320/LBC – application withdrawn 7th November 
2018. Proposal was for the erection of two additional floors; formation of a roof 
terrace at roof level; basement excavation, erection of a lift enclosure at ground 
floor level; erection of cycle and refuse storage and landscaping in connection 

Page 181



 

with change of use from a Gymnasium (Class D2) to a Hotel (Class C1) with an 
ancillary bar/restaurant at ground floor level. 
 

1.41.     2006/01537/FUL (with 2006/01597/CAC and 2006/01596/LBC) – permission 
granted 26th September 2006 for the change of use of a four storey workshop 
within the Olympia complex to a health and fitness club (Class D2) and offices 
(Class B1) and associated internal and external alterations including the 
demolition of an existing storage shed. 

 
2.0 PROPOSAL  

 
The Current Application 
 

2.1.     The proposal seeks to temporarily provide, for a period of up to three years, 
exhibition floorspace within Grand and National Halls commensurate to that lost 
due to the demolition of Olympia Central through the implementation of 
applications ref. 2018/03100/FUL and 2018/03101/LBC once permission is 
granted subject to any action by the Secretary of State. Upon redeveloping 
Central Hall, the temporary floorspace and associated development would be 
removed.  
 

2.2.     Officers would draw Members’ attention to Condition 2, which would prohibit the 
operation of the existing or proposed Central Hall exhibition floorspace at the 
same time as the temporary floorspace proposed under this application. 
 

2.3.     The current application seeks full planning permission and listed building 
consent for works comprising: 
 

 Temporary internal and external alterations to Grand Hall and National 
Hall including the creation of temporary single levels at gallery level 
within Grand and National Halls to create 8,600sqm additional temporary 
Class D1 exhibition floorspace to offset the existing floorspace being lost 
within Olympia Central during demolition as part of the delivery of 
pending planning permission ref 2018/03100/FUL and listed building 
consent ref. 2018/3101/LBC. 

 The demolition of the existing single storey entrance building on Olympia 
Way, external staircase to triumphal arch to Grand Hall and single storey 
security building onto Olympia Way. 

 Demolition of stonework within triumphal arch to Grand Hall to facilitate 
new opening between temporary building and first floor of Grand Hall and 
later reinstatement of original frieze within triumphal arch. 

 Demolition of existing accommodation and circulation spaces between 
Grand and National Halls at first floor level.  

 Erection of a two storey temporary entrance building fronting Olympia 
Way to provide main entrance to Grand Hall and to link Grand and 
National Halls at first floor level. 

 Temporary installation of service lifts between ground and first floor 
levels in Grand Hall and National Hall and associated temporary internal 
and external alterations. 

 Temporary removal of all balustrades at gallery level within Grand Hall 
and National Hall and later reinstatement. 

Page 182



 

 Temporary removal of internal wall between first floor refreshment room 
and gallery at first floor level within Grand Hall and later reinstatement. 

 Temporary localised strengthening of floor at gallery level within Grand 
Hall. 

 Installation of temporary toilet facilities at gallery level within Grand Hall 
and National Hall. 

 Temporary alterations to plant at Grand Hall and temporary alterations to 
plant and rooflights at National Hall. 

 Demolition of wall between gate piers at bricked up gateway between 
National Hall and Pillar Hall. 
 

 
2.4.     Listed Building Consent is also sought for the internal and external works 

proposed above under application ref. 2019/01434/LBC 
 

2.5.     In support of the planning application and Listed Building Consent the applicant 
has submitted the following documents: 
 

 Application drawings 

 Design and Access Statement 

 Schedule of Works 

 Heritage Statement 

 Structural Report 

 Construction Management Plan 

 Energy Assessment Report 

 Noise Assessment 

 Flood Risk Assessment and Drainage Strategy 

 Contamination Report 

 Statement of Community Involvement 

 Covering Letter (Planning Statement) 

 Transport Assessment with Car Park Design and Management Plan; 
Framework Delivery and Servicing Plan; Framework Construction 
Logistics Plan and addendum 

 Archaeological Desk-based Assessment 
 

3.0 PUBLICITY AND CONSULTATIONS 
 
Consultation Responses 
 

3.1     Historic England: Do not wish to comment. The council is hereby authorised to 
determine the application for listed building consent as you think fit. 
 

3.2     Historic England Archaeology: Having considered the proposals with reference 
to information held in the Greater London Historic Environment Record and/or 
made available in connection with this application, the proposal is unlikely to 
have a significant effect on heritage assets of archaeological interest. No further 
assessment or conditions are therefore necessary. 
 

3.3     Royal Borough of Kensington & Chelsea (RBKC): No objection. 
 

3.4     Network Rail: no objection. 

Page 183



 

 
3.5     TfL: It is understood that the intention of the proposal would be to re-provide 

space to temporary replacing the existing space to be demolished to facilitate 
the granted consent, therefore the capacity of exhibition space is not to be 
increased.  Therefore, the Council shall impose planning condition that the 
temporary use of the proposal must cease when permanent spaces (by each of 
the element) have been re-provided. A Construction Logistics Plan, Delivering 
Servicing Plan shall be secured by condition and the applicant shall engage 
with Network rail, London Overground and London Underground. Subject to the 
above conditions being met, the proposal as it stands would not result in an 
unacceptable impact to the Strategic Road Network (A315 Hammersmith 
Road). 

 
Residents and Amenity Groups 
 

3.6     The development has been advertised by means of a site notices posted 
around the site on 31st May 2019, press advert published 28th May 2019 and 
approximately 1155 individual notification letters sent to the occupiers of 
properties around the application site. 2 objections and 1 comment (Blythe 
House) have been received, with no responses from local amenity groups. The 
contents of these representations are summarised below. 
 
Support 
 

3.7     No representations have been received in support of the applications 
 
Objection 
 

3.8     2 objections received to date on the detailed application and 0 for the Listed 
Building Consent application. These have been summarised below: 
 

 I don't see the value in this. It doesn't seem to be supporting in the 
protection of heritage assets, in particular the Grade II* Olympia Grand. 
The proposals significantly increase the coverage of the listed facade 
with a large building of no architectural merit in this context. Look at how 
great Kings Cross looked when all the rubbish was taken off the front. 
Surely the same thing here. Enough of these short-termist measures & 
wasting of materials. 

 The proposals should be deemed unacceptable regarding planning 
policy protecting heritage assets, in particular the Grade II* Olympia 
Grand. The proposals significantly increase the coverage of the listed 
facade with a large building of no architectural merit in this context. The 
internal works require a detailed review of the harm they will cause to the 
listed asset with a proper independent assessment made. If, as 
suggested, the building is temporary the images provided indicate a 
durable concrete-framed structure designed for a lifespan much longer 
than 5 years. Any argument that the proposals are part of enabling works 
for a scheme outlined in applications 2018/3100/FUL and 
2018/03101/LBC is not valid until those applications are finally approved. 
Therefore this application is at best premature. It would also set a 
precedent for retaining a structure against the face of the Olympia Grand 
and further delay any progress developing Olympia Way to provide the 

Page 184



 

public amenity promised in the applicant's publicity for the site. There 
seems to be no justification within planning policy and procedure for an 
approval. 

 
Blythe House 
 

3.9     The occupants of Blythe House, the British Museum, The Victoria and Albert 
Museum and the Science Museum, have submitted representations that as 
there appears to be little works proposed to the Blythe Road side of the Olympia 
site under this application, they do not have any significant comments on these 
particular works. They would like to remind the applicant and the Council, that 
there are artefacts of national significance and importance stored within 
neighbouring Blythe House. The Museums are currently decanting from Blythe 
House over the next three years with vehicles arriving and departing the site 
using Blythe Road, Hammersmith Road and Maclise Road which will cross over 
with the construction programmes at Olympia, they request for the Transport 
Statement and Framework Construction Logistics Plan to be updated and / or 
amended so as to take into account the decant programme, or details secured 
by condition cite the need to take these into account. Notwithstanding the 
above, it is requested that a condition is imposed to any consent that requires 
the applicant to consult with DCMS and The Museums prior to starting any 
works on site, in order to ensure a coordinated approach to construction related 
deliveries particularly as there is to be an intensification of the existing L-Yard 
and G-Gate logistics area. There should at no point be any closure of these 
identified roads during the decant phases of Blythe House that would delay The 
Museum’s decant programme who are duty bound to vacate Blythe House in 
2023. 
 

3.10     Officer Comment: the applicant and the Highway Authority have been made 
aware of these comments and officers are engaged with the Museums and 
DCMS on their decant proposals. Condition 3 requires the establishment of a 
Community and Business Liaison Group which would engage with all local 
residents and businesses including Blythe House to discuss such matters and 
cooperate on solutions. Detailed Demolition Logistics, Construction Logistics 
and Delivery and Service Plans are secured by way of condition; details of 
relevant and nearby developments would be required to form part of those 
documents submitted for approval.  
 
Public Engagement 
 

3.11     The applicant held a public exhibition on Tuesday 23rd April 2019 with local 
stakeholders and a Statement of Community Involvement is submitted.  
 

4.0 PLANNING POLICY FRAMEWORK 
 

4.1     As The Town and Country Planning Act 1990, the Planning and Compulsory 
Purchase Act 2004 and the Localism Act 2011 are the principal statutory 
considerations for town planning in England. 

 
4.2     Collectively the three Acts create a plan led system which requires local 

planning authorities to determine planning applications in accordance with an 
adopted statutory development plan unless there are material considerations 

Page 185



 

which indicate otherwise (section 38(6) of the 2004 Act as amended by the 
Localism Act). 

 
4.3     In this instance the statutory development plan comprises the London Plan 

(2016), the Local Plan 2018 and the Planning Guidance Supplementary 
Planning Document 2018 (hereafter referred to as Planning Guidance SPD). A 
number of strategic and local supplementary planning guidance and other 
documents are also material to the determination of the application. 

 
4.4     The National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) came into effect on 27 March 

2012 and was revised in 2018 and is a material consideration in planning 
decisions. The NPPF, as supported by the Planning Practice Guidance (PPG), 
sets out national planning policies and how these are expected to be applied. 

 
4.5     The NPPF does not change the statutory status of the development plan as the 

starting point for decision making. Proposed development that accords with an 
up to date Local Plan should be approved and proposed development that 
conflicts should be refused unless other material considerations indicate 
otherwise. 

 
4.6     The NPPF is aimed at safeguarding the environment while meeting the need for 

sustainable growth. It advises that the planning system should: 
 

a) plan for prosperity by using the planning system to build a strong, responsive 
and competitive economy, by ensuring that sufficient land of the right type, and 
in the right places, is available to allow growth and innovation; and by identifying 
and coordinating development requirements, including the provision of 
infrastructure; 
 
b) plan for people (a social role) - use the planning system to promote strong, 
vibrant and healthy communities, by providing an increased supply of housing 
to meet the needs of present and future generations; and by creating a good 
quality built environment, with accessible local services that reflect the 
community's needs and supports its health and well-being; and 
 
c) plan for places (an environmental role) - use the planning system to protect 
and enhance our natural, built and historic environment, to use natural 
resources prudently and to mitigate and adapt to climate change, including 
moving to a low-carbon economy. The NPPF also underlines the need for 
councils to work closely with communities and businesses and actively seek 
opportunities for sustainable growth to rebuild the economy; helping to deliver 
the homes, jobs, and infrastructure needed for a growing population whilst 
protecting the environment. 

 
4.7     The NPPF sets out a presumption in favour of sustainable development. For 

decision-taking this means: 
 

 approving development proposals that accord with the development plan 
without delay; and 

 where the development plan is absent, silent or relevant policies are out 
of date, granting permission unless: 

Page 186



 

 any adverse impacts of doing so would significantly and demonstrably 
outweigh the benefits, when assessed against the policies in this 
Framework taken as a whole; or 

 specific policies in this Framework indicate development should be 
restricted. 

 
Draft London Plan 

 
4.8     The new draft London Plan was published on 29 November 2017. The Plan's 

consultation ended on 2 March 2018. The Examination in Public (EiP) opened 
on 15th January 2019 and publication of the new Plan is expected in the autumn 
of 2019. It is therefore considered that the new draft London Plan should be 
given limited weight at this stage in determining this application. In the interim, 
consideration shall be given to the London Plan (Consolidated with Further 
Alterations 2016). 

 
4.9     With regards to this application, all planning policies in the National Planning 

Policy Framework (NPPF) 2018, London Plan 2016, Local Plan 2018 and 
Planning Guidance Supplementary Planning Guidance (SPD) which have been 
referenced where relevant in this report have been considered with regards to 
equalities impacts through the statutory adoption processes, and in accordance 
with the Equality Act 2010 and Council's PSED. Therefore, the adopted 
planning framework which encompasses all planning policies which are relevant 
in officers' assessment of the application are considered to acknowledge 
protected equality groups, in accordance with the Equality Act 2010 and the 
Council's PSED. 

 
5.0 PLANNING ASSESSMENT  

 
The main considerations material to the assessment of this application have 
been summarised as follows: 
 
5.1 Principle of Development and Land Use 
5.2 Design and Heritage 
5.3 Highways 
5.4 Sustainability and Energy 
5.5 Flood Risk and Drainage 
5.6 Ground Contamination 
5.7 Noise and Vibration 
5.8 Accessibility 

 
5.1 Principal of Development and Land Use 

 
5.1.1. The NPPF 2018 states that applications should be considered in the context of 

a presumption in favour of sustainable development which meets social, 
economic and environmental needs and that development proposals which 
accord with the development plan should be approved without delay. 
Paragraph 118 sets out that planning should encourage effective use of land by 
reusing land which has been previously developed and promotes and supports 
the development of underutilised land and buildings. The NPPF also promotes 
mixed-use development, and encourages patterns of growth which focus 
significant development in locations which are, or can be made, sustainable. 

Page 187



 

 
5.1.2. Paragraph 80 of the NPPF states that the planning system should place 

significant weight on the need to support economic growth and productivity with 
Paragraph 81 requiring planning policies to set out a clear economic vision and 
strategy which positively and proactively encourages sustainable economic 
growth. 
 

5.1.3. London Plan Policy 2.1 states that the Mayor and the GLA group will ensure 
that London retains and extends its global role as a sustainable centre for 
business, innovation, creativity, health, education and research, culture and art 
and as a place to live, visit and enjoy. London Plan Policy 4.1 supports the 
provision of a “strong, sustainable and increasingly diverse economy” across all 
parts of London.  

 
5.1.4. London Plan Policy 4.6 acknowledges the important role of culture in place-

shaping and encourages the expansion of the cultural offer beyond central 
London, and the benefits that providing a diverse range of leisure and cultural 
facilities, other than eating and drinking, can generate. Draft London Plan 
Policy HC5 seeks to support and protect London’s cultural venues, and support 
the development of new cultural venues, in town centres and areas of good 
public transport accessibility. 

 
5.1.5. Local Plan Policies CF1 and CF3 set out the council’s intention to improve the 

range of leisure, recreation, sports, arts, cultural and entertainment facilities in 
the borough including by protecting existing premises that remain satisfactory 
for their purposes and by seeking new or enhanced facilities where appropriate 
and viable. New and expanded venues should be accessible and inclusive and 
seek to address impacts such as noise, traffic and parking. Community uses 
themselves are defined broadly and can include education and training; health; 
emergency services; community halls, pubs and libraries; arts, cultural and 
entertainment uses including tourism, cinemas, theatres, museums, galleries, 
concert halls, music venues and pubs; leisure, recreation and sport. 
 

5.1.6. Local Plan Policy CF1 is clear that the council will work with its strategic 
partners to provide high quality and inclusive facilities and services for the 
community by improving the range of leisure, recreation, sports, arts, cultural 
and entertainment facilities by a) protecting existing premises that remain 
satisfactory for these purposes; b) supporting re-provision of facilities for 
existing users in outworn premises where opportunities arise; and c) seeking 
new or enhanced facilities where appropriate and viable including as part of 
major development proposals. 
 

5.1.7. Local Plan Policy CF3 supports the enhancement and retention of arts, 
cultural, entertainment and leisure uses. It requires proposals for new or 
expanded facilities to be acceptable in terms of noise, traffic, parking, and 
opening hours. Supporting text to the policy confirms that some facilities are 
open during the evening and night-time, helping to sustain a night-time 
economy through the inclusion of music venues, restaurants, pubs and bars. 
 
 
 
 

Page 188



 

Assessment 
 

5.1.8. The proposal seeks to retain and develop the existing venue which is the only 
major exhibition space in central London following the closure of Earl’s Court, 
which would enhance its capabilities and competitiveness as a major 
international exhibition and cultural venue. The purpose of the proposed 
development is offset the exhibition floorspace to be lost during redevelopment 
within Central Hall as a temporary measure to allow Olympia to continue 
function as major exhibition space during these works, should planning 
permission be granted under ref. 2018/03100/FUL and 2018/03101/LBC. The 
closure of Central Hall will result in an overall reduction of 23,414sqm of 
floorspace of which 7,652sqm is the functional, open floor area used for 
exhibitions. 
 

5.1.9. The proposed uses by floor space and by location within the site is summarised 
as follows: 
 
Table 1: Proposed and Existing Floorspace Olympia Grand 

SQM GIA Olympia Grand 

 Exhibition Plant Change 

 Existing  Proposed  Existing  Proposed  

Roof - - - - - 

Level 01 
Mezzanine 

402 279 - - -123 

Level 01 6,582 12,771 159 159 +6,189 

Ground 
Mezzanine 

200 200 - - 0 

Ground 13,091 12,930 82 82 -161 

Basement 2,283 2,277 806 806 +6 

Total 22,558 28,457 1,047 1,047 +5,899 

Use 
Change 

+5,899 0  

 
Table 2: Proposed and Existing Floorspace Olympia National 

SQM GIA Olympia National 

 Exhibition Restaurant A3 Plant Change 

 Existing  Proposed  Existing  Proposed Existing Proposed  

Roof - - - - 1,769 1,769 0 

Level 01 
Mezzanine 

- - - - - - - 

Level 01 4,747 7,296 - - 8 8 +2,549 

Ground 
Mezzanine 

72 72 -  - - 0 

Ground 6,028 6,198 979 979 - - +170 

Basement 3,978 3,978 142 142 143 143 0 

Total 14,825 17,544 1,121 1,119 1,920 1,920 +2,719 

Use 
Change 

+2,719 0 0  

 
 
 

Page 189



 

Table 3: Proposed and Existing Floorspace Total 

SQM GIA Total Grand & National 

 Exhibition Restaurant A3 Plant Change 

 Existing  Proposed  Existing  Proposed Existing Proposed  

Roof - - - - 1,769 1,769 0 

Level 01 
Mezzanine 

402 279 -  - - -123 

Level 01 11,329 20,067 -  167 167 +8,738 

Ground 
Mezzanine 

272 272 -  - - 0 

Ground 19,119 19,128 979 979 82 82 +9 

Basement 6,261 6,255 142 142 949 949 +6 

Total 37,383 46,001 1,121 1,121 2,967 2,967 +8,618 

Use 
Change 

+8,618 0 0  

 
 

5.1.10. The proposal sees no new Class A3 restaurant uses or plant, all of which stays 
in the current locations within the site with the plant being upgraded. A total of 
8,618sqm of temporary Class D1 exhibition floorspace will be introduced at 
Level 01 across both Halls; 5,899sqm in Grand and 2,719sqm in National. This 
level is the current balcony level which would see the new decks introduced as 
infill elements with supports below. The minor increases and decreases in 
exhibition space at other levels are part of the delivery of this new area. 
 

5.1.11. Whilst there would be an effective increase of 966sqm of exhibition floorspace 
compared to the current Central functional floor area, the quantum provided is 
the minimum required to maintain the current functionality of Olympia and is 
also driven by the infill sizes within National and Grand Halls. The overall 
Olympia operational space would be reduced as a result of the 23,414sqm of 
floorspace at Central Hall being temporarily lost. As such there would be no 
overall intensification of the site and the Class D1 exhibition use is the current 
lawful use of both Halls. An appropriately worded condition has been proposed 
by the applicant in discussion with officers and is included at Condition 2 that 
would prevent both the temporary space and Centre Hall operating at the same 
time. 

 
5.1.12. It is therefore considered that the proposed land use and temporary quantum of 

floorspace proposed are acceptable within the existing lawful use and subject to 
the proposed condition limiting concurrent operation with Central Hall. 

 
Building Works 
 

5.1.13. The introduction of the first floor space within both Grand and National Halls, it 
proposed to create a two storey temporary entrance structure to the front of 
Grand and National Halls on Olympia Way. This is in order to facilitate the 
vertical and lateral movement of staff and freight to set up and breakdown the 
exhibition events as well as vertical transportation for visitors. The proposal will 
see the demolition of the existing modern single storey building to the front of 
Grand Hall.  
 

Page 190



 

5.1.14. The temporary entrance will provide vertical circulation into both halls at first 
floor level through a series of interconnecting bridge links at first floor level. The 
existing ground floor entrance into Grand Hall will be unchanged whilst National 
Hall will utilise the existing entrance on Hammersmith Road. In addition to the 
vertical circulation contained with the temporary entrance building, in order to 
serve the infill decks on level 1, the volume of freight delivery required to build 
up and break down the upper exhibition halls requires additional lifts to be 
temporarily installed at discreet and well placed internal locations whilst 
National Hall will an opening between masonry piers for ease of reinstatement 
at the end of the meanwhile installation. An assessment of the design and 
heritage impacts and considerations is set out within section 5.3 of this report. 

 
5.1.15. The principle of removing the existing single storey entrance building is 

accepted and the replacement with a larger structure for a temporary period of 
up to three years is considered acceptable subject to the design and heritage 
considerations. 
 
Principle and Land Use Conclusion 
 

5.1.16. It is therefore considered that the proposed use and quantum of temporary 
floorspace would be within the current lawful use of the site and, subject to 
conditions limiting the time period and limiting the proposed Class D1 exhibition 
space to not be operational concurrently with Central Hall, would result in an 
overall neutral impact of the proposed operation of the site whilst enabling the 
delivery of the overall masterplan currently pending a decision and would not 
undermine the local or nearby centres. The proposed building works and 
entrance extension, subject to design and heritage assessment and a condition 
limiting the time period, is acceptable in principle. As such in principle the 
proposal would be in accordance with the NPPF, London Plan Policies 2.1, 4.1, 
and 4.6, Draft London Plan Policy HC5, and Local Plan Policies CF1, CF3 and 
TLC1. 

 
5.2 Design, Heritage and Townscape 
 

Design 
 

5.2.1 The NPPF seeks to secure high quality design and a good standard of amenity 
for all existing and future occupants of land and buildings. The NPPF also 
requires that proposals should conserve heritage assets in a manner 
appropriate to their significance, so that they can be enjoyed for their 
contribution to the quality of life of this and future generations. 

 
5.2.2 The NPPF states that good design is a key aspect of sustainable development, 

and should contribute positively to making places better for people. Part 12 of 
the NPPF outlines the requirement for good design and Paragraph 127 sets 
out that planning policies and decisions should ensure that developments: 
a) will function well and add to the overall quality of the area, not just for the 
short term but over the lifetime of the development; 
b) are visually attractive as a result of good architecture, layout and appropriate 
and effective landscaping; 

Page 191



 

c) are sympathetic to local character and history, including the surrounding 
built environment and landscape setting, while not preventing or discouraging 
appropriate innovation or change (such as increased densities); 
d) establish or maintain a strong sense of place, using the arrangement of 
streets, spaces, building types and materials to create attractive, welcoming 
and distinctive places to live, work and visit; 
e) optimise the potential of the site to accommodate and sustain an appropriate 
amount and mix of development (including green and other public space) and 
support local facilities and transport networks; and 
f) create places that are safe, inclusive and accessible and which promote 
health and well-being, with a high standard of amenity for existing and future 
users; and where crime and disorder, and the fear of crime, do not undermine 
the quality of life or community cohesion and resilience. 
 

5.2.3     Chapter 7 of the London Plan sets out the Mayor’s policies on a range of 
issues regarding places and space, setting out fundamental principles for 
design. Policy 7.1 (Lifetime Neighbourhoods) states that the design of new 
buildings and the spaces they create should help reinforce or enhance the 
character, legibility, permeability, and accessibility of the neighbourhood. Policy 
7.2 (An Inclusive Environment) requires all new development in London to 
achieve the highest standards of accessible and inclusive design. Policy 7.3 
(Designing out crime) seeks to ensure that developments reduce the 
opportunities for criminal behaviour and contribute to a sense of security, 
without being overbearing or intimidating. 
 

5.2.4 Policies 7.4 (Local character), 7.5 (Public realm) and 7.6 (Architecture) of 
the London Plan are all relevant and promote the high quality design of 
buildings and streets. Policy 7.4 states that development should have regard to 
the form and function, and structure of an area, place or street and the scale, 
mass, and orientation of surrounding buildings whilst Policy 7.6 states that 
buildings and structures should not cause unacceptable harm to the amenity of 
surrounding land and buildings.  

 
5.2.5 The Draft London Plan seeks to secure the delivery of good design through a 

variety of ways. Going beyond the expectations of the adopted London Plan, 
Draft Policy D2 does the following. Part C encourages use of digital modelling 
techniques to analyse potential design options, and to use 3D/virtual reality to 
inform and engage Londoners in the planning process. Part H seeks to ensure 
design quality is retained through (inter alia) avoiding deferring the assessment 
of the design quality of large elements of a development to the consideration of 
a planning condition or referred matter, and the use of architect retention 
clauses in legal agreements ‘where appropriate’. 
 

5.2.6 LBHF Local Plan Policies DC1 and DC2 are particularly relevant to the 
assessment of design. DC1 (Built Environment) states that all development 
within the borough should create a high quality urban environment that respects 
and enhances its townscape context and heritage assets. There should be an 
approach to accessible and inclusive urban design that considers how good 
design, quality public realm, landscaping and land use can be integrated to help 
regenerate places. 

 

Page 192



 

5.2.7 Policy DC2 (Design of New Build) sets out to ensure that new build development 
will be of a high standard of design and compatible with the scale and character 
of existing development and its setting. 

 
Design of proposals 
 
Olympia Way 
 

5.2.8 The existing single storey entrance building and single storey security hut 
buildings on the forecourt of Grand Hall fronting Olympia Way would be 
demolished.  The modern external staircase to the door opening within the 
triumphal arch on the façade of Grand Hall would also be removed.  The 
modern office infill extension between Grand Hall and National Hall oversailing 
Hospital Avenue would be demolished.  A two storey steel framed and largely 
glazed temporary building would be erected on Olympia Way in front of Grand 
Hall to provide a visitor entrance to Grand Hall and lift and stair access to the 
first floor level of both Grand Hall and National Hall.  The temporary building 
would be largely set away from the façade of Grand Hall, creating a lightwell 
and retaining the existing windows to the façade of Grand Hall.  A new opening 
would be created to the façade of Grand Hall within the triumphal arch to 
provide a link between the first floor of the temporary entrance building and the 
gallery level of the Grand Hall.  The original stone frieze within the triumphal 
arch would be reinstated when the temporary entrance building is removed.  
The opening in the flank wall of National Hall created by the demolition of the 
event management offices above Hospital Avenue would provide the link from 
the first floor of the temporary entrance building to the gallery level of National 
Hall.  A temporary opening would be created in the brickwork façade of 
National Hall at first floor fronting Olympia Way to allow for goods access, the 
brickwork would be reinstated. 
 
Grand Hall 
 

5.2.9 The Grand Hall would be retained in use as an exhibition hall, with the insertion 
of a temporary mezzanine at gallery level to provide temporary exhibition 
floorspace.  This would require the temporary removal of the iron balustrade 
around the perimeter of the existing balcony in order to allow free flow of 
pedestrian movement from the existing gallery to the temporary mezzanine.  
This would result in the complete infilling of the existing void at gallery level.  
The mezzanine would be structurally independent from the existing gallery and 
supported by columns at ground floor level which would align with the original 
structural grid of the Grand Hall.  The mezzanine would consist of modular 
lattice structural elements which would be white powder coated and their 
appearance would reference the original structure of the hall.  The mezzanine 
floor finish would be a galvanised steel plate.  Vehicle movement between the 
columns and underneath the deck would be possible when required to facilitate 
the set up of exhibitions.  The structure has been designed to allow easy 
removal as and when needed to accommodate larger events where free 
movement may be required across the whole of the ground floor.   
 

5.2.10 Various internal and external works are proposed to facilitate the increased 
movement of goods and visitors into, out of and around the Grand Hall, 
including the removal of the modern build out of the event management suite 

Page 193



 

over the gallery in the south east corner, the temporary removal of the internal 
wall between the hospitality suite and the gallery at first floor level, localised 
strengthening of the gallery, installation of temporary lifts, alterations to plant 
and the temporary installation of partitions to create toilet facilities at gallery 
level. 
 

5.2.11 The existing wall between the gate piers at the bricked up entrance gate 
between Grand Hall and Pillar Hall would be demolished to allow access to L 
Yard.   
 
National Hall 
 

5.2.12 The National Hall would be retained in use as an exhibition hall, with the 
insertion of a temporary mezzanine at gallery level to provide temporary 
exhibition floorspace.  This would require the temporary removal of the iron 
balustrade around the perimeter of the existing balcony in order to allow free 
flow of pedestrian movement from the existing gallery to the temporary 
mezzanine.  This would result in the complete infilling of the existing void at 
gallery level.  The mezzanine would be structurally independent from the 
existing gallery and supported by columns at ground floor level which would 
align with the original structural grid of the National Hall.  The mezzanine would 
consist of modular lattice structural elements which would be white powder 
coated and their appearance would reference the original structure of the hall.  
The mezzanine floor finish would be a galvanised steel plate.  Vehicle 
movement between the columns and underneath the deck would be possible 
when required to facilitate the set up of exhibitions.  The structure has been 
designed to allow easy removal as and when needed to accommodate larger 
events where free movement may be required across the whole of the ground 
floor.   
 

5.2.13 Various internal and external works are proposed to facilitate the increased 
movement of goods and visitors into, out of and around the National Hall, 
including the installation of temporary lifts, alterations to plant and the temporary 
installation of partitions to create toilet facilities at gallery level. 
 
Design Conclusion 
 

5.2.14 The proposals are well designed and would provide a temporary building 
appropriate to the height and scale of the exhibition centre and temporary 
facilities of an appropriate design quality within the context of an important 
group of designated heritage assets, which would secure the continued 
operation of one of the Borough’s most important visitor attractions during 
construction works to deliver the Masterplan.  Conditions would secure the 
quality of the detailed design and external materials. 
 
Heritage 
 

5.2.15 The Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act 1990 sets out 
the principal statutory duties which must be considered in the determination of 
any application affecting listed buildings or conservation areas. 
 

Page 194



 

5.2.16 It is key to the assessment of these applications that the decision making 
process is based on the understanding of specific duties in relation to listed 
buildings and Conservation Areas required by the relevant legislation, 
particularly the s.16, s.66 and s.72 duties of the Planning (Listed Buildings and 
Conservation Areas) Act 1990 and the requirements set out in the NPPF. 
 

5.2.17 s16(2) of the Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act 1990 
states in relation to listed buildings that: 
 

5.2.18 'In considering whether to grant listed building consent for any works, the local 
planning authority or the Secretary of State shall have special regard to the 
desirability of preserving the [listed] building or its setting or any features of 
special architectural or historic interest which it possesses.' 
 

5.2.19 A similar duty in s66 of the Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas) 
Act 1990 requires that:  
 

5.2.20 ‘In considering whether to grant planning permission for development which 
affects a listed building or its setting, the local planning authority or, as the 
case may be, the Secretary of State shall have special regard to the desirability 
of preserving the building or its setting or any features of special architectural 
or historic interest which it possesses.’ 
 

5.2.21 s72 of the above Act states in relation to Conservation Areas that:  
 

5.2.22 ‘In the exercise, with respect to any buildings or other land in a conservation 
area, of any functions under or by virtue of any of the provisions mentioned in 
subsection (2), special attention shall be paid to the desirability of preserving or 
enhancing the character or appearance of that area.’ 
 

5.2.23 Paragraph 184 of the NPPF states: 
 

5.2.24 Heritage assets range from sites and buildings of local historic value to those 
of the highest significance, such as World Heritage Sites which are 
internationally recognised to of Outstanding Universal Value.  These assets are 
an irreplaceable resource, and should be conserved in a manner appropriate to 
their significance, so that they can be enjoyed for their contribution to the 
quality of life of existing and future generations. 
 

5.2.25 Paragraph 190 of the NPPF states: 
 

5.2.26 Local Planning Authorities should identify and assess the particular 
significance of any heritage asset that may be affected by a proposal (including 
by development affecting the setting of a heritage asset) taking account of the 
available evidence and any necessary expertise.  They should take this into 
account when considering the impact of a proposal on a heritage asset, to 
avoid or minimise any conflict between the heritage asset’s conservation and 
any aspect of the proposal. 
 

5.2.27 Paragraph 192 of the NPPF states: 
 

5.2.28 In determining applications, local planning authorities should take account of: 

Page 195



 

 
a) the desirability of sustaining and enhancing the significance of heritage 
assets and putting them to viable uses consistent with their conservation; 
b) the positive contribution that conservation of heritage assets can make to 
sustainable communities including their economic vitality; and 
c) the desirability of new development making a positive contribution to local 
character and distinctiveness. 
 

5.2.29 Paragraph 193 of the NPPF states:  
 

5.2.30 When considering the impact of a proposed development on the significance of 
a designated heritage asset, great weight should be given to the asset’s 
conservation (and the more important the asset, the greater the weight should 
be). This is irrespective of whether any potential harm amounts to substantial 
harm, total loss or less than substantial harm to its significance. 
 

5.2.31 Paragraph 194 of the NPPF states that any harm to, or loss of, the 
significance of a designated heritage asset (from its alteration or destruction, or 
from development within its setting), should require clear and convincing 
justification.  Substantial harm to or loss of: 
 
a) grade II listed buildings, or grade II registered parks or gardens, should be 
exceptional; 
b) assets of the highest significance, notably scheduled monuments, protected 
wreck sites, registered battlefields, grade I and II* listed buildings, grade I and 
II* registered parks and gardens, and World Heritage Sites, should be wholly 
exceptional. 
 

5.2.32 Paragraph 195 of the NPPF states that where a proposed development will 
lead to substantial harm to (or total loss of significance of) a designated 
heritage asset, local planning authorities should refuse consent, unless it can 
be demonstrated that the substantial harm or total loss is necessary to achieve 
substantial public benefits that outweigh that harm or loss, or all of the 
following apply: 
 
a) the nature of the heritage asset prevents all reasonable uses of the site; and 
b) no viable use of the heritage asset itself can be found in the medium term 
through appropriate marketing that will enable its conservation; and 
c) conservation by grant-funding or some form of not for profit, charitable or 
public ownership is demonstrably not possible; and 
d) the harm or loss is outweighed by the benefit of bringing the site back into 
use. 
 

5.2.33 Paragraph 196 of the NPPF states:  
 

5.2.34 Where a development proposal will lead to less than substantial harm to the 
significance of a designated heritage asset, this harm should be weighed 
against the public benefits of the proposal including, where appropriate, 
securing its optimum viable use. 
 

5.2.35 The NPPF makes a clear distinction between the approach to be taken in 
decision-making where the proposed development would affect the 

Page 196



 

significance of designated heritage assets (listed buildings, conservation areas, 
Registered Parks and Gardens) and where it would affect the significance of 
non-designated heritage assets (buildings of local historic and architectural 
importance). 
 

5.2.36 The NPPF also makes a clear distinction between the approach to be taken in 
decision-making where the proposed development would result in ‘substantial’ 
harm and where it would result in ‘less than substantial’ harm. 
 

5.2.37 Case law indicates that following the approach set out in the NPPF will 
normally be enough to satisfy the statutory tests. However, when carrying out 
the balancing exercise in paragraphs 195 and 196, it is important to recognise 
that the statutory provisions require the decision maker to give great weight to 
the desirability of preserving designated heritage assets and/or their setting. 
 

5.2.38 The Planning Practice Guidance notes which accompany the NPPF remind us 
that it is the degree of harm to the asset’s significance rather than the scale of 
the development that is to be assessed. 
 

5.2.39 The scheme would impact both directly and indirectly on heritage assets. 
These impacts are considered separately in the following sections. 
 

5.2.40 For the indirect impacts, namely impacts on settings, officers agreed areas for 
assessment with the applicants. The applicant’s statement submitted with the 
application seeks to identify the significance of designated heritage assets 
within a study area of 750m surrounding the site, including designated heritage 
assets in Hammersmith & Fulham and RBKC. It identifies designated assets 
that have a connection to the proposed development area and seeks to identify 
the significance of the designated heritage asset in relation to the site. 
 

5.2.41 In the first instance, the assessment to be made is whether the development 
within the setting of a designated heritage asset will cause harm to that 
designated heritage asset or its setting. If no harm is caused, there is no need 
to undertake a balancing exercise. If harm would be caused, it is necessary to 
assess the magnitude of that harm before going to apply the balancing test as 
set out in paragraphs 195 and 196 of the NPPF as appropriate. 
 

5.2.42 Local Plan Policy DC8 (Heritage and Conservation) states that the council 
will conserve the significance of the borough’s historic environment by 
protecting, restoring and enhancing its heritage assets. These assets include: 
listed buildings, conservation areas historic parks and gardens, the scheduled 
monument of Fulham Palace Moated site, unscheduled archaeological remains 
and buildings and features of local interest. When determining applications 
affecting heritage assets, the council will apply the following principles: 
 
a. the presumption will be in favour of the conservation, restoration and 
enhancement of heritage assets, and proposals should secure the long term 
future of heritage assets. The more significant the designated heritage asset, 
the greater the presumption should be in favour of its conservation; 
b. applications affecting designated heritage assets, including alterations and 
extensions to buildings will only be permitted if the significance of the heritage 
asset is conserved or enhanced; 

Page 197



 

c. applications should conserve the setting of, make a positive contribution to, 
or reveal the significance of the heritage asset. The presence of heritage 
assets should inform high quality design within their setting; 
d. applications affecting non-designated heritage assets (buildings and 
artefacts of local importance and interest) will be determined having regard to 
the scale and impact of any harm or loss and the significance of the heritage 
asset in accordance with paragraph 135 of the National planning Policy 
Framework; 
e. particular regard will be given to matters of scale, height, massing, 
alignment, materials and use; 
f. where changes of use are proposed for heritage assets, the proposed use, 
and any alterations that are required resulting from the proposed use should be 
consistent with the aims of conservation of the asset’s significance, including 
securing its optimum viable use; 
g. applications should include a description of the significance of the asset 
concerned and an assessment of the impact of the proposal upon it or its 
setting which should be carried out with the assistance of a suitably qualified 
person. The extent of the requirement should be proportionate to the nature 
and level of the asset’s significance. Where archaeological remains of national 
significance may be affected applications should also be supported by an 
archaeological field evaluation; 
h. proposals which involve substantial harm, or less than substantial harm to 
the significance of a heritage asset will be refused unless it can be 
demonstrated that they meet the criteria specified in paragraph 133 and 134 of 
the National Planning Policy Framework; 
i. where a heritage asset cannot be retained in its entirety or when a change of 
use is proposed, the developer should ensure that a suitably qualified person 
carries out an analysis (including photographic surveys) of its design and 
significance, in order to record and advance the understanding of heritage in 
the borough. The extent of the requirement should be proportionate to the 
nature and level of the asset’s significance; 
j. the proposal respects the principles of accessible and inclusive design; 
k. where measures to mitigate the effects of climate change are proposed, the 
applicants will be required to demonstrate how they have considered the 
significance of the heritage asset and tailored their proposals accordingly; 
l. expert advice will be required to address the need to evaluate and conserve 
archaeological remains, and to advise on the appropriate mitigation measures 
in cases where excavation is justified; and 
m. securing the future of heritage assets at risk identified on Historic England’s 
national register, as part of a positive strategy for the historic environment. 
 

5.2.43 The Council’s Supplementary Planning Guidance SPD is relevant, in 
particular Key Principles AH1 (Information Requirements for applications for 
consent affecting heritage assets); AH2 (Protection of Heritage Assets); CAG1 
(Land Use in Conservation Areas); CAG2 (Urban Design in Conservation 
Areas) and CAG3 (New Development in Conservation Areas).  These Key 
Principles provide guidance which seeks to ensure that heritage assets are 
conserved in a manner appropriate to their significance in accordance with the 
NPPF. 
 
 
 

Page 198



 

Impacts on Heritage Assets 
 

5.2.44 As summarised above, the NPPF requires local authorities to conserve 
heritage assets in a manner appropriate to their significance. The more 
important the asset, the greater the weight that should be given to its 
conservation. National Policy does not preclude development of heritage 
assets or development which may affect them or their setting, but aims to put 
in place the requirement for a considered analysis of when and where this may 
be acceptable. 

 
5.2.45 The site is located within the Olympia and Avonmore Conservation Area. 

 
5.2.46 The development affects the following listed buildings: 
 

 Grand 
Hall and Pillar Hall (Grade II*, 1885) 

 National 
Hall and Olympia Central (Grade II, 1923 and 1929) 

 Olympia 
Multi-Storey Car Park (Grade II, 1937) 

 
Significance of Heritage Assets 
 
Olympia site overall 
 

5.2.47 The Olympia Exhibition Centre is a visual and entertainment landmark of 
national significance which is well-known for its annual round of events. It is 
characterised by a variety of high quality buildings ranging in date from 1885 to 
the 1930s, designed for the purpose of hosting entertainments, events and 
exhibitions. The listed buildings at Olympia have considerable group value as 
part of an evolving complex of exhibition buildings on the site, which relate 
closely to each other functionally. Olympia also has substantial historical and 
communal significance as a major national and indeed international events 
space, reflecting the original vision of a foremost destination for large-scale 
entertainments and events, and the exhibition of art, science, and industry. 
  

5.2.48 Olympia is a nationally rare building type of which there are few comparable 
examples. The structure of the Grand Hall has parallels with Victorian railway 
architecture, such as the impressive barrel vaulted roofs at Paddington and St 
Pancras railway stations, but is unusual for being deployed in exhibition and 
entertainment use and surviving substantially intact. The former Agricultural 
Hall in Islington was the inspiration for the Grand Hall but is a smaller and less 
architecturally impressive space. The Winter Gardens in Blackpool and 
Alexandra Palace are comparators as large-scale entertainment complexes. 
Olympia is also unusual for its subsequent evolution, with each additional 
building expanding the capacity of the site or contributing to its ability to 
support exhibitions and events. The individual buildings reflect their different 
eras of construction but contribute to the historic and architectural value of the 
site as a leading exhibition venue for over 130 years. Additional buildings have 
maintained the pre-eminence of the Grand Hall as the primary signifier of the 
Olympia complex. Overall, the Olympia site is nationally rare and highly 
significant.   

Page 199



 

 
Grand Hall and Pillar Hall (listed under a single listing) 
 

5.2.49 The Grand Hall and Pillar Hall are the earliest buildings on the site and 
possess the most architectural and historic interest, as reflected in their higher 
grade of listing. They are of national interest because of their central role in the 
country’s cultural life and are a rare surviving example of their type. Their 
distinctive elevations articulate their design intention to create a national hall 
and provide a focal point in the local townscape. The Grand Hall provides a 
dramatic example of large-scale Victorian industrial engineering and technical 
innovation. There is great aesthetic interest in the high quality and well-
preserved interiors of the Pillar Hall which was built as a set piece with the 
Grand Hall and provided a separate event space; the two buildings have strong 
group value. The boiler house chimney is also included within the list 
description as a subsidiary element. 
 
National Hall and Olympia Central (listed under a single listing) 
 

5.2.50 The National Hall and Olympia Central contribute to the historic and cultural 
interest of the Olympia site as a major exhibition centre. The National Hall 
complements the design of the Grand Hall through its restrained classical 
façade and its simplified, scaled-down version of the Grand Hall’s barrel 
vaulted roof. The conference and hospitality rooms are well-preserved and 
attractively detailed with mahogany panelling and decorative plasterwork to the 
ceiling down stands.  
 

5.2.51 Olympia Central was designed by Joseph Emberton, an important figure in the 
modern movement who is responsible for a number of other listed buildings 
including the casino at Blackpool Pleasure Beach and Simpson’s, Piccadilly. It 
has a bold, distinctive elevation to Hammersmith Road and is a confident 
rendering of the Moderne style. Its interiors were intentionally plain, have been 
altered and very little remains of heritage interest. The National Hall and 
Olympia Central have strong group value with the Grand Hall and Pillar Hall.   

 
Olympia and Avonmore Conservation Area 
 

5.2.52 The Olympia and Avonmore Conservation Area has a mixed character, 
predominantly residential but with larger commercial sites along the railway line 
and retail uses mostly clustered along Hammersmith Road. The southern part 
of the conservation area is dominated by the former Whiteley’s Depository site 
(now called Kensington Village), consisting of substantial brick-built Victorian 
warehousing, now primarily in office and commercial use. The central part of 
the conservation area is characterised by substantial Victorian terraces and 
late-nineteenth and early-twentieth century mansion blocks. Building heights in 
this sub-area of the conservation area are generally of domestic scale, with 
residential terraces of three to four storeys and some mansion blocks rising to 
five storeys. The Olympia exhibition site occupies the northern part of the 
conservation area and makes a significant contribution to the character of the 
area because of its size, scale, distinctive character, quality of architecture and 
exhibition use. 
 
 

Page 200



 

 Heritage - Impacts 
 
5.2.53 It is key to the assessment of these applications that the decision making 

process is based on the understanding of specific duties in relation to listed 
buildings and Conservation Areas required by the relevant legislation, 
particularly the s.16, s.66 and s.72 duties of the Planning (Listed Buildings and 
Conservation Areas) Act 1990 and the requirements set out in the NPPF.  
Officers have given due weight to the statutory duties of the desirability of 
preserving the special architectural and historic interest of the listed buildings 
affected and their settings and of preserving or enhancing the character and 
appearance of the Olympia & Avonmore Conservation Area. 
 

5.2.54 The NPPF states that great weight should be given to the asset’s conservation, 
irrespective of whether any potential harm amounts to substantial harm, total 
loss or less than substantial harm to its significance (para 193). Where a 
proposal will lead to substantial harm, local authorities should refuse consent 
unless it can be demonstrated that the harm is necessary to achieve 
substantial public benefits that outweigh the harm (para 195). Where a 
development proposal will lead to less than substantial harm to the significance 
of a designated heritage asset, this harm should be weighed against the public 
benefits of the proposal, including, where appropriate, securing its optimum 
viable use (para 196). 
 

5.2.55 The proposed development would facilitate the continued operation of the site 
as an exhibition centre during the implementation of the masterplan which is 
intended to secure the operation of Olympia in its historic use as an exhibition 
centre in the longer term, which would in turn sustain the conservation of the 
designated heritage assets.  The masterplan provides a comprehensive, 
approach to restoring and redeveloping the Olympia complex by retaining and 
enhancing the core exhibition centre use and introducing new complementary 
uses. 

 
5.2.56 The installation of temporary mezzanine levels in the Grand Hall and National 

Hall would cause temporary harm to those designated heritage assets due to 
the reduced ability to appreciate the original volume and proportions of the 
halls, which are an important element of their significance.  The temporary loss 
of the balustrades to the Grand Hall and National Hall at gallery level, the 
removal of the internal wall between the hospitality room and the gallery of 
Grand Hall and the installation of temporary openings for goods access in the 
façade of National Hall would also cause harm through the temporary removal 
of original architectural features and historic fabric.  The erection of a 
temporary entrance building in front of Grand Hall will obscure part of the front 
elevation of Grand Hall and reduce the ability to appreciate the planned 
composition of the facades of Grand Hall and Pillar Hall in views from Olympia 
Way. 

 
5.2.57 Officers consider that the proposed development would cause less than 

substantial harm to the significance of the Olympia and Avonmore 
Conservation Area and less than substantial harm to the significance of the 
Grand Hall and National Hall and to the setting of Pillar Hall.  The harm would 
be temporary, for the duration of the period during which the temporary 
entrance building and temporary mezzanine levels would be in place.  The 

Page 201



 

proposed reinstatement works and implementation of the masterplan would 
ensure that the site is restored to a high quality of design and materials and 
that the listed buildings are made good in materials to match the existing upon 
the expiration of the temporary period. 

 
5.2.58 Officers consider that the setting of the Olympia Multi-Storey Car Park would 

not be harmed due to the distance between the temporary entrance building 
and the planned juxtaposition of the Multi-Storey Car Park with buildings of 
different architectural styles on Olympia Way. 
 

5.2.59 The Olympia site is significant as an evolving complex of exhibition buildings 
which relate closely to each other functionally. The group value of the site will 
be harmed temporarily through the installation of temporary mezzanine levels 
in the Grand Hall and National Hall which will harm the ability to appreciate the 
original volume and proportions of the halls, which are important elements of 
the significance of the group of listed buildings and by the erection of a 
temporary entrance building in front of Grand Hall which will obscure part of the 
front elevation and temporarily harm the ability to appreciate the planned 
composition of the facades of Grand Hall and Pillar Hall from Olympia Way. 

 
5.2.60 Officers have given great weight to the conservation of the Olympia and 

Avonmore Conservation Area, Grand Hall, Pillar Hall and National Hall.  
Officers consider that the less than substantial harm identified to the 
significance of these designated heritage assets would be outweighed by 
public benefits as set out later in the Officer Report.  For the harm caused to 
these designated heritage assets the test outlined in para 196 of the NPPF 
would apply.   
 
Design and Heritage Conclusion 
 

5.2.61 The proposed development is intended to secure the implementation of the 
masterplan which would maintain the Olympia site in its historic use as an 
exhibition centre in the longer term and thereby sustain the conservation of the 
designated assets affected. 
 

5.2.62 The design of the development and the temporary works is informed by an 
understanding of the significance of the heritage assets affected and the 
detailed design of the individual elements is considered to be acceptable as a 
temporary intervention in the listed buildings.   
 

5.2.63 The harm to the designated heritage assets has been minimised as far as 
possible including by the quality of the design of the temporary mezzanine 
levels and the temporary entrance building and by avoiding intervention in the 
historic fabric of the building wherever possible. 
 

5.2.64 The magnitude of any harm identified has been assessed as less than 
substantial harm, it would be temporary in nature and proportionate to the scale 
of the extensive construction work required to deliver the masterplan.  The less 
than substantial harm is considered to be outweighed by the public benefits that 
delivery of the masterplan would secure. 
 

Page 202



 

5.2.65 It is considered that this is compliant with Section 16, 66 and 72 of the Planning 
(Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act 1990. The proposed 
development is therefore considered acceptable in accordance with the NPPF, 
Policies 7.1, 7.2, 7.3, 7.4, 7.5, 7.6 and 7.21 of the London Plan and Policies 
DC1, DC2, DC4 and DC8 of the Local Plan (2018). 

 
5.3 Highways 
 
5.3.1. The NPPF requires that developments which generate significant movement 

are located where the need to travel would be minimised, and the use of 
sustainable transport modes can be maximised; and that development should 
protect and exploit opportunities for the use of sustainable transport modes for 
the movement of goods or people. All developments that will generate 
significant amounts of movement should be required to provide a travel plan, 
and the application should be supported by a transport statement or transport 
assessment so that the likely impacts of the proposal can be assessed.  
 

5.3.2. London Plan Policies 6.1, 6.3, 6.10, 6.11 and 6.13 set out the intention to 
encourage consideration of transport implications as a fundamental element of 
sustainable transport, supporting development patterns that reduce the need to 
travel or that locate development with high trip generation in proximity of public 
transport services. The policies also provide guidance for the establishment of 
maximum car parking standards. 
 

5.3.3. Local Plan Policy T1 sets out the Council’s intention to ‘work with strategic 
partners to improve transport provision, accessibility and air quality in the 
borough, by improving and increasing the opportunities for cycling and walking, 
and by improving connections for bus services, underground, national and 
regional rail’. 
 

5.3.4. Local Plan Policy T2 relates to transport assessments and travel plans and 
states “All development proposals would be assessed for their contribution to 
traffic generation and their impact on congestion, particularly on bus routes and 
on the primary route network”. 

 
5.3.5. Local Plan Policies T3, T4, T5 and T7 relate to opportunities for cycling and 

walking, vehicle parking standards, blue badge holders parking and 
construction and demolition logistics. Policies 5.16 and 5.17 are relevant to 
waste and recycling. Local Plan Policy CC7 sets out the requirements for all 
new developments to provide suitable facilities for the management of waste. 
Planning SPD (2018) Key Principles WM1, WM2, WM7 and WM11 are also 
applicable which seek off-street servicing for all new developments.  

 
Trip generation 

 
5.3.6. The proposed development is a replacement of existing exhibition space. It is 

forecasted that the proposal will not generate any additional trips to the existing 
exhibition space and therefore trip generation information was omitted from the 
transport statement. The Highway Authority is satisfied that the proposal is not 
likely to lead to an increase in trips to and from the application site. 
 
 

Page 203



 

Car parking 
 

5.3.7. The proposal does not include any additional car parking within the application 
site. 
 
Cycle parking 

 
5.3.8. The proposal does not include any additional cycle parking spaces, however the 

provision of additional cycle parking spaces to promote active travel to and from 
the site is encouraged through the hard landscaping details to be submitted by 
condition. 
 
Construction Logistics Plan 

 
5.3.9. The applicant has submitted an outline Construction Logistics Plan (CLP) in 

accordance with Policy T7 of the Local Plan (2018). 
 

5.3.10. Core working hours during construction in accordance with LBHF guidance are: 
 

 08:00-18:00 Mon-Fri 

 08:00-13:00 Sat 

 No working on Sundays or Bank holidays 
 

5.3.11. It is anticipated that the majority of construction traffic will access the site 
approaching from the west of London using the M25, A40 and M4/A4, avoiding 
Central London. It is proposed that construction vehicles approaching the site 
will primarily use Hammersmith Road from the A40 or North End Road from the 
A4. The vehicles would then access the one-way system via Olympia Way. 
Construction vehicles would egress the site on to Hammersmith road and either 
head west towards the M25, head east onto North End Road back towards the 
A4/M25 or east onto Holland Road and back towards to A40/M25. The routing 
for construction vehicles has not been agreed by the council and will be 
considered with the detailed CLP secured by condition. 

 
5.3.12. The indicative maximum average of construction vehicles to the site during 

demolition and construction is to be 80 (40 in and 40 out) movements per day. 
The peak movements will occur when key commence within the Grand Hall. 
The maximum number of construction vehicle movements in an hour will be 22 
(11 in and 11 out).  

 
5.3.13. Officers consider that sufficient information has been submitted regarding 

Construction Logistics and the detailed CLP should be submitted prior to 
commencement of construction. 

 
Delivery and Servicing Plan 

 
5.3.14. The applicant has stated that the proposed development will have no impact on 

the current delivery and servicing plan (DSP) in place for the application site. 
The applicant is required to submit an updated DSP and this can be secured via 
planning condition. 

 
 

Page 204



 

 
Summary 
 

5.3.15. Subject to the submission of the required documents by condition officers 
consider that the proposed development would be acceptable and in 
accordance with London Plan Policies 6.1, 6.3, 6.10, 6.11 and 6.13 and Local 
Plan policies T3, T4, T5, T7 and CC7. 

 
5.4 Energy and Sustainability 
 
5.4.1 The NPPF state that development proposals are expected to comply with local 

requirements and should take account of landform, layout, building orientation, 
massing and landscaping to minimise energy consumption and to increase the 
use and supply of renewable and low carbon energy. 

 
5.4.2 London Plan Policies 5.1, 5.2 and 5.3 require developments to make the 

fullest contribution to the mitigation of and adaptation to climate change, ensure 
sustainable design and construction and minimise carbon dioxide emissions. 
Policies 5.5, 5.6, 5.7 and 5.8 require developments to provide decentralised 
energy, renewable energy and innovative energy technologies where 
appropriate. 

 
5.4.3 The Mayor’s Sustainable Design and Construction SPG provides guidance 

on the implementation of London Plan Policy 5.3 and provides a range of 
additional guidance on matters relating to environmental sustainability. 

 
5.4.4 Draft London Plan Policy SI2 seeks to extend the extant requirement on 

residential development to non-residential development to meet zero carbon 
targets. It maintains the expectation that a minimum reduction of 35% beyond 
Building Regulations to be met on site (10% or 15% of which should be 
achieved through energy efficiency for residential development, and non-
residential development). Where it is clearly demonstrated that the zero-carbon 
target cannot be met on site, the shortfall should be provided through a cash in 
lieu contribution to the borough’s carbon offset fund, or off-site provided an 
alternative proposal has been identified and delivery is certain. 

 
5.4.5 Draft London Plan Policy SI3 identifies Heat Network Priority Areas, which 

include the Fulham Gasworks site. Here, major proposals should have a 
communal heat system in accordance with a hierarchy that priorities connection 
to local existing or planned heat networks, followed by: use of available local 
secondary heat sources; generation of clean heat/power from zero-emission 
sources; and use of fuel cells. CHPs are ranked fifth of the six options, followed 
by ultra-low NOx gas boilers. Supporting text explains that further information 
about the relevance of CHP in developments of various scales will also be 
provided in an Energy Planning Guidance document, which will be kept updated 
as technology changes, however this guidance has not yet been published. The 
draft Plan states that it is not expected that gas engine CHP will be able to meet 
the standards required within areas exceeding air quality limits with the 
technology that is currently available. 

 
5.4.6 Draft London Plan Policy SI4 seeks to minimise internal heat gain and the 

impacts of urban heat island effect through design, layout, orientation and 

Page 205



 

materials. An energy strategy should demonstrate how development proposals 
will reduce potential for overheating and reliance on air conditioning systems in 
accordance with a hierarchy that prioritises the minimisation of internal heat 
generation through energy efficient design and reductions to the amount of heat 
entering a building. 

 
5.4.7 Local Plan Policy CC1 requires major developments to implement energy 

conservation measures by implementing the London Plan sustainable energy 
policies and meeting associated CO2 reduction target and demonstrating that a 
series of measures have been taken to reduce the expected energy demand 
and CO2 emissions. It requires the use of on-site energy generation to further 
reduce CO2 emissions where feasible. 

 
5.4.8 Local Plan Policy CC2 seeks to ensure the implementation of sustainable 

design and construction measures by implementing the London Plan 
sustainable design and construction policies. 

 
5.4.9 The temporary structure that will form the new entrance will be made up of 

modular components which can be recycled and re-used when 
decommissioned and removed from the Olympia site. The Energy Statement 
set submitted explains that the temporary decking proposals will require an 
upgrading of the mechanical and electrical services which  will need to be done 
within the constraints created by the Grade II listed nature of the building.  

 
5.4.10 More efficient Air Handling Units (AHUs) will be used to provide heating and 

ventilation than those being replaced although additional units will be required 
to serve the additional floorspace. Other energy efficiency measures are also 
proposed such as LED lighting and heat recovery. CO2 emissions figures have 
not been provided although given that the proposal is for a temporary scheme 
(in a listed building), the Energy Statement notes that it is considered that the 
maximum has been done without making substantial changes to the building 
which are not feasible. 

 
5.4.11 The new entrance building has an energy efficient design to manage solar gain 

and natural light. It will mainly be a space that is passively ventilated (although 
there is a mechanical system available if required) and heating and cooling will 
be provided by renewable energy generation in the form of Air Source Heath 
Pumps.  

 
5.4.12 Overall, given the nature of the site and the proposed works, the constraints of 

working within a listed building in providing a temporary increase in available 
floorspace and officers therefore consider that the proposed development 
accords with Policies 5.1, 5.2, 5.3, 5.6, 5.7, 5.8, 5.9, 5.11, 5.12, 5.13, 5.14, 5.15 
and 7.19 of the London Plan and Policies CC1, CC2 and CC7 of the Local Plan. 

 
5.5 Flood Risk and Drainage 
 
5.5.1 The NPPF seeks to meet the challenge of climate change, flooding and coastal 

change by supporting the transition to a low carbon future in a changing climate 
taking account of flood risk and coastal change. 

 

Page 206



 

5.5.2 London Plan Policies 5.11, 5.12, 5.13, 5.14 and 5.15 require new 
development to comply with the flood risk assessment and management 
requirements of national policy, including the incorporation of sustainable urban 
drainage systems, and specifies a drainage hierarchy for new development. 
Policy 5.3 identifies the efficient use of natural resources (including water) as a 
principle for informing the achievement of other policies in the London Plan. 
Policy 5.11 Part A subsection b recognises the role of green roofs and walls in 
delivering sustainable urban drainage objectives. Policy 5.13 further states that 
development should utilise SuDS unless there are practical reasons for not 
doing so and should aim to achieve greenfield run-off rates and manage surface 
water run-off close to source. Policy 5.14 states that planning decisions must 
ensure that adequate waste water infrastructure capacity is available in tandem 
with development. 

 
5.5.3 Local Plan Policy CC2 requires major developments to implement sustainable 

design and construction measures, including making the most efficient use of 
water. 

 
5.5.4 Local Plan Policy CC3 requires a site-specific Flood Risk Assessment (FRA) 

for developments in Flood Zones 2 and 3 that: a. addresses the NPPF 
requirements; b. takes account of the risk of flooding from all relevant sources; 
c. integrates appropriate flood proofing measures where there is a risk of 
flooding; and d. provides structural waterproofing measures in subterranean 
elements and using non-return valves or equivalent to protect against sewer 
flooding. 

 
5.5.5 Local Plan Policy CC4 (‘Minimising surface water run-off with sustainable 

drainage systems’) requires all proposals for new development to ‘manage 
surface water run-off as close to its source as possible and on the surface 
where practicable, in line with the London Plan drainage hierarchy’. It also 
requires all major developments to implement SuDS ‘to enable reduction in 
peak run-off to greenfield run off rates for storms up to the 1 in 100-year event 
(plus climate change allowance)’ and to provide a sustainable drainage strategy 
to demonstrate how the strategy will enable these requirements. These are to 
be retained and maintained for the lifetime of the development, with details of 
their planned maintenance to be provided.  

 
5.5.6 Draft London Plan Policy SI13 sets out the same requirement and additionally 

states that proposals for impermeable paving should be refused and that 
drainage should be design and implemented to address water efficiency, river 
quality, biodiversity and recreation. 

 
5.5.7 This part of the Olympia site is in the Environment Agency's Flood Zone 2 with 

most of the site in Flood Zone 1. This indicates a low/medium risk to flooding 
from the Thames. However, the site is well protected from flooding by the 
Thames Barrier and river wall defences. If these were breached or over-topped, 
the site would not be expected to be impacted by flood water from the Thames. 
There are no surface water flooding hotspots around the site. The proposed 
new floorspace is at mezzanine level and no basement level works are 
proposed, so groundwater and sewer flood risks are also low. As all but a small 
part of the proposed works relate to internal floorspace additions, there is no 
significant risk to flooding and no need to include additional flood resilience 

Page 207



 

measures as the mezzanine areas are at a height which would be above any 
flood water in the unlikely event of flooding on the site. 

 
5.5.8 The proposal is considered to be acceptable and in accordance with Policies 

5.11, 5.13, 5.14 and 5.15 of the London Plan and policy requiring flood risk 
assessment and development to mitigate flood risk, Policies CC2, CC3, CC4 
and CC5 of the Local Plan which requires development to minimise future flood 
risk. 

 
5.6 Contamination 
 
5.6.1 London Plan Policy 5.21 explains that ‘the Mayor supports the remediation of 

contaminated sites and will work with strategic partners to ensure that the 
development of brownfield land does not result in significant harm to human 
health or the environment, and to bring contaminated land to beneficial use’. For 
decision-making, the policy requires ‘appropriate measures’ to be taken to 
ensure that development on previously contaminated land does not activate or 
spread contamination. 

 
5.6.2 Local Plan Policy CC9 requires a site assessment and a report on its findings 

for developments on or near sites known to be (or where there is reason to 
believe they may be) contaminated. Development will be refused ‘unless 
practicable and effective measures are to be taken to treat, contain or control 
any contamination’. Any permission will require that any agreed measures with 
the council to assess and abate risks to human health or the wider environment 
are carried out as the first step of the development. 

 
5.6.3 Key principles LC1-6 of the Planning Guidance SPG identify the key 

principles informing the processes for engaging with the council on, and 
assessing, phasing and granting applications for planning permission on 
contaminated land. The latter principle provides that planning conditions can be 
used to ensure that development does not commence until conditions have 
been discharged.  

 
5.6.4 Officers have reviewed the application and whilst further detail is required due 

to potentially contaminative land uses possibly having occurred at, or near to, 
this site these details can be appropriately and reasonably secured by way of 
conditions.  

 
5.6.5 Subject to the inclusion of conditions requiring the implementation of the 

submitted documents and submission of further information, officers consider 
that the proposed development accords with Policies 5.21 and Policy CC9 of 
the Local Plan given that all identified potentially significant effects during the 
demolition and construction and the operational stages can be suitably 
adequately mitigated, such that the significance of the residual effects of the 
Proposed Development will be negligible and that the land will be suitable for 
the proposed uses 

 
5.7 Noise 
 
5.7.1 London Plan Policy 7.15 states that development proposals should seek to 

reduce noise by minimising the existing and potential adverse impacts of noise 

Page 208



 

on, from, within, or in the vicinity of, a development and promoting new 
technologies and improved practices to reduce noise. 

 
5.7.2 Local Plan Policy CC11 seeks to control the noise and vibration impacts of 

developments, requiring the location of noise and vibration sensitive 
development ‘in the most appropriate locations’. Design, layout and materials 
should be used carefully to protect against existing and proposed sources of 
noise, insulating the building envelope, internal walls floors and ceilings, and 
protecting external amenity areas. Noise assessments providing details of noise 
levels on the site are expected ‘where necessary’. 

 
5.7.3 Local Plan Policy CC13 seeks to control pollution, including noise, and 

requires proposed developments to show that there will be ‘no undue detriment 
to the general amenities enjoyed by existing surrounding occupiers of their 
properties’. 

 
5.7.4 Officers consider that the impacts for noise and vibration have are acceptable. It 

is therefore considered appropriate to require these details, including insulation 
and anti-vibration measures for machinery and plant by condition.   

 
5.7.5 Subject to the inclusion of conditions requiring the implementation of the 

submitted documents and submission of further information, officers consider 
that the proposed development accords with Policies 7.15 of the London Plan 
and Policies CC11 and CC13 of the Local Plan. 

 
5.8 Accessibility 
 
5.8.1 Local Plan Policy DC1 requires all development to be of a high quality and 

should have an approach to accessible and inclusive urban design. Policy D2 
requires new buildings to follow the principles of accessible and inclusive 
design. Planning SPD Key Principles DA1, DA4, DA5, DA6, DA7, DA8, DA9, 
DA11, DA12 and DA13 requires all applications to ensure the buildings are 
designed to be accessible and inclusive to all who may visit or use the building, 
to remove barriers to all members of the community and how the accessibility 
will be manged when operational, provide proportion of hotel rooms to be for 
use by disabled people, have minimum widths and gradients for accesses, 
essential lifts, toilets and other required facilities and to engage and consult with 
disabled people. 

 
5.8.2 The primary access to the National hall deck is via the pedestrian access point 

within the new entrance building located on Olympia Way which contains lifts 
and a wide staircase. Due to the connected nature of the exhibition centre, once 
on the National Hall deck, access can also be gained onto the Grand Hall deck 
and West Hall for those connected shows. Four new lifts and a two wide stairs 
conforming to BS 8300 will provide access from within the ground floor 
temporary entrance building to the level 1 balcony mezzanine deck, providing 
access to all levels. These new lifts and stairs will also improve circulation from 
upper to lower levels of the existing hall for connected events utilising both 
levels of National Hall. 

 
5.8.3 The primary access to the Grand hall deck is via the pedestrian access point 

within the new entrance building located on Olympia Way which contains lifts 

Page 209



 

and a wide staircase. Due to the connected nature of the exhibition centre, once 
on the Grand Hall deck, access can also be gained onto the National Halls deck 
for those connected shows. Four new lifts and a two wide stairs conforming to 
BS 8300 will provide access from within the ground floor temporary entrance 
building to the level 1 balcony mezzanine deck, providing access to all levels. 
These new lifts and stairs will also improve circulation from upper to lower levels 
of the existing hall for connected events utilising both levels of Grand Hall. 

 
5.8.4 The temporary building has been designed to create a level platform for ease of 

accessibility and internally, the entrance building will include 5 passenger lifts 
and stairs providing access into the first floors of Grand and National Halls. 

 
5.8.4 The council’s Disability Forum were engaged by the applicant and officers and 

were supportive of the proposal and the details to be provided by way of 
condition. In addition to these an Inclusive Accessibility Management Plan is 
also included by condition. 

 
5.8.5 It is therefore considered that the proposal will provide a high quality 

environment for disabled and impaired members of the community and the 
commitments within the Access Statement are positive and deliverable by way 
of conditions and reserved matters applications. As such the proposal will 
comply with Local Plan Policies DC1 and DC2 as well as Planning Guidance 
SPD Key Principles DA1, DA4, DA5, DA6, DA7, DA8, DA9, DA11, DA12 and 
DA13. 

 
 
6.0 CIL 

 
6.1     This development would be subject to a London wide community infrastructure 

levy. The Mayor's CIL (Community Infrastructure Levy) came into effect in April 
2012. This would contribute towards the funding of Crossrail. The GLA expect 
the Council, as the Collecting Authority, to secure the levy in accordance with 
London Plan Policy 8.3 and is chargeable in this case at £50psqm uplift in floor 
space (GIA). The council’s CIL in this location attracts a levy of £80psqm of 
retail floorspace and all other uses are nil rated as is the case with this 
proposal. 

 
7.0 CONCLUSION  

 
7.1     In considering planning applications, the Local Planning Authority needs to 

consider the development plan as a whole and planning applications that 
accord with the development plan should be approved without delay, unless 
material considerations indicate otherwise and any adverse impacts of doing so 
would significantly and demonstrably outweigh the benefits 

 
7.2     In the assessment of the application regard has been given to the NPPF, 

London Plan, and Local Plan policies as well as guidance. It is considered that 
the proposal is acceptable in land use and design terms. The quantum of the 
proposed land uses and the resulting nature of the site does not give rise to any 
unacceptable impacts and will amount to sustainable development in 
accordance with the National Planning Policy Framework. 

 

Page 210



 

7.3     The delivery of the proposals would support the vitality of the exhibition centre 
business and related hospitality facilities. Officers are of the view that the 
proposals would support the long-term sustainability and viability of the 
exhibition centre business. The proposed floorspace is within the current lawful 
use of the site and the external alterations and the new temporary entrance 
building are considered to be acceptable, of a high architectural quality for their 
temporary purpose and with no unacceptable environmental impacts. 
 

7.4     The proposal would deliver a number of benefits that must be taken into 
account: 

 

 The new additions to the site are temporary in nature and represent a 
high quality of design which will continue the evolution of the Olympia 
Estate with bold and distinctive buildings which have their own character 
and contribute to the legibility of the exhibition centre venue as a 
landmark.  

 The harm to the designated heritage assets has been minimised as far 
as possible including by the quality of the design of the temporary 
mezzanine levels and the temporary entrance building and by avoiding 
intervention in the historic fabric of the building wherever possible. 

 The magnitude of any harm identified has been assessed as less than 
substantial harm, it would be temporary in nature and proportionate to 
the scale of the extensive construction work required to deliver the 
masterplan.  The less than substantial harm is considered to be 
outweighed by the public benefits that delivery of the masterplan would 
secure. 

 
7.5     The proposed development is temporary in its nature and would facilitate the 

delivery of the currently pending masterplan redevelopment for the wider 
Olympia site that Members resolved to grant planning permission and listed 
building consent for under ref. 2018/03100/FUL and 2018/03101/LBC and 
which has received a supportive Stage 2 response from the Mayor of London. 
On its own merits the proposal would not be allowed to operate concurrently 
with the Class D1 floorspace within Central Hall and therefore would only be 
implementable upon the implementation of those masterplan planning 
permissions if and when they are issued. In this context the temporary 
floorspace would have a neutral impact and permit the continuing operation of 
Olympia as an exhibition venue.  
 

7.6     Officers have taken account of all the representations received and in overall 
conclusion for the reasons detailed in this report, it is considered having regard 
to the development plan as a whole and all other material considerations that 
planning permission should be granted. 

 
7.7     Accordingly it is recommended that the proposal be granted subject to the 

conditions listed. 
 
 

Page 211



 

--------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------- 
Ward:  Avonmore And Brook Green 
 

Site Address: 
Olympia Exhibition Centre  Hammersmith Road  London  W14 
8UX   
 

 

 
 

© Crown Copyright. All Rights Reserved. London Borough Hammersmith and Fulham LA100019223 (2013). 

For identification purposes only - do not scale. 
 

Reg. No: 
2019/01434/LBC 
 
Date Valid: 
09.05.2019 
 
Committee Date: 
22.07.2019 
 

Case Officer: 
Peter Wilson 
 
Conservation Area: 
Constraint Name: Olympia And Avonmore 
Conservation Area - Number 23 

Page 212

Agenda Item 9



 

Applicant: 
Olympus Property Holding Limited 
 
Description: 
Internal and external physical alterations to accommodate new temporary mezzanine 
level decks in Grand and National Halls (full hall coverage), provision of associated 
temporary new entrance building and lifts, erection of plant and associated landscaping 
and physical works. 
 
Drg Nos: See Condition 2 
 
 
Application Type: 
Listed Building Consent 
 
--------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------- 
 

LOCAL GOVERNMENT ACT 2000 
LIST OF BACKGROUND PAPERS 

 
All Background Papers held by Andrew Marshall (Ext:  4841): 
 
Application form received: 8th May 2019 
Drawing Nos:   see Condition 2 
 
 
Policy documents: National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) 2018 

The London Plan 2016 
LBHF - Local Plan 2018 
LBHF - Supplementary Planning Document 2018 

 
 
Consultation Comments: 
 
Comments from: Dated:  
Historic England London Region 02.07.19 
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
Neighbour Comments: 
 
Letters from: Dated: 
 
33 Margaret Street London W1G 0JD   05.07.19 
 
 
 
 

Page 213



 

Officer Recommendation: 
 
That the Strategic Director for The Economy Department be authorised to 
determine the application and grant listed building consent subject to the 
conditions listed below. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 214



 

 

 
CONDITIONS 
 

 
In line with the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 and the Town and Country 
Planning (Pre-commencement Conditions) Regulations 2018, officers have 
consulted the applicant on the pre-commencement conditions included in the 
agenda and the applicant has raised no objections. 
 
1. Time Limit 
 
The works hereby permitted shall be removed and the buildings and land restored to 
their former condition on or before 3 years from the date of this Listed Building Consent. 
 
Condition required to be imposed by section 91(1)(a) of the Town and Country Planning 
Act 1990 (as amended by section 51 of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 
2004). 
 
2. Approved Drawings  
 
The works shall be carried out and completed in accordance with the 
following approved drawings:   
 
Demolition Plans 
1819-SPP-DR-A-GD-D-20-0G-01-01 Grand Deck - Demolition Level 0G Floor Plan P01; 
1819-SPP-DR-A-GD-D-20-01-01-01 Grand Deck - Demolition Level 01 Floor Plan P01; 
1819-SPP-DR-A-GD-D-20-0R-01-01 Grand Deck - Demolition Roof Plan P01; 
1819-SPP-DR-A-ND-D-20-0G-01-01 National - Demolition Level 0G Floor Plan P01; 
1819-SPP-DR-A-ND-D-20-01-01-01 National - Demolition Level 01 Floor Plan A1 P01; 
1819-SPP-DR-A-ND-D-20-0R-01-01 National - Demolition Roof Plan P01. 
 
Demolition Elevations 
1819-SPP-DR-A-GD-D-25-XX-01-01 Grand Deck - Demolition NE & SE Elevations P01; 
1819-SPP-DR-A-GD-D-25-XX-01-02 Grand Deck - Demolition NW & SW Elevations 
P01; 1819-SPP-DR-A-ND-D-25-XX-01-01 National Deck - Demolition NE & SE 
Elevations P01; 1819-SPP-DR-A-ND-D-25-XX-01-02 National Deck - Demolition NW & 
SW Elevations P01. 
 
Demolition Sections 
1819-SPP-DR-A-GD-D-26-XX-01-01 Grand Deck - Demolition Sections S1 & S2 P01; 
1819-SPP-DR-A-ND-D-26-XX-01-01 National Deck - Demolition Sections S1 & S2 P01. 
 
Demolition Area Schedule 
1819-SPP-SC-A-TD-D-80-0001 Demolition Area Schedule P01. 
 
Proposed Site 
1819-SPP-DR-A-TD-P-00-XX-01-01 Proposed Site Plan P01. 
 
Proposed Plans 
1819-SPP-DR-A-GD-P-20-0G-01-01 Grand Deck - Proposed Level 0G Floor Plan P01; 
1819-SPP-DR-A-GD-P-20-01-01-01 Grand Deck - Proposed Level 01 Floor Plan P02; 

Page 215



 

1819-SPP-DR-A-GD-P-20-0R-01-01 Grand Deck - Proposed Roof Plan P01; 
1819-SPP-DR-A-ND-P-20-0G-01-01 National Deck - Proposed Level 0G Floor Plan 
P01; 1819-SPP-DR-A-ND-P-20-01-01-01 National Deck - Proposed Level 01 Floor Plan 
P01; 1819-SPP-DR-A-ND-P-20-0R-01-01 National Deck - Proposed Roof Plan P01. 
 
Proposed Elevations 
1819-SPP-DR-A-GD-P-25-XX-01-01 Grand Deck - Proposed NE & SE Elevations P01; 
1819-SPP-DR-A-GD-P-25-XX-01-02 Grand Deck - Proposed SW & NW Elevations P01; 
1819-SPP-DR-A-GD-P-25-XX-01-01 National Deck - Proposed NE & SE Elevations 
P01; 1819-SPP-DR-A-ND-P-25-XX-01-02 National Deck - Proposed NW & SW 
Elevations P01; 1819-SPP-DR-A-EH-P-25-XX-01-01 Entrance Hall - Axonometric Views 
P01; 1819-SPP-DR-A-GD-P-25-XX-01-11 Grand - Hospitality Room & Additional 
Elevation - Phased P01 
 
Proposed Sections 
1819-SPP-DR-A-GD-P-26-XX-01-01 Grand Deck - Proposed Sections S1 & S2 P01; 
1819-SPP-DR-A-GD-P-26-XX-01-02 Entrance Box Evolution from Existing to Proposed 
Phase P01; 1819-SPP-DR-A-ND-P-26-XX-01-01 National Deck - Proposed Sections S1 
& S2 P01; 1819-SPP-DR-A-EH-P-26-XX-01-01 Proposed New Front Box Sections P01. 
 
Proposed Details 
1819-SPP-DR-A-GD-P-21-XX-01-01 Grand-Deck - Proposed Details S1; 1819-SPP-
DR-A-GD-P-21-XX-01-02 Grand-Deck - Proposed Details S2; 1819-SPP-DR-A-ND-P-
21-XX-01-01 National-Deck - Proposed Details S1; 1819-SPP-DR-A-ND-P-21-XX-01-02 
National-Deck - Proposed Details S2; 1819-SPP-DR-A-EH-P-21-XX-01-03 Entrance 
Hall - Proposed Details 01; 1819-SPP-DR-A-EH-P-21-XX-01-01 Entrance Hall - 
Proposed Details 02; 1819-SPP-DR-A-EH-P-21-XX-01-02 Entrance Hall - Proposed 
Details 03. 
 
Proposed Stair & Balustrate Details 
1819-SPP-DR-A-GD-P-24-XX-01-01 Grand-Deck - Proposed Stair Details S1; 1819-
SPP-DR-A-GD-P-24-XX-01-02 Grand-Deck - Proposed Stair Details S2; 1819-SPP-DR-
A-GD-P-24-XX-01-03 Grand-Deck - Proposed Balustrate Details S1; 1819-SPP-DR-A-
GD-P-24-XX-01-04 Grand-Deck - Proposed Balustrate Details S2; 1819-SPP-DR-A-ND-
P-24-XX-01-01 National-Deck - Proposed Stair Details S1; 1819-SPP-DR-A-ND-P-24-
XX-01-02 National-Deck - Proposed Stair Details S2; 1819-SPP-DR-A-ND-P-24-XX-01-
03 National-Deck - Proposed Balustrate Details; 1819-SPP-DR-A-ND-P-24-XX-01-04 
National-Deck - Proposed Balustrate Details S2. 
 
Proposed Ceiling Plans & Ceiling Details 
1819-SPP-DR-A-GD-P-35-0G-01-01 Grand-Deck - Proposed Level 0G Reflected 
Ceiling; 1819-SPP-DR-A-GD-P-35-01-01-02 Grand-Deck - Proposed Level 01 Reflected 
Ceiling; 1819-SPP-DR-A-GD-P-35-XX-01-10 Grand-Deck - Proposed Ceiling Details 
S1; 1819-SPP-DR-A-GD-P-35-XX-01-11 Grand-Deck - Proposed Ceiling Details S2; 
1819-SPP-DR-A-ND-P-35-0G-01-01 National-Deck - Proposed Level 0G Reflected 
Ceiling; 1819-SPP-DR-A-ND-P-35-0G-01-02 National-Deck - Proposed Level 01 
Reflected Ceiling; 1819-SPP-DR-A-ND-P-35-XX-01-10 National-Deck - Proposed 
Ceiling Details S1; 1819-SPP-DR-A-ND-P-35-XX-01-11 National-Deck - Proposed 
Ceiling Details S2. 
 
 
 

Page 216



 

Proposed Lifts 
1819-SPP-DR-A-GD-P-75-XX-01-01 Grand-Deck - Proposed Lift Details; 1819-SPP-
DR-A-GD-P-75-XX-01-02 Grand-Deck - Proposed Lift Elevations; 1819-SPP-DR-A-ND-
P-75-XX-01-01 National-Deck - Proposed Stair Details S2; 1819-SPP-DR-A-ND-P-75-
XX-01-02 National-Deck - Proposed Lift Elevations. 
 
Reason: In order to ensure full compliance with the application hereby approved and to 
prevent harm arising through deviations from the approved plans, in accordance with 
Policies DC1, DC4 and DC8 of the Local Plan 2018. 
 
3. Historic Building Recording and photographic survey 
 
Prior to the commencement of any works to the listed buildings an internal and external 
photographic record of each listed building with locations of each photograph marked on 
floor plans shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Council and a copy of 
the approved photographic record and floorplans shall be deposited at the Local 
Archives. 
 
Reason: In order to record the special architectural or historic interest of the listed 
buildings in accordance with Policy DC8 of the Local Plan 2018 
 
4. Schedule and specification of external works 
 
A schedule and specification of all external works including details of refurbishment, 
repairs, and restoration in respect of each external surface of each listed building shall 
be submitted to and approved in writing by the Council prior to commencement of any 
works. The works shall be implemented in accordance with the approved details prior to 
occupation of the relevant Listed building and shall thereafter be permanently retained. 
 
Reason: In order to safeguard the special architectural or historic interest of the listed 
buildings in accordance with policy DC1, DC4 and DC8 of the Local Plan 2018. 
 
5. Detailed external drawings 
 
Prior to the commencement of any works (excluding Enabling Works), detailed drawings 
at a scale not less than 1:20 (in plan, section, and elevation) of typical bays and 
junctions with adjacent buildings of each elevation of each building shall be submitted to 
and approved in writing by the Council. This shall include detailed drawings at of scale 
of not less than 1:20 (in plan, section, and elevation) of shopfronts for any A Class uses 
on site. The development shall be carried out in accordance with the details as 
approved and thereafter permanently retained in this form. 
 
Reason: In order to safeguard the special architectural or historic interest of the listed 
buildings in accordance with policy DC1, DC4 and DC8 of the Local Plan 2018. 
 
6. Detailed external materials 
 
Prior to the commencement of any works (excluding Enabling Works), details and 
samples of all the materials to be used in all external faces and roofs of the buildings to 
include entrances, cladding, fenestration, roofing, and plant, shall be submitted to and 
approved in writing by the Council. External material sample panels shall be erected 
onsite for the inspection by Council’s Conservation Officer and written approval by 

Page 217



 

Council. The development shall be carried out in accordance with the details as 
approved and thereafter permanently retained in this form. 
 
Reason: In order to safeguard the special architectural or historic interest of the listed 
buildings in accordance with policy DC1, DC4 and DC8 of the Local Plan 2018.  
 
 
 
7. Schedule and specification of internal works 
 
A schedule and specification of all internal works including details of refurbishment, 
repairs and restoration in respect of each internal element of each listed building shall 
be submitted to and approved in writing by the Council prior to commencement of 
internal fit out works within each Listed Building. The works shall be implemented in 
accordance with the approved details prior to occupation of the relevant listed building 
and shall thereafter be permanently retained. 
 
Reason: In order to safeguard the special architectural or historic interest of the listed 
buildings in accordance with policy DC1, DC4 and DC8 of the Local Plan 2018.  
 
8. Detailed internal drawings 
 
Prior to the relevant part of the works commencing within each listed building detailed 
drawings at a scale of not less than 1:20 in plan, section and elevation of the proposed 
works, repair and restoration of all internal spaces within each listed building (including 
all rooms and circulation spaces) shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the 
Council. The works shall be undertaken in accordance with the approved details prior to 
occupation of the relevant listed building and shall thereafter be permanently retained. 
 
Reason: In order to safeguard the special architectural or historic interest of the listed 
buildings in accordance with policies DC1, DC4 and DC8 of the Hammersmith and 
Fulham Local Plan (2018). 
 
9. Internal material samples – General 
 
Prior to the relevant part of the works commencing within each listed building, details, 
and samples of all new and replacement internal materials to each listed building 
including all surface finishes and all paint colours to be used in works to flooring, walls, 
ceilings, stairs, balustrades, and internal light fittings (in particular to ceilings, recessed 
fittings, design of pendants, lighting rafts) shall be submitted to and approved in writing 
by the Council. The works shall be implemented in accordance with the approved 
details prior to the occupation of the relevant listed building and shall thereafter be 
permanently retained. 
 
Reason: In order to safeguard the special architectural or historic interest of the listed 
buildings in accordance with policies DC1, DC4 and DC8 of the Hammersmith and 
Fulham Local Plan (2018). 
 
10. Façade restoration – Grand Hall  
 
Prior to the relevant part of the works commencing at each listed building, a method 
statement for the removal of the entrance buildings at the front elevation of the Grand 

Page 218



 

Hall and the restoration of the Grand Hall façade shall be submitted to and approved in 
writing by the Council. The method statement will explain how historic fabric will be 
protected and details of removal and storage of fabric if required. The method statement 
will also provide details of how the façade of Grand Hall will be recorded for restoration.  
 
Prior to the relevant part of the works commencing at each listed building, detailed 
drawings of the proposed works to Grand Hall at a scale of not less than 1:20 in plan, 
section and elevation shall be submitted for the Council’s approval. The works shall be 
implemented in accordance with the approved details prior to the occupation of the 
relevant listed building and shall thereafter be permanently retained. 
 
Reason: In order to safeguard the special architectural or historic interest of the listed 
buildings in accordance with policy DC1, DC4, DC6 and DC8 of the Hammersmith and 
Fulham Local Plan (2018). 
 
11. Detailed drawings and materials – Grand Hall mezzanines 
 
Prior to the relevant part of the works commencing, detailed drawings of typical bays of 
the proposed mezzanine levels in Grand Hall and of the junctions with the existing 
structure at a scale of not less than 1:20 in plan, section and elevation, together with 
samples of materials of the mezzanines shall be submitted to and approved in writing by 
the Council.  The works shall be implemented in accordance with the approved details 
prior to the occupation of the building and shall thereafter be permanently retained: 
 
Reason: In order to safeguard the special architectural or historic interest of the listed 
building in accordance with policies DC1, DC4 and DC8 of the Local Plan 2018. 
 
12. Detailed drawings and materials – National Hall mezzanines 
 
Prior to the relevant part of the works commencing, detailed drawings of typical bays of 
the proposed mezzanine levels in National Hall and of the junctions with the existing 
structure at a scale of not less than 1:20 in plan, section and elevation, together with 
samples of materials of the mezzanines shall be submitted to and approved in writing by 
the Council.  The works shall be implemented in accordance with the approved details 
prior to the occupation of the building and shall thereafter be permanently retained: 
 
Reason: In order to safeguard the special architectural or historic interest of the listed 
building in accordance with policies DC1, DC4 and DC8 of the Local Plan 2018. 
 
13. Detailed drawings and materials – M&E servicing 
 
Details including detailed drawings at a scale of not less than 1:20 in plan, section and 
elevation and material samples (where necessary) of all internal M&E servicing in each 
listed building shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Council prior to 
commencement of the commencement of the relevant part of the works. The works 
shall be implemented in accordance with the approved details prior to occupation of the 
relevant listed building and shall thereafter permanently retained.   
 
Reason: In order to safeguard the special architectural or historic interest of the listed 
buildings in accordance with policies DC1, DC4 and DC8 of the Hammersmith and 
Fulham Local Plan (2018). 
 

Page 219



 

 
14. Protection of architectural features and historic fabric during demolition and 
construction works 
 
A Method Statement for the protection of internal and external architectural details and 
historic building fabric during demolition and construction works shall be submitted to 
and approved in writing by the Council prior to the commencement of any works. The 
works shall be implemented in accordance with approved details and the protection 
methods shall be retained for the duration of the demolition and construction works. 

 
Reason: In order to safeguard the special architectural or historic interest of the listed 
buildings, in accordance with the NPPF (2012), Policy 7.8 of the London Plan (2016), 
Policies DC1, DC4 and DC8 of the Local Plan (2018), and Key Principles of the 
Planning Guidance SPD (2018). 
 
15. Salvage and storage of architectural features 
 
Details of arrangements for the salvage and secure storage and reuse of architectural 
features of the listed building shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the 
Council prior to the commencement of any works. The works shall be implemented in 
accordance with the approved details and the salvaged items shall thereafter be 
permanently retained in accordance with the approved details. 
 
Reason: In order to safeguard the special architectural or historic interest of the listed 
buildings, in accordance with the NPPF (2012), Policy 7.8 of the London Plan (2016), 
Policies DC1, DC4 and DC8 of the Local Plan (2018), and Key Principles of the 
Planning Guidance SPD (2018). 
 
16. Internal signage strategy – listed buildings 
 
Prior to the first occupation of the development, an Internal Signage Strategy for the 
listed buildings shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Council and all 
works pursuant to this consent shall be carried out in accordance with the approved 
details. 
 
Reason: In order to safeguard the special architectural or historic interest of the listed 
building, in accordance with the NPPF (2012), Policy 7.8 of the London Plan (2016), 
Policy DC8 of the Local Plan (2018), and Key Principles of the Planning Guidance SPD 
(2018). 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 

Page 220



 

OFFICER REPORT 
 
1.1.     The report and assessment for this application for listed building consent is set 

out within the report for the associated full planning permission under ref. 
2019/01433/FUL on this agenda. 

 

Page 221


	Agenda
	1 Minutes
	PADCC Addendum June
	PDCC MINUTES 2.7.2019 Final
	PADCC 2 July 2019 Addendum

	4 4 Challoner Crescent, London, W14 9LE, North End, 2018/01161/FUL
	5 Waterfront, Hammersmith Embankment, Chancellors Road, London,  W6 9RU, Fulham Reach, 2018/04016/FUL
	6 Willow Bank, Junction With  Putney Bridge Approach, London, Palace Riverside, 2019/00439/FR3
	7 104 King Street,  London, W6 0QW, Hammersmith Broadway, 2019/01494/FUL
	8 Olympia Exhibition Centre, Hammersmith Road, London, W14 8UX, Avonmore And Brook Green, 2019/01433/FUL
	9 Olympia Exhibition Centre,  Hammersmith Road,  London,  W14 8UX, Avonmore And Brook Green, 2019/01434/LBC

